# Systematic revision of the genus Peronia Fleming, 1822 (Gastropoda, Euthyneura, Pulmonata, Onchidiidae)

by

Benoît Dayrat, Tricia C. Goulding, Deepak Apte, Sadar Aslam, Adam Bourke, Joseph Comendador, Munawar Khalil, Xuân Quảng Ngô, Siong Kiat Tan, Shau Hwai Tan



ZooKeys 972 (Special Issue)

Systematic revision of the genus *Peronia* Fleming, 1822 (Gastropoda, Euthyneura, Pulmonata, Onchidiidae)

*by* Benoît Dayrat, Tricia C. Goulding, Deepak Apte, Sadar Aslam, Adam Bourke, Joseph Comendador, Munawar Khalil, Xuân Quảng Ngô, Siong Kiat Tan, Shau Hwai Tan

First published 2020 ISBN 978-619-248-017-2 (paperback)

Pensoft Publishers 12 Prof. Georgi Zlatarski Street, 1700 Sofia, Bulgaria Fax: +359-2-870-42-82 info@pensoft.net www.pensoft.net

Printed in Bulgaria, October 2020

MONOGRAPH



# Systematic revision of the genus *Peronia* Fleming, 1822 (Gastropoda, Euthyneura, Pulmonata, Onchidiidae)

Benoît Dayrat<sup>1</sup>, Tricia C. Goulding<sup>1</sup>, Deepak Apte<sup>2</sup>, Sadar Aslam<sup>3</sup>, Adam Bourke<sup>4</sup>, Joseph Comendador<sup>5</sup>, Munawar Khalil<sup>6</sup>, Xuân Quảng Ngô<sup>7,8</sup>, Siong Kiat Tan<sup>9</sup>, Shau Hwai Tan<sup>10,11</sup>

I Department of Biology, Pennsylvania State University, University Park, PA 16802, USA 2 Bombay Natural History Society, Hornbill House, Opp. Lion Gate, Shaheed Bhagat Singh Road, Mumbai 400 001, Maharashtra, India 3 Centre of Excellence in Marine Biology, University of Karachi, Karachi 75270, Pakistan 4 College of Engineering, Information Technology and the Environment, Charles Darwin University, Ellengowan Dr, Casuarina, NT 0810, Australia 5 National Museum of the Philippines, Taft Ave, Ermita, Manila, 1000, Metro Manila, Philippines 6 Department of Marine Science, Universitas Malikussaleh, Reuleut Main Campus, Kecamatan Muara Batu, North Aceh, Aceh, 24355, Indonesia 7 Institute of Tropical Biology, Vietnam Academy of Science and Technology, 85 Tran Quoc Toan Street, District 3, Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam 8 Graduate University of Science and Technology, Vietnam Academy of Science and Technology, Vietnam Natural History Museum, 2 Conservatory Dr, National University of Singapore, 117377, Singapore 10 Centre for Marine and Coastal Studies, Universiti Sains Malaysia, 11800, Minden Penang, Malaysia

Corresponding author: Benoît Dayrat (bad25@psu.edu)

Academic editor: Nathalie Yonow | Received 2 April 2020 | Accepted 13 August 2020 | Published 1 October 2020
http://zoobank.org/79167494-2E92-42C3-8D1F-D4DE7264D7B7

**Citation:** Dayrat B, Goulding TC, Apte D, Aslam S, Bourke A, Comendador J, Khalil M, Ngô XQ, Tan SK, Tan SH (2020) Systematic revision of the genus *Peronia* Fleming, 1822 (Gastropoda, Euthyneura, Pulmonata, Onchidiidae). ZooKeys 972: 1–224. https://doi.org/10.3897/zookeys.972.52853

#### Abstract

The genus *Peronia* Fleming, 1822 includes all the onchidiid slugs with dorsal gills. Its taxonomy is revised for the first time based on a large collection of fresh material from the entire Indo-West Pacific, from South Africa to Hawaii. Nine species are supported by mitochondrial (COI and 16S) and nuclear (ITS2 and 28S) sequences as well as comparative anatomy. All types available were examined and the nomenclatural status of each existing name in the genus is addressed. Of 31 *Peronia* species-group names available, 27 are regarded as invalid (twenty-one synonyms, sixteen of which are new, five *nomina dubia*, and one homo-

Copyright Benoît Dayrat et al. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY 4.0), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

nym), and four as valid: *Peronia peronii* (Cuvier, 1804), *Peronia verruculata* (Cuvier, 1830), *Peronia platei* (Hoffmann, 1928), and *Peronia madagascariensis* (Labbé, 1934a). Five new species names are created: *P. griffithsi* Dayrat & Goulding, **sp. nov.**, *P. okinawensis* Dayrat & Goulding, **sp. nov.**, *P. setoensis* Dayrat & Goulding, **sp. nov.**, *P. sydneyensis* Dayrat & Goulding, **sp. nov.**, *and P. willani* Dayrat & Goulding, **sp. nov.**, *P. sydneyensis* Dayrat & Goulding, **sp. nov.**, *and P. willani* Dayrat & Goulding, **sp. nov.**, *Peronia* species are cryptic externally but can be distinguished using internal characters, with the exception of *P. platei* and *P. setoensis*. The anatomy of most species is described in detail here for the first time. All the secondary literature is commented on and historical specimens from museum collections were also examined to better establish species distributions. The genus *Peronia* includes two species that are widespread across the Indo-West Pacific (*P. verruculata* and *P. peronii*) as well as endemic species: *P. okinawensis* and *P. setoensis* are endemic to Japan, and *P. willani* is endemic to Northern Territory, Australia. Many new geographical records are provided, as well as a key to the species using morphological traits.

#### **Keywords**

Biodiversity, Coral Triangle, Indo-West Pacific, integrative taxonomy, mangrove, South-East Asia

# **Table of contents**

Introduction	3
Materials and methods	5
Nomenclature	5
Incorrect subsequent spellings	7
Museum collection abbreviations	7
Collecting	8
Specimens	9
Anatomical preparations and descriptions	17
Types of intestinal loops	18
DNA extraction and PCR amplification	20
Phylogenetic analyses	20
Results	21
Molecular phylogenetic analyses	21
Pairwise genetic divergences	27
Comparative anatomy	27
Species delineation	32
Species distribution	33
Systematics and anatomical descriptions	34
Family Onchidiidae Rafinesque, 1815	34
Genus Peronia Fleming, 1822a	34
Peronia peronii (Cuvier, 1804)	44
Peronia okinawensis Dayrat & Goulding, sp. nov	71
Peronia madagascariensis (Labbé, 1934a)	75
Peronia platei (Hoffmann, 1928)	83
Peronia setoensis Dayrat & Goulding, sp. nov	91
Peronia griffithsi Dayrat & Goulding, sp. nov.	97

Peronia sydneyensis Dayrat & Goulding, sp. nov	
Peronia willani Dayrat & Goulding, sp. nov	115
Peronia verruculata (Cuvier, 1830)	121
Identification Key	196
Discussion	196
Specific names not to combine with <i>Peronia</i>	196
Names of doubtful application	
Species delineation	
Types of intestinal loops	
Geographic distribution	
Acknowledgements	
References	

# Introduction

Onchidiid slugs live in the intertidal, worldwide, except at the poles. Their larvae are released in sea water and, in that sense, onchidiids are truly marine. As adult slugs, however, they breathe air through a lung and die if they are immersed in water for too long. The slugs of the genus *Peronia* Fleming, 1822a are found across the entire tropical and subtropical Indo-West Pacific, from South Africa to Hawaii. They primarily inhabit rocky shores and coral rubble, can occasionally be found on muddy sand, but are typically not found inside mangrove forests.

The genus *Peronia* includes all onchidiid slugs with a dorsal notum bearing ramified appendages, or dorsal gills, which are most easily seen when animals are relaxed. Dorsal gills tend to be retracted when live animals are crawling at low tide, and they can be hard to see on specimens preserved without relaxation. In fact, Cuvier did not mention dorsal gills in the original description of *Onchidium peronii* Cuvier, 1804, the first *Peronia* species ever recognized. Dorsal gills were first illustrated by Savigny (1817: pl. 2, fig. 3.5) on a plate of gastropods from the Red Sea in the famous *Description de l'Egypte*, and first described by Audouin (1826: 19) in the explanation of Savigny's plate. Dorsal gills are either present or absent on the dorsal notum of onchidiid slugs, and all slugs with dorsal gills belong to the genus *Peronia* (Dayrat et al. 2017: 1861).

For the past sixty years or so, authors have accepted only two valid *Peronia* species names for two species broadly distributed across the Indo-West Pacific (e.g., Solem 1959: 38–39; Marcus and Marcus 1970: 213–214; Britton 1984: 183): *P. peronii* (Cuvier, 1804) and *P. verruculata* (Cuvier, 1830). However, the differences between *P. peronii* and *P. verruculata* have remained unclear, to say the least, and both names have been used arbitrarily. More importantly, 31 species-group names are available for onchidiids with dorsal gills and their exact application has never been addressed. Indeed, the taxonomy of the genus *Peronia* is so challenging that people have avoided it for decades, and Labbé (1934a) is the last author who created species names for onchidiids with dorsal gills, except for the recent *Peronia persiae* Maniei et al., 2020a, regarded in the

present work as a synonym of *P. verruculata*. The taxonomy of the genus *Peronia* is comprehensively revised here for the first time. The goals of the present revision are to determine how many *Peronia* species there are, where they are distributed, how they are related, how they can be identified, how many of the available species names are valid, and to create new names if needed.

All the available types of all onchidiid species were re-examined in the context of our revision of the whole family (Dayrat 2009; Dayrat et al. 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019a, b, c, d; Dayrat and Goulding 2017; Goulding et al. 2018a, b, c), which served as a basis to establish a complete list of all the species names available in the genus *Peronia*. For the sake of clarity, important features (especially intestinal loops) of the types of *Peronia* nominal species are illustrated here. In many cases, lectotypes are designated in order to clarify the application of species names.

Fresh material was collected across the entire Indo-West Pacific, from South Africa to Japan, Hawaii, and eastern Australia. Special attention was paid to collecting fresh material from type localities. Specimens from which DNA could be extracted were also obtained from museum collections (the first author visited many collections around the world). Old museum specimens from which DNA could not be extracted were also examined, especially in cases of interesting geographical records or when specimens were included in important onchidiid studies (Semper 1880–1885; Plate 1893; Hoffmann 1928; Labbé 1934a).

Because they are notoriously cryptic, *Peronia* species were first delineated using DNA sequences. Then, the anatomy of the specimens was examined in order to determine diagnostic characters for each species as well as individual variation. As in our previous revisions (Dayrat et al. 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019a, b, c, d; Dayrat and Goulding 2017; Goulding et al. 2018a, b, c), both mitochondrial and nuclear DNA sequences were used for species delineation and relationships.

Nine Peronia species are recognized here, five of which are new to science: *P. griffithsi* Dayrat & Goulding, sp. nov., *P. madagascariensis* (Labbé, 1934a), *P. okinawensis* Dayrat & Goulding, sp. nov., *P. peronii* (Cuvier, 1804), *P. platei* (Hoffmann, 1928), *P. setoensis* Dayrat & Goulding, sp. nov., *P. sydneyensis* Dayrat & Goulding, sp. nov., *P. verruculata* (Cuvier, 1830), and *P. willani* Dayrat & Goulding, sp. nov. Both *P. madagascariensis* and *P. platei* were only known from the original descriptions and are described anatomically in detail for the first time. Amazingly, the best anatomical description of *P. peronii* so far is Cuvier's (1804) original description, but many traits are described and illustrated here for the first time. Finally, the anatomy of all mitochondrial units of *P. verruculata* is described in detail for the first time from numerous localities, although some anatomical information was scattered in the literature for three of them (units #1, #3, and #4).

These nine species cannot be distinguished externally, except for the very large individuals of *P. peronii* (longer than 100 mm). However, details of the internal anatomy can help separate species, except for *P. platei* and *P. setoensis* which are both cryptic externally and internally. Geographic distribution varies greatly among *Peronia* species. Three species are broadly distributed across the Indo-West Pacific, from the western Indian Ocean to the West Pacific: *P. griffithsi*, *P. peronii*, and *P. verruculata*. The six other species are characterized by much narrower geographic ranges. Three species are even endemic: *Peronia okinawensis* and *P. setoensis* are endemic to Japan, and *P. willani* is endemic to the Northern Territory, Australia.

Of the 31 *Peronia* species names available, four are valid and 27 are invalid: 21 synonyms (16 of which are new), five *nomina dubia*, and one junior secondary homonym. The large number of available names in *Peronia* is explained by a combination of three main factors. First, *Peronia* slugs have often been collected, because they are common across the Indo-West Pacific and because they mostly live in the rocky intertidal, which is more easily accessible than mangrove forests where most other onchidiids are found. Second, earlier zoologists created new species names without examining the types of existing nominal species and without proper knowledge of individual variation, which resulted in many names being added unnecessarily. Third, *Peronia* is a genus for which molecular data were critically needed, because species are externally cryptic; also, species could hardly be delineated just based on their internal anatomy because they differ only with respect to minute anatomical details. The fact that five new species names are needed in *Peronia* even though there already are 31 available names shows that a comprehensive revision was desperately needed.

# Materials and methods

# Nomenclature

Establishing a complete list of available names for a taxon often requires an enormous amount of time but it is the keystone of any taxonomic revision, because otherwise it would be impossible to address the nomenclatural status of available names and to determine how many new species names are needed.

All available type specimens were re-examined beyond the taxon of interest (*Peronia*) because species names often are incorrectly classified when they are first created. For instance, *Onchidium durum* Labbé, 1934a was originally created for slugs with a smooth notum, but the types of *O. durum* clearly bear dorsal gills. Ignoring *O. durum* because it was created for slugs with a smooth notum would have led to an incomplete list of available *Peronia* species names. Several species names had to be transferred to *Peronia*, because they refer to slugs with dorsal gills, regardless of whether species were originally described with dorsal gills or not. When type specimens are not located, one needs to go through original species descriptions very carefully, and still beyond the taxon of interest. Reciprocally, not all species names originally combined with *Peronia* refer to *Onchidella* species. Finally, many species names of doubtful application need to be commented upon.

In total, 51 species-group names had to be considered for the revision of *Peronia*. Of these, only 31 are available *Peronia* species names (Table 1). Indeed, ten of those

**Table 1.** Alphabetic list of the 51 existing species-group names of which the nomenclatural status is addressed in the present work. Details can be found in the text: comments on the four valid *Peronia* species names, their synonyms, and the junior homonym are in the species remarks; comments on the fifteen *nomina dubia* and the ten names that must be classified in other genera are in the general discussion.

Species-group names	Type locality	Nomenclatural status
Peronia acinosa Gould, 1852	Fiji	Nomen dubium (onchidiid or not)
Peronia alderi IE Grav. 1850	Unknown	Nomen dubium (Peronia)
Peronia anomala Labbé, 1934a	Red Sea	New junior subjective synonym ( <i>P. verruculata</i> , Red Sea)
Onchidium astridae Labbé, 1934b	West Papua	New junior subjective synonym ( <i>P. verruculata</i> , unit #1)
Onchidium ater Lesson, 1831a	West Papua	Wallaconchis
Onchidium hranchiferum Plate, 1893	Philippines	New junior subjective synonym ( <i>P. verruculata</i> , unit #1)
Scaphis carbonaria Labbé 1934a	New Caledonia	New junior subjective synonym ( <i>P verruculata</i> , unit #1)
Onchidium celticum Cuvier in Audouin and Milne-Edwards 1832	France	Onchidella
Onchidium cinereum Quoy & Gaimard, 1833	Tonga	Nomen dubium (Wallaconchis)
Peronia corpulenta Gould 1852	Fiii	Nomen dubium (onchidiid or not)
Onchidium durum Labhé 1934a	Red Sea	New junior subjective synonym ( <i>P verruculata</i> , Red Sea)
Onchidium elberti Simroth 1920	Sulawesi	Junior subjective synonym ( <i>P verruculata</i> unit #1)
Onchidium ferrugineum Lesson 1831a	West Papua	Junior subjective synonym ( <i>P. verruculata</i> , unit #1)
Paraperonia fidijensis Labbé 1934a	Fiii	New junior subjective synonym ( <i>P peranii</i> )
Onchis fruticosa Stimpson 1855	Iapan	Nomen duhium (Peronia)
Peronia gaimardi Labbé 1934a	Vanikoro	New junior subjective synonym ( <i>P verruculata</i> unit #1)
Parateronia anduanae Labbé 193/2	Western India	New junior subjective synonym (P. verruculata, unit #1)
Paraperonia gondwanae hombroni I abbé 1934a	Torres Strait	Nomen duhium (Perovid)
Onchidium granulosum Lesson 1831b	New Ireland	Nomen dubium (opchidiid Perenia or pot)
Scathic anguieri Labbé 193/2	Mayotte	New junior subjective support (P very culata unit #5)
Onchidella arisenfusca Tapparone Canefri 1874	Singapore	Nomen dubium (onchidiid Perenia or not)
Onchidium incicum Quoy & Coimard 1832	Ascension Island	Ouchidella
Ourva indica Labbé 193/a	Indian Ocean	Nomen dubium (Perovia)
Perania indolens Courbouv in Could 1852	Brazil	Onchidella
Peronia invovata Could 1852	New Zealand	Onchidella
Parateronia joursaaumai Labbé 193/2	Red Sea	New junior subjective synonym (P madagascariensis)
Peronia Jaevis Blainville 1826	West Papua	Marmaranchis junior objective synonym of
	west rapua	Marmaronchis vaigiensis (Quoy & Gaimard, 1825)
Scaphis lata Labbé, 1934a	Vietnam	New junior subjective synonym ( <i>P. verruculata</i> , unit #1)
Paraperonia madagascariensis Labbé, 1934a	Madagascar	Valid (Peronia madagascariensis)
Peronia mauritiana Blainville, 1824	Mauritius	Junior objective synonym (P. peronii)
Peronia marginata Couthouy in Gould 1852	Tierra del Fuego	Onchidella
Onchidium melanopneumon Bergh, 1884	Fiji	Junior subjective synonym (P. peronii)
Onchidium multiradiatum Semper, 1882	Unknown	Nomen dubium (onchidiid, Peronia or not)
Onchidium nebulosum Semper, 1880	Palau	Nomen dubium (Peronia)
Onchidium nigricans Quoy & Gaimard, 1832	New Zealand	Onchidella
Onchidium oniscoides Blainville, 1816	Unknown	Nomen dubium (onchidiid, not Peronia)
Peronia parthenopeia Delle Chiaje, 1841	Sicily	Onchidella
Onchidium patelloide Quoy & Gaimard, 1832	New Zealand	Onchidella
Onchidium peronii Cuvier, 1804	Mauritius	Valid (Peronia peronii)
Peronia persiae Maniei et al., 2020a	Iran	New junior subjective synonym (P. verruculata, unit #4)
Onchidium planatum Quoy & Gaimard, 1825	Guam	Nomen dubium (onchidiid or not)
Onchidium platei Hoffmann, 1928	Tahiti	Valid (Peronia platei)
Onchidium punctatum Quoy & Gaimard, 1832	West Papua	New junior subjective synonym (P. peronii)
Peronia savignii Récluz, 1869	Red Sea	New junior objective synonym (P. verruculata, Red Sea)
Onchidium savignyi Semper, 1880	Philippines	Junior secondary homonym (P. savignii)
Peronia semituberculata Blainville, 1826	Guam	Nomen dubium, junior objective synonym of Onchidium planatum Quoy & Gaimard, 1825 (nomen dubium)
Onchidium straelenii Labbé, 1934b	Aru Islands	Nomen dubium (onchidiid, not Peronia)
Onchidium tonganum Quoy & Gaimard, 1832	Tonga	Junior subjective synonym (P. peronii)
Scaphis tonkinensis Labbé, 1934a	Vietnam	New junior subjective synonym (P. verruculata, unit #1)
Onchidium verruculatum Cuvier, 1830	Red Sea	Valid (Peronia verruculata)
Scappis visidis Labbé 193/12	Torres Strait	New junior subjective synonym ( <i>P verruculata</i> , unit #1)

51 names are not classified in *Peronia*: eight names refer to *Onchidella* species, one to a *Wallaconchis* species, and one to a *Marmaronchis* species. And, ten other names are *nomina dubia* as they refer to species which may belong to any onchidiid genus or which may not even belong to an onchidiid genus.

# Incorrect subsequent spellings

Many subsequent incorrect spellings are encountered in the onchidiid literature. The subsequent incorrect spelling of a name is not available and, to our knowledge, no subsequent incorrect spelling is in prevailing usage (ICZN 1999: Article 33.3). Subsequent incorrect spellings of specific names are corrected throughout the present monograph. When a spelling mistake is quite big, it is pointed out, such as, for instance, when JE Gray (1850: 117) erroneously used *Peronia tongensis* instead of *Peronia tongana*, and when Mörch (1872b: 325) erroneously used *Peronia vermiculata* instead of *Peronia vermiculata*. In addition, many *Peronia* species were originally classified in Buchannan's (1800) *Onchidium*, for which some authors (e.g., Plate 1893; Hoffmann 1928; Labbé, 1934a) used the unjustified emendation *Oncidium*, which is systematically corrected as *Onchidium*.

# Museum collection abbreviations

AM	Australian Museum, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia
ANSP	Academy of Natural Sciences, Drexel University, Philadelphia, Pennsylva-
	nia, USA
BNHS	Bombay Natural History Society, Mumbai, India
BPBM	Bernice Pauahi Bishop Museum, Honolulu, Hawaii, USA
CASIZ	California Academy of Sciences, San Francisco, California, USA
ITBZC	Institute of Tropical Biology, Zoology Collection, Vietnam Academy of
	Science and Technology, Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam
MNHN	Muséum national d'Histoire naturelle, Paris, France
MTQ	Museum of Tropical Queensland, Townsville, Queensland, Australia
NHMD	Zoological Museum, Natural History Museum of Denmark, University of
	Copenhagen, Denmark
NHMUK	Natural History Museum, London, United Kingdom
NMSA	KwaZulu-Natal Museum, Pietermaritzburg, KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa
NSMT	National Museum of Nature and Science, Tokyo, Japan
NTM	Museum and Art Gallery Northern Territory, Darwin, Northern Territory,
	Australia
PNM	National Museum of the Philippines, Manila, Philippines
RBINS	Royal Belgian Institute of Natural Sciences, Brussels, Belgium
SMF	Senckenberg Forschungsinstitut und Naturmuseum, Frankfurt am Main,
	Germany

SMNH	Swedish Museum of Natural History, Stockholm, Sweden
UF	University of Florida, Gainesville, USA
UMIZ	Universitas Malikussaleh, North Aceh, Sumatra, Indonesia
USMMC	Universiti Sains Malaysia, Mollusk Collection, Penang, Malaysia
WAM	Western Australian Museum, Perth, Western Australia, Australia
ZMB	Museum für Naturkunde, Berlin, Germany
ZMH	Zoologisches Museum, Hamburg, Germany
ZSM	Zoologische Staatssammlung München, Munich, Germany
ZRC	Zoological Reference Collection, Lee Kong Chian Natural History Mu
	seum, National University of Singapore

#### Collecting

Our molecular analyses and anatomical species descriptions are based on a data set of 179 individuals specifically gathered for the present study. Of those 179 individuals, 112 were collected by the Dayrat lab, of which 91 were deposited in countries or states of origin (Australia, Hawaii, India, Indonesia, Japan, Malaysia, Philippines, Singapore, Vietnam) and 21 (from Madagascar and Mauritius) were deposited at the MNHN. Of those 179 individuals, 36 were collected during MNHN expeditions organized by Philippe Bouchet (Madagascar, Mozambique, New Caledonia, Papua New Guinea, and Vanuatu) and are all preserved at the MNHN; the specimens from New Caledonia were collected by Adam Bourke. Of those 179 individuals, 12 were collected by several collaborators: Sadar Aslam collected three specimens from Pakistan deposited at the MNHN; Clay Carlson collected two specimens from Guam deposited at the CAS and the MNHN; Owen Griffiths collected one specimen from Mauritius deposited at the MNHN; Shau Hwai (Aileen) Tan collected two specimens from Malaysia deposited at the USM; and Tomoyuki Nakano collected four specimens from Japan deposited at the NSMT. And, finally, 19 were found in museum collections: four (AM), four (NHMUK), two (NMSA), and nine (UF).

Collecting expeditions of the Dayrat lab were led by Benoît Dayrat in the Andaman Islands (India), West Bengal (India), Peninsular Malaysia, the Philippines, Singapore, New South Wales (Australia), and Northern territory (Australia), by Tricia Goulding in Queensland (Australia), Mauritius, Madagascar, Vietnam, and western India, by Munawar Khalil in Indonesia, and by Rebecca Cumming in Japan. Sites were accessed by car or by boat. Although each site was explored for an average of two hours, the exact time spent at each site also depended on the time of the low tide, the weather conditions, etc. Photographs were taken to document the kind of habitat being visited as well as the diverse microhabitats where specimens were collected. Specimens were individually numbered and photographed in their respective habitat. At each site, as much diversity as possible was sampled: even specimens that looked similar were individually numbered so that the presence of cryptic diversity could be tested. Importantly, a piece of tissue was cut for all specimens individually numbered for DNA extraction and the remainder of each specimen was relaxed (using magnesium chloride) and fixed (using 10% formalin or 70% ethanol) for comparative anatomy.

# Specimens

**Specimens included in molecular analyses.** DNA extraction numbers unique to each individual are indicated in phylogenetic trees as well as in lists of material examined and in figure captions (numbers are between brackets). Our molecular data set includes 190 *Peronia* individuals, only eleven of which correspond to COI sequences obtained from GenBank or BOLD (Table 2). Anatomical descriptions are based on those 179 *Peronia* individuals for which sequences were generated for the present study as well as the available type material for existing names (see below).

All DNA sequences for the eleven outgroups are from our previous studies (Dayrat et al. 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019a, b, c, d; Dayrat and Goulding 2017; Goulding et al. 2018a, b, c), with the exception of the nuclear sequences for *Laspionchis boucheti*, which are new (Table 2). Most *Peronia* mitochondrial and nuclear sequences in our molecular data set are new (Table 2). New mitochondrial COI and 16S sequences are provided for 169 individuals, and COI and 16S sequences for ten specimens are from a previous study (Dayrat et al. 2011; see below). In addition, all COI sequences in Gen-Bank and BOLD closely related to *Peronia* sequences in our dataset were examined, and COI sequences for eleven individuals were selected to be included in phylogenetic analyses (Table 2; see below). All nuclear 28S and ITS2 sequences are new except for two individuals which have been used as outgroups in several of our previous studies: [696-2] from Okinawa and [706] from Hawaii (Table 2).

COI sequences publicly available. Eleven COI sequences obtained from Gen-Bank (10) and BOLD (1) were added to our own data set (179 COI sequences) for a total of 190 sequences. Four COI sequences are from China (Sun et al. 2014), two from Singapore (Chang et al. 2018), two from Japan (Takagi et al. 2019), one from the Persian Gulf (unpublished), one from Gujarat, western India (unpublished), and one from Iran (Maniei et al. 2020a). All those sequences were merely referred to as Peronia sp., except for the specimens from China (referred to as *Peronia verruculata*), the specimen from western India (referred to as Onchidium verruculatum), and the specimen from Iran (recently described as P. persiae, a name regarded here as a synonym of P. verruculata, unit #4). Correct identifications are provided here for all those sequences (Table 2). Note that in the case of duplicate sequences available in GenBank, only one representative was selected. So, for instance, Chang et al. (2018) published many Peronia COI sequences that cluster in two mitochondrial units which they refer to as "Singapore clade" and "Peronia sp. 2 clade." One sequence for their "Singapore clade" and one sequence for their "Peronia sp. 2 clade" are included here, which is enough to demonstrate that their two units correspond to our two mitochondrial units #1 and #3 of Peronia verruculata. Also, all COI sequences by Maniei et al. (2020a) for P. persiae cluster together within the unit #4 of *P. verruculata*, so only one of those individuals is included in our analyses: one individual is enough to demonstrate that *P. persiae* is a junior synonym of P. verruculata. A 16S sequence is available for the individual from Iran (Maniei et al. 2020a); no 16S sequences are available for any of the other COI sequences from GenBank and BOLD, so gaps were inserted in the mitochondrial concatenated alignment.

Table 2. DNA extraction numbers and GenBank accession numbers for all the specimens included in the present study. The letter H next to an extraction number indicates the holotype. Sequences marked with an asterisk (\*) are from our former publications (Davrat et al. 2011, 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019a, b, c, d; Davrat and Goulding 2017; Goulding et al. 2018a, b, c). In addition, 11 COI sequences also marked with an asterisk (\*) were obtained from GenBank (GB) and BOLD: four sequences from China (Sun et al. 2014), two from Singapore (Chang et al. 2018), two from Japan (Takagi et al. 2019), one from the Persian Gulf (unpublished), one from Gujarat, western India (unpublished), and one from Iran (Maniei et al. 2020a). Abbreviations: Australian Museum, Sydney (AM); Bombay Natural History Society, India (BNHS); Bernice Pauahi Bishop Museum, Honolulu, Hawaii, USA (BPBM); California Academy of Sciences, San Francisco, California, USA (CASIZ); Institute of Tropical Biology, Zoology Collection, Vietnam Academy of Science and Technology (ITBZC); Muséum national d'Histoire naturelle, Paris, France (MNHN); Museum of Tropical Queensland, Townsville, Queensland, Australia (MTQ); Natural History Museum, London, United Kingdom (NHMUK); KwaZulu-Natal Museum, Pietermaritzburg, KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa (NMSA); National Museum of Nature and Science, Tokyo, Japan (NSMT); Museum and Art Gallery Northern Territory, Darwin, Northern Territory, Australia (NTM); National Museum of the Philippines, Manila (PNM); University of Florida, Gainesville, Florida, USA (UF); Universitas Malikussaleh, North Aceh, Sumatra, Indonesia (UMIZ); Universiti Sains Malaysia Mollusc Collection, Penang, Malaysia (USMMC); Zoological Reference Collection, Lee Kong Chian Natural History Museum, National University of Singapore (ZRC).

Species	Individual (DNA #)	Voucher	Locality	GenBank COI	GenBank 16S	GenBank ITS2	GenBank 28S
Alionchis jailoloensis	5137 H	UMIZ 00117	Indonesia, Halmahera	MG953528*	MG953538*	MG953548*	MK122918*
Laspionchis boucheti	1688 H	NTM P.57614	Australia, Northern Territory	MH619249*	MH619310*	MT652862	MT652995
Marmaronchis vaigiensis	1183	ZRC.MOL.3007	Singapore	MK122812*	MK122854*	MK122877*	MK122910*
Melayonchis eloisae	1011 H	ZRC.MOL.6499	Singapore	KX240026*	KX240050*	MK122904*	MK125515*
Onchidella celtica	5013	MNHN-IM-2019-1604	France	MG958715*	MG958717*	MK122906*	MK122921*
Onchidina australis	1523	AM C.468918.002	Australia, New South Wales	KX179548*	KX179561*	MG958719*	MG958887*
Onchidium typhae	965	USMMC 00005	Peninsular Malaysia	KX179509*	KX179525*	MG958720*	MG958885*
Paromoionchis tumidus	1732	UMIZ 00121	Indonesia, Sumatra	MH054951*	MH055104*	MH055196*	MH055268*
Peronina tenera	960	USMMC 00039	Peninsular Malaysia	MG958740*	MG958796*	MG958840*	MG958874*
Platevindex luteus	1001	ZRC.MOL.10179	Singapore	MG958714*	MG958716*	MG958718*	MG958888*
Wallaconchis sinanui	2740	UMIZ 00059	Indonesia, Ambon	MG970713*	MG970881*	MG971093*	MG971161*
P. verruculata (unit #1)	1538	AM C.448363	Australia, Queensland (19°S)	MT653148	MT652693	MT652863	MT652996
	2571	MTQ	Australia, Queensland (16°S)	MT653149	MT652694	MT652864	
	2620	MTQ	Australia, Queensland (20°S)	MT653150	MT652695		
	2622	MTQ	Australia, Queensland (20°S)	MT653151	MT652696		
	2682	MTQ	Australia, Queensland (21°S)	MT653152	MT652697	MT652865	
	GB		China, Guangdong (21°N)	JN543152*			
	GB		China, Fujian (26°N)	JN543153*			
	GB		China, Guangxi (21°N)	JN543154*			
	GB		China, Hainan (18°N)	JN543165*			
	2724	UMIZ 00162	Indonesia, Ambon (03°S)	MT653153	MT652698	MT652866	MT652997

Species	Individual (DNA #)	Voucher	Locality	GenBank COI	GenBank 16S	GenBank ITS2	GenBank 28S
<i>P. verruculata</i> (unit #1)	2729	UMIZ 00162	Indonesia, Ambon	MT653154	MT652699		
	2856	UMIZ 00163	(03°S) Indonesia, Ambon (03°S)	MT653155	MT652700	MT652867	
	3080	UMIZ 00164	Indonesia, Bali (08°S)	MT653156	MT652701	MT652868	
	3115	UMIZ 00165	Indonesia, Bali (08°S)	MT653157	MT652702	MT652869	
	5068	UMIZ 00166	Indonesia, Halmahera (00°S)	MT653158	MT652703		
	5120	UMIZ 00167	Indonesia, Halmahera (01°S)	MT653159	MT652704	MT652870	
	5124	UMIZ 00167	Indonesia, Halmahera (01°S)	MT653160	MT652705		
	5130	UMIZ 00167	Indonesia, Halmahera (01°S)	MT653161	MT652706		
	2987	UMIZ 00168	Indonesia, Lombok (08°S)	MT653162	MT652707	MT652871	
	2868	UMIZ 00169	Indonesia, Seram (02°S)	MT653163	MT652708		
	2870	UMIZ 00169	Indonesia, Seram (02°S)	MT653164	MT652709	MT652872	MT652998
	3441	UMIZ 00169	Indonesia, Seram (02°S)	MT653165	MT652710		
	2127	NHMUK 20050628 UMIZ 00170	Indonesia, Sulawesi Indonesia, Sulawesi	HQ660046* MT653166	HQ659914* MT652711		
	2150	UMIZ 00171	(01°N) Indonesia, Sulawesi	MT653167	MT652712		
	2162	UMIZ 00171	(01°N) Indonesia, Sulawesi	MT653168	MT652713	MT652873	
	1747	UMIZ 00172	(01°N) Indonesia, Sumatra	MT653169	MT652714	MT652874	
	1759	UMIZ 00173	(05°S) Indonesia, Sumatra	MT653170	MT652715	MT652875	MT652999
	5904	UMIZ 00174	(05 S) Indonesia, Timor (10°S)	MT653171	MT652716	MT652876	
	5925	UMIZ 00175	Indonesia, Timor (10°S)	MT653172	MT652717	MT652877	
	5927	UMIZ 00175	Indonesia, Timor (10°S)	MT653173	MT652718		
	3751	NSMT-Mo 78988	Japan, Wakayama (33°N)	MT653174	MT652719	MT652878	
	3752	NSMT-Mo 78988	Japan, Wakayama (33°N)	MT653175	MT652720	MT652879	MT653000
	GB		Japan, Kagoshima (31°N)	LC390389*			
	6202	MNHN-IM-2019-1591	New Caledonia (22°S)	MT653176	MT652721	MT652880	MT653001
	6212	MNHN-IM-2019-1592	New Caledonia (22°S)	MT653177	MT652722	MT652881	MT653002
	6214	MNHN-IM-2019-1593	New Caledonia (21°S)	MT653178	MT652723	MT652882	
	698	UF 253871	Palau (07°N)	MT653179	MT652724	MT652883	MT653003
	)40/	191197119-1191-2013-12008	(05°S)	1011033180	1/11/2/25		
	5468	MNHN-IM-2013-12009	PNG, Madang (05°S)	MT653181	MT652726	MT652884	MT653004
	5469	MNHN-IM-2013-12010	PNG, Madang (05°S)	M1653182	M1652727	) (T(52005	) /T/cooot
	6085	MNHN-IM-2013-50974	PNG, New Ireland (02°S)	M1653183	M1652728	M1652885	M1653005
	608/	minhin-im-2013-53523	(02°S)	M1653184	M1652/29		

Species	Individual (DNA #)	Voucher	Locality	GenBank COI	GenBank 16S	GenBank ITS2	GenBank 28S
P. verruculata (unit #1)	6088	MNHN-IM-2013-53525	PNG, New Ireland	MT653185	MT652730		
			(02°S)				
	3379	PNM 041274	Philippines, Bohol (09°N)	MT653186	MT652731		
	3380	PNM 041274	Philippines, Bohol (09°N)	MT653187	MT652732	MT652886	
	3433	PNM 041276	Philippines, Bohol (09°N)	MT653188	MT652733		
	3437	PNM 041276	Philippines, Bohol (09°N)	MT653189	MT652734		
	712	UF 368518	Philippines, Cebu (09°N)	HQ660050*	HQ65991*		
	3160	PNM 041277	Philippines, Luzon (13°N)	MT653190	MT652735	MT652887	
	3161	PNM 041277	Philippines, Luzon (13°N)	MT653191	MT652736		
	704	UF 368517	Philippines, Negros (09°N)	MT653192	MT652737		
	991	ZRC.MOL.10497	Singapore (01°N)	MT653193	MT652738	MT652888	MT653006
	GB		Singapore	MH002570*			
	5480	MNHN-IM-2013-62392	Vanuatu (17°S)	MT653194	MT652739	MT652889	
	5481	MNHN-IM-2013-62393	Vanuatu (17°S)	MT653195	MT652740	MT652890	MT653007
	5620	ITBZC IM 00021	Vietnam (12°N)	MT653196	MT652741	MT652891	
	5621	ITBZC IM 00021	Vietnam (12°N)	MT653197	MT652742		
	5639	ITBZC IM 00023	Vietnam (08°N)	MT653198	MT652743	MT652892	
	5670	ITBZC IM 00022	Vietnam (08°N)	MT653199	MT652744	MT652893	
P. verruculata (unit #2)	1072	BNHS 1072	India, Andaman (11°N)	MT653200	MT652745		
	1077	BNHS 119	India, Andaman (11°N)	MT653201	MT652746		
	1079	BNHS 120	India, Andaman (11°N)	MT653202	MT652747		
	1080	BNHS 121	India, Andaman (11°N)	MT653203	MT652748		
	1081	BNHS 122	India, Andaman (11°N)	MT653204	MT652749		
	1084	BNHS 117	India, Andaman (11°N)	MT653205	MT652750		
	1741	UMIZ 00179	Indonesia, Sumatra (05°S)	MT653206	MT652751	MT652894	
	1742	UMIZ 00179	Indonesia, Sumatra (05°S)	MT653207	MT652752	MT652895	
	1746	UMIZ 00178	Indonesia, Sumatra (05°S)	MT653208	MT652753	MT652896	MT653008
	1795	UMIZ 00180	Indonesia, Sumatra (05°S)	MT653209	MT652754	MT652897	
	1796	UMIZ 00180	Indonesia, Sumatra (05°S)	MT653210	MT652755	MT652898	
	1797	UMIZ 00180	Indonesia, Sumatra (05°S)	MT653211	MT652756	MT652899	MT653009
P. verruculata (unit #3)	974	USMMC 00064	Peninsular Malaysia (06°N)	MT653212	MT652757	MT652900	MT653010
	975	USMMC 00064	Peninsular Malaysia (06°N)	MT653213	MT652758	MT652901	
	976	USMMC 00051	Peninsular Malaysia (06°N)	MT653214	MT652759	MT652902	
	977	USMMC 00064	Peninsular Malaysia (06°N)	MT653215	MT652760	MT652903	
	2546	USMMC 00065	Peninsular Malaysia (05°N)	MT653216	MT652761	MT652904	MT653011
	2547	USMMC 00065	Peninsular Malaysia (05°N)	MT653217	MT652762	MT652905	MT653012
	989	ZRC.MOL.16070	Singapore (01°N)	MT653218	MT652763	MT652906	MT653013

Species	Individual (DNA #)	Voucher	Locality	GenBank COI	GenBank 16S	GenBank ITS2	GenBank 28S
P. verruculata (unit #3)	990	ZRC.MOL.10496	Singapore (01°N)	MT653219	MT652764	MT652907	MT653014
	GB		Singapore	MH002601*			
<i>P. verruculata</i> (unit #4)	1141	BNHS 22	India, western coast (19°N)	MT653220	MT652765		
	1143	BNHS 24	India, western coast (19°N)	MT653221	MT652766		
	1144	BNHS 23	India, western coast (19°N)	MT653222	MT652767		
	6164	MNHN-IM-2019-1384	Pakistan (24°N)	MT653223	MT652768	MT652908	MT653015
	6165	MNHN-IM-2019-1385	Pakistan (24°N)	MT653224	MT652769	MT652909	MT653016
	6166	MNHN-IM-2019-1386	Pakistan (24°N)	MT653225	MT652770	MT652910	MT653017
	GB		Iran (26°N)	MK993404*	MK993392*		
<i>P. verruculata</i> (unit #5)	3140	MNHN-IM-2019-1610	Madagascar (12°S)	MT653226	MT652771	MT652911	MT653018
	3142	MNHN-IM-2019-1610	Madagascar (12°S)	MT653227	MT652772	MT652912	
	3143	MNHN-IM-2019-1611	Madagascar (12°S)	MT653228	M1652773	M1652913	
	3144	MNHN-IM-2019-1611	Madagascar (12°S)	MT653229	MT652774	MT652914	
	3146	MNHN-IM-2019-1611	Madagascar (12°S)	MT653230	MT652775	MT652915	MT653019
	3149	MNHN-IM-2019-1611	Madagascar (12°S)	M1653231	M1652776	M1652916	
	3231	MNHN-IM-2019-1610	Madagascar (12°S)	M1653232	M1652///	M165291/	
	3597	MNHN-IM-2019-1610	Madagascar (12°S)	M1653233	M1652778	M1652918	
	3598	MNHN-IM-2019-1610	Madagascar (12°S)	M1653234	MT652779	M1652919	1/75/2020
	3600	MNHN-IM-2019-1611	Madagascar (12°S)	M1653235	M1652780	M1652920	M1653020
	730	NHMUK 20080190	Mozambique (12°S)	HQ660045*	HQ659913*		
	733	NHMUK 20060257	Mozambique (11°S)	HQ660047*	HQ659915*	1/77/52020	1/75/2021
	550/	MNHN-IM-2013-62395	Mozambique (26°S)	M1653236	M1652/81	M1652920	M1653021
D	2026	MNHN-IM-2013-62398	Mozambique (26°S)	M165323/	M1652/82	MT652920	M1653022
P. grijjunsi	2954	UM12 001/7	(05°S)	M1655258	M1652/85	M1652925	M1653023
	2936	UMIZ 00176	Indonesia, Kei (05°S)	M1653239	M1652784	M1652924	M1653024
	3566	UMIZ 00177	Indonesia, Kei (05°S)	MT653240	MT652785	MT652925	
	3153	MNHN-IM-2019-1608	Mauritius (20°S)	MT653241	MT652786	MT652926	MT653025
	3154	MNHN-IM-2019-1608	Mauritius (20°S)	MT653242	MT652787	MT652927	MT653026
	3155	MNHN-IM-2019-1608	Mauritius (20°S)	MT653243	MT652788		
	3156	MNHN-IM-2019-1608	Mauritius (20°S)	MT653244	MT652789	MT652928	MT653027
	3157 H	MNHN-IM-2000-35265	Mauritius (20°S)	MT653245	MT652790	MT652929	MT653028
	3606	MNHN-IM-2019-1608	Mauritius (20°S)	MT653246	MT652791	MT652930	
	3607	MNHN-IM-2019-1608	Mauritius (20°S)	MT653247	MT652792		
	3608	MNHN-IM-2019-1608	Mauritius (20°S)	M1653248	M1652793	M1652931	1/75/2020
	6095 DOLD	MNHIN-IM-2013-53535	(02°S)	M1653249	M1652/94	M1652932	M1653029
P. madagascariensis	BOLD		Dwarka (22°N)	14*			
	GB		Iran, Persian Gulf	LC027608*			
	5500	MNHN-IM-2009-16391	Madagascar (25°S)	MT653250	MT652795	MT652933	
	5501	MNHN-IM-2009-16392	Madagascar (25°S)	MT653251	MT652796	MT652934	MT653030
	5502	MNHN-IM-2009-16393	Madagascar (25°S)	MT653252	MT652797	MT652935	
	5503	MNHN-IM-2009-16396	Madagascar (25°S)	MT653253	MT652798	MT652936	
	5504	MNHN-IM-2009-16412	Madagascar (25°S)	MT653254	MT652799	100000000	1 // 11 / 1
	5506	MNHN-1M-2009-16418	Madagascar (25°S)	M1653255	M1652800	M1652937	M1653031
	735	NHMUK 20060414	Mozambique (12°S)	HQ660042*	HQ659910*	M1652938	M1653032
	/03	UF 332088	Oman (23°N)	M1653256	HQ659912*	M1652939	M1653033
	5841	NMSA W/54/	South Africa (29°S)	M1653257	M1652801	M1652940	M1653034
<b>D</b> <i>l</i> : :	5842	NMSA W7547	South Atrica (29°S)	M1653258	M1652802	M1652941	M1653035
P. okinawensis	696-2	UF 352288	Japan, Okinawa (26°N)	HQ660043*	HQ659911*	MG958871*	MG958883*
	696-3	UF 352288	Japan, Okinawa (26°N)	MT653259	MT652803	MT652942	MT653036
	696-4 H	UF 352288	Japan, Okinawa (26°N)	MT653260	MT652804	MT652943	MT653037

Species	Individual	Voucher	Locality	GenBank	GenBank	GenBank	GenBank
D	(DINA #)	CASI7 190/0/	C		103	1132	203
1: peronii	445	CASIZ 180486	Guam (15 N)	HQ660041	HQ659909	M1652944	M1655058
	5840 CP	MINHIN-IM-2019-1609	Guam (15 IN)	M1055201	M1652805	M1652945	M1655059
	GD 1552	MNIHNI IM 2010 1607	Japan, Okinawa	LC590402	MT(52006	MT(520/6	MT(520/0
	2605	MNHN-IM-2019-160/	Mauritius (20 3)	MT652262	MT(52807	MT652047	MT652041
	5872	MNHN IM 2019-1606	Mauritius (20 3)	MT653266	MT652808	MT652049	M1033041
	5974	MNHN IM 2019-1005	Mauritius (20°S)	MT653265	MT652800	MT6520/0	
	5/71	MNUN IM 2013 12500	DNC Madang	MT653266	MT652810	MT652050	MT653042
	5471	10110110-101-2015-12500	(05°S)	101099200	W1092010	WI1092990	W110)3042
	5472	MNHN-IM-2013-14052	PNG, Madang (05°S)	MT653267	MT652811	MT652951	MT653043
	5474	MNHN-IM-2013-14054	PNG, Madang (05°S)	MT653268	MT652812	MT652952	
	5476	MNHN-IM-2013-16260	PNG, Madang (05°S)	MT653269	MT652813	MT652953	MT653044
	5477	MNHN-IM-2013-15872	PNG, Madang (05°S)	MT653270	MT652814	MT652954	MT653045
	6086	MNHN-IM-2013-53482	PNG, New Ireland (02°S)	MT653271	MT652815	MT652955	MT653046
P. platei	5405	MNHN-IM-2013-13762	PNG, Madang (05°S)	MT653272	MT652816		
	5410	MNHN-IM-2013-15765	PNG, Madang (05°S)	MT653273	MT652817	MT652956	
	5412	MNHN-IM-2013-13351	PNG, Madang (05°S)	MT653274	MT652818	MT652957	MT653047
	5464	MNHN-IM-2013-15871	PNG, Madang (05°S)	MT653275	MT652819	MT652958	MT653048
	706	UF 303653	USA, Hawaii (21°N)	HQ660038*	HQ659906*	MG958722*	MG958884*
	5380	UF 303653	USA, Hawaii (21°N)	MT653276	MT652820	MT652959	MT653049
	6160	BPBM 284527	USA, Hawaii (21°N)	MT653277	MT652821	MT652960	MT653050
	6161	BPBM 284528	USA, Hawaii (21°N)	MT653278	MT652822	MT652961	MT653051
P. setoensis	3753	NSMT-Mo 78987	Japan, Wakayama (33°N)	MT653279	MT652823	MT652962	MT653052
	3754	NSMT-Mo 78987	Japan, Wakayama (33°N)	MT653280	MT652824	MT652963	MT653053
	5382	NSMT-Mo 78986	Japan, Wakayama (33°N)	MT653281	MT652825	MT652964	MT653054
	5383 H	NSMT-Mo 78985	Japan, Wakayama (33°N)	MT653282	MT652826	MT652965	MT653055
	5384	NSMT-Mo 78986	Japan, Wakayama (33°N)	MT653283	MT652827	MT652966	MT653056
	5385	NSMT-Mo 78986	Japan, Wakayama (33°N)	MT653284	MT652828	MT652967	
P. sydneyensis	1513	AM C.468912.004	New South Wales (33°S)	MT653285	MT652829	MT652968	MT653057
	1516 H	AM C.468916.001	New South Wales (33°S)	MT653286	MT652830	MT652969	MT653058
	1517	AM C.468915.001	New South Wales (33°S)	MT653287	MT652831	MT652970	MT653059
	734	AM C.459511	Queensland (22°S)	HQ660048*	HQ659916*		
	1539	AM C.459510	Queensland (22°S)	MT653288	MT652832		
	1540	AM C.459511	Queensland (22°S)	MT653289	MT652833	MT652971	MT653060
	2646	MTQ	Queensland (20°S)	MT653290	MT652834	MT652972	
	2653	MTQ	Queensland (20°S)	M1653291	MT652835	M1652973	
	2656	MIQ	Queensland (20°S)	M1653292	M1652836	M1652974	
	2001	MTO	Queensland (20°S)	MT652204	MT652920	MT652075	MT652061
	2664	MTO	Queensland (20°S)	MT653294	MT652839	MT652976	100001
	2004		Cuccustana (20 3)		.,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,		1

Species	Individual (DNA #)	Voucher	Locality	GenBank COI	GenBank 16S	GenBank ITS2	GenBank 28S
P. sydneyensis	2667	MTQ	Queensland (20°S)	MT653296	MT652840		
	2680	MTQ	Queensland (21°S)	MT653297	MT652841		
	6189	MNHN-IM-2019-1594	New Caledonia (22°S)	MT653298	MT652842	MT652977	
	6195	MNHN-IM-2019-1595	New Caledonia (22°S)	MT653299	MT652843	MT652978	MT653062
	6209	MNHN-IM-2019-1596	New Caledonia (22°S)	MT653300	MT652844	MT652979	
	6213	MNHN-IM-2019-1597	New Caledonia (21°S)	MT653301	MT652845	MT652980	MT653063
	6220	MNHN-IM-2019-1598	New Caledonia (21°S)	MT653302	MT652846	MT652981	MT653064
	6222	MNHN-IM-2019-1599	New Caledonia (21°S)	MT653303	MT652847	MT652982	
P. willani	1620	NTM P.57626	Northern Territory (12°S)	MT653304	MT652848	MT652983	MT653065
	1623	NTM P.57627	Northern Territory (12°S)	MT653305	MT652849	MT652984	MT653066
	1624	NTM P.57627	Northern Territory (12°S)	MT653306	MT652850	MT652985	
	1625	NTM P.57627	Northern Territory (12°S)	MT653307	MT652851	MT652986	
	1626	NTM P.57627	Northern Territory (12°S)	MT653308	MT652852	MT652987	MT653067
	1628 H	NTM P.57625	Northern Territory (12°S)	MT653309	MT652853	MT652988	MT653068
	1629	NTM P.57627	Northern Territory (12°S)	MT653310	MT652854		
	1653	NTM P.57626	Northern Territory (12°S)	MT653311	MT652855	MT652989	
	1654	NTM P.57626	Northern Territory (12°S)	MT653312	MT652856	MT652990	
	1655	NTM P.57626	Northern Territory (12°S)	MT653313	MT652857	MT652991	MT653069
	1667	NTM P.57627	Northern Territory (12°S)	MT653314	MT652858	MT652992	MT653070
	1668	NTM P.57627	Northern Territory (12°S)	MT653315	MT652859	MT652993	
	1669	NTM P.57627	Northern Territory (12°S)	MT653316	MT652860		
	1670	NTM P.57627	Northern Territory (12°S)	MT653317	MT652861		

Vouchers used in Dayrat et al. (2011). Ten of our *Peronia* specimens were tentatively identified by Dayrat et al. (2011) at a time when nothing was known about the onchidiid species diversity in general and most especially in the genus *Peronia*. Most of those ten specimens were merely referred to with numbers (e.g., *Peronia* sp. 1). In order to avoid any confusion, those specimens are all included here so that correct species names are provided (Table 2). The specimen [443] (CASIZ 180486) identified as *Peronia peronii* from Guam really belongs to *P. peronii*. The specimen [696-2] (UF 352288) identified as *Peronia* cf. *verruculata* from Okinawa belongs to the new species *P. okinawensis*. The specimen [706] (UF 303653) identified as *Peronia* sp. 1 from Hawaii belongs to *P. platei*. The specimen [734] (AM C.459511) identified as *Peronia* sp. 3 from Queensland, Australia, belongs to the new species *P. sydneyensis*. Two specimens belong to *P. madagascariensis*: [735] (NHMUK 20060414) identified as *Peronia* cf. *peronii* from Mozambique, and [703] (UF 332088) identified as *Peronia* sp. 2 from Oman. Four specimens belong to *P. verruculata*: [712] (UF 368518) identified as *Scaphis* sp. from Cebu, Philippines, [730] (NHMUK 20080190) identified as *Peronia* sp. 4 from Mozambique, [733] (NHMUK 20060257) identified as *Peronia* sp. 5 from Mozambique, and [731] (NHMUK 20050628) identified as *Peronia* sp. 6 from Sulawesi, Indonesia.

**Types of existing species-group names.** All type specimens available for all onchidiid species-group names have been examined in context of the revision of the entire family. Comments on many onchidiid types can be found in our previous revisions (Dayrat et al. 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019a, b, c, d; Dayrat and Goulding 2017; Goulding et al. 2018a, b, c). In total, 118 type specimens (holotypes, lectotypes, paralectotypes, syntypes, etc.) are commented on here for the first time. Fifteen of those 118 type specimens are commented on in the general discussion because they are types of *nomina dubia* which may or may not refer to *Peronia* slugs. All the other (103) types are commented on in species descriptions because they are the types of 25 species-group names which must be classified in *Peronia* and which are not *nomina dubia* (Table 1).There are only two *Peronia* species names for which types could not be located: *Scaphis lata* Labbé, 1934a, and *Paraperonia jousseaumei* Labbé, 1934a. Finally, 14 lectotypes are designated here in order to clarify the application of 14 species names, usually because syntypes belong to different species or come from very distant localities.

Many type specimens were not labeled as types and were found within the general collections. In most cases, it was easy to determine that specimens were types because the information on the labels would match perfectly to that of the original descriptions. However, finding Labbé's types was challenging, with the exception of the holotype, by monotypy, of *Onchidium astridae* Labbé, 1934b, preserved in Bruxelles (RBINS I.G.9223/MT.3822): it was not marked as a holotype, but the name *Onchidium astridae* is on the label, and the locality and collector information is matching.

The types of all the other *Peronia* species (and one subspecies) described by Labbé are preserved at the MNHN (the monograph in which those new taxa were described was almost exclusively based on material from the MNHN). The major issue with this material is that Labbé did not write any of his new species names on any of the labels. To be fair and fully accurate, there are actually three jars for which a specific name was written in pencil and in tiny letters on labels: one jar contains the type material of *Onchidium durum* (MNHN-IM-2000-33698), and two other jars contain part of the type material of *Paraperonia gondwanae* (MNHN-IM-2000-33683, MNHN-IM-2000-33688). Eleven years ago, Dayrat (2009) considered that identifying the types of Labbé's on-chidiid species names in the MNHN collection would be too risky (because specimens could be erroneously interpreted as types). However, after Virginie Héros (who is in charge of the Mollusk type collection at the MNHN) correctly remarked that it should still be possible to find some of Labbé's types, an excel file was generated including all the old onchidiid material preserved at the MNHN and all the material cited in Labbé's (1934a) monograph. By comparing various information (localities, names of the collec-

tors, collecting dates, specimen sizes), it then became clear that many specimens could be identified as types with great confidence, even though they were not labeled as types and Labbé's species names were not indicated on the labels.

For instance, originally, no jar clearly labeled as the type material of *Scaphis carbonaria* was found at the MNHN. However, of the old jars found at the MNHN with specimens from New Caledonia, only one matches perfectly the information provided in Labbé's original description of *S. carbonaria*: an individual collected in 1880 by Réveillère (with an identification as *Peronia*). Other jars with one or more specimens from New Caledonia were collected by Fisher in 1878 and by François in 1894. Therefore, it is extremely likely that the specimen collected by Réveillère in 1880 is the holotype, by monotypy, of *Scaphis carbonaria* (MNHN-IM-2000-33708). In many cases, however, identifying the types happened to be much more challenging because there were several jars with the same locality, the same collector, and the same collecting date. In order to avoid any future confusion, Labbé's types are commented on in great detail in species descriptions. There are only two of Labbé's species for which no type material could be confidently traced back at the MNHN: *Scaphis lata* Labbé, 1934a, and *Paraperonia jousseaumei* Labbé, 1934a.

Finally, the type material of *Peronia persiae*, recently described by Maniei et al. (2020a), was not borrowed for examination. Regardless, there is no doubt that *P. persiae* is a junior synonym of both *P. verruculata* (Cuvier, 1830) and *P. gondwanae* (Labbé, 1934a) (Table 1), because all the COI and 16S sequences published for *P. persiae* cluster within the mitochondrial unit #4 of *P. verruculata*.

Additional material examined (historical museum collections). In addition to the 189 specimens included in the molecular analyses (not including the eleven outgroups) and the 118 type specimens of existing nominal species, 297 old specimens were obtained from museum collections from which no DNA could be extracted. Those specimens correspond to a total of 60 jars. One jar contains 161 specimens. All other jars contain fewer than 15 specimens. These old museum specimens are not included in the anatomical species descriptions, except for the description of *Peronia verruculata* from the Red Sea. Instead, these additional specimens are commented on in the species remarks. The additional specimens were especially useful to provide geographic records from places which could not be visited, such as the Chagos Archipelago, Nicobar Islands, Persian Gulf, and Socotra. Identifying *Peronia* species using only anatomical traits is challenging but possible (see below). Finally, some of the historical specimens from museum collections were studied by previous authors, and their reexamination allowed us to confirm or reject many identifications from the literature.

#### Anatomical preparations and descriptions

Size (length/width) is indicated in millimeters (mm) for each specimen. Both the external morphology and the internal anatomy were studied. All anatomical observations were made under a dissecting microscope and drawn with a camera lucida. Radulae and male reproductive organs were prepared for scanning electron microscopy (Zeiss SIGMA Field Emission Scanning Electron Microscopy). Radulae were cleaned in 10% NaOH for a week, rinsed in distilled water, briefly cleaned in an ultrasonic water bath (less than a minute), sputter-coated with gold-palladium and examined by SEM. Soft parts (penis, accessory penial gland, etc.) were dehydrated in ethanol and critical point dried before coating.

Anatomical species descriptions are based on those 179 *Peronia* individuals for which sequences were generated for the present study as well as on the available type material for species with existing names (see below). To avoid unnecessary repetition, the description of anatomical features that are virtually identical between *Peronia* species (e.g., nervous system, heart, and stomach) is not repeated for each species. However, all the characters that are useful for species comparison (e.g., intestinal loops and male apparatus) are described for every species. Special attention has been given to illustrating the holotype and the type locality of each new species.

Species are being described following a phylogenetic order. The detailed description of *Peronia verruculata* is based on the mitochondrial unit #1, by far the most widespread (from Peninsular Malaysia to the West Pacific) and most abundant (55 specimens in our study), but variations in the other units are precisely reported and figure captions indicate the unit to which each illustrated individual belongs.

#### Types of intestinal loops

In onchidiids, types of intestinal loops are defined based on the pattern of the intestine on the dorsal aspect of the digestive gland (with the digestive gland still in place). Plate (1893) first distinguished four types of intestinal loops (types I to IV) and Labbé (1934a) later added a type V. Only the types I and V are found in *Peronia*. Hoffmann (1928: 51, pl. 3, fig. 11) noted before Labbé that intestinal loops of type V differ from other types and he referred to them as type Ia. Labbé's terminology (type V) is preferred because past authors have adopted it and because a type V is very different from a type I. The different types of intestinal loops and their individual variation are best revealed by coloring sections of the intestine differently (Dayrat et al. 2019b, c, d): a clockwise intestinal loop is colored in blue, a counterclockwise intestinal loop is colored in yellow, and a transitional loop between them is colored in green (Fig. 1).

The intestine first appears dorsally on the right side. In intestinal loops of type I, the intestine starts by forming a clockwise (blue) loop which does not make a complete circle. As a result, the transitional (green) loop is oriented to the right (Fig. 1A–F). In two species with intestinal loops of type I (*P. okinawensis* and *P. peronii*), the transitional loop is oriented between 12 and 3 o'clock (Fig. 1D–F). In the three other species with intestinal loops of type I (*P. sydneyensis*, *P. verruculata*, and *P. willani*), the transitional loop is oriented between 3 and 6 o'clock (Fig. 1A–C). In intestinal loops of type V, the intestine starts by forming immediately a counterclockwise (yellow) loop. In intestinal loops of type V, the counterclockwise loop is oriented between 10 and 11 o'clock (Fig. 1G–I). Four *Peronia* species are characterized by intestinal loops of type V: *P. griffithsi*, *P. madagascariensis*, *P. platei*, and *P. setoensis*.



Figure 1. Intestinal types found in *Peronia* species. A clockwise intestinal loop is colored in blue, a counterclockwise intestinal loop is colored in yellow, and a transitional loop between them is colored in green. The big red arrow indicates the orientation of the transitional loop (A-F) or counterclockwise loop (G-I), and the small black arrows indicates the direction of the intestinal transport A type I, with a transitional loop oriented at 3 o'clock, P. sydneyensis, Australia, New South Wales, [1517] (AM C.468915.001) **B** type I, with a transitional loop oriented at 6 o'clock, *P. verruculata*, lectotype of *P. anomala*, Red Sea (MNHN-IM-2000-33678) C type I, with a transitional loop oriented between 4 and 5 o'clock, P. verruculata, lectotype, Red Sea (MNHN-IM-2000-22941) **D** type I, with a transitional loop oriented at 3 o'clock, P. peronii, paralectotype of Onchidium peronii, Timor (MNHN-IM-2000- 22938) E type I, with a transitional loop oriented at 1 o'clock, P. peronii, lectotype of Paraperonia fidjiensis, Fiji (MNHN-IM-2000-33692) F type I, with a transitional loop oriented between 1 and 2 o'clock, P. okinawensis, holotype, Japan, Okinawa, [696-4 H] (UF 352288) G type V, with a counterclockwise loop oriented between 10 and 11 o'clock, P. madagascariensis, Madagascar, [5501] (MNHN-IM-2009-16392) H type V, with a counterclockwise loop oriented at 10 o'clock, P. platei, lectotype, French Polynesia (SMNH-Type-7537) I type V, with a counterclockwise loop oriented at 11 o'clock, P. griffithsi, holotype, Mauritius, [3157 H] (MNHN-IM-2000-35265). Scale bars: 2 mm (A, B), 5 mm (C-G), 3 mm (H, I).

# DNA extraction and PCR amplification

DNA was extracted using a phenol-chloroform extraction protocol with cetyltrimethyl-ammonium bromide (CTAB). The mitochondrial cytochrome *c* oxidase I region (COI) and 16S region were amplified using the following universal primers (all 5'-3'): LCO1490 GGT CAA CAA ATC ATA AAG ATA TTG G, and HCO2198 TAA ACT TCA GGG TGA CCA AAR AAY CA (Folmer et al. 1994), 16Sar-L CGC CTG TTT ATC AAA AAC AT (Palumbi 1996), and the modified Palumbi primer 16S 972R CCG GTC TGA ACT CAG ATC ATG T (Dayrat et al. 2011). The nuclear ITS2 and 28S regions were amplified with the following primers: LSU-1 CTA GCT GCG AGA ATT AAT GTG A, and LSU-3 ACT TTC CCT CAC GGT ACT TG (Wade and Mordan 2000), 28SC1 ACC CGC TGA ATT TAA GCA T (Hassouna et al. 1984), and 28SD3 GAC GAT CGA TTT GCA CGT CA (Vonnemann et al. 2005). The 25 µl PCRs for COI and 16S contained 15.8 µl of water, 2.5 µl of 10× PCR Buffer, 1.5 μl of 25 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.5 μl of each 10 μM primer, 2 μl of dNTP Mixture, 0.2 μl (1 unit) of TaKaRa Taq (Code No. R001A), 1 µl of 20 ng/µl template DNA, and 1 µl of 100× BSA (Bovine Serum Albumin). The PCRs for ITS2 used the reagents in the same amounts as COI and 16S, except that water was reduced to 14.8 µl and the amount of 100× BSA was increased to 2 µl. The PCRs for 28S included 14.8 µl of water, 2.5 µl of 10× PCR Buffer, 0.5 µl of each 10 µM primer, 1 µl of dNTP Mixture, 5  $\mu$ l of Q solution (which includes MgCl<sub>2</sub>) and 0.5  $\mu$ l of 20 ng/ $\mu$ l template DNA. The thermoprofile used for COI and 16S was: 5 minutes at 94 °C; 30 cycles of 40 seconds at 94 °C, 1 minute at 46 °C, and 1 minute at 72 °C; and a final extension of 10 minutes at 72 °C. The ITS2 thermoprofile was: 1 minute at 96 °C; 35 cycles of 30 seconds at 94 °C, 30 seconds at 50 °C, and 1 minute at 72 °C; and a final extension of 10 minutes at 72 °C. The 28S thermoprofile was: 4 minutes at 94 °C; 38 cycles of 50 seconds at 94 °C, 1 minute at 52 °C, and 2 minutes 30 seconds at 72 °C; and a final extension of 10 minutes at 72 °C. The PCR products were cleaned with ExoSAP-IT (Affymetrix, Santa Clara, CA, USA) prior to sequencing. Untrimmed sequenced fragments represented approximately 680 bp for COI, 530 bp for 16S, 740 bp for ITS2, and 1030 bp for 28S.

#### Phylogenetic analyses

Chromatograms were consulted to resolve rare ambiguous base calls. DNA sequences were aligned using Clustal W in MEGA 7 (Kumar et al. 2016). Eleven onchidiid species outside *Peronia* were selected as outgroups from our previous studies (Dayrat et al. 2011, 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019a, b, c, d; Dayrat and Goulding 2017; Goulding et al. 2018a, b, c): *Alionchis jailoloensis* Goulding & Dayrat in Goulding et al. 2018a, *Laspionchis boucheti* Dayrat & Goulding in Dayrat et al. 2019b; *Marmaronchis vaigiensis* (Quoy & Gaimard, 1825), *Melayonchis eloisae* Dayrat in Dayrat et al. 2017, *Onchidella celtica* (Cuvier in Audouin and Milne-Edwards 1832), *Onchidina australis* (Semper, 1880), *Onchidium typhae* Buchannan, 1800, *Paromoionchis tumidus* (Sem-

per, 1880), *Peronina tenera* (Stoliczka, 1869), *Platevindex luteus* (Semper, 1880), and *Wallaconchis sinanui* Goulding & Dayrat in Goulding et al. 2018b. All new DNA sequences were deposited in GenBank and vouchers deposited in museum collections (Table 2). The ends of each alignment were trimmed. Alignments of mitochondrial (COI and 16S) sequences and nuclear (ITS2 and 28S) sequences were concatenated separately in order to test whether these two data sets support the same relationships. The concatenated mitochondrial alignment included 1014 nucleotide positions: 614 (COI) and 400 (16S). The concatenated ITS2 and 28S alignment included 1544 nucleotide positions: 535 (ITS2) and 1009 (28S). The haplotype ITS2 alignment (in which identical sequences were grouped into a single haplotype sequence) included 740 nucleotide positions.

Three independent sets of phylogenetic analyses were performed: 1) Maximum Likelihood and Bayesian analyses with concatenated mitochondrial COI and 16S sequences; 2) Maximum Parsimony analyses with concatenated nuclear ITS2 and 28S sequences; 3) Maximum Parsimony analyses with ITS2 haplotype sequences. Maximum Parsimony analyses were conducted in PAUP v 4.0 (Swofford 2002) with gaps coded as a fifth character state, and 100 bootstrap replicates conducted using a full heuristic search. Prior to Maximum Likelihood and Bayesian phylogenetic analyses, the best-fitting evolutionary model was selected for each locus separately using the Model Selection option from Topali v2.5 (Milne et al. 2004): a GTR + G model was independently selected for COI and 16S. Maximum Likelihood analyses were performed using PhyML (Guindon and Gascuel 2003) as implemented in Topali. Node support was evaluated using bootstrapping with 100 replicates. Bayesian analyses were performed using MrBayes v3.1.2 (Ronquist and Huelsenbeck 2003) as implemented in Topali, with five simultaneous runs of  $1.5 \times 10^6$  generations each, sample frequency of 100, and burn in of 25% (and posterior probabilities were also calculated). Topali did not detect any issue with respect to convergence. All analyses were run several times and yielded the same result.

In addition, genetic distances between COI sequences were calculated in MEGA 7 as uncorrected p-distances. COI sequences were also translated into amino acid sequences in MEGA using the invertebrate mitochondrial genetic code to check for the presence of stop codons (no stop codon was found).

#### Results

# Molecular phylogenetic analyses

The monophyly of *Peronia* is strongly supported in all analyses except in the mitochondrial ML analyses (bootstrap of 58), which confirms that all onchidiid slugs with dorsal gills belong to the same clade (Figs 2–4).

Seven nodes of higher relationships among *Peronia* species are well supported. Supports are indicated here in parentheses in the following order: ML bootstrap in



**Figure 2.** Phylogenetic relationships between *Peronia* species based on concatenated mitochondrial COI and 16S DNA sequences. Numbers by the branches are the bootstrap values (maximum likelihood analysis) and the posterior probabilities (Bayesian analysis). Only the values > 50% (ML) and > 0.9 (Bayesian) are indicated. Numbers for each individual correspond to unique identifiers for DNA extraction. Information on specimens can be found in the lists of material examined and in Table 2. The color used for each species or mitochondrial unit is the same as the color used in Figs 3–6.



Figure 2. Continued.

2571 (MTQ) Queensland

2868 (UMIZ 00169) Indonesia, Seram 5469 (MNHN-IM-2013-12010) PNG, Madang

731 (NHMUK 20050628) Indonesia, Sulawesi 5468 (MNHN-IM-2013-12009) PNG, Madang



P. verruculata unit #1

Figure 2. Continued.

mitochondrial analysis, Bayesian posterior probability in mitochondrial analysis, bootstrap in ITS2 analysis, bootstrap in ITS2 and 28S analysis (bootstrap values below 50% and posterior probabilities below 0.90 are replaced by a dash). Most basally, *Peronia* is always split in clades A and B. Clade A is strongly supported (99, 1.0, 100, 100) and includes *P. peronii* and *P. okinawensis*. Clade B is also strongly supported (99, 1, 93, 99) and includes clade C and *P. madagascariensis* as its most basal species. Clade C, which is consistently recovered but moderately supported (-, -, 90, 87), includes clade D and *P. platei* as its most basal species. Clade D (98, 1, 99, 86) includes the three



**Figure 3.** Maximum parsimony consensus tree within *Peronia* based on ITS2 sequences (identical sequences are represented as a single haplotype sequence). Numbers by the branches are the bootstrap values. Only the values > 50% are indicated. Numbers for each individual correspond to unique identifiers for DNA extraction. Information on specimens can be found in the lists of material examined and in Table 2. The color used for each species or mitochondrial unit is the same as the color used in Figs 2, 4–6.

clades E, F, and G, of which the relationships are unresolved (Fig. 4) or incongruent (Figs 2, 3). Clade E (83, 0.9, 80, 54) includes *P. griffithsi* and *P. setoensis*. Clade F (100, 1.0, 75, 93) includes *P. sydneyensis* and *P. willani*. Clade G (97, 1, 71, 94) includes the



**Figure 4.** Maximum parsimony consensus tree within *Peronia* based on concatenated nuclear ITS2 and 28S sequences. Numbers by the branches are the bootstrap values. Only the values > 50% are indicated. Numbers for each individual correspond to unique identifiers for DNA extraction. Information on specimens can be found in the lists of material examined and in Table 2. The color used for each species or mitochondrial unit is the same as the color used in Figs 2, 3, 5, 6.

five least-inclusive mitochondrial units of *P. verruculata*. The relationships of those five units are not resolved (all support values are very low).

The monophyly of each species recognized here is strongly supported in all analyses, except for the special case of *P. sydneyensis* (see below, species delineation). Within four species, some least-inclusive units are supported by the mitochondrial markers but not by comparative anatomy and nuclear markers (Figs 2–4): two units within *P. peronii* (one unit from Mauritius and the other from the West Pacific); two units within *P. platei* (one unit from Hawaii and the other from Papua New Guinea); two units within *P. griffithsi* (one unit from Mauritius and the other from South-East Asia and Papua New Guinea); and three units of *P. verruculata* from South-East Asia and the West Pacific (units #1, #2, and #3). Two least-inclusive mitochondrial units within *P. verruculata* from the western Indian Ocean (units #4 and #5) are also monophyletic in nuclear analyses (Figs 2–4) but are anatomically cryptic (see below). Note that populations of *P. verruculata* from the Red Sea are not represented in molecular analyses (see below, species delineation).

In mitochondrial analyses (Fig. 2), *P. sydneyensis* and *P. willani* form together the strongly supported clade E and the monophyly of each species is also strongly supported. In nuclear analyses (Figs 3, 4), they also form a strongly supported clade but *P. sydneyensis* is paraphyletic with respect to *P. willani*. Both species are close geographically (*P. sydneyensis* is distributed in New South Wales, Queensland and New Caledonia, and *P. willani* is distributed in the Northern Territory) and may be the result of a recent divergence. The paraphyly in nuclear analyses most likely is the result of incomplete lineage sorting (see below, species delineation).

#### Pairwise genetic divergences

Pairwise genetic distances were calculated for a total of 13 units (Fig. 5, Table 3): the five mitochondrial units within *P. verruculata* as well as the eight other species. A barcode gap is found in all cases, apart from the mitochondrial unit #1 of *P. verruculata*.

# Comparative anatomy

All *Peronia* slugs are characterized by dorsal gills which are not found in other onchidiids. They are also all characterized by a unique combination of internal traits: they are the only onchidiid slugs with intestinal loops of type I or V, an accessory penial gland, and no rectal gland. The fact that any slug with this combination of traits belongs to a *Peronia* species is helpful to identify specimens with dorsal gills retracted inside the notum.

There are no external differences between *Peronia* species. In the field, it is not possible to reliably identify any of them, especially because sympatric species are often found together at the exact same sites. Individuals of very large size (longer than 100 mm) are only found in *P. peronii*, but smaller individuals are impossible to distinguish externally from other species. Also, tall papillae over the entire notum seem to be mostly found in *P. peronii* and *P. madagascariensis*, but that may be due to the fact that



**Figure 5.** Diagram to help visualize the data on pairwise genetic distances between COI sequences within and between species and mitochondrial units (*P. verruculata*) in *Peronia* (see Table 3). Ranges of minimum to maximum distances are indicated (in percentages). For instance, within *P. willani*, individual sequences are between 0 and 1.9% divergent; individual sequences between *P. willani* and the other species or units are minimally 4.3% and maximally 16.8% divergent. The colors are the same as those used in Figs 2–4, 6.

slugs of both species are the largest, and it remains difficult to define exactly what a tall papilla is because papilla size is highly variable.

Internal differences help identify some species reliably, but not all (Table 4). Internal differences are almost exclusively based on combinations of traits because no *Peronia* species is characterized by any unique, distinctive feature, except for *P. peronii* (characterized by a spine of the accessory penial gland longer than 3 mm) and *P. sydneyensis* (characterized by strong protuberances on the spine of the accessory penial gland), and it remains difficult to identify *Peronia* species anatomically. For instance, where they overlap geographically (Queensland and New Caledonia), *P. verruculata* and *P. sydneyensis* can only be distinguished based on the length of the spine of the accessory penial gland, the presence of strong protuberances near the tip of the spine of the accessory penial gland, and the length of the penial hooks, which are all traits that are hardly accessible to a non-expert. However, only two *Peronia* species are cryptic externally and internally: *P. setoensis* and *P. platei*, which are not sister taxa (Figs 2–4) and do not overlap geographically, at least based upon current data (Fig. 6). Finally, the mitochondrial units of *P. verruculata* cannot be reliably distinguished anatomically.

Types of intestinal loops are useful for the identification of *Peronia* species (Fig. 1): species are characterized by intestinal loops of type V (*P. griffithsi*, *P. madagascariensis*, *P. platei*, and *P. setoensis*), type I with a transitional loop oriented between 12 and 3 o'clock (*P. okinawensis* and *P. peronii*), or type I with a transitional loop oriented between 3 and 6 o'clock (*P. sydneyensis*, *P. verruculata*, *P. willani*). Exceptions exist but are remarkably rare: only one individual in *P. sydneyensis* was found with a transitional loop slightly

	Units	1	2	æ	4	s	6	~	8	6	10	11	12	13
1 P. verrucu	lata (unit #1)	0.0-3.6												
2 P. verrucu.	<i>lata</i> (unit #2)	3.2 - 6.6	0.0 - 1.4											
3 P. verrucu.	<i>lata</i> (unit #3)	3.4-5.4	4.7-6.1	0.0-0.4										
4 P. verrucu.	<i>lata</i> (unit #4)	4.9–8.2	6.6-7.3	4.9 - 6.0	0.0 - 1.2									
5 P. verrucu	: <i>lata</i> (unit #5)	4.0 - 6.1	4.7 - 6.4	4.5-5.4	6.5-8-2	0.0 - 0.8								
6 P. griffiths.	i.	7.5-10.4	8.3 - 10.0	7.5-8.7	8.0-9.7	7.0–9.0	0.0 - 4.2							
7 P. madaga	tscariensis	9.3-11.3	9.3 - 10.6	9.5-10.3	9.2-11.0	8.5 - 10.0	9.3-11.3	0.0 - 0.6						
8 P. okinaw	ensis	12.0 - 14.0	12.8-13.6	12.3-13.1	13.6-14.2	11.5-12.4	13.0 - 14.5	12.0-12.8	0.0 - 0.2					
9 P. peronii		11.3-15.4	11.5-14.7	12.1 - 14.2	12.6-15.2	12.0-14.8	11.5 - 15.0	12.4-15.3	8.6 - 9.4	0.0 - 4.3				
10 P. platei		9.5-12.5	10.5-12.9	11.1 - 13.5	11.1-12.9	12.1 - 14.1	10.9 - 13.3	14.2 - 14.8	12.8-13.6	11.3-13.5	0.2 - 4.7			
11 P. setoensis	S	7.1–8.8	8.3-8.6	7.0-7.5	6.5-7.0	8.7–9.5	5.4-7.0	11.0-11.3	13.9–14.2	11.3-14.5	10.9-12.0	0.0 - 0.0		
12 P. sydneyer	nsis	6.8–9.2	7.6–9.3	6.6 - 8.0	7.0-8.0	7.0-8.3	5.6-6.8	10.0 - 11.6	12.6-13.8	14.0-15.7	9.8-11.7	7.1-7.8	0.0 - 1.6	
13 P. willani		7.3-9.2	8.3-9.1	6.1 - 8.0	7.5-8.9	7.8-9.3	5.9-7.5	10.3 - 11.4	13.8 - 14.6	13.8-16.8	11.4 - 12.2	6.5-6.6	4.3-5.4	0.0 - 1.9

For instance, the intra-specific divergences within P. madagascariensis are between 0 and 0.6%, while the inter-specific divergences between P. griffithsi and P. mada-Table 3. Pairwise genetic distances between mitochondrial COI sequences in *Peronia*. Ranges of minimum to maximum distances are indicated (in percentage).

Table 4. Summary of traits that can help identify *Peronia* species, based exclusively on specimens examined for the present revision. Species are arranged in a phylogenetic order (Figs 2–4). Traits are described in detail in species descriptions.

Species	Max. animal length (mm)	Papillae with dorsal eyes	Intestinal type (transitional loop orientation)	Retractor muscle insertion (near heart or end of visceral cavity)	Muscular sac length (mm)	Accessory penial gland spine length (mm)	Accessory penial gland spine diameter base (µm)	Accessory penial gland spine diameter tip (µm)	Penis hooks length (µm)	Distribution
P. peronii	140	15-20	I (12–3 o'clock)	heart (exc. vestigial)	>20	3.0-5.0	400–500	160-200	<50	Indo-West Pacific (Zanzibar to Okinawa and Tonga)
P. okinawensis	27	10-15	I (12–3 o'clock)	heart	<15	1.8-2.3	240-300	115-150	<35	Japan (Okinawa)
P. madagascariensis	80	12-18	>	end of VC	<15	2-2.4	200–230	70–80	<100	Western Indian Ocean
P. platei	30	7–10	Λ	end of VC	<5	0.7 - 1.0	65-100	20–30	<60	Western Pacific (PNG to Hawaii & French Polynesia)
P. setoensis	20	8-12	>	end of VC	ŝ	0.9–1.2	80-85	15-25	<25	Japan (Wakayama)
P. griffithsi	25	6-10	A	end of VC (exc. heart)	Ś	0.50-0.62	60–65	15-20	<25	Indo-West Pacific (Mauritius to Kei Islands & New Ireland)
P. sydneyensis	50	8-16	I (3–6 o'dock)	end of VC	<10	0.6 - 1.0	90-100	20-50	<30	Queensland, New South Wales & New Caledonia
P. willani	65	10-25	I (3–6 o'dock)	end of VC	<25	1.5-1.9	240-250	80-100	<37	Northern Territory
	#1 60 (exc. 73)	10-22			<15	1.4–2.0	100–270	35-50	<50	Singapore to eastern Australia, New Caledonia & Japan
	#2 55	14-22				1.4-1.7	140-160	30–35		Sumatra & Andaman
D	#3 40		112 6 2 10010	JAJ <sup>o</sup> Puo		1.8–2.2	200–270	40-80		Malaysia & Singapore
1. vernunuu	#4 60	10–18	1 (2-0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0		<10	(1.3) 2.2–2.8	200	50	<60	Western India, Pakistan & Persian Gulf
	#5 50	10-20				1.8 - 2.0	150-180	45-50	227	Mozambique & Madagascar
	#6 40	10-18			<15	2.0-2.4	140-200	55-60	<i>.</i> ,	Red Sea



**Figure 6.** Geographical distribution of the *Peronia* species **A** distribution of all *Peronia* species except for *P. peronii* **B** distribution of *P. peronii*. The colors are the same as those used in Figs 2–5. Colored areas correspond to hypothetical geographical ranges based on confirmed records only. Distinct colors are used for each unit of *P. verruculata*. The distribution of *P. verruculata* in the Indo-West Pacific is actually continuous. However, because it is unclear which units are present in regions from where we have no fresh material of *P. verruculata* (red areas), no unit of *P. verruculata* is shown there. For *P. peronii*, black dots correspond to material identified based on anatomical characters and blue dots correspond to material with DNA sequences. Details on species distribution can be found in each species description.

outside the range of that species (at 2 o'clock). Types of intestinal loops, however, can only be used in combination with other traits for the purpose of species identification.

The insertion of the retractor muscle of the penis is not very useful in identification because it mostly matches the distribution of the respective intestinal loop types (Table 4). An insertion near the heart is only found in the two species with intestinal loops of type I and transitional loops oriented between 12 and 3 o'clock (*P. peronii* and *P. okinawensis*). Within each species, all individuals share the same insertion of the retractor muscle (either near the heart or at the posterior end of the visceral cavity). However, in *P. griffithsi*, which is widely distributed from the West Pacific to Mauritius, individuals are characterized by both insertions. In *P. peronii*, the retractor muscle can exceptionally be vestigial (with no clear insertion).

The length of the muscular sac of the accessory penial gland varies depending on the size of animals, but it is useful to help identify some species. Indeed, only two species (*P. peronii* and *P. willani*) are characterized by a muscular sac which is longer than 20 mm (Table 4). The length of the spine of the accessory penial gland is helpful to distinguish closely related species which, otherwise, are very similar anatomically: *P. peronii* (at least 3 mm) and *P. okinawensis* (less than 2.3 mm); *P. setoensis* (more than 0.9 mm) and *P. griffithsi* (less than 0.62 mm); and *P. sydneyensis* (less than 1 mm) and *P. willani* (more than 1.5 mm). The diameter of the spine at its base can be used in exactly the same way. The length of penial hooks also differs between species: the longest hooks are found in *P. madagascariensis* (up to 100 µm), the shortest in *P. setoensis* and *P. griffithsi* (less than 25 µm).

#### Species delineation

The delineation of *Peronia* species is straightforward. They are all supported by independent data sets: they are reciprocally monophyletic with both mitochondrial and nuclear markers, and their monophyly is strongly supported; they are all separated by a large barcode gap; and they each are characterized by a unique combination of anatomical traits (with the exception of *P. setoensis* and *P. platei*, which are cryptic). Only two species need special attention: *P. sydneyensis* and *P. verruculata*.

The paraphyly of *P. sydneyensis* with respect to *P. willani* in nuclear analyses most likely is the result of incomplete lineage sorting, because lineage sorting progresses more rapidly for mitochondrial alleles than for nuclear alleles (Funk and Omland 2003). Also, *P. sydneyensis* and *P. willani* species are clearly distinct anatomically: in particular, *P. sydneyensis* is characterized by unique, strong protuberances near the tip of the spine of the accessory penial gland. Therefore, *P. sydneyensis* and *P. willani* are regarded as two recent but well-delineated species.

Despite some genetic structure, *Peronia verruculata* is regarded as a single species for various reasons. In mitochondrial analyses, *P. verruculata* is split in five leastinclusive mitochondrial units of which the relationships are basically unresolved due to low support (Fig. 2). In nuclear analyses, the mitochondrial units #1, #2, and #3 are not monophyletic (Figs 3, 4). Therefore, they should not be recognized as distinct taxa. In nuclear analyses, units #4 and #5 are monophyletic (Figs 3, 4). However, the mitochondrial units #1, #2, and #3 do not form a monophyletic group with respect to units #4 and #5. Recognizing mitochondrial units #4 and #5 each as a separate taxon would mean that mitochondrial units #1, #2, and #3 would also have to be recognized as separate taxa, which is unwarranted for the reasons given above.

All mitochondrial units of *P. verruculata* are cryptic anatomically (their anatomical traits display overlapping variation) while *P. verruculata* is clearly distinct from other *Peronia* species (Table 4). Finally, it would seem premature to recognize units #4 and

#5 as independent lineages because our geographical sampling of *P. verruculata* is not continuous (Fig. 6). Future samples from southern India (including Sri Lanka) or the Arabian Sea (the coast of Yemen, Oman, Somalia) might show that the individuals of the western mitochondrial units #4 and #5 can still interbreed, exactly like units #1, #2, and #3. We therefore refrain from naming those five mitochondrial units within *P. verruculata*. They are merely regarded as mitochondrial units that indicate some genetic structure, but the current data do not suggest that they should be recognized as distinct taxa. Note that taxon names are already available for the mitochondrial units #1, #4, and #5 of *P. verruculata* (Table 1).

Finally, note that *Peronia verruculata* was described from the Red Sea, from which no fresh material could be obtained. However, the specimens examined from the Red Sea are anatomically indistinguishable from the specimens of the five mitochondrial units of *P. verruculata* (Table 4). Therefore, at this stage, there is no reason to think that the populations from the Red Sea belong to a distinct species and that the name *P. verruculata* cannot apply to the whole species from the Red Sea and South Africa all the way to the West Pacific (Japan, New Caledonia, and Queensland). At any rate, there are plenty of available names that can be used in the future if it were to be demonstrated that the populations from the Red Sea belong to a distinct species (see remarks on *P. verruculata*).

#### Species distribution

Geographic distribution is discussed in detail with each species description. The map of species distributions only illustrates the records that are regarded as correct (Fig. 6). Most of those correct records correspond to the specimens included in our molecular analyses. However, they also include types as well as historical museum specimens and records from the literature which could be positively identified using anatomical traits (e.g., intestinal loops, length of the spine of the accessory penial gland).

The secondary literature was read with great attention, especially in cases where it could provide geographical records not included in our material. Every record found in the literature is commented on (in the species remarks). Records from the literature are certainly not taken for granted because the secondary literature is plagued with two major issues. First, past authors did not always take the time to examine type specimens. For instance, Labbé (1934a) did not examine the types of *Onchidium verruculatum* and *Onchidium peronii* which are preserved at the Paris Museum (he did not list them in the material examined for these species), even though his study was almost exclusively based on material from that institution. Second, because there was no proper knowledge about intraspecific character variation, nobody knew which character could help distinguish species or not. For instance, Hoffmann's (1928: 73) record of *Peronia verruculata* from Hawaii was never questioned, but *Peronia* slugs from Hawaii are all characterized by intestinal loops of type V, which means that they cannot belong to *P. verruculata* (which is characterized by intestinal loops of type I).

# Systematics and anatomical descriptions

#### Family Onchidiidae Rafinesque, 1815

#### Genus Peronia Fleming, 1822a

Onchis Férussac, 1822: xxxi. Nomen oblitum.

Peronia Fleming, 1822a: 574; Fleming 1822b: 463. Nomen protectum.

*Peronia* Blainville, 1824: 280 [junior homonym of *Peronia* Fleming, not a reference of *Peronia* Fleming].

Eudrastus Gistel, 1848: x.

Paraperonia Labbé, 1934a: 196.

Scaphis Labbé, 1934a: 203.

*Lessonia* Labbé, 1934a: 213 [junior homonym of *Lessonia* Swainson, 1832, replaced by *Lessonina* Starobogatov, 1976].

Quoya Labbé, 1934a: 216.

Lessonina Starobogatov, 1976: 211.

*Quoyella* Starobogatov, 1976: 211 [unnecessary replacement name for *Quoya* Labbé, 1934a].

Type species. Onchis: Onchidium peronii Cuvier, 1804, by monotypy.

Peronia Fleming: Onchidium peronii Cuvier, 1804, by monotypy.

Peronia Blainville: Peronia mauritiana Blainville, 1824, by original designation.

*Eudrastus*: Onchidium tonganum Quoy & Gaimard, 1832, by subsequent designation (Baker 1938: 86).

*Paraperonia: Paraperonia gondwanae* Labbé, 1934a, by subsequent designation (Starobogatov 1976: 211).

*Scaphis*: *Onchidium astridae* Labbé, 1934b, by subsequent designation (Starobogatov 1976: 211).

Quoya: Quoya indica Labbé, 1934a, by monotypy.

Lessonina: Onchidium ferrugineum Lesson, 1831a, by monotypy.

Quoyella: Quoya indica Labbé, 1934a, by monotypy.

**Etymology.** Onchis: After the Greek ό öγκος, oncos, which means mass, or tumor. *Peronia*: After François Péron [1775–1810], zoologist of the Baudin expedition between 1800 and 1803, during which he collected the two slugs (from Mauritius and Timor) which Cuvier described as Onchidium peronii in 1804.

*Eudrastus*: Likely, although for unclear reasons, from the Greek  $\varepsilon v$ , *eu*, for true, and  $\delta \rho \alpha \sigma \tau \varepsilon o \varsigma$ , *drasteos*, a verbal adjective which means to be done.

*Paraperonia*: From the Greek  $\pi\alpha\rho\alpha$ , *para*, meaning beside, and *Peronia*.

Scaphis: After the Greek  $\dot{\eta} \sigma \kappa \check{\alpha} \varphi i s$ , which means small boat (Labbé, 1934a: 202).

*Quoya*: After the French naturalist Jean René Constant Quoy [1790–1869], a member of two circumnavigations from 1817 to 1820 with captain Freycinet and from 1826 to 1829 with captain Dumont d'Urville. Quoy and Joseph Paul Gaimard
[1793–1858] described several species of onchidiids based on their collections in the southern seas. *Quoyella* has the same etymology.

*Lessonina*: After the French naturalist René Primevère Lesson [1794–1849], a member of a circumnavigation from 1822 to 1825 with captain Duperrey. Lesson described several species of onchidiids based on his collections in the southern seas, such as the type species of *Lessonina*, *Onchidium ferrugineum*, which he collected in West Papua, Indonesia. Labbé's invalid name *Lessonia* was also dedicated to Lesson.

**Gender.** Onchis: Masculine. Férussac did not specify the gender of Onchis which he did not combine with any specific name, and even the binomen Onchis peronii, which Férussac did not use per se, would not help in that respect. Because Onchis is derived from the masculine Greek noun  $\dot{o}$   $\ddot{o}\gamma\kappa\sigma\varsigma$ , it is considered to be of masculine gender.

*Peronia*: Feminine. No gender was specified by Fleming, and the combination *Peronia peronii* does not help to determine it. Because no gender was originally specified or indicated and because *Peronia* ends in *-a*, it is treated as a name of feminine gender (ICZN 1999: Article 30.2.4). Indeed, *Peronia mauritiana*, an early combination used by Blainville (1824: 281), shows that *Peronia* has always been treated as a name of feminine gender.

*Eudrastus*: Masculine. No gender was originally specified or indicated. *Eudrastus* ends in a word derived from a word of variable gender (a verbal adjective) and should be treated as masculine (ICZN 1999: Article 30.1.4.2).

Paraperonia: Feminine. Gender of Peronia.

*Scaphis*: Feminine. The gender was not specified by Labbé, but his original combinations *S. atra*, *S. carbonaria*, *S. lata*, and *S. punctata* indicate that he treated *Scaphis* as a name of feminine gender, which is correct since *Scaphis* is derived from the feminine Greek noun  $\dot{\eta} \sigma \kappa \check{\alpha} \varphi is$ .

*Quoya*: Feminine. The gender was not specified by Labbé, but his original combination *Q. indica* indicates that he treated *Quoya* as a name of feminine gender, which is assumed to be the gender of *Quoyella* as well.

*Lessonina*: Feminine. The gender was not specified by Starobogatov, and no gender was specified for *Lessonia* by Labbé. Labbé's original combination *Lessonia ferruginea* indicates that he treated *Lessonia* as a name of feminine gender, which is assumed to be the gender of *Lessonina* as well.

**Diagnosis.** Body not flattened. Dorsal gills present. Dorsal eyes present. No retractable, central papilla present. Eyes at tip of short ocular tentacles. Male opening below right ocular tentacle and to its left. Foot wide. Pneumostome median, on ventral hyponotum. Intestinal loops of types I or V. Rectal gland absent. Accessory penial gland present, with muscular sac. Penis with hooks.

**Remarks.** Phylogenetic analyses show that all species of slugs with dorsal gills belong to the same clade (Figs 2–4). Seven generic names apply to that clade (excluding spelling mistakes, unjustified emendations, replaced names, and *Peronia* Blainville, 1824, a junior homonym of *Peronia* Fleming, 1822a). Note that the species name of a type species can be valid (such as *Peronia peronii*), synonymous (such as *Onchidium tonganum*, junior synonym of *P. peronii*), or even a *nomen dubium* (such

as *Quoya indica*). Remarks on the nomenclatural history of the genus *Peronia* follow a chronological order.

Cuvier (1804) described the first *Peronia* species as *Onchidium peronii* but did not mention the presence of dorsal gills. Nor did he illustrate them. He only described a mantle covered by small warts subdivided in even smaller warts. Dorsal gills are actually present on the dorsum of the type specimen of *Onchidium peronii* from Timor, but they are retracted, as most often seen in preserved specimens. Cuvier (1804: 41) also confessed that he would have believed *O. peronii* to be terrestrial, due to its pulmonary cavity "similar to that of reptiles", but that he regarded it as marine because Péron was certain to have collected it in seawater. But, Cuvier (1804: 41) adds: "I think at least that it comes to the surface to open its [pulmonary] hole, and naturally take air to breathe, as do our *bulines* [*Bulinus*] and our *planorbes* [*Planorbis*] which, although aquatic, breathe only air." Actually, *Peronia* slugs hide in crevices at high tide and only come out at low tide.

Cuvier (1804: 38) decided to classify his new species in Buchannan's (1800) genus Onchidium because of the "extreme external resemblance" between O. peronii and Buchannan's O. typhae, despite the fact that, according to Buchannan, sexes are separate in O. typhae, while Cuvier's O. peronii is hermaphroditic. In his description of O. typhae, Buchannan (1800) wrote that slugs live in Bengal on leaves of Typha reeds and are "very nearly allied" to Limax, suggesting that they are terrestrial, although he did not mention the presence of a pulmonary cavity and did not clearly state whether the slugs were terrestrial or not. At any rate, authors considered that Buchannan's (1800) O. typhae was not a marine species and Blainville (1817: 440) argued that Buchannan's O. typhae was "generically" different from Cuvier's O. peronii, and that Onchidium should be restricted to O. typhae. However, Blainville (1817) did not propose any new generic name for Cuvier's (1804) Onchidium peronii.

In his *Histoire naturelle générale et particulière des mollusques terrestres et fluviatiles*, Férussac (1819: 80–82) agreed with Blainville (1817) that Cuvier's (1804) *Onchidium peronii* was distinct from Buchannan's (1800) *O. typhae*, but, like Blainville, he refrained from creating a new generic name for *O. peronii*. A year later, Fleming (1820: 616) stated that he thought Cuvier's *O. peronii* should probably be classified in a different genus from Buchannan's *Onchidium*: "This species [*Onchidium typhae* Buchannan], however, if the description be accurate, differs essentially from the one described by Cuvier [*Onchidium peronii*], and would lead us to infer that a new genus would be necessary for the reception of the species of the last-mentioned naturalist."

The two generic names *Onchis* and *Peronia* were independently created in 1822 for *O. peronii*, respectively by Férussac (1822) and Fleming (1822a, b) who both follow Blainville's (1817) argument according to which a marine and hermaphroditic species (*O. peronii*) cannot be classified in the same genus as a terrestrial species with separate sexes (*O. typhae*). Interestingly, neither Férussac (1822) nor Fleming (1822a, b) mention dorsal gills (which, again, Cuvier did not mention in the original description of *O. peronii*). Dorsal gills were first illustrated by Savigny (1817: pl. 2, fig. 3.5) in the *Description de l'Egypte* for slugs from the Red Sea; for a collation, see Baring (1838) and

Sherborn (1897). However, gills remained completely unnoticed because the explanation of Savigny's plate was published nearly ten years later by Audouin (1826: 18–20).

The exact date of publication of *Onchis* is 13 April 1822 (when the pages xxvxlvii were published); a collation for Férussac's (1821–1822) *Tableaux* can be found in Coan and Kabat (2019). Férussac (1822: xxxi) clearly distinguishes two genera of onchidiids: "Genre I. Onchide, *Onchis*; Onchidium, Cuvier, Ocken. (Marin.)" and "Genre II. Onchidie, *Onchidium*, Buchannan, Ocken." Note that Oken (1815: 307), to which Férussac (1822) refers, merely listed *Onchidium typhae* and *O. peronii*. According to Férussac, *Onchis* clearly refers to Cuvier's *Onchidium peronii*, supposedly marine and living underwater, and *Onchidium* is restricted to Buchannan's *Onchidium typhae*, thought not to live underwater. In the *Tableau systématique de la famille de limaces* (part of the 16<sup>th</sup> livraison published on 13 July 1822), Férussac (1822: 8) also considered two genera: the "premier genre," i.e., the first genus ever described, Buchannan's *Onchidium*, and another genus, unnamed, with *Onchidium peronii* as type.

Onchis is not etymologically rigorous. The latinization of  $\partial \gamma \kappa o \zeta$  is oncos or oncus, as in the English word oncology. The Greek letter  $\varkappa$  is "c" in Latin, while  $\chi$  becomes "ch." That Férussac used onchis instead of oncos is not surprising, as naturalists often took liberties with the latinization of Greek words. A famous example being the word taxonomy, created as taxonomie by De Candolle (1813: 19) from the Greek words taxis (arrangement, order) and nomos (law, rule): taxis should have stayed as taxi- to form taxinomie, taxinomy, exactly like in the English word taxidermy (from taxis and dermis, skin). However, the Code does not require taxon names to be etymologically correct. Therefore, the intentional spelling change of Onchis to Oncus by Agassiz (1846: 259; 1848: 748) is an unjustified emendation because Onchis is not the result of "inadvertent error, such as a lapsus calami or a copyist's or printer's error" (ICZN 1999: Article 32.5.1) and therefore Onchis must not be corrected. The emendation of Onchidium into Oncidium by Agassiz (1846: 259; 1848: 748) also is unjustified for the same reason.

The generic name *Peronia* first appeared in two different venues, both published by Fleming (1822). One venue is Fleming's (1822a: 574) article "Mollusca" in the fifth volume (second part) of the *Supplement to the fourth, fifth, and sixth editions of the Encyclopa-dia Britannica* published in May 1822 (as clearly indicated in a memorandum at the end of the sixth volume of the *Supplement*), even though the *Supplement* was only completed in 1824 (date on the title page). The other venue is Fleming's (1822b: 463) *Philosophy of Zoology* which, according to Feuer and Smith (1972: 55), was not published earlier than May 1822 but no later than June 1822. The mention of *Peronia* in the *Supplement* is considered here to be the earliest one because it was published in May 1822.

*Peronia* Fleming, 1822a is an objective junior synonym of *Onchis* Férussac, 1822, because Férussac's *Onchis* was published prior to Fleming's *Peronia* and both generic names share the same type species (*Onchidium peronii*). However, to the best of our knowledge, *Onchis* has only been used twice in a binomen, and both times before 1899: by Stimpson (1855) for *Onchis fruticosa*, a species name that has remained unnoticed until now, and by Mörch (1863) for *Onchis (Peronella) armadilla* Mörch, 1863, i.e., *Onchidella armadilla* (Mörch, 1863). Reversal of precedence applies here (ICZN 1999:

Article 23.9). Onchis, the senior synonym, "has not been used as a valid name after 1899" (ICZN 1999: Article 23.9.1.1) and Peronia, the junior synonym, "has been used for a particular taxon, as its presumed valid name, in at least 25 works, published by at least 10 authors in the immediately preceding 50 years and encompassing a span of not less than 10 years." (ICZN 1999: Article 23.9.1.2) A chronological list of 25 works meeting the criteria of ICZN Article 23.9.1.2 is provided here, all of which mentioning Peronia, Peronia verruculata, or Peronia peronii as valid names: Marcus and Marcus (1970), Starobogatov (1976), Britton (1984), Biskupiak and Ireland (1985), Faulkner (1987), Pietra (1990), Arimoto et al. (1993), Davies-Coleman and Garson (1998), Pietra (2002), Nakaoka et al. (2006), Carbone et al. (2009), Morrisey et al. (2010), Davrat et al. (2011), White et al. (2011), Gaitán-Espitia et al. (2013), Mandal and Harkantra (2013), Sun et al. (2014), Bitaab et al. (2015), Harasewych et al. (2015), Liu et al. (2015), Wardiatno et al. (2015), Sun et al. (2016), Santhosh Kumar et al. (2016), Solanki et al. (2017), Xu et al. (2018). Onchis Férussac, 1822, objective senior synonym, is regarded as a nomen oblitum, and Peronia Fleming, 1822a, objective junior synonym, is regarded as a nomen protectum (ICZN 1999: Article 23.9.1.2).

Fleming (1822a: 571, 574) classified *Onchidium* (with only the type species *O. ty-phae*) in a group of slugs that "reside constantly on the land," and transferred *O. peronii* to *Peronia*, a genus for marine slugs that have "their residence constantly in water" and look like *Onchidium*. However, Fleming (1822a: 574) expressed doubts that *Peronia* slugs are air-breathing, as Cuvier (1804) claimed in the original description of *O. peronii*:

"This genus, which we have named in honor of M. Peron, was referred by Cuvier to the Onchidium of Buchanan (...) and the species termed *O. Peronii*. It was found creeping upon marine rocks, under water, at the Mauritius, by M. Peron. M. Cuvier conjectures that it breathes free air, and has accordingly inserted it among the *Pulmones aquatique* [*Pulmonés aquatiques*, i.e., aquatic pulmonates]. Some doubts, however, may reasonably be entertained about the truth of this supposition. It would certainly be an unexpected occurrence to find a marine gasteropodous mollusca obliged to come to the surface at intervals to respire. It will probably be found that it is truly branchiferous."

It was Audouin (1826) who demonstrated later that both Cuvier and Fleming were correct because *Peronia peronii* can breathe through both its pulmonary cavity and dorsal gills.

Blainville (1824: 280) created the generic name *Peronia* without being aware that Fleming (1822a, b) had already created exactly the same name two years before. Indeed, that Blainville (1824: 258) wrote "our genus *Péronie*" clearly suggests that he thought he was the author of *Peronia*. Also, most past authors attributed the authorship of *Peronia* to Blainville instead of Fleming (e.g., Stoliczka 1869: 100; Plate 1893: 102; Labbé 1934a: 189). *Peronia* Blainville, 1824 is a junior homonym of *Peronia* Fleming, 1822a and thus cannot be used as a valid name (ICZN 1999: Article 52.2). However, *Peronia* Blainville is also a junior objective synonym of *Peronia* Fleming, because they "both denote nominal taxa with name-bearing types whose own names are themselves objectively synonymous." (ICZN 1999: "objective synonym" in the glossary) Indeed, *O. peronii*, the type species of *Peronia* Fleming, and *P. mauritiana*, the

type species of *Peronia* Blainville are objective synonyms because they share the same lectotype, i.e., the specimen from Mauritius which Cuvier (1804: pl. 6) illustrated (see below, the comments on the type material of *O. peronii* and *P. mauritiana*).

When he created the generic name *Peronia*, Blainville (1824: 280, 281) cited only one species name, *Peronia mauritiana*, a junior objective synonym of *Onchidium peronii*. Blainville (1824: 281) also claimed that he knew four or five other species of marine onchidiids from the southern hemisphere, without naming them, but Blainville (1826: 523) listed them two years later (Table 1): *Peronia laevis*, a junior objective synonym of *Marmaronchis vaigiensis*; *Peronia semituberculata*, a junior objective synonym of *Onchidium planatum*, itself a *nomen dubium* which may or may not refer to an onchidiid species; *Peronia oniscoides*, which all authors ignored except for Labbé (1934a: 243) and which clearly does not refer to a *Peronia* species (see general discussion). In addition, Blainville (1826: 523) also pointed out that *Onchidium celticum*, a name which Cuvier used for small marine slugs from the coast of Brittany, France, could also refer to a *Peronia*; *Onchidium celticum* remained a *nomen nudum* until 1832, when it was described by Audouin and Milne-Edwards (1832: 118).

Like Cuvier (1804), Férussac (1822), and Fleming (1822a, b), Blainville (1824) did not mention the existence of dorsal gills. Dorsal gills were first described by Audouin (1826: 18–20) in the explanation of a plate by Savigny (1817: pl. 2) from the *Description de l'Egypte*. Savigny's (1817: pl. 2, figs 3.1–3.8) plate displays eight drawings for two onchidiid slugs from the Red Sea, with one of them clearly representing a dorsal gill (Savigny 1817: pl. 2, fig. 3.5). According to Audouin (1826: 19), it was Cuvier himself who identified those two slugs as *Onchidium peronii*, although Cuvier (1830) later changed his mind and created the new name *Onchidium verruculatum* for them. More importantly, Audouin (1826: 19) described in great detail the "small vascular branches" at the posterior end of the dorsum, or "tubercles" that work as "true gills." And Audouin (1826: 19) even made this clever statement:

"The Onchidie thus would have at the same time a pulmonary apparatus and a branchial apparatus; and that structure is in perfect agreement with what we know of the habits of that mollusk: Péron says that it is aquatic; on the contrary M. Cuvier, without the authority of this observer, would have believed it to be terrestrial. (...) We think that the Onchidie, at least the species illustrated here, enjoys the capacity to breathe under water thanks to the help of those ramified tubercles which cover the posterior end of its body, without the necessity of coming up to the surface; which is relatively difficult for an animal that slowly crawls at the bottom underwater. As for the pulmonary opening, it indicates that the onchidie breathes air as well; and we must suppose that several times in its life it finds itself in the condition to do so."

Audouin supposedly assumed that those slugs were truly aquatic.

Because *Peronia* was originally used as a genus for all marine onchidiids by both Fleming (1822a, b) and Blainville (1824, 1826), several *Peronia* species names already existed by 1830: *Peronia mauritiana*, *P. peronii*, *P. oniscoides*, *P. semituberculata*, and *P. laevis* (see above). Of those names, only the two objective synonyms *P. mauritiana* and *P. peronii* refer to true *Peronia* slugs, i.e., slugs with dorsal gills (Table 1). Cuvier

(1830: 46) did not see the need for a genus assignment for marine onchidiid species and still only recognized *Onchidium*, but other naturalists started transferring species names from *Onchidium* to *Peronia*. Lesson (1833: pl. 19) transferred his own *Onchidium ferrugineum* Lesson, 1831a to *Peronia*, and clearly specified that he agreed with Blainville that marine onchidiids should be classified in a distinct genus. Dorsal gills are very clearly described by Lesson (1831a: 128–130; 1831b: 300–302; 1832: 36–37, fig. 32; 1833: pl. 19) in *O. ferrugineum*, but they were not the reason why he transferred it from *Onchidium* to *Peronia*. Shortly after that, Oken (1834a) also transferred six *Onchidium* species names by Quoy and Gaimard (1832–1833) to *Peronia* (*P. cinerea*, *P. incisa*, *P. nigricans*, *P. patelloides*, *P. punctata*, and *P. tongana*), with no justification but most likely because he also adopted the idea that marine onchidiids should not be classified in *Onchidium*.

The name *Eudrastus* was created by Gistel (1848: x), as a replacement name for "Peronia (Quoy, Isis 1834. 287.)." Gistel refers here to a report (Oken 1834a: 283–310) on Quoy and Gaimard's (1832–1833) contribution to the *Voyage de découvertes de l'Astrolabe* published in *Isis*, the encyclopedic journal edited by Lorenz Oken from 1817 to 1848. This report was most likely written by Oken himself, as was often the case (Kertesz 1986), which would explain that the six onchidiid specific names mentioned (*tongana, incisa, patelloides, nigricans, punctata, cinerea*) are combined with *Peronia* instead of *Onchidium*, the generic name originally used by Quoy and Gaimard (1832–1833). Regardless of who authored that *Isis* report, Gistel (1848) did create the new generic name *Eudrastus* for those six species. Baker (1938: 86) subsequently designated *Onchidium tonganum* Quoy & Gaimard, 1832 (*Peronia tongana* in *Isis*), as the type species of *Eudrastus. Onchidium tonganum* is regarded here as a junior subjective synonym of *Peronia* peronii, so *Eudrastus* is a junior subjective synonym of *Peronia* because it seemed to be based on "unimportant characters."

John Edwards Gray (1847: 179) attributed the authorship of *Peronia* to Blainville (with an erroneous date of 1825) but, most importantly, gave its modern definition to *Peronia* by restricting it to six species of slugs with "radiating processes" on the back (JE Gray 1850: 117): *P. alderi, P. ferruginea, P. mauritiana, P. peronii, P. punctata,* and *P. tongana.* All those names refer to true *Peronia* slugs with dorsal gills. JE Gray (1850: 117) restricted *Onchidium* to Buchannan's *O. typhae* and included all the other marine species without dorsal gills in a new genus *Onchidella*.

JE Gray's (1850) clarity only lasted for a few years. Indeed, Adams and Adams (1855: 234) pointed out that *Peronia* slugs differ from *Onchidium* and *Onchidella* because of "arbusculiform and other appendages of the mantle, which have sometimes been mistaken for gills." Because they did not believe that gills were distinct from other dorsal papillae, Adams and Adams (1855: 234) classified in *Peronia* some names that belong to both *Peronia* (*P. ferruginea*, *P. mauritiana*, *P. peronii*, *P. punctata*, *P. tongana*) and to *Onchidella* (*O. celtica*, *O. indolens*, *O. marginata*, and *O. parthenopeia*).

JE Gray's (1850) classification was adopted by Keferstein (1865a) but, until Labbé's (1934a) work, all authors have ignored the genus *Peronia* and simply used

the genus *Onchidium* for slugs with and without dorsal gills (Stoliczka 1869; Semper 1880–1885; Plate 1893; Bretnall 1919; Hoffmann 1928). Stoliczka (1869: 100–102), who was the first one to re-examine live slugs of *O. typhae* since Buchannan (1800), firmly argued that slugs with "dorsal tufts" were anatomically so similar to *Onchidium* and *Onchidella* that only one name, *Onchidium*, was needed. Stoliczka (1869: 98) also clarified that *O. typhae* is not a terrestrial species but that, instead, it lives in "damp places, generally close to tanks or ditches, especially those which are supplied during high tide with brackish water."

Stoliczka's (1869) strong influence can be seen in Semper's (1880–1885) study of the onchidiids from the Philippines (and other parts of the Indo-West Pacific) in which all onchidiids are in *Onchidium*, with the exception of a single species in his new genus *Onchidina* Semper, 1882; for a collation of Semper's work, see Johnson (1969). Plate (1893) adopted a classification with five genera, but the four species of slugs with dorsal gills recognized by Plate are classified in *Onchidium* with thirteen species of slugs without dorsal gills. Hoffmann (1928) adopted a classification with six genera, six species of slugs with dorsal gills with dorsal gills being classified in *Onchidium* with 34 species without dorsal gills.

Then, suddenly, in 1934, the number of onchidiid taxon names for slugs with dorsal gills dramatically increased. Based on the onchidiid collection at the Paris Museum, Labbé (1934a) created fourteen new species-group names for slugs with dorsal gills (all but one name are species names) and four new generic names: *Lessonia* (later replaced by *Lessonina*), *Paraperonia*, *Quoya*, and *Scaphis*. Below, the nomenclatural status of Labbé's generic names is justified first (they all are junior synonyms of *Peronia*), followed by opinions in the secondary literature.

The generic name *Paraperonia* was created by Labbé (1934a: 196) for four species similar to *Peronia* but with intestinal loops of type V (instead of type I). The type species is *Paraperonia gondwanae* Labbé, 1934a, by subsequent designation (Starobogatov 1976: 211). Labbé's description of *Paraperonia gondwanae* was based on 38 individuals with intestinal loops of types I and V which belong to different species. The application of the name *P. gondwanae* is clarified through the designation of a lectotype (see *P. verruculata*): *Paraperonia gondwanae* is a junior synonym of *Peronia verruculata*, and *Paraperonia* is a junior synonym of *Peronia*.

The generic name *Scaphis* was created by Labbé (1934a: 203) for nine species similar to *Peronia* but supposedly with an oblique, almost vertical hyponotum. The type species is *Onchidium astridae* Labbé, 1934b, by subsequent designation (Starobogatov 1976: 211). *Onchidium astridae* is a junior synonym of *Peronia verruculata*, and *Scaphis* is a junior synonym of *Peronia*.

Lessonia Labbé, 1934a is objectively invalid because it is the junior homonym of Lessonia Swainson, 1832 [Aves]. Starobogatov (1976: 211) replaced it by Lessonina. Labbé (1934a: 213–216, figs 48–50) described Lessonia based on a single species, Onchidium ferrugineum Lesson, 1831a, of which he examined no other material than the four syntypes (MNHN-IM-2000-22951). The examination of the three remaining syntypes (one syntype was lost by or after Labbé) revealed that the lectotype (Goulding et al. 2018b: 75) belongs to a Peronia species and that the two paralectotypes belong to *Wallaconchis ater* (Lesson, 1831a). Both Lesson's original description of *Onchidium ferrugineum* and Labbé's re-description of *Lessonina ferruginea* are a confusing combination of traits that characterize species from two distinct genera. For instance, the dorsal gills mentioned by both authors, are characteristic of *Peronia*, while the absence of an accessory penial gland mentioned by Labbé (even though there is a penial gland in the lectotype) is characteristic of *Wallaconchis*. Thanks to the designation of a lectotype with dorsal gills, the name *Onchidium ferrugineum* clearly applies to a *Peronia* species and *Lessonina* becomes a junior synonym of *Peronia*.

Starobogatov (1976: 211) created Quoyella as a replacement name of Quoya Labbé, 1934a, which he treated as a junior homonym of "Quoya Deshayes, 1843" [Mollusca, Gastropoda, Planaxidae]. In the second edition of Lamarck's Histoire naturelle des animaux sans vertebres, Deshayes indicates that he originally thought of creating a new genus Quoya but that, after all, he decided not to (Deshayes and Milne-Edwards 1845: 236). Deshayes still used the binomen "Planaxis decollata Quoy" (Deshayes and Milne-Edwards 1845: 238). However, in the Explication des planches of his Traité élémentaire de conchyliologie, Deshayes (1853: 50) used Quoya for two valid species names: Quoya decollata and Quoya grateloupi. Regardless, according to Gray (1847: 138), the generic name Quoya by Deshayes is an incorrect subsequent spelling of his Quoyia JE Gray, 1839. As an incorrect subsequent spelling, Quoya Deshayes is not available (ICZN 1999: Article 33.3) and, as a result, Quoyella is an unnecessary replacement name. Ironically, Gray (1847: 138) indicated that he originally found the generic name Quoyia in a manuscript by Deshayes in 1830 ("Quoyia, Desh. MSS. 1830; Gray, 1839 (...) Quova, Desh. 1843"). According to Baker (1938: 87), Quova Agassiz, 1862 [Coelenterata] is another homonym of Quoya Labbé, 1834a. However, the spelling of that generic name is not Quoya but Quoyia (Agassiz, 1862: 173). So, Quoyia Agassiz, 1862 is a junior homonym of Quoyia Gray, 1839, but Quoya Labbé, 1934a is not a junior homonym of Quoyia. Quoya indica Labbé, 1934a, type species of Quoya by monotypy, is regarded here as a nomen dubium even though it applies to a species with dorsal gills and thus belongs to Peronia (see general discussion).

Nothing is ever simple in onchidiid taxonomy. Indeed, Labbé (1935a, b) also described what he called "microgills" in *Elophilus* Labbé, 1935a, a name preoccupied by *Elophilus* Meigen, 1803 (Diptera) and replaced by *Labbella* Starobogatov, 1970. Labbé's (1935a, b) microgills consolidated the old idea of a gradual continuum between regular dorsal papillae and dorsal gills. So, for instance, Marcus and Marcus (1960: 875) argued that one cannot say for sure whether a papilla is a dorsal gill or not. However, Dayrat et al. (2016, 2019d) demonstrated that there are no gills at all (not even microgills) on the notum of the type material of the type species of *Labbella* which actually belongs to *Onchidium stuxbergi* (Westerlund, 1883). *Labbella* is a junior synonym of *Onchidium*. Contrary to regular papillae, dorsal gills are distinctively branched, which is striking if specimens are fully relaxed before preservation but otherwise difficult to see. Finally, note that Labbé (1935b: 320) claimed that he observed rudimentary eyes on dorsal gills, which, to our knowledge, has never been confirmed.

Labbé (1934a: 187, 188) rightly recognized the importance of dorsal gills for classification and he separated all five genera of slugs with dorsal gills from all other

onchidiids. According to Labbé, onchidiids deserved their own order, the Silicodermatae, composed of two suborders: Dendrobranchiatae (onchidiids with dorsal gills) and Abranchiatae (onchidiids without dorsal gills). Our phylogenetic analyses clearly demonstrate that all species of slugs with dorsal gills belong to a single clade, and that only one generic name (*Peronia*) is necessary (Figs 2–4). However, the species of slugs with no dorsal gills do not form a natural group (Figs 2–4). In other words, the absence of dorsal gills is a plesiomorphic trait for the onchidiids and the presence of dorsal gills is a synapomorphy for the genus *Peronia*.

Labbé's (1934a: 187) distinction between the tribes Peroniidae (*Peronia* and *Paraperonia*) and Scaphidae (*Scaphis*, *Lessonina*, *Quoya*) based on the orientation of the hyponotum (horizontal versus oblique) is meaningless. This trait obviously varies depending on preservation, and Labbé exclusively studied preserved material from the collections of the MNHN without access to live animals.

Labbé's (1934a: 187) distinction between *Peronia* and *Paraperonia* based on the intestinal types (type I in *Peronia* and type V in *Paraperonia*) is unwarranted because *Peronia* species with intestinal loops of type V are not more closely-related to each other (Table 4, Figs 2–4). Also, Labbé often made mistakes with respect to intestinal types: for instance, the type material of *Paraperonia gondwanae* includes individuals with loops of both types I and V, even though Labbé described it as a species with loops of type V. Labbé asserted that the position of the pneumostome and the size of the muscular sac differ between *Peronia* and *Paraperonia*. However, the position of the pneumostome varies between individuals and is not consistently on the right side of the median axis in species he classified as *Paraperonia*.

Labbé's (1934a: 187) distinction between *Scaphis*, *Quoya*, and *Lessonina*, is also unwarranted. Again, the position of the pneumostome (on the right of a median line in *Scaphis* according to Labbé) varies between individuals. Labbé's (1934a) re-description of *Lessonina ferruginea* (the type species of *Lessonina*, by monotypy) was based on individuals of two different species (see above). The male opening of the lectotype, which bears dorsal gills, is on the left of the right ocular tentacle, exactly as in all *Peronia* species, while the male opening of the two paralectotypes, which belong to *Wallaconchis ater*, is under the right ocular tentacle (Goulding et al. 2018: 75). Labbé (1934a: 216, fig. 51) described a double male opening in *Quoya indica* (the openings of the penis and of the accessory penial gland being supposedly separated), but this could not be confirmed in the type material. Regardless, male openings occasionally appear separated due to preservation (when the vestibule is everted) and that is by no means a trait of generic value.

Authors completely rejected Labbé's (1934a) idea that the presence or absence of dorsal gills could be of any use in onchidiid classification (e.g., Marcus and Marcus 1960; Starobogatov 1976). Britton (1984: 180) even asserted that "the division of the group into two subordinate taxa based on this character is no longer admissible." As for the status of Labbé's (1934a, 1935a) generic names for slugs with dorsal gills, authors were not in agreement. Marcus and Marcus (1970: 213) regarded *Peronia* and *Paraperonia* "at most as subgenera." Starobogatov (1976) regarded all names as valid: *Lessonina, Paraperonia, Peronia, Quoyella* (unnecessary replacement name for *Quoya*),

*Scaphis*, and *Labbella* (supposedly with micro-gills). Britton (1984: 182–183) suggested that *Paraperonia, Eudrastus* and *Scaphis* should be regarded as junior synonyms of *Peronia* because they seemed to be based on "unimportant characters," but treated *Labbella* (supposedly with micro-gills), *Lessonina*, and *Quoyella* (for *Quoya*) as valid. In a recent review of the application of onchidiid generic names, Dayrat et al. (2017: 1861) made it clear that all slugs with dorsal gills belong to one clade and that *Eudrastus*, *Lessonina*, *Onchis, Paraperonia, Peronia, Quoyella* (for *Quoya*), and *Scaphis* all refer to that clade. Note that the application of *Lessonina* was fully clarified when a lectotype was designated for its type species *Onchidium ferrugineum* (Goulding et al. 2018: 75).

## Peronia peronii (Cuvier, 1804)

Figs 7–16

- Onchidium peronii Cuvier, 1804: 37–51, pl. 6, figs 1–9; Cuvier 1816: 411; Lamarck 1822: 46; Cuvier 1830: 46; Voigt 1834: 101; Deshayes 1836–1845: pl. 26, fig. 2; Deshayes and Milne-Edwards 1836: 709; JE Gray 1850: 117; ME Gray 1850: pl. 181, fig. 7; Berge 1855: 124, pl. 16, fig. 8; Plate 1893: 172–173, pl. 12, figs 85, 87, 91; Odhner 1919: 42; Hoffmann 1928: 44–45, 71–72 [in part only].
- *Peronia peronii* (Cuvier, 1804): Fleming 1822a: 574; Fleming 1822b: 463; Keferstein 1865a: pl. CIII, fig. 1; Labbé 1934a: 190–191 [in part only]; Marcus and Marcus 1960: 877; Marcus and Marcus 1970: 213 [in part only]; Dayrat et al. 2011: 428; White et al. 2011: 4.
- Onchis peronii (Cuvier, 1804): Férussac 1822: xxxi.
- Peronia mauritiana Blainville, 1824: 281; Adams and Adams 1855: 235.
- *Onchidium tonganum* Quoy & Gaimard, 1832: 210–211, pl. 15, figs 17, 18; Semper 1880: 258–260, pl. XIX, figs 2, 9, pl. XXII, figs 1, 2, 10 [in part only]; Bergh 1884a: 142–148, pl. VI, fig. 19, pl. VII, figs 1–6.
- Peronia tongana (Quoy & Gaimard, 1832): Oken 1834a: 287; JE Gray 1850: 117; ME Gray, 1850: pl. 182, fig. 1, as tongensis; Adams and Adams 1855: 235, pl. LXXXI, fig. 3; Keferstein 1865a: pl. CII, fig. 20; Tapparone Canefri 1883: 214 [in part only]; Labbé 1934a: 191–192, figs 4–7 [in part only].

Onchidium punctatum Quoy & Gaimard, 1832: 215-216, pl. 15, figs 27, 28. Syn. nov.

- Peronia punctata (Quoy & Gaimard, 1832): Oken 1834a: 287; JE Gray 1850: 117; ME Gray 1850: pl. 183, fig. 3; Adams and Adams 1855: 235; Chenu 1859: 474, fig. 3505; Tapparone Canefri 1883: 214.
- *Onchidium melanopneumon* Bergh, 1884a: 129–142, pl. IV, figs 25–27, pl. V, figs 1–27, pl. VI, figs 5–18, 20–21; Joyeux-Laffuie 1885: viii–xi.
- Paraperonia fidjiensis Labbé, 1934a: 197-198, figs 9-11. Syn. nov.
- *Peronia verruculata*: Mörch 1872a: 28; Mörch 1872b: 325, as *vermiculata* [non *Peronia verruculata* (Cuvier, 1830)].

**Type material.** *Lectotype* and *paralectotype* (*Onchidium peronii*). MAURITIUS • lectotype, hereby designated, by means of Cuvier's (1804: pl. 6) anatomical drawings.



Figure 7. Habitat, Peronia peronii, Papua New Guinea, Madang, limestone rocky intertidal (st PM 12).



**Figure 8.** Live animals, *Peronia peronii*, Mauritius **A** dorsal view, 140 mm long [5872] (MNHN-IM-2019-1605) **B** dorsal view, 125 mm long [5874] (MNHN-IM-2019-1605) **C** ventral view, same as **A**; **D** ventral view, same as **B**.

TIMOR • 1 paralectotype, 60/40 mm; F Péron leg.; MNHN-IM-2000-22938. The fact that the specimen illustrated by Cuvier cannot be located does not invalidate the lectotype designation (ICZN 1999: Article 74.4). That individual, according to Cuvier, measured approximately 140 mm long (preserved). Cuvier's (1804: pl. 6) detailed anatomical drawings are exclusively based on the individual collected by Péron in Mauri-

tius. Note that, although Cuvier's (1804: pl. 6) illustrations are truly remarkable, they are flipped at 180° because, for instance, the heart and the male anterior parts are on the left. Something must have happened during the engraving or the printing. Hoffmann (1928: 71) referred to Mauritius as the "Typ-Lokalität" of *Onchidium peronii* but did not formally designate a lectotype for *O. peronii*. In case of syntypes, "the place of origin of the lectotype becomes the type locality of the nominal species-group taxon, despite any previously published statement of the type locality." (ICZN 1999: Article 76.2)

The original description of *Onchidium peronii* was based on two specimens collected by Péron: the lectotype from Mauritius, of which the internal anatomy was illustrated in detail by Cuvier (1804: pl. 6), could not be located and is likely lost; the paralectotype from Timor (MNHN-IM-2000-22938) was very briefly mentioned by Cuvier (1804: 39) who merely wrote that another specimen was brought from Timor by Péron and that *Onchidium peronii* is present "at the two extreme ends of the Indian Ocean." The paralectotype (60/40 mm) is well preserved even though dorsal papillae with eyes cannot be counted because their color faded. It is obvious that Cuvier did not actually use it for his detailed anatomical description and illustrations on plate 6, because it was never opened prior to the present study, except for a tiny cut near the lung. It was carefully opened on its side to draw a dorsal view of its intestinal loops of type I (Fig. 9A) and measure the length (4.5 mm) of the spine of the accessory penial gland (by transparency, so that the male copulatory apparatus was not dissected).

*Lectotype* (*Peronia mauritiana*). MAURITIUS • lectotype, hereby designated, by means of Cuvier's (1804: pl. 6) anatomical drawings. The species name *Peronia mauritiana* was introduced by Blainville (1824: 281) for a species originally illustrated by Cuvier (1804: pl. 6) in the *Annales du Muséum d'Histoire naturelle* and which Cuvier named *Onchidium peronii*. Blainville's reference to Cuvier's (1804) plate 6 ("La Péronie de l'Isle-de-France [Mauritius]. *Peronia mauritiana*. Blainv., Cuv., Ann. du Mus., 5, pl. 6.") serves as an indication, and *Peronia mauritiana* is an available binomen (ICZN 1999: Article 12.2.1). However, Cuvier's original description of *Onchidium peronii* was based on two specimens, a lectotype from Mauritius and a paralectotype from Timor, but Cuvier's (1804: pl. 6) plate of anatomical drawings exclusively illustrates the lectotype from Mauritius (see above). Because the lectotype of *Peronia mauritiana* also is the lectotype of *Onchidium peronii*, *Peronia mauritiana* remains what it always was, i.e., a junior objective synonym of *Onchidium peronii*.

Blainville also mentioned the name *Peronia mauritiana* in his *Manuel de Malacologie et de Conchyliologie* (Blainville 1825: 490) and in the article "Péronie" of the *Dictionnaire des Sciences Naturelles* (Blainville 1826: 523). The illustration published by Blainville (1827: pl. 46, fig. 7) in the *Atlas* of the *Manuel* differs from that published by Cuvier (1804: pl. 6, fig. 1). The specimen used by Blainville for that illustration could not be located, which does not matter much since it does not have any name-bearing function. However, it also means that, because there are two species of *Peronia* in Mauritius, Blainville's (1827: pl. 46, fig. 7) illustration may or may not refer to *Peronia mauritiana*.

*Lectotype* (*Onchidium tonganum*). TONGA • lectotype, hereby designated, 100/60 mm; Panhi-Motou [possibly the small island of Pangaimotu]; MNHN-IM-2000-22937.



Figure 9. Digestive system, dorsal view, *Peronia peronii*, type specimens. The arrow indicates the orientation of the transitional loop A paralectotype, *Onchidium peronii*, Timor (MNHN-IM-2000-22938)
B lectotype, *Onchidium tonganum*, Tonga (MNHN-IM-2000-22937) C lectotype, *Onchidium punctatum*, Indonesia, West Papua (MNHN-IM-2000-22966) D possible paralectotype, *Paraperonia gondwanae*, Mauritius (MNHN-IM-2000-33686) E lectotype, *Paraperonia fidjiensis*, Fiji (MNHN-IM-2000-33692).
Scale bars: 5 mm (A, D), 10 mm (B, C, E). Abbreviations: ddg dorsal digestive gland, i intestine, pdg posterior digestive gland, st stomach.

It is unclear how many specimens Quoy and Gaimard (1832: 210–211, pl. 15, figs 17, 18) examined for the original description of *Onchidium tonganum*. They may have examined more than one individual. Regardless, it is clear that *Onchidium tonganum* 

applies to a *Peronia* species because the notum of the lectotype bears gills which were also illustrated in the original description. Its notum also bears fifteen dorsal papillae with eyes but others probably faded. The lectotype was dissected prior to the present study. The accessory penial gland and the penial apparatus are missing (pieces of the deferent duct remain). The intestinal loops are of type I with a transitional loop between 2 and 3 o'clock (Fig. 9B). Quoy and Gaimard (1832: 216) briefly mentioned the presence of *O. tonganum* in Manokwari, West Papua, Indonesia, but that record could not be confirmed (although *P. peronii* is known to be present there because Manokwari is the type locality of *O. punctatum*).

*Lectotype* and *paralectotypes* (*Onchidium punctatum*). INDONESIA • lectotype, hereby designated, 70/60 mm; dans le port de Dorey [Manokwari harbor, West Papua]; 1829; JRC Quoy and JP Gaimard leg.; MNHN-IM-2000-22966. • 2 paralectotypes, 35/25 and 32/30 mm; same collection data as for the lectotype; MNHN-IM-2000-33701. An old label of the lectotype says "Onchidium punctatum, Q. G, Ast. pl. 15, fig. 27, de la Nouvelle Guinée, Quoy et Gaimard 1829." That old label does not say "Dorey" (for the locality), which is only mentioned in the original description, but it clearly indicates that the lectotype was part of the type series of *Onchidium punctatum*. The lectotype bears dorsal gills, as illustrated by Quoy and Gaimard (1832: pl. 15, figs 27, 28). It was dissected prior to the present study, likely by Labbé (1934a: 203–204) and its penis is missing but its intestinal loops are of type I with a transitional loop at 3 o'clock (Fig. 9C). Its spine of the accessory penial gland, still in place in the animal, is 3.7 mm long.

A second jar was found with two paralectotypes (MNHN-IM-2000-33701). An old label for that second jar says "Onchidium piquetée, Q G. MM Quoy Gaimard, 1829" with no locality data. The name "Peronia" was added on the label. The number "51" also appears on another old label, which corresponds to an unknown numbering system. There also is a more recent label saying "Peronia picta QG, M. Quoy et Gaimard, 1829." Quoy and Gaimard did not describe any onchidiid species with the specific name *picta*. However, the French vernacular name of *Onchidium punctatum* in Quoy and Gaimard's (1832: 215) original description is "Onchidium piquetée." So, it is likely that these two additional specimens were part of the type series of Onchidium punctatum. Both paralectotypes (35/25 and 32/30 mm) bear dorsal gills. The largest paralectotype was dissected prior to the present study, possibly by Labbé (1934a: 203, 204), and its penis is missing but its accessory penial gland remains. The small paralectotype was not dissected. Labbé (1934a: 203) listed three individuals from Port-Dorey which he (implicitly) regarded as part of the original series of Onchidium punctatum. Labbé gave the measurements for only two individuals: "a" (35/25 mm), likely the largest paralectotype; "b" (77/56 mm), likely the lectotype. In addition, in his redescription of Scaphis punctata, Labbé (1934a: 204-205) mentioned two individuals identified as Peronia and collected by Quoy and Gaimard in 1829, from an unknown locality. Those two individuals are likely within another jar found at the MNHN with the old number "48" and a label saying "Peronia M. Quoy et Gaimard 1829." There is no reason to consider that those two unidentified individuals from the collection



**Figure 10.** Digestive system, dorsal view, *Peronia peronii*. The arrow indicates the orientation of the transitional loop **A** Mauritius [5874] (MNHN-IM-2019-1605) **B** Papua New Guinea, Madang [5472] (MNHN-IM-2013-14052) **C** Guam [5840] (MNHN-IM-2019-1609). Scale bars: 10 mm (**A–C**). Abbreviations: ddg dorsal digestive gland, i intestine, pdg posterior digestive gland, st stomach.

of Quoy and Gaimard were part of the type series of *Onchidium punctatum*. Finally, there is no other old material at the MNHN which could be assigned to the type series of *O. punctatum*. There are only three other old specimens from Port Dorey at the MNHN: the two syntypes (MNHN-IM-2000-22950) of *Wallaconchis ater* (Goulding et al. 2018: 63), and one specimen collected by Raffray in 1878 (with numbers "22" and "75" on the label).

*Holotype* (*Onchidium melanopneumon*). FIJI • holotype, by monotypy, 65/40 mm; Kandavu [Kadavu]; Aug 1874; HMS Challenger leg.; NHMUK 1888.5.30.39. The holotype was entirely dissected by Bergh and is now empty. Given the presence of dorsal gills, *Onchidium melanopneumon* clearly applies to a *Peronia* species.

Lectotype and paralectotypes (Paraperonia fidjiensis). FIJI • lectotype, hereby designated, 60/50 mm; 1876; Filhol leg.; MNHN-IM-2000-33692. No jar clearly labeled as the type material of *Paraperonia fidjiensis* was found at the MNHN, but the lectotype could be traced, and six paralectotypes could not be found at the MNHN. Labbé (1934a: 197–198, figs 9–11) described *Paraperonia fidjiensis* based on seven individuals from Fiji ("Iles Fidji") collected by Filhol (Henri Filhol [1843–1902]) in 1876 and with the following sizes: 75/50 mm for six "a" individuals and 70/50 mm for a seventh "b" individual. Two jars of material collected in Fiji by Filhol in 1876 were found at the MNHN. The first jar, labeled as "Peronia [written over Oncidium] I. Fidji M<sup>r</sup>. Filhol n°11 1876" and "71," contains a single *Peronia* specimen which, given its size



**Figure 11.** Radula, *Peronia peronii* **A–C** Papua New Guinea [5476] (MNHN-IM-2013-16260) **D–H** Guam [5840] (MNHN-IM-2019-1609) **A** lateral teeth **B** rachidian and innermost lateral teeth **C** rachidian and innermost lateral teeth **D** rachidian and innermost lateral teeth **E** rachidian and lateral teeth **F** lateral teeth **G** lateral teeth, frontal view **H** outermost lateral teeth. Scale bars: 100  $\mu$ m (**A**), 40  $\mu$ m (**B**, **D**), 80  $\mu$ m (**C**), 200  $\mu$ m (**E**, **F**), 100  $\mu$ m (**G**, **H**).

(60/50 mm), very likely is part of the type series of *P. fidjiensis*, and which is designated as the lectotype (MNHN-IM-2000-33692). Its radula and all reproductive parts are missing. Its intestinal loops are clearly of type I, with a transitional loop at ~ 1 o'clock



**Figure 12.** Radula, *Peronia peronii*, Mauritius [5872] (MNHN-IM-2019-1605) **A** rachidian and innermost lateral teeth **B** rachidian and lateral teeth **C** outermost lateral teeth **D** lateral teeth. Scale bars: 40 μm (**A**), 100 μm (**B**), 20 μm (**C**), 200 μm (**D**).

(Fig. 9E). The second jar, labeled as "Oncidiella I. Fidji M<sup>r</sup>. Filhol n°11 1876" and "101," contains four poorly-preserved specimens which do not even appear to belong to *Peronia*, with a size (less than 30 mm) not compatible with the original description of *P. fidjiensis*, and which, therefore, cannot be regarded as part of the type series.

Additional material examined. MAURITIUS • 2 specimens 140/100 mm [5872] and 125/75 mm [5874]; La Mivoie; 20°20.659'S, 57°21.763'E; 11 Jun 2014; TC Goulding leg.; st 177, basalt rocks, at night; MNHN-IM-2019-1605. • 1 specimen 110/100 mm [3605]; Mahebourg, waterfront; 20°24.317'S, 57°42.605'E; 13 Jun 2014; TC Goulding leg.; st 178, rocky intertidal, with algae, just before sunrise; MNHN-IM-2019-1606. • 1 specimen 100/90 mm [1553]; Grand Port, east side of île Marianne; 20°22.828'S, 57°47.220'E; May 2003; O Griffiths leg.; A2518, out of water on limestone platform; MNHN-IM-2019-1607.

MARIANA ISLANDS • 1 specimen 115/80 mm [443]; Guam Island, Bile Bay; 13°17.124'N, 144°39.742'E; 23 Mar 2007; C Carlson leg.; reef margin; CASIZ 180486. • 1 specimen 85/70 mm [5840]; Guam Island, Bile Bay; 13°16.582'N, 144°39.752'E; 27 Nov 2007; C Carlson leg.; shoreline; MNHN-IM-2019-1609.

PAPUA NEW GUINEA – **Madang** • 1 specimen 70/60 mm [5476]; Wonad Island; 05°08.1'S, 145°49.3'E; 29 Nov 2012; MNHN Expedition Papua Niugini leg.; st PM43, night tide, sandy beach and intertidal rocks; MNHN-IM-2013-16260. • 1 specimen 65/45 mm [5477]; Wonad Island; 05°08.1'S, 145°49.3'E; 27 Nov & 09 Dec 2012; MNHN Expedition Papua Niugini leg.; st PM41, sandy beach and inter-

tidal rocks; MNHN-IM-2013-15872. • 1 specimen 55/40 mm [5474]; Rempi Area, Barag Island; 05°01.1'S, 145°47.9'E; 15 Nov 2012; MNHN Expedition Papua Niugini leg.; st PM25, fringing reef on narrow barrier island; MNHN-IM-2013-14054. • 1 specimen 80/60 mm [5472]; same collection data as for the preceding; MNHN-IM-2013-14052. • 1 specimen 80/70 mm [5471]; Rempi Area, South Dumduman Island; 05°00.2'S, 145°47.6'E; 9 Nov 2012; MNHN Expedition Papua Niugini leg.; st PM 12, limestone rocky intertidal; MNHN-IM-2013-12500. – **New Ireland** • 1 specimen 50/40 mm [6086]; Kavieng, Lemus Island; 02°38'S, 150°37.5'E; 12–14 Jun 2014; MNHN Expedition Kavieng 2014 leg.; st KM24, mixed platform with seagrass; MNHN-IM-2013-53482.

Additional material examined (historical museum collections). CHAGOS AR-CHIPELAGO • 1 specimen 95/65 mm; Ye Ye, Peros Banhos atoll; 24 Feb 1996; M Spalding (from N Yonow's personal collection) leg.; exposed on shallow reef flat on rocks; MNHN-IM-2014-7992.

FIJI • 1 specimen 75/50 mm; Viti Isles; A Garrett leg.; ANSP 57967. • 1 specimen 28/25 mm; Viti Levu, Namuka; 18°08'S, 177°23'E; 18 Apr 1917; S Bock's Pacific Expedition 1917–1918 leg.; barrier reef; SMNH 180357. • 2 specimens 23/20 mm and 15/15 mm; Viti Levu, SW Suva, Namuka; 18°08'S, 177°23'E; 16 Jun 1917; S Bock's Pacific Expedition 1917–1918 leg.; barrier reef; SMNH 180374. • 1 specimen 37/30 mm; Viti Levu, Namuka; 18°08'S, 177°23'E; 19 Jun 1917; S Bock's Pacific Expedition 1917–1918 leg.; SMNH 180375. • 1 specimen 80/65 mm; Viti Levu, Bau Island; 17°58'S, 178°36'E; 2 Jul 1917; S Bock's Pacific Expedition 1917–1918 leg.; reef; SMNH 180373.

INDIA • 2 specimens 85/55 mm and 70/50 mm; Nicobar Islands, Pulo Milo, Little Nicobar; Reinhardt, Galathea 305 leg.; NHMD 613753.

INDONESIA – **Java** • 1 specimen 90/55 mm; Batavia [Jakarta]; 1899; C Aurivillius leg.; SMNH 180355. – **Sumatra** • 1 specimen 100/70 mm; Sumatra; Deshayes leg.; MNHN-IM-2012-25150. • 1 specimen 65/50 mm; west coast of Sumatra, Pulo Pasu [or Pulu Pasu]; 1891; C Aurivillius leg.; SMNH 180354. – **Tanimbar** • 1 specimen 60/50 mm; Jamdena Straits, West side of Mitak Island; 07°11'S, 131°28'E; 22 Jun 1970; Mariel King Memorial Expedition Moluccas MV "Pele" 1970 leg.; WAM S26723.

KIRIBATI • 1 specimen 35/35 mm; Gilbert Islands, Apaiang [Abaiang]; 01°49'N, 172°57'E; 12 Aug 1917; S Bock's Pacific Expedition 1917–1918 leg.; outer reef; SMNH 180353. • 1 specimen 70/65 mm; Gilbert Islands, Tarawa; 01°26'N, 173E; 16–20 Aug 1917; S Bock's Pacific Expedition 1917–1918 leg.; reef; SMNH 180382. • 1 specimen 65/50 mm; Gilbert Islands, Aranuka; 00N, 174E; 6 Oct 1917; S Bock's Pacific Expedition 1917–1918 leg.; reef; SMNH 180376. • 1 specimen 70/50 mm; Gilbert Islands, Aranuka; 00N, 174E; 22 Oct 1917; S Bock's Pacific Expedition 1917–1918 leg.; outer reef; SMNH 180377. • 1 specimen 30/25 mm; Gilbert Islands, Aranuka; 00N, 174E; 1 Nov 1917; S Bock's Pacific Expedition 1917–1918 leg.; SMNH 180378. • 1 specimen 15/15 mm; Gilbert Islands, Aranuka; 00N, 174E; 26 Oct 1917; S Bock's Pacific Expedition 1917–1918 leg.; outer reef; SMNH 180378. • 1 specimen 15/15 mm; Gilbert Islands, Aranuka; 00N, 174E; 26 Oct 1917; S Bock's Pacific Expedition 1917–1918 leg.; outer reef; SMNH 180378. • 2 specimens 20/15 mm and 17/13 mm; Gilbert Islands, Aranuka; 00N, 174E; 26 Oct 1917; S Bock's Pacific Expedi-



**Figure 13.** Posterior, hermaphroditic (female) reproductive system, *Peronia peronii* **A** Mauritius [3605] (MNHN-IM-2019-1606) **B** Papua New Guinea, Madang [5472] (MNHN-IM-2013-14052). Scale bars: 10 mm (**A**), 5 mm (**B**). Abbreviations: dd deferent duct, fgm female gland mass, hg hermaphroditic gland, ov oviduct, rs receptaculum seminis, sp spermatheca.

tion 1917–1918 leg.; outer reef east; SMNH 180384. • 1 specimen 15/12 mm; Gilbert Islands, Aranuka; 00°09'N, 173°35'E; 1917; S Bock's Pacific Expedition 1917–1918 leg.; outer reef; SMNH 180478. • 1 specimen 65/50 mm; Gilbert Islands; Oct 1917; S Bock's Pacific Expedition 1917–1918 leg.; outer reef; SMNH 180475. • 1 specimen 80/65 mm; Gilbert Islands, Apamama [Abemama]; 00°24'N, 173°55'E; 1917; S Bock's Pacific Expedition 1917–1918 leg.; entrance reef; SMNH 180380. • 1 specimen 45/35 mm; Gilbert Islands, Apamama [Abemama]; 00N, 173E; 1917; S Bock's Pacific Expedition 1917–1918 leg.; at low tide; SMNH 180379.

MADAGASCAR • 1 specimen 65/50 mm; Tulear [Toliara]; 23°22'S, 43°39'E; Feb 1913; K Afzelius leg.; coral reef; SMNH 180381.

MALDIVE ISLANDS • 1 specimen 85/55 mm; Tiladummati Atoll, Faro Islet, on reef NW of Fildau Island; 06°55.333'S, 73°11.833'E; 30 & 31 Mar 1964; R Robertson, International Indian Ocean Expedition leg.; st R021, intertidal, on dead coral rubble; ANSP 304860.

MARSHALL ISLANDS • 1 specimen 37/30 mm; Jaluit; 06N, 170E; 20 Oct 1917; C Hessle, S Bock's Pacific Expedition 1917–1918 leg.; west shore southeast of entrance; SMNH 180356.



**Figure 14.** Anterior, male, copulatory apparatus, *Peronia peronii* **A** Mauritius [3605] (MNHN-IM-2019-1606) **B** Papua New Guinea, Madang [5472] (MNHN-IM-2013-14052). Scale bars: 10 mm (**A**), 5 mm (**B**). Abbreviations: ag accessory penial gland, dd deferent duct, ms muscular sac, ps penial sheath, rm retractor muscle, v vestibule.

MAURITIUS • 10 specimens up to 90/60 mm; probably Mauritius according to a new label (the original label was destroyed); 1929–1930; T Mortensen leg.; NHMD 613752.

NEW CALEDONIA • 1 specimen 100/60 mm; Touho, NW, Koë Reef, 2 mi. SSE; 16–20 Jan 1961; Kline & Orr leg.; 0–4 feet, live and dead coral, sand, weed; ANSP 270221. PALAU • 1 specimen 80/65 mm; ANSP 203028.

SEYCHELLES • 1 specimen 90/70 mm; 1830; Dussumierleg.; MNHN-IM-2012-25149. • 1 specimen 85/60 mm; 1841; L. Rousseau leg.; MNHN-IM-2012-25148.

TANZANIA • 1 specimen 65/50 mm; Zanzibar; 1902; C Eliot leg.; ANSP 84336. • 1 specimen 80/65 mm; west coast; Jun 1995; M Richmond & M Toni (from N Yonow's personal collection) leg.; sheltered, on limestone rock, intertidal exposed at low tide, common at night; MNHN-IM-2014-7991. **GenBank sequence.** One COI sequence was obtained from GenBank (LC390402) for an individual identified as *Peronia* sp. and collected from Okinawa, Japan (Takagi et al. 2019), which is the northernmost confirmed locality for *Peronia peronii*.

**Distribution** (Fig. 6). Given that our fresh molecular samples of *P. peronii* from the West Pacific (Guam, Papua New Guinea) are conspecific with those from Mauritius, it is assumed here that all individuals with a long spine of the accessory penial gland belong to the same species. Strictly speaking, however, the presence of *P. peronii* from places like Zanzibar, the Maldives, Nicobar Islands, West Papua, Timor, Palau, New Caledonia, and Tonga, would still need to be validated with fresh material.

Interestingly, but for unclear reasons, *Peronia peronii* seems to be only recorded from relatively small islands, the largest ones being Timor, New Caledonia, and Fiji. Even in Papua New Guinea, it was found on small islands close to the mainland but not on the mainland. *Peronia peronii* seems to be transported across vast distances from the western Pacific Ocean to the western Indian Ocean, but which does not seem to settle on the coasts of large land masses. We did not find it in any of the many localities we visited in the Philippines, Vietnam, Malaysia, Borneo, Sulawesi, Halmahera, Sumatra, etc. It is possible that we occasionally missed it in a few places (obviously we missed it in Timor and New Caledonia where it is present), but it is unlikely that we missed it everywhere.

The presence of *P. peronii* is confirmed in the following locations (Fig. 6): Chagos Archipelago (new record); Fiji (type locality of O. melanopneumon and P. fidjiensis; Hoffmann, 1928; present study); India, Nicobar Islands (Mörch 1872a, b: 325, as P. verruculata; Bergh, 1884a, as O. tonganum; Hoffmann, 1928; present study); Indonesia, Java (Hoffmann 1928; present study), Sumatra (Hoffmann 1928; Labbé 1934a; present study), Tanimbar (new record), Timor (Cuvier 1804, paralectotype of O. peronii), West Papua (type locality of O. punctatum Quoy & Gaimard, 1832); Japan, Okinawa (Takagi et al. 2019, as onchidiids of "Group II"; new record); Kiribati, Gilbert Islands (Hoffmann 1928; present study); Madagascar (Odhner 1919; present study); Maldive Islands (Marcus and Marcus 1960, 1970; present study); Mariana Islands, Guam (Dayrat et al. 2011; White et al. 2011; present study); Marshall Islands (Hoffmann 1928; present study); Mauritius (type locality of O. peronii and P. mauritiana; Semper 1880; Bergh 1884a, as O. tonganum; Plate 1893; present study); New Caledonia (new record); Palau (new record); Papua New Guinea, Madang (new record), New Ireland (new record); Seychelles (Labbé 1934a; present study); Tanzania, Zanzibar (new record); and Tonga (type locality of O. tonganum Quoy & Gaimard, 1832). The most western records of *P. peronii* are Zanzibar and southwestern Madagascar; its most eastern records are Okinawa, Guam, Kiribati, and Tonga. Note that P. peronii is most likely also present in Tokara Islands (Baba 1958: 144, as O. verruculatum), just south Kyushu, ca. 30N, which would be its most northern record.

The following records from the literature are not confirmed here, because authors did not provide enough information supporting the identification: Djibouti (Vayssière 1912; O'Donoghue 1929; Labbé 1934a); India, Nicobar (Godwin-Austen 1895, as *O. mauritianum*; Patil & Kulkarni, 2013); Indonesia, West Papua (Quoy and Gaimard 1832, as *O. tonganum*); Japan (Arimoto et al. 1993); Kenya (Martens 1897); Madagascar

(Marcus and Marcus 1970); Mariana Islands, Guam (Biskupiak and Ireland 1985); Mozambique (Martens 1879; Connolly 1912, 1939; Macnae and Kalk 1958); Papua New Guinea, New Ireland (Labbé 1934a, as *P. tongana*); Persian Gulf (White 1951; Bitaab et al. 2015); Philippines (Casto de Elera 1896, as *O. tonganum*), Bohol (Semper 1880, as *O. tonganum*); Red Sea (Sturany 1904); Samoa (Semper 1880, as *O. tonganum*); South Africa, Natal (Krauss 1848; Sturany 1898; Collinge 1910; Connolly 1912, 1939; Morrisey et al. 2010); Australia, Lord Howe Island (Bretnall 1919; Hoffmann 1928), Torres Strait (Smith 1884, as *Onchidium punctatum*), Western Australia (Bretnall 1919).

**Etymology.** Onchidium peronii was named after François Péron [1775–1810] who collected the two slugs described by Cuvier during the Baudin expedition [1800–1803]. Peronia mauritiana, Onchidium tonganum, and Paraperonia fidjiensis were named after type localities. Onchidium punctatum was named after the speckled (punctatum in Latin) dorsal notum of live animals. Onchidium melanopneumon was named after the black (melas in Greek) lung (pneumon in Greek) tissue of the holotype.

**Habitat** (Fig. 7). Live slugs of *Peronia peronii* are found in the rocky intertidal, like most other *Peronia* slugs. Many of our specimens were collected at night or just before sunrise, suggesting that *P. peronii* is, at least partly, a nocturnal species. This could explain why we missed it at some localities where we only collected during the day. *Peronia peronii* is not rare, but it is definitely not as common as some other species. The fact that collecting it at night seems necessary, at least in some localities, might explain why collections of *P. peronii* are not as abundant as collections of *P. verruculata*.

**Color and morphology of live animals** (Fig. 8). No picture of live animals was available for individuals from the West Pacific (Guam and Papua New Guinea). The description of the color of live animals is based on the Mauritius individuals. The dorsal notum is brown, with a greenish hue, light to dark, mottled with darker and lighter areas. The color of the dorsal papillae varies a s that of the background itself. The ventral surface (foot and hyponotum) is yellowish-greenish and can change rapidly in any given individual. The ocular tentacles are brown-grey, like the head. The dorsal notum of live animals is covered by dozens of papillae of various sizes. Dorsal papillae can be particularly tall (easily up to 4 mm), even in preserved specimens, and are evenly distributed over the entire notum. Preserved, they are difficult to distinguish from retracted dorsal gills in the posterior half of the notum. Some papillae bear black dorsal eyes at their tip. The number of papillae with dorsal eyes is variable (15–20). The longest animals are 140 mm long in Mauritius and 115 mm long in the West Pacific.

**Digestive system** (Figs 9–12). Examples of radular formulae are presented in Table 5. The median cusp of the rachidian teeth is approximately 75  $\mu$ m long. The hook of the lateral teeth is approximately 160–200  $\mu$ m long. The intestinal loops are of type I, with a transitional loop oriented between 12 to 3 o'clock.

**Reproductive system** (Figs 13–16). In the anterior (male) parts, the muscular sac of the accessory penial gland is at least 30 mm long in specimens from Mauritius and at least 25 mm long in specimens from the West Pacific (Guam & Papua New Guinea). Note that, in some additional museum specimens, the muscular sac was only 20 mm long, and, even exceptionally 17 mm long (see remarks below). The hollow spine of

**Table 5.** Radular formulae in *Peronia* species. Each formula follows the same format: number of rows × number of lateral teeth per left half row - 1 (rachidian tooth) - number of lateral teeth per right half row. Each DNA extraction number corresponds to one individual. The letter H next to an extraction number indicates a holotype.

Species	Radular formula	Spm length (mm)		Locality	DNA extraction number
<i>P. verruculata</i> (unit #1)	63 × 70-1-70	45	UMIZ 00170	Sulawesi	2127
	73 × 92-1-92	40	ITBZC IM 00021	Vietnam	5621
	56 × 60-1-60	25	MTQ	Queensland	2622
	74 × 75-1-75	45	UMIZ 00166	Halmahera	5068
	52 × 57-1-57	40	UMIZ 00162	Ambon	2729
	60 × 60-1-60	40	UMIZ 00168	Lombok	2987
	70 × 72-1-72	50	UMIZ 00169	Seram	2870
	70 × 75-1-75	35	MNHN-IM-2013-12010	Papua New Guinea	5469
	56 × 56-1-56	17	MNHN-IM-2013-62393	Vanuatu	5481
<b>P. verruculata</b> (unit #2)	70 × 75-1-75	50	UMIZ 00178	Sumatra	1746
	70 × 78-1-78	50	UMIZ 00180	Sumatra	1797
	60 × 68-1-68	45	UMIZ 00180	Sumatra	1795
	64 × 70-1-70	55	UMIZ 00180	Sumatra	1796
<b>P. verruculata</b> (unit #3)	68 × 78-1-78	35	USMMC 00051	Peninsular Malavsia	976
(	70 × 92-1-92	40	USMMC 00065	Peninsular Malaysia	2547
	65 × 85-1-85	25	ZRC.MOL.10496	Singapore	990
	72 × 86-1-86	35	USMMC 00064	Peninsular Malaysia	975
P. verruculata (unit #4)	73 x 85-1-85	50	MNHN-IM-2019-1384	Pakistan	6164
1. berr memmin (unit # 1)	75 x 95-1-95	50	MNHN-IM-2019-1385	Pakistan	6165
	75 × 92-1-92	40	MNHN-IM-2019-1386	Pakistan	6166
P. verruculata (unit #5)	65 × 75-1-75	40	MNHN-IM-2019-1610	Madagascar	3231
(unit # 9)	55 x 63-1-63	35	MNHN-IM-2019-1611	Madagascar	3144
	55 × 65-1-65	25	MNHN-IM-2013-62398	Mozambique	5510
<i>P. verruculata</i> (Red Sea)	66 × 86-1-86	35	ZMH 27472	Red Sea	#1
(,	80 × 95-1-95	40	ZMH 27472	Red Sea	#2
	67 × 80-1-80	35	ZMH 27472	Red Sea	#3
	70 × 80-1-80	35	ZMH 27472	Red Sea	#4
P. madagascariensis	85 × 90-1-90	40	MNHN-IM-2009-16392	Madagascar	5501
8	78 × 90-1-90	40	MNHN-IM-2009-16412	Madagascar	5504
	47 × 50-1-50	10	UF 332088	Oman	703
	70 × 72-1-72	35	NMSA W7547	South Africa	5841
P. peronii	90 × 115-1-115	110	MNHN-IM-2019-1606	Mauritius	3605
*	90 × 105-1-105	140	MNHN-IM-2019-1605	Mauritius	5872
	95 × 105-1-105	80	MNHN-IM-2013-14052	Papua New Guinea	5472
	90 × 100-1-100	70	MNHN-IM-2013-16260	Papua New Guinea	5476
	$100 \times 110 - 1 - 110$	85	MNHN-IM-2019-1609	Guam	5840
P. platei	75 × 75-1-75	12	UF 303653	Hawaii	706
	$65 \times 78-1-78$	12	UF 303653	Hawaii	5380
	$70 \times 90-1-90$	30	BPBM 284527	Hawaii	6160
	$70 \times 80$ -1-80	30	BPBM 284528	Hawaii	6161
	67 × 75-1-75	14	MNHN-IM-2013-13762	Papua New Guinea	5405
	$70 \times 72-1-72$	20	MNHN-IM-2013-13351	Papua New Guinea	5412
P. sydneyensis	$56 \times 60-1-60$	30	AM C468916.001	New South Wales	1516 H
	$51 \times 60-1-60$	23	AM C468915.001	New South Wales	1517
	$47 \times 45 - 1 - 45$	6	MTQ	Queensland	2667
	$58 \times 70-1-70$	50	MTQ	Queensland	2680
	35 × 35-1-35	12	MNHN-IM-2019-1594	New Caledonia	6189
	$55 \times 70-1-70$	41	MNHN-IM-2019-1595	New Caledonia	6195
	$45 \times 46 - 1 - 46$	25	MNHN-IM-2019-1598	New Caledonia	6220
P. okinawensis	$60 \times 60-1-60$	20	UF 352288	Okinawa, Japan	696-2
	$60\times60\text{-}1\text{-}60$	25	UF 352288	Okinawa, Japan	696-3
	65 × 65-1-65	27	UF 352288	Okinawa, Japan	696-4 H
P. setoensis	$50 \times 50-1-50$	20	NSMT-Mo 78985	Wakayama, Japan	5383 H
	55 × 55-1-55	15	NSMT-Mo 78987	Wakayama, Japan	3753
	50 × 50-1-50	15	NSMT-Mo 78987	Wakayama, Japan	3754

Species	Radular formula	Spm length (mm)	-	Locality	DNA extraction number
P. griffithsi	50 × 45-1-45	18	UMIZ 00177	Kei	2934
	50 × 50-1-50	17	UMIZ 00176	Kei	2936
	50 × 45-1-45	25	UMIZ 00177	Kei	3566
	45 × 52-1-52	20	MNHN-IM-2019-1608	Mauritius	3153
	50 × 52-1-52	20	MNHN-IM-2019-1608	Mauritius	3156
	50 × 50-1-50	15	MNHN-IM-2000-35265	Mauritius	3157 H
P. willani	58 × 80-1-80	50	NTM P.57625	Northern Territory	1628 H
	53 × 60-1-60	40	NTM P.57627	Northern Territory	1668
	65 × 80-1-80	60	NTM P.57627	Northern Territory	1626
	70 × 90-1-90	65	NTM P.57626	Northern Territory	1620

the accessory penial gland is narrow, elongated, and straight or slightly curved, and its shape (including at its tip) varies between individuals. Its length ranges from 3.4 mm ([5872] MNHN-IM-2019-1605) to 3.6 mm ([3605] MNHN-IM-2019-1606) in Mauritius, and from 3.5 mm ([5472] MNHN-IM-2013-14052) to 4 mm ([5471] MNHN-IM-2013-12500) in the West Pacific (Guam and Papua New Guinea). Its diameter at the conical base is approximately 400  $\mu$ m in specimens from Mauritius and between 400 and 500  $\mu$ m in specimens from the West Pacific (Guam and Papua New Guinea). Its diameter at the tip measures 160–170  $\mu$ m in specimens from the West Pacific, and from 180 to 200  $\mu$ m in specimens from Mauritius. Note that, in some additional museum specimens, the spine was only 3 mm long (see remarks below).

The retractor muscle is shorter or longer than the penial sheath and inserts near the heart. Exceptionally, the retractor muscle can even be vestigial ([5472] MNHN-IM-2013-14052). Inside the penial sheath, the penis is a narrow, elongated, soft, hollow tube. Its distal end bears conical hooks which are less than 50 µm long.

**Diagnostic features** (Table 4). *Peronia peronii* is the only *Peronia* species which is easy to identify anatomically. Indeed, it is characterized by a very long spine (at least 3 mm) of the accessory penial gland, which is distinctive and easily accessible (one just needs to pull on the flagellum of the penial gland or, even, in some cases, measure the spine by transparency). The two longest spines were found in the lectotype of *P. fid-jiensis* (MNHN-IM-2000-33692) from Fiji (5 mm), and in an old historical specimen (ANSP 304860) from the Maldives (4.8 mm).

*Peronia peronii* is additionally characterized by a unique combination of anatomical traits: muscular sac longer than 20 mm, intestinal loops of type I (with a transitional loop oriented between 12 and 3 o'clock), retractor muscle inserting near the heart. Also, no individual larger than 80 mm was found in any other *Peronia* species so far. Animal size can be useful when several *Peronia* species are found at the same site. For instance, the two individuals of *P. verruculata* (unit #1) found at the station PM 12 (near Madang, Papua New Guinea) are 35 and 38 mm long while the individual of *P. peronii* from the same station is 80 mm long. The type I of its intestinal loops (with a transitional loop oriented between 12 and 3 o'clock) is only shared by *P. okinawensis*, a species endemic to Japan with which it is most closely related.

**Remarks.** Synonymies. There is no doubt that Cuvier's (1804) Onchidium peronii applies to the species described here, just based on animal size alone. According to Cu-



**Figure 15.** Penial hooks, *Peronia peronii* **A** Mauritius [5872] (MNHN-IM-2019-1605) **B** Mauritius [3605] (MNHN-IM-2019-1606) **C**, **D** Guam [5840] (MNHN-IM-2019-1609). Scale bars: 6 μm (**A**, **B**, **D**), 40 μm (**C**).

vier, the lectotype from Mauritius measured approximately 140 mm long and our molecular data show that all individuals of that size from Mauritius belong to a single species (Table 4). Cuvier's (1804: pl. 6) detailed anatomical description and drawings are exclusively based on the lectotype (he did not dissect the paralectotype from Timor). Cuvier (1804: 48, pl. 6, fig. 8) described the spine of the accessory penial gland as a "very sharp, brown spike" but unfortunately did not provide its length. However, Cuvier's (1804: pl. 6, fig. 4) illustration of the intestinal loops is identical to some of our Mauritius individuals here: intestinal loops of type I with a transitional loop at 3 o'clock. The paralectotype of *Onchidium peronii* from Timor (MNHN-IM-2000- 22938) is only briefly mentioned by Cuvier in the original description. The length (4.5 mm) of the spine of its accessory penial gland (checked for the present study) indicates that it also belongs to *P. peronii*. Its intestinal loops are also identical to those of the lectotype (Fig. 9A).

*Peronia mauritiana* is a junior objective synonym of *Onchidium peronii* because they share the same name-bearing type.

*Onchidium tonganum* was described by Quoy and Gaimard (1832: 210–211, pl. 15, figs 17, 18) from "Panhi-Motou," possibly the small island of Pangaimotu, Tonga, based on an unspecified number of individuals. The illustrations of the dorsal gills by Quoy and Gaimard (1832: pl. 15, figs 17, 18) and their presence on the notum of the lectotype (MNHN-IM-2000-22937) clearly indicate that *Onchidium tonganum* belongs to *Peronia*.



**Figure 16.** Accessory penial gland spine, *Peronia peronii* **A**, **B**, **F**, **G** Mauritius **C**, **D**, **H** Papua New Guinea **E**, **I** Guam **A** [3605] (MNHN-IM-2019-1606) **B** [5872] (MNHN-IM-2019-1605) **C** [5471] (MNHN-IM-2013-12500) **D** [5472] (MNHN-IM-2013-14052) **E** [5840] (MNHN-IM-2019-1609) **F** same as **A**; **G** same as **B**; **H** same as **C**; **I** same as **E**. Scale bars: 800 μm (**A**–**D**), 1 mm (**E**), 40 μm (**F–I**).

The lectotype was dissected prior to the present study and most of the male copulatory parts are missing (only the deferent duct remains). As a result, the length of the spine of the accessory penial gland, which is diagnostic of *P. peronii*, cannot be checked. Labbé (1934a: 191) listed the lectotype in the material he examined for his re-description of *P. tongana*, but he did not point out that it was part of the type material of *O. tonganum* and he did not describe it anatomically. It is possible but not certain that Labbé dissected the lectotype. At any rate, its intestinal loops are of type I with a transitional loop between 2 and 3 o'clock (Fig. 9B). Both the length (100 mm) of the lectotype as well as its intestinal loops indicate that *Peronia tongana* is a junior synonym of *P. peronii* (Table 4).

Onchidium punctatum is regarded here as a junior synonym of P. peronii because the length (3.7 mm) of the spine of the accessory penial gland of the lectotype (MNHN-IM-2000-22966) is only compatible with *P. peronii* (Table 4). The length of the lectotype (70 mm, preserved) is also far more compatible with P. peronii than with P. verruculata, another species found in West Papua. Our many individuals of P. verruculata are all less than 60 mm long (alive), except a single individual from New Caledonia (73 mm alive). Given their small size, the two paralectotypes (MNHN-IM-2000-33701) likely belong to P. verruculata (unit #1) instead of P. peronii, which would not be surprising at all because the type locality of O. ferrugineum (a junior synonym of P. verruculata) is the same as that of O. punctatum (Manokwari, West Papua, Indonesia). At the end of the description of O. punctatum, Quoy & Gaimard (1832: 216) also mention in passing that they also found Onchidium tonganum in Port Dorey (i.e., Manokwari, West Papua, Indonesia) and they even point out that local inhabitants know how to distinguish both species. Both O. punctatum and O. tonganum are regarded here as junior synonyms of P. peronii. However, it remains true that there are two sympatric Peronia species in West Papua, P. verruculata and P. peronii, which can be distinguished in the field based on animal length (except, of course, for individuals measuring less than 60 mm long).

Bergh (1884a: 129–142, pl. IV, figs 25–27, pl. V, figs 1–27, pl. VI, figs 5–18, 20, 21) described *Onchidium melanopneumon* from a single individual (65/40 mm) from Fiji. This specimen was completely dissected by Bergh and is now empty (NHMUK 1888.5.30.39). *Onchidium melanopneumon* applies to a *Peronia* species due to the presence of dorsal gills, and the length (4 mm) of the spine of the accessory penial gland indicates that it applies to *P. peronii* (Table 4). Its intestinal loops (Bergh 1884a: pl. V, fig. 27) are also similar to those found in *P. peronii*, although the transitional loop is slightly past the 3 o'clock limit. As a result, *O. melanopneumon* is regarded as a junior synonym of *P. peronii*. Bergh (1884b: 263; 1885: 176) briefly mentioned again *O. melanopneumon* in a comparative study on the affinities of onchidids.

Labbé (1934a: 197–198, figs 9–11) described *Paraperonia fidjiensis* based on seven individuals from Fiji, one of which could be found and is designated as the lectotype (MNHN-IM-2000-33692). Because all reproductive parts are missing, the length of the spine of the accessory penial gland cannot be checked. However, according to Labbé (1934a: 197, fig. 10), the spine of the accessory penial gland is 5 mm long, which is only compatible with *P. peronii* (Table 4), and is the longest spine known in *P. peronii*. The intestinal loops of the lectotype of *P. fidjiensis* are clearly of type I, with a transitional loop oriented at ~ 1 o'clock (Fig. 9E), even though Labbé (1934a: 197) erroneously described them a type V, which is a mistake he often made. Given the length of the lectotype (60 mm) and, most importantly, the length of the spine of the accessory penial gland, *P. fidjiensis* is regarded as a junior synonym of *P. peronii*.

Secondary literature. Several early authors mentioned Cuvier's Onchidium peronii without any new material (Cuvier 1816: 411; Cuvier 1830: 46; Férussac 1822: xxxi; Fleming 1822a: 574; Fleming 1822b: 463; Lamarck 1822: 46; Voigt 1834: 101). Oken (1834a: 287) transferred Quoy and Gaimard's (1832) Onchidium tonganum and O. punctatum to Peronia but with no justification. In the seventh volume of the second edition of Lamarck's *Histoire naturelle des animaux sans vertèbres*, which was revised by Deshayes and Milne-Edwards (1836), *P. mauritiana* is proposed as a synonym of *Onchidium peronii*. However, as a reference for *P. mauritiana*, the authors mentioned the illustration published by Blainville (1827: pl. 46, fig. 7) in the *Atlas* of his *Manuel* which differs from that published by Cuvier (1804: pl. 6, fig. 1) and may or may not refer to *Peronia mauritiana*.

John Edward Gray (1850: 117) listed Onchidium peronii as a synonym of P. mauritiana and his wife Maria Emma Gray (1850: pl. 181, fig. 7) reproduced Cuvier's (1804: pl. 6, fig. 1) original figure of the dorsal notum of Onchidium peronii. As a result, JE Gray (1850: 117) and ME Gray (1850: pl. 181, fig. 7) are listed above as correct references of O. peronii. In the same work, JE Gray (1850: 117) regarded P. punctata and P. tongana (as spelling mistake tongensis) as valid, and ME Gray (1850: pl. 182, fig. 1, pl. 183, fig. 3) reproduced the original illustrations by Quoy and Gaimard (1832: pl. 15, figs 17, 18, 27, 28). As a result, those names are also listed above as correct references. According to JE Gray (1850: 117), P. mauritiana (as mauriciana) was a valid Peronia species name but ME Gray (1850: pl. 183, fig. 2) reproduced Blainville's (1827: pl. 46, fig. 7) illustration which differs from that published by Cuvier (1804: pl. 6, fig. 1) and which may or may not refer to *P. peronii* because there are two *Peronia* species in Mauritius (Fig. 6). Therefore, ME Gray's (1850: pl. 183, fig. 2) Peronia mauritiana is not listed above as a correct reference of P. peronii. And, finally, ME Gray's (1850: pl. 183, figs 4, 4a, 5) reproductions of Savigny's (1817: pl. II, figs 3.1-3.3) illustrations of Onchidium peronii from the Red Sea do not represent P. peronii (see remarks on P. verruculata).

Adams and Adams (1855: 235) merely listed *Peronia mauritiana*, *P. peronii*, *P. punctata*, and *P. tongana* as *Peronia* species names. Note that for *P. peronii*, they refer to Savigny's illustrations of individuals from the Red Sea misidentified as *P. peronii* by Audouin instead of Cuvier's original description of *P. peronii*, which means that Adams and Adams refer to *P. verruculata* instead of *P. peronii* (see remarks on *P. verruculata*). Adams and Adams (1855: pl. LXXXI, fig. 3) also reproduced the original illustration of *O. tonganum* by Quoy and Gaimard (1832: pl. 15, fig. 17).

Berge (1855: 124) mentioned "Onchidium peronii Cuv." from the East Indies and the Red Sea but with no new material or literature reference except for a German translation of Cuvier's *Règne Animal* by Voigt (1834: 101) as well as "Cuvier, Règ. anim. pl. 26, fig. 2." Berge (1855: 124) followed Voigt (1834: 101) and accepted *P. mauritiana* as a synonym of *O. peronii*. Cuvier's illustration (pl. 26, fig. 2) mentioned by Berge was actually published after Cuvier's death in the Disciples' edition of the *Règne Animal* which was accompanied by beautiful illustrations. According to Cowan (1976), the authorship for the mollusks should be attributed to Deshayes (1836–1845) who prepared the volume of text and the atlas published in livraisons between 1836 and 1845. However, the exact dates of publication are still unknown for most pages and plates, including for the page 69 and the plate 26 where *Onchidium* is mentioned and illustrated. Note the spelling mistake *Unchidium* on the figure caption of plate 26. The illustrations in both Deshayes (1836–1845: pl. 26, fig. 2) and Berge (1855: pl. 16, fig. 8) are mere reproductions of Cuvier's (1804: pl. 6, fig. 5) anatomical drawing

of *O. peronii*. Berge (1855: 124) also mentioned "*Onchidium punctatum* Quoy" from Australia (as Neuholland) but with no new material or literature reference except for another illustration (pl. 26, fig.1) from the Disciples' edition of the *Règne Animal*. Again, the illustrations in both Deshayes (1836–1845: pl. 26, fig. 1) and Berge (1855: pl. 21, fig. 7) are mere reproductions of Quoy and Gaimard's (1832: pl. 15, fig. 27) original illustration of *O. punctatum*. It cannot be determined which species Berge referred to exactly (because the localities mentioned by Berge are not the type localities).

The record of *Onchidium peronii* from Natal, South Africa (Krauss 1848: 72) likely is a record of *P. madagascariensis*, the only *Peronia* species known in South Africa so far (see remarks on *P. madagascariensis*). However, *P. verruculata* (unit #5) could also be present in northeastern South Africa because its southernmost known locality is in Maputo, Mozambique (ca. 26°S). This record by Krauss was mentioned again by a few authors (Sturany 1898: 73; Collinge 1910: 171; Connolly 1912: 224–225; Connolly 1939: 454).

Chenu (1859: 474, fig. 3505) mentioned *Peronia punctata* with no additional material or records, and with a reference to Quoy and Gaimard's (1832: pl. 15, fig. 27) original illustration of *O. punctatum*.

Keferstein (1865a: pl. CII, fig. 20) reproduced Quoy and Gaimard's (1832: pl. 15, fig. 17) original illustration of *Onchidium tonganum*, which he classified in *Peronia*. Keferstein (1865a: pl. CIII, fig. 1) also reproduced Cuvier's (1804: pl. 6, fig. 4) original illustration of the internal anatomy of *O. peronii*, which he also classified in *Peronia*.

Based on the collections of the Galathea Expedition preserved in Copenhagen, Mörch (1872a: 28; 1872b: 325) mentioned *Peronia verruculata* (as spelling mistake *vermiculata* in 1872b) from Pulo Milu [Pulo Milo, Little Nicobar] and Nancouri [Nancowry, Nicobar Islands], where he says it is common. Given the animal size (up to 133 mm long alive), we agree with Hoffmann (1928: 71) that Mörch's record is very likely a record of *P. peronii*. The preserved specimen (88/38 mm) reported by Mörch (1872a: 28; 1872b: 325) from the Galathea collections most likely is the specimen identified by Semper as *Onchidium tonganum*, described by Bergh (1884a: 142–148, pl. VI, fig. 19, pl. VII, figs 1–6), examined by Hoffmann (1928: 44) for his description of *O. peronii*, and finally re-examined for the present study (NHMD 613753). Bergh (1884b: 264; 1885: 177) briefly mentioned *O. tonganum* again in a comparative study on the affinities of onchidiids. Mörch (1872a: 28; 1872b: 325) mentioned *Peronia mauritiana* from Sambelong, Great Nicobar, Nicobar Islands, based on much smaller individuals from the collections of the Galathea Expedition in Copenhagen, which are a record for *Peronia verruculata* (see remarks on that species).

The record of *Onchidium mauritianum* from the Red Sea by Pagenstecher (1877: 62) refers to either *Peronia verruculata* or *P. madagascariensis* (Fig. 6).

The records of *Onchidium peronii* from Mozambique by Martens (1879: 735) in Ibo Island (ca. 12°21'S) and Inhambane (ca. 23°52'S) are within the geographical range of both *P. verruculata* (unit #5) and *P. madagascariensis* (Fig. 6). It is not possible to know to what species Martens was referring; this record by Martens was mentioned twice by Connolly (1912: 225; 1939: 454).

Semper (1880: 258–260, pl. XIX, figs 2, 9, pl. XXII, figs 1, 2, 10) referred to huge onchidiid slugs (from 50 to 105 mm, preserved) as Quoy and Gaimard's (1832) Onchidium tonganum and merely suggested, with a question mark, that O. peronii could refer to the same species. Semper (1880: 258) listed five geographical records for O. tonganum: Tonga and West Papua (as Port Dorey), from Quoy and Gaimard (1832); Mauritius, based on some material from the Vienna and Kiel museums; Samoa, based on some material from the Museum Godeffroy; and Bohol, Philippines, based on his own collections. Semper (1880: 258) indicated that the specimens he examined were from 50 to 105 mm long, preserved, and that the smallest individual was found in Mauritius. His anatomical description perfectly matches the anatomy of *P. peronii*. In particular, a spine of an accessory penial gland measuring 4 mm long is only compatible with P. peronii (Table 4). However, he did not clearly indicate whether he observed a long spine in every specimen. It cannot be excluded that he measured the length of the accessory penial gland spine only in a specimen from Mauritius. Therefore, the records of *P. peronii* in Bohol and in Samoa are regarded here as questionable, even though it is very possible that *P. peronii* lives in Samoa, given that it is so close to Tonga (800 km) and Fiji (1100 km).

Semper (1882: 290) thought that Cuvier's (1804) original description of P. peronii was problematic because his drawing of the dorsal notum did not match the internal anatomy. Because Semper was convinced that Cuvier used specimens that did not belong to the same species, he thought that the name P. peronii should not be used. Plate (1893: 172–173) disagreed with Semper even without examining the type material of P. peronii. It is demonstrated here that the two type specimens described by Cuvier as P. peronii both belong to the same species (see above). Semper (1882: 268) was undecided about the nomenclatural status of what he called Onchidium mauritianum (then a new combination), which he listed as one of the names for which a "closer inspection of the originals" was needed. Like most authors, he cited Blainville's (1827: pl. 46, fig. 7) illustration (which is not part of Blainville's original description) as a reference without realizing that it may or may not correspond to *P. mauritiana*, a junior objective synonym of P. peronii. Semper (1882: 289) was also undecided about the status of Onchidium punctatum, for which he erroneously thought that the type locality was unknown. He suggested that it might refer to the same species as Onchidium tumidum, which is not possible because O. tumidum was recently transferred to Paromoionchis (Dayrat et al. 2019a).

Tapparone Canefri (1883: 214) listed all of Semper's geographic records for *Peronia tongana* with no new material or anatomical observations (see above). Tapparone Canefri (1883: 214) also regarded *Peronia punctata* as a valid species name, but with no other reference or material than the original description by Quoy and Gaimard (1832). Tapparone Canefri's suggestion that *Peronia punctata* could refer to the same species as *Onchidium tumidum* must be rejected because *O. tumidum* was recently transferred to *Paromoionchis* (Dayrat et al. 2019a).

Smith (1884: 92) mentioned *Onchidium (Peronia) punctatum* from Albany Island and Thursday Island, in the Torres Strait, without any description. This is likely a

record of *Peronia verruculata* (unit #1), the only species thought to be present in the Torres Strait, although our study does not include any fresh material from the Torres Strait and *P. peronii* could also live there (Fig. 6). Note that Thursday Island also happens to be the type locality of *Scaphis viridis*, a junior synonym of *Peronia verruculata*.

Bergh (1884a: 142–148, pl. VI, fig. 19, pl. VII, figs 1–6) described *as Onchidium tonganum* a specimen from the collections of the Copenhagen Museum which was collected in the Nicobar Islands during the Galathea Expedition (station 305). That specimen (85/55 mm), dissected by Bergh, is in a jar (NHMD 613753) with a second specimen (70/50 mm) which is still entire and not dissected by Bergh. Both specimens were re-examined for the present study, although Bergh's measurement of the penial gland spine in the largest specimen (4.25 mm) could not be checked because internal organs are missing. Given the specimen sizes, their intestinal loops (type I with a transitional loop at 3 o'clock in the second specimen), and the spine of their accessory penial glands (4.25 mm in the largest specimen according to Bergh, and 4 mm in the second specimen), those two specimens belong to *P. peronii*.

Joyeux-Laffuie (1885: viii–xi) merely mentioned *O. melanopneumon* in a summary of Bergh's (1884a) work.

Plate (1893: 172–173, pl. 12, figs 85, 87, 91) re-described Onchidium peronii based on at least one specimen from Mauritius for which he did not provide any size. However, given the length of the spine of the accessory penial gland (7 mm long), there is no doubt that he examined *P. peronii*. It is possible that he included a part of the duct of the accessory penial gland in that measurement because the longest spine observed in the present study was 5 mm, in the lectotype of *P. fidjiensis* (MNHN-IM-2000-33692). According to Plate, the retractor muscle inserts near the central nervous system, which does fit in the variation observed here (Table 4). Plate listed several synonyms: *Peronia mauritiana*, *Onchidium tonganum*, *O. melanopneumon*, and possibly (with a question mark) *P. corpulenta*. Note that Plate (1893: 172) rightly regarded *O. melanopneumon* as a junior synonym of *O. peronii* but for a weak reason (a similar pigmentation of the lung). These synonymies are all accepted here, except for *P. corpulenta* which is regarded as a *nomen dubium* (see general discussion). Plate (1893) did not comment on *O. punctatum*.

Godwin-Austen (1895: 443) listed *Onchidium mauritianum* in Little Nicobar. It is impossible to know what species was referred to. However, *P. peronii* (of which *P mauritiana* is a junior synonym), is known to be present in Nicobar Islands.

Casto de Elera (1896: 629) mentioned the presence of several species in the Philippines, without description or new material, mostly based on Semper's (1880–1885) work: *Onchidium verruculatum*, *O. tonganum*, and *O. savignyi* (as *savigngi*). Our data suggest that *Peronia verruculata* (unit #1) lives in the Philippines (Fig. 6).

Martens (1897: 126) listed *Peronia mauritiana* as a synonym of *Onchidium peronii* with a reference to Blainville's (1827: pl. 46, fig. 7) illustration of *P. mauritiana* which may or may not refer to *P. mauritiana*. Martens (1897: 126) also claimed that *O. ton-ganum* is a synonym of *O. peronii*, with a reference to the original description by Quoy and Gaimard (1832) as well as to Semper's (1880: 258–260, pl. XIX, figs 2, 9, pl.

XXII, figs 1, 2, 10) re-description, which may only partly correspond to *P. peronii* (see above). The record of *O. peronii* in Mombasa (Mombas, Ostküste Afrika) by Martens (1897: 126) is not supported by any description and is therefore not accepted here, even though it is possibly correct (*P. peronii* is present in Zanzibar).

Collinge (1900: 7) and Connolly (1912: 225) mentioned *Onchidium peronii* from Green Point, Cape Peninsula, South Africa. Those specimens were later used by Watson (1925: 283–284, pl. XXVII, figs 4–11, pl. XXVIII, figs 12, 14, pl. XXXI, fig. 58) to describe *Onchidella capensis* Watson, 1925.

Sturany (1904: 269) mentioned the presence of *Onchidium peronii* in Massawa, Eritrea, Red Sea. This record most likely refers to either *Peronia verruculata* or *P. mada-gascariensis* (Fig. 6).

*Onchidium punctatum* is one of the eight onchidiid species mentioned by Hedley (1909: 369) from Queensland, Australia, without any reference to any material. It is impossible to know what species Hedley refers to. Our data show that there are two *Peronia* species in Queensland (Fig. 6).

The record of *Onchidium peronii* from Durban, Natal, South Africa by Collinge (1910: 171) likely is a record of *P. madagascariensis*, the only *Peronia* species known in South Africa so far (see remarks on *P. madagascariensis*). However, *P. verruculata* (unit #5) could also be present in northeastern South Africa because its southernmost known locality is in Maputo, Mozambique (ca. 26°S). This record was mentioned again by Connolly (1912: 225; 1939: 454).

According to Connolly (1912: 224–225), *Onchidium peronii* is a valid name and *Peronia mauritiana* (as spelling mistake *mauritziana*) and *O. tonganum* are its synonyms. The references listed by Connolly are all commented on above. Let us briefly emphasize here, however, that the localities of *Onchidium peronii* mentioned by Connolly in South Africa and Mozambique are problematic. Connolly (1939: 454) later admitted that "it is open to question (...) whether the true *O. peronii* Cuv. really exists in South Africa." Connolly (1939:453), who did not cite Labbé's (1934a) work, considered that *Peronia* was a subgenus of *Onchidium* and should include onchidiid slugs with dorsal gills.

Vayssière (1912: 125–129) recorded seven individuals of *Peronia peronii* shipped to him from Moucha Islands (Djibouti) by Charles Gravier and Félix Pierre Jousseaume, two of the people who also collected many specimens studied by Labbé (1934a). Vayssière mostly focused on the description of the radula, which is not useful to identify species. Vayssière reported a wide range of animal sizes (from 10 to 80 mm long and from 6 to 60 mm wide). Thus, it is very possible that he examined more than one species. Instead of *P. peronii*, which has never been positively recorded from Djibouti, Vayssière likely examined *P. verruculata*, *P. madagascariensis*, or both (Fig. 6). His specimens of large size most likely were *P. madagascariensis* because *P. verruculata* individuals rarely are longer than 60 mm (Table 4). Note that the number of rows of teeth and the number of teeth per half row mentioned by Vayssière (95 to 100 rows on average) are higher than what was observed here, although they are more compatible with *P. madagascariensis* than *P. verruculata* (Table 5), acknowledging that radular formulae are expected to vary. It is not possible to determine to what species Odhner (1919: 42) was referring solely based on his brief, external description of *Onchidium peronii* from Toliara, Madagascar. However, his material, dissected here, clearly belongs to *P. peronii*: a single individual (65/50 mm) is characterized by intestinal loops of type I with a transitional loop at 3 o'clock, a spine of the accessory penial gland of 3 mm long, and a muscular sac of 25 mm long (SMNH 180381).

Bretnall (1919) uncritically took for granted every species record ever published, without considering that species often are misidentified. Bretnall (1919) accepted O. peronii as a valid name, with Onchidium tonganum and Peronia mauritiana as synonyms, and *P. corpulenta* as a potential synonym (with a question mark). The references listed by Bretnall (1919: 311-312) for O. peronii are all commented on above already. However, Bretnall's (1919: 313) list of geographic records needs to be discussed, especially because Bretnall did not mention the key characters supporting a proper identification of *P. peronii* (Table 4). The presence of *P. peronii* in Samoa, which Bretnall obtained from Semper (see above), should not be taken for granted, even if it is quite possible. The presence of *P. peronii* in the Buccaneer Archipelago, northern Western Australia (16S, 123E), based on specimens from the Australian Museum, should not be taken for granted, even though it is quite possible. The identification of *P. peronii* in the Santa Cruz Islands, Solomon Islands, based on specimens from the Australian Museum, should not be taken for granted (specimens may have been misidentified), even if the Santa Cruz Islands are within the known geographical range of *P. peronii* (Fig. 6). Bretnall (1919: 315-316) also regarded O. melanopneumon as a valid name, for which he cited Bergh's (1884a) original description and its French summary by Joveux-Laffuie's (1885), and indicated Plate's (1893) proposed synonymy (with O. peronii) with a question mark. Bretnall (1919: 316) listed Lord Howe Island, off southeastern Australia (based on specimens from the Australian Museum), as a locality for O. melanopneumon, but without description of key characters. Thus, the presence of P. peronii in Lord Howe Island, which is 1350 km south of the southernmost known locality of P. peronii (New Caledonia), is not taken for granted here. As for Onchidium punctatum, Bretnall (1919: 316-317) followed Semper (1882: 289) and Tapparone Canefri (1883: 214) who both thought that it could be a synonym of Onchidium tumidum (see above), which is not possible because O. tumidum refers to a Paromoionchis species (Dayrat et al. 2019a).

Hoffmann (1928: 71), following most of Plate's (1893) nomenclatural decisions, accepted *Peronia mauritiana*, *P. corpulenta*, *Onchidium tonganum* and *O. melanopneumon* as junior synonyms of *O. peronii*. Hoffmann, like other authors, did not mention the key anatomical characters that allow a reliable identification of *P. peronii* and uncritically accepted most geographical records published before him. As a result, his proposed distribution for *O. peronii* should not be taken for granted. For instance, the presence of *P. peronii* in Lord Howe Island, off southeastern Australia, obtained from Bretnall (1919) is questionable. Hoffmann (1928: 44) examined a specimen from the Nicobar Islands (NHMD 613753) which was originally mentioned by Mörch (1872a: 28; 1872b: 325; see above). Hoffmann (1928: 44–45) also provided several geographical records (Sumatra, Java, Marshall Islands, Kiribati, Fiji) for *O. peronii* based on

material preserved at the SMNH in Stockholm. His material was re-examined and all records are confirmed. Hoffmann only dissected two individuals, one from Sumatra (SMNH 180354) and one from Kiribati (SMNH 180379). The other eighteen specimens were dissected for the present study.

Eight large specimens (longer than 65 mm) examined by Hoffmann from Sumatra (SMNH 180354), Java (SMNH 180355), Kiribati (SMNH 180376, 180377, 180380, 180382, 180475), and Fiji (SMNH 180373) share the diagnostic characteristics of *P. peronii*: a spine of the accessory penial gland between 3 and 4 mm long, intestinal loops of type I with a transitional loop at 3 o'clock, and a muscular sac between 20 and 25 mm long (exceptionally 17 mm, SMNH 180354). Seven smaller specimens (between 15 and 37 mm long) examined by Hoffmann from the Marshall Islands (SMNH 180356), Fiji (SMNH 180374), and Kiribati (SMNH 180353, 180383, 180384) are immature: the anterior male reproductive parts are barely developed, and, if present, the spine of the accessory penial gland is still soft (SMNH 180353). Given their intestinal loops (type I with a transitional loop at 3 o'clock), they are regarded as individuals of *P. peronii*. In other species, individuals of that size are already fully mature. Two smaller specimens (between 28 and 37 mm long) examined by Hoffmann from Fiji (SMNH 180357, 180375) belong to P. peronii because of several characteristics (retractor muscle inserting near the heart, intestinal loops of type I with a transitional loop at 3 o'clock, a spine of 3 mm long). Their muscular sacs (11 and 15 mm) are shorter than in other specimens, suggesting that they likely are not fully mature. Two specimens from Kiribati (SMNH 180378, 180478), poorly preserved, could not be confidently identified. Finally, the male reproductive parts are missing in a specimen from Kiribati dissected by Hoffmann (SMNH 180379), but its intestinal loops (type I with a transitional loop oriented between 1 and 2 o'clock) confirm that it belongs to P. peronii.

Note that the locality of the specimen from Sumatra (SMNH 180354) is problematic. The label and Hoffmann's publication both say "Pulu Pasu, west coast of Sumatra," but there is no such place on the west coast of Sumatra. There are two small islands off the west coast of Sumatra called Pulau Asu (Hinako Islands) and Pulau Pasumpahan (south of Padang). There also is a small island called Pulau Pasu in the Riau Islands, but that archipelago is located north of Sumatra, in the South China Sea. So, it is unclear where that specimen was collected exactly in Sumatra.

O'Donoghue (1929: 833) reported one specimen (30/21 mm) of *Peronia peronii* from Port Taufiq, Suez, Egypt. A radular formula ( $65 \times 72-1-72$ ) is not enough to identify a *Peronia* species, and he most likely examined *P. verruculata* or *P. madagascariensis* (Fig. 6).

Two names accepted as valid by Labbé (1934a) are regarded as synonyms of *Peronia peronii*: *P. tongana*, and *P. fidjiensis*. Labbé (1934a: 191) himself acknowledged that differences between *P. peronii* and *P. tongana* were weak. The traits that he mentioned (position of the pneumostome with respect to the anus, head longer than the foot) vary greatly due to preservation. Labbé (1934a: 197–198) did not compare *Paraperonia fidjiensis* with *Peronia peronii* probably because he classified them in two distinct genera. However, there are no differences between the type material of *P. fidjiensis* and the type material of *P. peronii*. Labbé (1934a: 190) agreed with most authors that *P. mauritiana* and *O. melanopneumon* were synonyms of *P. peronii*. Like Plate (1893), Labbé (1934a: 190) thought that *P. corpulenta* was simply a potential synonym of *P. peronii* but in fact it is a *nomen dubium* (see general discussion).

All references cited by Labbé for *P. peronii* and *P. tongana* have been commented on above, but Labbé's (1934a) proposed distribution ranges need additional clarification. Labbé's (1934a: 190-191) re-description of P. peronii was based on one individual (100/70 mm) from Sumatra (MNHN-IM-2012-25150), one individual (90/70 mm) from the Seychelles (MNHN-IM-2012-25149), and ten individuals from the Red Sea (not found in the MNHN collections). At least one of those specimens belongs to *P. peronii* because of the length of the spine of the accessory penial gland mentioned by Labbé as 6 to 7 mm. The specimens from Sumatra and the Seychelles were fully dissected by Labbé (the Sumatra individual is basically empty): the male parts are missing, and it is not possible to determine the type of intestinal loops. However, given their huge size, they most likely belong to *P. peronii*. The presence of *P. peronii* in the Red Sea is possible but, at this stage, questionable: the size mentioned by Labbé for those specimens (17/12 mm) strongly suggests that he did not examine P. peronii from the Red Sea. Those specimens from the Red Sea identified as P. peronii by Labbé could not be located at the MNHN (there are no specimens collected by Clot-Bey in the collections, and there are too many jars of specimens collected by Jousseaume to determine which jar corresponds to the species description in Labbé's monograph).

Labbé's (1934a: 191-192, figs 4-7) re-description of P. tongana was based on one individual from Djibouti (Obock), one individual (85/60 mm) from the Seychelles (MNHN-IM-2012-25148), two individuals from New Ireland, and one individual from Tonga which happens to be part of the type series by Quoy and Gaimard (MNHN-IM-2000-22937) even though Labbé does not mention it. The specimen from the Seychelles was re-examined for the present study and, given its huge size, it is confirmed that it belongs to *P. peronii*: its intestinal loops are of type I, with a transitional loop at 3 o'clock; the male parts are missing. There are two specimens (60/50 mm) from New Ireland at the MNHN which could potentially be the two specimens mentioned by Labbé, but the collecting dates do not match. At any rate, it does not matter much since our fresh specimens demonstrate that P. peronii is present in New Ireland (Fig. 6). The specimen from Obock could not be traced back at the MNHN; there is a specimen (80/60 mm) which could possibly correspond to it but it is a problematic specimen as it could also be a type specimen for *P. gaimardi*, and is now an empty notum (see below, remarks on the type material of P. gaimardi in P. verruculata). Thus, the presence of *P. peronii* in Djibouti is not accepted here and would need to be supported by positive evidence.

Risbec (1935: 415) illustrated the eggs of an onchidiid individual from New Caledonia which he called "*Oncidium tonga* Q et G," clearly a spelling mistake for *Onchidium tonganum* Quoy & Gaimard, 1832. It is not possible to know what species Risbec was referring to because there are three *Peronia* species in New Caledonia (Fig. 6). White (1951: 241) reported a single specimen (53/38 mm) of *Onchidium peronii* from the Persian Gulf. The radular formula (88 × 88–1-88) is not enough to identify a *Peronia* species. White's record referred either to *P. verruculata* (unit #4) or *P. mada-gascariensis* (Fig. 6).

In Japan, Baba (1958: 144) indicated that some specimens of *Onchidium verruculatum* from Tokara Islands, south of Kyushu (ca. 30°N) are very large (up to 120 mm long), suggesting that *P. peronii* is found there, which would be its most northern record.

Macnae and Kalk (1958: 34, 44, 128) mentioned *Onchidium peronii* from Inhaca Island, Mozambique (ca. 26°S). Given that no information is provided for species identification, this record is not taken for granted. *Onchidium peronii* was likely confused with *P. verruculata* (unit #5), which our material indicates is present in Inhaca, or even *P. madagascariensis*, known from South Africa to western India (Fig. 6). The fact that the slugs were found on sand (Macnae and Kalk 1958: 128) could suggest that they saw *P. verruculata* (unit #5).

Solem (1959: 39) did not report any new material or localities for *P. peronii*. The references that he mentioned (e.g., Bretnall 1919; Hoffmann 1928) are already commented on above. His proposed distribution ("from the Red Sea and Mauritius to New Caledonia, Samoa, and the Marshall Islands") is not fully accurate because it is based on the assumption that people never made any mistakes when identifying *P. peronii*, which is unfortunately not true. Solem (1959: 38) mentioned what he thought were the three "most obvious" of the "numerous differences" between *O. peronii* and *O. verruculatum*: distribution of branchial plumes (dorsal gills) on the notum, relative position of the pneumostome and the anus, and relative width of the hyponotum and pedal sole. But those features vary among individuals and should not be used for species identification.

Marcus and Marcus (1960: 877) described *Peronia peronii* from the Maldives based on eight specimens. Given that they report a maximum animal length of 155 mm, a long (4.5 mm) spine of the accessory penial gland, as well as a retractor muscle inserting near the heart, there is little doubt that they did examine *P. peronii* (Table 4). Later, Marcus and Marcus (1970: 213) added that they observed a retractor muscle inserting near the nerve ring in another of their specimens from the Maldives, which also is compatible with our present observations: a vestigial retractor muscle was even observed here in *P. peronii* (Table 4). Some of the material examined from historical museum collections for the present work also came from the Maldives (ANSP 304860).

Webb et al. (1969: 107–112) described copulatory mechanisms in specimens they identified as *O. peronii*. It is unclear from where those specimens were, possibly South Africa. At any rate, given that they illustrate a spine of the accessory penial gland which is only 1.4 mm long (Webb et al. 1969: 110, fig. 3), they did not examine individuals of *P. peronii*.

It is not possible to determine whether Marcus and Marcus (1970: 213) examined an individual of *Peronia peronii* from Madagascar because they do not provide the key features that characterize it. They could have seen a large individual of *P. madagascariensis* instead. Britton (1984: 183) merely mentioned the fact that Marcus and
Marcus (1970) accepted only two valid species names (*P. peronii* and *P. verruculata*), which is not strictly exact because Marcus and Marcus (1970) did not address the nomenclatural status of *P. tongana* and did say that *P. branchifera* was close to *P. verruculata* but not that it was its synonym.

Patil and Kulkarni (2013) reported *Onchidium peronii* from Uran City, near Mumbai, India, but it is impossible to determine what species they saw (most likely it was *P. madgascariensis* or the unit #4 of *P. verruculata*, or both).

Many chemical studies have mentioned *P. peronii* in the past few decades. However, the name P. peronii was used arbitrarily. The individuals used for the extraction of natural products may not have been properly identified. Biskupiak and Ireland (1985) extracted peroniatriols from specimens identified as P. peronii from Guam. Peronia peronii is undeniably present in Guam. However, it is possible that P. verruculata (unit #1) could be present there as well. Pietra (1990: 145) mentioned peroniatriols in Peronia peronii from Micronesia where more than one species may be found. Arimoto et al. (1993) did not indicate where specimens of P. peronii and O. verruculatum were collected. In Japan, where the individuals used by Arimoto et al. (1993) possibly came from, there are four *Peronia* species which are all cryptic externally. Pietra (2002: 290) briefly cited peroniatriols in *P. peronii* based on the work by Arimoto et al. (1993). Finally, the antibacterial peptide extracted from individuals of Peronia peronii from the Persian Gulf (Bitaab et al. 2015) was most likely extracted from individuals of either P. verruculata (unit #4), or P. madagascariensis, or both (Fig. 6). The same general remark applies to ecological studies: Morrisey et al. (2010: 72) listed (with no justification for species identification) the presence of *Peronia peronii* in mangroves of the estuary of the Mtata River (31°57'S), South Africa; most likely, Morrisey et al. (2010: 72) encountered P. madagascariensis instead.

Finally, a few last words on *P. peronii* in phylogenetic studies. Dayrat et al. (2011: 428) and White et al. (2011: 4) identified a specimen from Guam (CASIZ 180486) as *Peronia peronii*, which is specimen [443] in the present study (Fig. 2). The specimen tentatively identified as *Peronia cf. peronii* from Mozambique (NHMUK 20060414) by Dayrat et al. (2011: 428) belongs to *P. madagascariensis*, which is specimen [735] in the present study (Fig. 2). The DNA sequences of the specimen from Guam were used again in several studies (e.g., Gaitán-Espitia et al. 2013; Harasewych et al. 2015).

## Peronia okinawensis Dayrat & Goulding, sp. nov.

http://zoobank.org/39BCC2F7-6530-4F13-8662-BDCF803C5452 Figs 17–20

**Type material.** *Holotype.* JAPAN • holotype, hereby designated, 27/25 mm [696-4 H]; Okinawa, Kunigami, Bay just SE of Cape Hedo; 26°51.803'N, 128°15.863'E; 3 Jul 2004; G Paulay, J Jeller, M Malay & Y Hiratsuka leg.; reef flat; UF 352288.

**Additional material examined.** JAPAN • 2 specimens 25/20 mm [696-3] and 20/17 mm [696-2]; same collection data as for the holotype; UF 352288.



**Figure 17.** *Peronia okinawensis*, Japan, Okinawa, holotype [696-4 H] (UF 352288) **A** digestive system, dorsal view, the arrow indicates the orientation of the transitional loop **B** posterior, hermaphroditic (female) reproductive system **C** anterior, male, copulatory apparatus. Scale bars: 3 mm (**A–C**). Abbreviations: ag accessory penial gland, dd deferent duct, ddg dorsal digestive gland, fgm female gland mass, hg hermaphroditic gland, i intestine, ms muscular sac, ov oviduct, pdg posterior digestive gland, ps penial sheath, rm retractor muscle, rs receptaculum seminis, sp spermatheca, st stomach, v vestibule.

Distribution (Fig. 6). Endemic to Okinawa, Japan.

**Etymology.** *Peronia okinawensis* is named after its type locality: *okinawensis* is a latinized adjective that agrees in gender (feminine) with the generic name (ICZN 1999: Article 31.2).



**Figure 18.** Radula, *Peronia okinawensis*, Japan, Okinawa **A**, **B** holotype [696-4 H] (UF 352288) **C–F** [696-2] (UF 352288) **A** left half rows of teeth **B** rachidian and innermost lateral teeth **C** rachidian and innermost lateral teeth **D** rachidian and lateral teeth **E** lateral teeth **F** outermost lateral teeth. Scale bars: 200 μm (**A**), 80 μm (**B**), 20 μm (**C**, **F**), 60 μm (**D**), 100 μm (**E**).

**Habitat.** The only specimens known were found on a reef flat. *Peronia okinawensis* seems to be rare compared to *P. verruculata* (unit #1) but may be more abundant at some other sites in Okinawa. It would be interesting, in the future, to map in detail at what exact sites the three *Peronia* species that are sympatric in Okinawa (*P. okinawensis*, *P. peronii*, and *P. verruculata*) overlap or not, in Okinawa and possibly in the rest of the Ryukyu Islands.

**Color and morphology.** No picture of live animals is available. The color of preserved specimens is beige mottled with darker areas dorsally and whitish ventrally. The dorsal notum of live animals is covered by dozens of papillae of various sizes. Some papillae bear black dorsal eyes at their tip. The number of papillae with dorsal eyes is variable (8–15). The largest specimens are 27 mm long.

**Digestive system** (Figs 17A, 18). Examples of radular formulae are presented in Table 5. The median cusp of the rachidian teeth is approximately 45  $\mu$ m long. The



**Figure 19.** Penial hooks, *Peronia okinawensis*, Japan, Okinawa **A, B** holotype [696-4] (UF 352288) **C, D** [696-3] (UF 352288). Scale bars: 4 μm (**A, C, D**), 2 μm (**B**).



**Figure 20.** Accessory penial gland spine, Peronia okinawensis, Japan, Okinawa **A** holotype [696-4] (UF 352288) **B** [696-3] (UF 352288) **C** [696-2] (UF 352288) **D** same as **A**; **E** same as **B**; **F** same as **C**. Scale bars: 400 μm (**A–C**), 40 μm (**D–F**).

hook of the lateral teeth is approximately 110  $\mu$ m long. The intestinal loops are of type I, with a transitional loop oriented between 12 to 3 o'clock.

**Reproductive system** (Figs 17B, C, 19, 20). In the anterior (male) parts, the muscular sac of the accessory penial gland is less than 15 mm long. The hollow spine of the accessory penial gland is narrow, elongated, and straight or slightly curved, and its shape (including at its tip) varies between individuals. Its length ranges from 1.8 mm ([696-3] UF 352288) to 2.3 mm ([696-4 H] UF 352288). Its diameter at the conical base ranges from 240 to 300  $\mu$ m. Its diameter at the tip ranges from 115 to 150  $\mu$ m. The retractor muscle is shorter or longer than the penial sheath and inserts near the heart. Inside the penial sheath, the penis is a narrow, elongated, soft, hollow tube. Its distal end bears conical hooks which are less than 35  $\mu$ m long.

**Diagnostic features** (Table 4). *Peronia okinawensis* is characterized by a unique combination of anatomical traits: muscular sac shorter than 15 mm, intestinal loops of type I (with a transitional loop oriented between 12 and 3 o'clock), retractor muscle inserting near the heart.

**Remarks.** A new species name is needed because no existing name applies to the species described here. The specimen [696-2] was tentatively identified as *Peronia* cf. *verruculata* by Dayrat et al. (2011). This identification should be disregarded because the specimen [696-2] belongs to the species described here (Figs 2–4). *Peronia okinawensis* is one of the four *Peronia* species in Japanese waters (Fig. 6). For a comparison of their geographic range, see remarks on *P. setoensis*. For their identification, see the identification key as well as Table 4. It is possible that *P. okinawensis* is not strictly endemic to Okinawa.

## Peronia madagascariensis (Labbé, 1934a)

Figs 21–25

Paraperonia madagascariensis Labbé, 1934a: 199, fig. 15. Paraperonia jousseaumei Labbé, 1934a: 198, figs 12–14. Syn. nov.

**Type material.** *Holotype* (*Paraperonia madagascariensis*). MADAGASCAR • holotype, by monotypy, 40/40 mm; Fort Dauphin [Taolagnaro]; 1932; Décary leg.; MNHN-IM-2000-33680. Originally, no jar clearly labeled as the type material of *P. madagascariensis* was found at the MNHN, but the holotype could be traced back. The original description of *P. madagascariensis* is based on a single individual (40/38 mm) from Fort-Dauphin collected by Décary (the French botanist Raymond Décary [1891–1973]) in 1932. Only one old jar was found at the MNHN with a specimen collected from Fort-Dauphin (MNHN-IM-2000-33680). The information on the label (specimen collected by Décary in 1932) matches the information provided in Labbé's original description of *P. madagascariensis*, and even the specimen size matches. Therefore, that specimen is considered to be the holotype by monotypy of *P. madagascariensis*. The holotype was dissected by Labbé. The radula, the posterior (hermaphroditic) reproductive parts, and the male parts are all missing. The intestinal loops are of type V (Fig. 21A).



Figure 21. Peronia madagascariensis A–D digestive system, dorsal view, with intestinal loops of type V E posterior, hermaphroditic (female) reproductive system A holotype, Paraperonia madagascariensis, Madagascar (MNHN-IM-2000-33680) B paralectotype, Paraperonia gondwanae, Mumbai, western India (MNHN-IM-2000-33682) C paralectotype, Paraperonia gondwanae, Red Sea (MNHN-IM-2000-33683)
D Madagascar, [5501] (MNHN-IM-2009-16392) E same as D. Scale bars: 5 mm (A–D), 2 mm (E). Abbreviations: dd deferent duct, ddg dorsal digestive gland, fgm female gland mass, hg hermaphroditic gland, i intestine, ov oviduct, pdg posterior digestive gland, rs receptaculum seminis, sp spermatheca, st stomach.

Syntypes (Paraperonia jousseaumei). The type material of Paraperonia jousseaumei could not be located at the MNHN. The original description of *P. jousseaumei* was based on ten individuals (45/38 to 40/30 mm) from the Red Sea ("Mer Rouge") collected by Jousseaume in 1892. Only two old jars were found at the MNHN with



**Figure 22.** Radula, *Peronia madagascariensis*, South Africa, [5841] (NMSA W7547) **A** right half rows of teeth **B** rachidian and innermost lateral teeth **C** rachidian and innermost lateral teeth **D** lateral teeth **E** lateral teeth, frontal view **F** outermost lateral teeth. Scale bars: 200  $\mu$ m (**A**), 20  $\mu$ m (**B**, **E**, **F**), 40  $\mu$ m (**C**), 100  $\mu$ m (**D**).

that collecting information. One of them contains specimens that are part of the type series of *P. gondwanae* because the specific name "gondwanae" is written on an old label (MNHN-IM-2000-33683). The three labels of the other jar (MNHN-IM-2014-7993) say: "Peronia Mer Rouge Mr Jousseaume n°15, 1892," "Oncidium [written over "Oncidiella"] peronii Cuvier Mer Rouge M. Jousseaume n°15-1892," and, for unknown reasons, "60." This jar contains six specimens of *Peronia*, from 60/45 to 25/15 mm, two of which were dissected, possibly by Labbé. The intestinal loops of the two dissected specimens are of type I and thus are not in agreement with Labbé's (1934a: fig. 12) original illustration of the intestinal loops of the original description of *P. jousseaumei*. Those specimens could possibly be some of the eight non-type specimens that Labbé (1934a: 190) mentioned in his re-description of *Peronia peronii* collected by Jousseaume from the Red Sea ("Mer Rouge") in "1852"



**Figure 23.** Anterior, male, copulatory apparatus, *Peronia madagascariensis* **A** Madagascar, [5501] (MNHN-IM-2009-16392) **B** South Africa, [5841] (NMSA W7547). Scale bars: 5 mm (**A**), 2 mm (**B**). Abbreviations: ag accessory penial gland, dd deferent duct, ms muscular sac, ps penial sheath, rm retractor muscle, v vestibule.

(likely a mistake for 1892). Given that Labbé does not specify their size, it is not possible to know to what species Labbé thought those specimens belong exactly (MNHN-IM-2014-7993).

Additional material examined. SOUTH AFRICA • 2 specimens 35/23 mm [5841] and 18/13 mm [5842]; KwaZulu-Natal, Durban, Treasure Beach; 29°57.294'S, 30°59.514'E; 18 Nov 2010; D Herbert and L Davis leg.; rocky intertidal zone; NMSA W7547.

MOZAMBIQUE • 1 specimen 42/37 mm [735]; Cabo Delgado Province, Pemba, Wimbi Beach, Pemba Beach Hotel; 12°58'S, 40°32'E; 14 Jul 2006; DG Reid leg.; on shady rock at base of limestone cliff, in upper eulittoral behind intertidal platform; NHMUK 20060414.

MADAGASCAR • 1 specimen 55/40 mm [5500]; Ambatobe, près Soamanitse; 25°27.4'S, 44°57.4'E; 24 May & 7 Jun 2010; MNHN Expedition Atimo Vatae leg.; st BM02, 0–1 m; MNHN-IM-2009-16391. • 1 specimen 40/35 mm [5504]; same collection data as for the preceding; MNHN-IM-2009-16412. • 1 specimen 40/30 mm



**Figure 24.** Penial hooks, *Peronia madagascariensis*, Madagascar **A**, **C** [5500] (MNHN-IM-2009-16391) **B**, **D** [5504] (MNHN-IM-2009-16412) **E** [5506] (MNHN-IM-2009-16418) **F** [5501] (MNHN-IM-2009-16392). Scale bars: 60 μm (**A**), 100 μm (**B**), 20 μm (**C**, **D**), 40 μm (**E**), 10 μm (**F**).

[5501]; Ambatomainty; 25°26.3'S, 44°56.5'E; 25 May 2010; MNHN Expedition Atimo Vatae leg.; st BM03, 0–1 m; MNHN-IM-2009-16392. • 1 specimen 55/40 mm [5502]; same collection data as for the preceding; MNHN-IM-2009-16393. • 1 specimen 55/40 mm [5503]; Ambatobe, Bavarama; 25°27.9'S, 44°57.6'E; 28 & 29 May 2010; MNHN Expedition Atimo Vatae leg.; st BM06, 0–1 m; MNHN-IM-2009-16396. • 1 specimen 40/35 mm [5506]; same collection data as for the preceding; MNHN-IM-2009-16418.

OMAN•1 specimen 10/7 [703]; Muscat, Cemetery Bay; 23°37.250'N, 58°36.016'E; 9 Feb 2004; G Paulay & M Claereboudt leg.; coral community, reef slope, on ophiolitic bedrock and rubble; UF 332088.

Additional material examined (historical museum collections). OMAN • 3 specimens 80/60 mm; Qurm Beach, near Muscat; 23°37.56'N, 58°28.86'E; 26 Jan 2005; V Bonito, M Claereboudt & G Paulay leg.; intertidal rocky shore; UF 368019.

IRAN • 3 specimens 80/65 mm to 75/65 mm; Persian Gulf, Strait of Hormuz, Qeshm Island; 18 Apr 1937; G Thorson leg.; st 69; NHMD 635302.



**Figure 25.** Accessory penial gland spine, *Peronia madagascariensis*, Madagascar **A**, **E** [5500] (MNHN-IM-2009-16391) **B**, **F** [5502] (MNHN-IM-2009-16393) **C**, **G** [5504] (MNHN-IM-2009-16412) **D**, **H** [5506] (MNHN-IM-2009-16418). Scale bars: 400 μm (**A**–**D**), 20 μm (**E**–**H**).

YEMEN • 1 specimen 55/55 mm; Socotra, off Quadub; 12°39.015'N, 53°55.730'E; 18 Mar 1999; Salim Al-Moghrabi (from N Yonow's personal collection) leg.; intertidal, ST-064 SAM-1; SMF 358305.

SOUTH AFRICA • 1 specimen 70/45 mm; Port Natal, Durban; 30S, 31E; Wahlberg leg.; littoral rocky bottom; SMNH 180711.

**GenBank and BOLD sequences.** One COI sequence was obtained from BOLD (LGEN099-14) for an individual identified as *Onchidium verruculatum* and collected from Dwarka, Gujarat, on the western coast of India (ca. 22°N), which is the easternmost known locality for *P. madagascariensis*. A second COI sequence was obtained from GenBank (LC027608) for an individual identified as *Peronia* sp. and collected from the coast of Iran in the Persian Gulf. Both sequences were unpublished.

**Distribution** (Fig. 6). From South Africa to the Red Sea and western India (ca. 22°N): South Africa, Mozambique, Madagascar (type locality of *P. madagascariensis*),

Gulf of Oman, Iran (Strait of Hormuz), Yemen (Socotra), India (Mumbai, Gujarat), Red Sea (type locality of *P. jousseaumei*). All records are new except for the type locality in Madagascar. *Peronia madagascariensis* is, so far, not present in Mauritius.

**Etymology.** *Peronia madagascariensis* was named after its type locality, Madagascar. *Peronia jousseaumei* was named after Félix Pierre Jousseaume [1835–1921], a medical doctor and malacologist who collected many specimens from the Red Sea preserved at the MNHN and which Labbé (1934a) studied for his monograph on onchidiids.

Habitat. *Peronia madagascariensis* is found in the rocky intertidal, like most other *Peronia* slugs.

**Color and morphology.** No picture of live animals was available. The color of preserved specimens is not different from other species (greyish brown and mottled with darker and lighter areas dorsally, and light brown greyish ventrally). The dorsal notum of live animals is covered by dozens of papillae of various sizes. In large individuals, dorsal papillae can be particularly tall (easily up to 4 mm), even in preserved specimens, and are evenly distributed over the entire notum. Preserved, they are very difficult to distinguish from retracted dorsal gills in the posterior half of the notum, but they are regular papillae with or without eyes. Some papillae bear black dorsal eyes at their tip. The number of papillae with dorsal eyes is variable (from 12 to 18). Dorsal gills seem taller and denser than in other species. The largest specimens in our fresh material are 55 mm long but two additional museum specimens are much longer (80 mm).

**Digestive system** (Figs 21A–D, 22). Examples of radular formulae are presented in Table 5. The median cusp of the rachidian teeth is approximately 55  $\mu$ m long. The hook of the lateral teeth is approximately 100 to 130  $\mu$ m long. The intestinal loops are of type V.

**Reproductive system** (Figs 21E, 23–25). In the anterior (male) parts, the muscular sac of the accessory penial gland is less than 15 mm long. The hollow spine of the accessory penial gland is narrow, elongated, and straight or slightly curved, and its shape (including at its tip) varies between individuals. Its length ranges from 2 mm ([5502] MNHN-IM-2009-16393) to 2.4 mm ([5500] MNHN-IM-2009-16391). Its diameter at the conical base ranges from 200 to 230  $\mu$ m. Its diameter at the tip ranges from 70 to 80  $\mu$ m. The retractor muscle is shorter or longer than the penial sheath and inserts near the heart. Inside the penial sheath, the penis is a narrow, elongated, soft, hollow tube. Its distal end bears conical hooks which are less than 100  $\mu$ m long.

**Diagnostic features** (Table 4). *Peronia madagascariensis* is characterized by a unique combination of two anatomical traits: intestinal loops of type V and a spine of the accessory penial gland longer than 2 mm.

**Remarks.** The name *Paraperonia madagascariensis* clearly applies to a *Peronia* species because of the dorsal gills on the notum of the holotype. The holotype was entirely dissected by Labbé. The radula, the posterior (hermaphroditic) reproductive parts, and the anterior copulatory apparatus are missing. The intestinal loops are of type V (Fig. 21A), as illustrated by Labbé (1934a: fig. 17). The name *Peronia madagascariensis* applies to the species described here because it is, according to our molecular data, the only *Peronia* species with intestinal loops of type V along the eastern African coast, from South Africa to the Persian Gulf and western India, including Madagascar. Note

that some of our fresh material was collected only 150 km east of the type locality in southern Madagascar. Some internal characters described by Labbé (1934a: 199) could not be verified on the holotype because most internal parts are missing, but they are similar to the species described here. In particular, the length of the spine of the accessory penial gland (2 mm) is compatible with what was observed in our material.

Additional, non-type specimens were found in historical museum collections which could be identified as *P. madagascariensis* due to the presence of intestinal loops of type V, from Oman (UF 368019), the Strait of Hormuz (NHMD 635302), and Socotra (SMF 358305). Those localities, however, are all already included within the known distribution of *P. madagascariensis* based on our DNA sequences, as the Strait of Hormuz is very close to the Gulf of Oman. Finally, one of the "*a*" paralectotypes of Labbé's (1934a: 199) *Paraperonia gondwanae* from Bombay (MNHN-IM-2000-33682), with intestinal loops of type V (Fig. 21B), belongs to *P. madagascariensis*. Note that two of those museum specimens are longer (80 mm) than our fresh material (less than 55 mm).

Peronia slugs with intestinal loops of type V are without doubt present in the Red Sea. For instance, one of the "c" paralectotypes of Labbé's (1934a: 200) Paraperonia gondwanae from Suez (MNHN-IM-2000-33683) is characterized by intestinal loops of type V (Fig. 21C), which means that it does not belong to P. verruculata (characterized by intestinal loops of type I). Labbé's (1934a) Paraperonia jousseaumei, with the Red Sea as type locality, is also characterized by intestinal loops of type V. Even though the type material of *P. jousseaumei* could not be located at the MNHN, Labbé's (1934a: fig. 12) drawing of the internal anatomy of *P. jousseaumei* clearly illustrates intestinal loops of type V. Given that *P. madagascariensis* is widespread from South Africa all the way to western India, including the Strait of Hormuz, it is accepted here that it also is distributed in the Red Sea. That, however, will still need to be confirmed with fresh material from both the Red Sea and the Gulf of Aden. If it appears that the populations of *Peronia* slugs with intestinal loops of type V from the Red Sea are a distinct species, then the name P. jousseaumei could apply to them and be valid. Finally, given that P. madagascariensis is present in the Strait of Hormuz, it most likely also is distributed in the rest of the Persian Gulf, which hopefully will be confirmed at some point with fresh material.

Even though the names *Peronia madagascariensis* and *Peronia jousseaumei* were never used prior to the present contribution, they are not regarded as new combinations because *Paraperonia* has already been regarded as a synonym of *Peronia* by Britton (1984: 182) and because it has also been made clear that the genus *Peronia* included all species of slugs with dorsal gills (e.g., Dayrat et al. 2017: 1861).

The specimen [703] from Oman was tentatively identified as *Peronia* sp. 2 by Dayrat et al. (2011) but it clearly belongs to *P. madagascariensis* (Fig. 2). Also, note that its COI sequence was resubmitted to GenBank because the old one (GenBank HQ660044) was inaccurate. The specimen [735] from Mozambique was tentatively identified as *Peronia* cf. *peronii* by Dayrat et al. (2011). This identification should be disregarded because the specimen [735] belongs to *P. madagascariensis* (Fig. 2).

A specimen from Durban (30°S), South Africa, preserved in Stockholm (SMNH 180711) identified as *O. verruculatum* by Hoffmann (1928: 44, 73) is identified here as *P. madagascariensis* because of its intestinal loops of type V (Table 4). Various records of *Onchidium peronii*, *O. savignyi*, and *Onchidium verruculatum* from Natal, South Africa (Krauss 1848: 72; Sturany 1898: 73; Collinge 1910: 171–172; Connolly 1912: 224–225, 1939: 454; Webb 1969) most likely are records of *Peronia madagascariensis*, although *P. verruculata* (unit #5) could also be present in northeastern South Africa because it is known in Maputo, southern Mozambique (ca. 26°S).

## Peronia platei (Hoffmann, 1928)

Figs 26-32

Onchidium platei Hoffmann, 1928: 51-53, figs 9, 10, pl. 3, figs 11, 12.

**Type material.** *Lectotype* and *paralectotypes.* FRENCH POLYNESIA • lectotype, hereby designated, 18/10 mm; Eimeo [Moorea], Tahiti; 1851–1853; Eugenie Expedition leg.; st 1245–9, in the barrier reef; SMNH-Type-7537. • 2 paralectotypes, 16/10 mm and 16/10 mm; same collection data as for the lectotype; SMNH-Type-7537. • 4 paralectotypes, 17/10 mm, 16/12 mm, 15/11 mm, and 10/7 mm; Tahiti; Dec 1846; Reinhardt, Galathea Expedition 470 leg.; NHMD 613754. • 1 paralectotype, 7/5 mm; Tahiti; Reinhardt, Galathea Expedition 471 leg.; NHMD 613755. • 1 paralectotype, 15/10 mm; Tahiti; Reinhardt, Galathea Expedition 472 leg.; NHMD 613756.

Additional material examined. HAWAII • 2 specimens 12/10 mm [706] and 12/12 mm [5380]; Molokai, Puko'o; 21°04.313'N, 156°48.001'W; 27 Jan 2003; V Bonito leg.; on rocks; UF 303653. • Oahu, Ala Moana Beach Park; 21°17.158'N, 157°50.827'W; 1 specimen 30/20 mm [6160]; 7 Oct 2018; TC Goulding leg.; st 264, intertidal rocks, night tide; BPBM 284527. • 1 specimen 30/20 mm [6161]; same collection data as for the preceding; BPBM 284528.

PAPUA NEW GUINEA – **Madang** • 1 specimen 14/12 mm [5405]; Rempi Area, SW Hargun Island; 05°01.6'S, 145°47.9'E; 15 & 20 Nov 2012; MNHN Expedition Papua Niugini leg.; st PM24, night tide; MNHN-IM-2013-13762. • 1 specimen 20/17 mm [5412]; Rempi Area, Barag Island; 05°01.1'S, 145°47.9'E; 15 Nov 2012; MNHN Expedition Papua Niugini leg.; st PM25, fringing reef on narrow barrier island; MNHN-IM-2013-13351. • 1 specimen 12/10 mm [5410]; Riwo Waters; 05°08.9'S, 145°48.2'E; 26 Nov 2012; MNHN Expedition Papua Niugini leg.; st PM40, sandy beach and intertidal rocks; MNHN-IM-2013-15765. • 1 specimen 14/12 mm [5464]; Wonad Island; 05°08.1'S, 145°49.3'E; 27 Nov 2012; MNHN Expedition Papua Ni-ugini leg.; st PM41, sandy beach and intertidal rocks; MNHN-IM-2013-15871.

Additional material examined (historical museum collections). FRENCH POLY-NESIA • 2 specimens 15/10 mm and 13/8 mm; Tuamotu Archipelago, NE side, Anaa Atoll; 17°20'S, 145°30'W; 27 Oct 1967; NGS-SBM Marquesa Expedition MV "Pele"



Figure 26. Live animals, *Peronia platei*, Hawaii, Oahu A dorsal view, 30 mm long [6161] (BPBM 284528)
B dorsal view, 30 mm long [6160] (BPBM 284527) C ventral view, same as A; D ventral view, same as B.

1967 leg.; WAM S26717. • 2 specimens 7/5 mm and 5/4 mm; Tuamotu Archipelago, Marutea Atoll; 17S, 143°10.02'E; Aug 1903; LG Seurat leg.; AM C.17073.

HAWAII • 15 specimens from 18/15 mm to 8/8 mm; Oahu, Kailua Bay, Mokapu Point; 21°28.02'N, 157°43.98'E; WF Ponder and EA Kay leg.; 7 Apr 1974; on rocks, semi-sheltered and exposed platforms; AM C.214245.

KIRIBATI • 8 specimens from 10/9 mm to 3/3 mm; Gilbert Islands, Apamama [Abemama]; 00S, 173E; 1917–1918; S Bock's Pacific Expedition leg.; sand, inside lagoon; SMNH 106488.

**Distribution** (Fig. 6). West Pacific: Papua New Guinea, French Polynesia (Tuamotu and Tahiti), Kiribati, and Hawaii. All records are new except for the type locality in Tahiti.

**Etymology.** *Peronia platei* was named after German zoologist Ludwig Hermann Plate [1862–1937], professor of zoology at the University of Jena and author of a monograph on onchidiids (Plate 1893).

**Habitat.** *Peronia platei* is found primarily in the rocky intertidal. According to the label, specimens from Kiribati were collected on sand inside a lagoon (*P. sydneyensis* and *P. willani* are also known to be found on sand).

**Color and morphology of live animals** (Fig. 26). No picture of live animals was available for specimens from the West Pacific. The description of the color of live animals is based on Hawaii individuals. The dorsal notum is uniformly very dark grey, almost black, including papillae. The hyponotum is light yellowish. The foot is light yellowish to orange. The ocular tentacles are grey, like the head. The dorsal notum of live animals is covered by dozens of papillae of various sizes. Some papillae bear black dorsal eyes at their tip. The number of papillae with dorsal eyes is variable (from 7 to 10). The papillae with dorsal eyes cannot be counted in specimens from Hawaii because the no-



**Figure 27.** Digestive system, dorsal view, *Peronia platei*, with intestinal loops of type V **A** lectotype, French Polynesia, Moorea (SMNH-Type-7537) **B** Hawaii, Oahu [6160] (BPBM 284527) **C** Papua New Guinea, Madang [5412] (MNHN-IM-2013-13351). Scale bars: 2 mm (**A–C**). Abbreviations: ddg dorsal digestive gland, i intestine, pdg posterior digestive gland, st stomach.

tum is too dark and because eye pigmentation tends to fade in preservation. The largest specimens are 30 mm long in Hawaii and 20 mm in Papua New Guinea.

**Digestive system** (Figs 27, 28). Examples of radular formulae are presented in Table 5. The median cusp of the rachidian teeth is approximately 30 to 35  $\mu$ m long. The hook of the lateral teeth is approximately 60 to 90  $\mu$ m long. The intestinal loops are of type V.

**Reproductive system** (Figs 29–32). In the posterior (hermaphroditic) parts, the deferent duct and the oviduct are straight. In the anterior (male) parts, the muscular sac of the accessory penial gland is less than 5 mm long. The hollow spine of the accessory penial gland is narrow, elongated, and straight or slightly curved, and its shape (including at its tip) varies between individuals. Its length ranges from 0.8 mm ([706] UF 303653) to 0.9 mm ([6161] BPBM 284528) in Hawaii and from 0.7 mm ([5405] MNHN-IM-2013-13762) to 1 mm ([5412] MNHN-IM-2013-13351) in Papua New Guinea. Its diameter at the conical base ranges from 95 to 100  $\mu$ m (Hawaii) and from 65 to 80  $\mu$ m (Papua New Guinea). Its diameter at the tip ranges from 25 to 30  $\mu$ m (Hawaii) and from 20 to 30  $\mu$ m (Papua New Guinea). The retractor muscle is shorter or longer than the penial sheath and inserts at the posterior end of the visceral cavity. Inside the penial sheath, the penis is a narrow, elongated, soft, hollow tube. Its distal end bears conical hooks which are less than 60  $\mu$ m long in Hawaii and less than 20  $\mu$ m long in Papua New Guinea.

**Diagnostic features** (Table 4). *Peronia platei* is cryptic with *P. setoensis*. Both species share the same combination of anatomical traits: intestinal loops of type V, retractor muscle inserting at the posterior end of the visceral cavity, a spine of the accessory



**Figure 28.** Radula, *Peronia platei* **A** Papua New Guinea, Madang [5405] (MNHN-IM-2013-13762) **B** Hawaii, Oahu [6161] (BPBM 284528) **C–E** Hawaii, Molokai [706] (UF 303653) **F** [5380] (UF 303653) **A** right half rows of teeth **B** rachidian and innermost lateral teeth **C** rachidian and innermost lateral teeth **D** lateral teeth **E** outermost lateral teeth **F** lateral teeth. Scale bars: 200 μm (**A**), 20 μm (**B**, **E**), 30 μm (**C**), 100 μm (**D**), 80 μm (**F**).

penial gland from 0.8 to 1 mm long (*P. platei*) and from 0.9 to 1.2 mm long (*P. setoen-sis*). The diameter of the spine of the accessory penial gland at its tip is larger in *P. platei* (25 to 30  $\mu$ m) than in *P. setoensis* (less than 25  $\mu$ m) but that may be simply due to limited sampling. *Peronia platei* and *P. setoensis* are both distributed in the West Pacific but they are not sympatric based on current data (Fig. 6).

**Remarks.** Onchidium platei applies to the species described here because the anatomy of the lectotype is identical to the anatomy of our material (Table 4): gills on the dorsal notum; muscular sac of the accessory penial gland less than 5 mm long; spine of the accessory penial gland 0.9 mm long (observed by transparency); intestinal loops of type V; seven dorsal papillae with eyes. Our molecular analyses show that the species described here is widespread across the West Pacific, from Papua New Guinea to Hawaii. There is no reason to think that the populations in French Polynesia (type locality



**Figure 29.** Posterior, hermaphroditic (female) reproductive system, *Peronia platei* **A** Papua New Guinea, Madang [5412] (MNHN-IM-2013-13351) **B** Hawaii, Oahu [6160] (BPBM 284527). Scale bars: 3 mm (**A**, **B**). Abbreviations: dd deferent duct, fgm female gland mass, hg hermaphroditic gland, ov oviduct, rs receptaculum seminis, sp spermatheca.

of *O. platei*) are a distinct species. This, however, will have to be confirmed with fresh material from French Polynesia, preferably from Moorea, the type locality. All eight paralectotypes (also from Tahiti) also belong to the same species.

Hoffmann's (1928: 51–53, figs 9, 10, pl. 3, figs 11, 12) original description, which is quite detailed, needs to be briefly commented on. Hoffmann mentions that dorsal gills are lacking but they are undoubtedly present in the lectotype and all paralecto-types (dorsal gills are often hard to see in preserved animals). The anatomical traits he describes agree with our observations on the type material. The intestinal loops, Hoffmann says, are of type I but slightly different from the regular type I due to the absence of a loop. Hoffmann calls it a type Ia. His illustration of it clearly represents a type V (Hoffmann 1928: pl. 3, fig. 11). The spine of the accessory penial gland is 1 mm long and the retractor muscle attaches to the posterior end of the visceral cavity. According to Hoffmann (1928: 53), *O. platei* is most closely related to *O. tumidum* Semper, 1880 and *O. nebulosum* Semper, 1880 but differs from them based on the penis size. *Onchidium tumidum* was recently transferred to *Paromoionchis* (Dayrat et al. 2019a), and *O. nebulosum* (type locality in Palau) applies to a *Peronia* species but is regarded here as a *nomen dubium* (see general discussion).

Additional specimens were found in historical museum collections which could be identified as *P. platei* mostly based on the intestinal loops of type V, the specimen size, and their geographic origin. Specimens from Kiribati (SMNH 106488) are especially interesting because they confirm the presence of specimens similar to *P. platei* far from



**Figure 30.** Anterior, male, copulatory apparatus, *Peronia platei* **A** lectotype, French Polynesia, Moorea (SMNH-Type-7537) **B** Papua New Guinea, Madang [5412] (MNHN-IM-2013-13351) **C** Hawaii [706] (UF 303653). Scale bars: 5 mm (**A**), 3 mm (**B**), 2 mm (**C**). Abbreviations: ag accessory penial gland, dd deferent duct, ms muscular sac, ps penial sheath, rm retractor muscle, v vestibule.

Hawaii and Papua New Guinea, which strongly supports the assumption that *P. platei* is widespread across the entire West Pacific. Note that those specimens from Kiribati are not identified as *P. setoensis* (which is anatomically cryptic with *P. platei*) because *P. setoensis* is found in much colder waters (33°N) in Japan (Fig. 6).

Labbé (1934a: 224) merely mentioned *Onchidium platei* as one of the valid *On-chidium* species names. Ruthensteiner (1997) briefly commented on the anatomy of



**Figure 31.** Penial hooks, *Peronia platei* **A**, **C** Hawaii, Oahu [6161] (BPBM 284528) **B**, **D** Papua New Guinea, Madang [5412] (MNHN-IM-2013-13351). Scale bars: 40 μm (**A**), 20 μm (**B**), 10 μm (**C**), 2 μm (**D**).

the lung of *Onchidium* cf. *branchiferum*, based on specimens from Hawaii. Those were most likely specimens of *Peronia platei*, the only *Peronia* species found in Hawaii. Finally, note that the specimen [706] (UF 303653) was tentatively referred to as *Peronia* sp. 1 by Dayrat et al. (2011).

No *Peronia* slug from Hawaii was positively demonstrated to belong to *P. verruculata* (unit #1), which is characterized by intestinal loops of type I. Therefore, Hoffmann's (1928: 44, 73) record of *O. verruculatum* from Hawaii is interpreted here as a misidentification of *P. platei*. Labbé (1934a: 193), Solem (1959: 39), and Marcus and Marcus (1970: 213) all assumed that *P. verruculata* was present in Hawaii based on Hoffmann's (1928) study, without collecting or examining any new material.

Onchidella evelinae Marcus & Burch, 1965 was described based on small specimens (average length 6 mm) from Eniwetok Atoll, Marshall Islands (ca. 11°N, 162°E). The type material was deposited at the Museum of Zoology, University of Michigan, but could not be located there (personal communication from the collection manager, Dr. Taehwan Lee). Onchidella evelinae is a misidentification for one of the onchidiid species present in the Marshall Islands: it cannot refer to Onchidella slugs because an accessory penial gland is mentioned in the original description and because Onchidella is not present in the middle of the West Pacific. The Marshall Islands are within the distribution range of *P. platei* (Fig. 6), but a detail from the original description (the internal organs can be seen through the dorsal notum) suggests that O. evelinae does not refer to Peronia slugs because their notum is too thick for internal organs to be seen through it. Peronia peronii is also present in the Marshall Islands (Fig. 6), but, given the very small size of the specimens and that they were sexually mature, it is most unlikely that O. evelinae is a junior synonym of *P. peronii* (Fig. 6). The size of the spine of the accessory penial gland (1.3 mm) reported in the original description of O. evelinae is compatible with



**Figure 32.** Accessory penial gland spine, *Peronia platei* **A–C**, **F**, **G** Hawaii, Oahu **D**, **E**, **H**, **I** Papua New Guinea, Madang **A** [706] (UF 303653) **B** [6160] (BPBM 284527) **C** [6161] (BPBM 284528) **D** [5412] (MNHN-IM-2013-13351) **E** [5405] (MNHN-IM-2013-13762) **F** same as **A**; **G** same as **B**; **H** same as **D**; **I** same as **E**. Scale bars: 100 μm (**A**, **E**), 200 μm (**B**, **D**), 150 μm (**C**), 6 μm (**F**, **H**, **I**), 10 μm (**G**).

what is currently known (< 1 mm) for *P. platei* (Table 4). *Onchidella evelinae* is regarded here as a new junior subjective synonym of *Marmaronchis vaigiensis* (Quoy & Gaimard, 1825): first, because internal organs can occasionally be seen through its thin notum (e.g., Dayrat et al. 2018: fig. 5E); second, because there are known records (Dayrat et al. 2018: fig. 9) of *M. vaigiensis* in Pohnpei, Micronesia (ca. 6°N, 158°E), just a few degrees west of the Marshall Islands, and it is very possible that *M. vaigiensis* also is in the Marshall Islands. The size of the spine of the accessory penial gland (1.3 mm) reported in the original description of *O. evelinae* is higher than what is currently known for *M. vaigiensis* (< 1 mm), but that trait does vary intra-specifically.

http://zoobank.org/AF7DC925-3FCB-4AA3-8EFA-6345D4FA0C2B Figs 33–38

**Type material.** *Holotype.* JAPAN • holotype, hereby designated, 20/15 mm [5383]; Honshu, Wakayama, Nishimuro, near Seto Marine Biological Laboratory; 33°41.504'N, 135°20.179'E; 30 Aug 2014; R. Cumming leg.; exposed rock wall and platform; NSMT-Mo 78985.

Additional material examined. JAPAN • 3 specimens 13/8 mm [5382], 10/5 mm [5384], and 12/10 mm [5385]; same collection data as for the holotype; NSMT-Mo 78986. • 2 specimens 15/10 mm [3753] and 15/10 mm [3754]; Honshu, Wakayama, Nishimuro, near Seto Marine Biological Laboratory; 33°41.533'N, 135°20.265'E; 2014; T Nakano leg.; NSMT-Mo 78987.

Additional material examined (historical museum collections). JAPAN • 1 specimen 23/20 mm; Sagami Bay, Misaki; 1930–1931; Gislén's Pacific Expedition 1930– 1931 leg.; littoral rocky bottom; SMNH 180725.

**Distribution** (Fig. 6). Endemic to subtropical waters of Japan: Honshu, Nishimuro, near Seto Marine Biological Laboratory (33N, type locality), Sagami Bay (35°N), and possibly Boso Peninsula, near Sagami Bay (35°N); Kyushu, Nagasaki, 32N (Keferstein 1865a, b, as *P. verruculata*).

**Etymology.** *Peronia setoensis* is named after its type locality, near the Seto Marine Biological Laboratory: *setoensis* is a latinized adjective that agrees in gender (feminine) with the generic name (ICZN 1999: Article 31.2).

**Habitat** (Fig. 33). *Peronia setoensis* is found in the rocky intertidal. Few individuals are currently known but it may be discovered in additional localities in the future.

**Color and morphology of live animals** (Fig. 34). The dorsal notum is greenish brown, light to dark, mottled with darker and lighter areas, occasionally with yellowish sides. The color of the dorsal papillae varies as that of the background itself. The ventral surface (foot and hyponotum) is yellowish or greyish and can change rapidly in any given individual. The ocular tentacles are brown-grey, like the head. The dorsal notum of live animals is covered by dozens of papillae of various sizes. Some papillae bear black dorsal eyes at their tip. The number of papillae with dorsal eyes is variable (from 8 to 12). The largest specimens are 20 mm long.

**Digestive system** (Figs 35A, B, 36). Examples of radular formulae are presented in Table 5. The median cusp of the rachidian teeth is approximately 35  $\mu$ m long. The hook of the lateral teeth is approximately 90  $\mu$ m long. The intestinal loops are of type V.

**Reproductive system** (Figs 35C, D, 37, 38). In the anterior (male) parts, the muscular sac of the accessory penial gland is less than 5 mm long. The hollow spine of the accessory penial gland is narrow, elongated, and straight or slightly curved, and its shape (including at its tip) varies between individuals. Its length ranges from 0.9 mm ([3754] NSMT-Mo 78987) to 1.2 mm ([3753] NSMT-Mo 78987). Its diameter at the conical base ranges from 80 to 85  $\mu$ m. Its diameter at the tip ranges from 15 to 25  $\mu$ m. The retractor muscle is shorter or longer than the penial sheath and inserts near the



Figure 33. Habitat, *Peronia setoensis*, Japan, Honshu, near the Seto Marine Laboratory, type locality, exposed rock wall and platform.



**Figure 34.** Live animals, *Peronia setoensis*, Japan, Honshu **A** holotype, dorsal view, 20 mm long [5383] (NSMT-Mo 78985) **B** dorsal view, 10 mm long [5384] (NSMT-Mo 78986) **C** dorsal view, 12 mm long [5385] (NSMT-Mo 78986) **D** ventral view, same as **A**; **E** ventral view, same as **B**; **F** ventral view, same as **C**.

heart. Inside the penial sheath, the penis is a narrow, elongated, soft, hollow tube. Its distal end bears conical hooks which are less than 25  $\mu$ m long.

**Diagnostic features** (Table 4). *Peronia setoensis* is cryptic with *P. platei*. Both species share the same combination of anatomical traits: intestinal loops of type V, retractor muscle inserting at the posterior end of the visceral cavity, a spine of the accessory penial gland from 0.9 to 1.2 mm long (*P. setoensis*) and from 0.7 to 1 mm long (*P. platei*). *Peronia setoensis* and *P. platei* are anatomically very similar to *P. griffithsi*, in which, however, the spine of the accessory penial gland is slightly shorter (less than



**Figure 35.** *Peronia setoensis*, Japan, Honshu **A** [3753] (NSMT-Mo 78987) **B–D** holotype [5383 H] (NSMT-Mo 78985) **A** digestive system, dorsal view, with intestinal loops of type V **B** digestive system, dorsal view, with intestinal loops of type V **C** posterior, hermaphroditic (female) reproductive system **D** anterior, male, copulatory apparatus. Scale bars: 2 mm (**A–D**). Abbreviations: ag accessory penial gland, dd deferent duct, ddg dorsal digestive gland, fgm female gland mass, hg hermaphroditic gland, i intestine, ms muscular sac, ov oviduct, pdg posterior digestive gland, ps penial sheath, rm retractor muscle, rs receptaculum seminis, sp spermatheca, st stomach, v vestibule.



**Figure 36.** Radula, *Peronia setoensis*, Japan, Honshu **A–C** holotype [5383 H] (NSMT-Mo 78985) **D–F** [3754] (NSMT-Mo 78987) **G**, **H** [3753] (NSMT-Mo 78987) **A** right half rows of teeth **B** rachidian and innermost lateral teeth **C** rachidian and lateral teeth **D** rachidian and innermost lateral teeth **E** lateral teeth **F** rachidian and lateral teeth **G** outermost lateral teeth **H** lateral teeth. Scale bars: 100 μm (**A**, **H**), 15 μm (**B**), 60 μm (**C**), 20 μm (**D**), 40 μm (**E**, **F**), 10 μm (**G**).

0.62 mm long). All three species are distributed in the West Pacific but *Peronia setoensis* is adapted to much colder waters than *P. platei* and *P. griffithsi* (Fig. 6).

**Remarks.** A new species name is needed because no existing name applies to the species described here. A specimen from Sagami Bay (35°N), preserved in Stockholm



**Figure 37.** Penis and penial hooks, *Peronia setoensis*, Japan, Honshu **A**, **B** holotype [5383 H] (NSMT-Mo 78985) **C**, **D** [3753] (NSMT-Mo 78987) **E**, **F** [3754] (NSMT-Mo 78987). Scale bars: 40 μm (**A**), 4 μm (**B**), 100 μm (**C**), 2 μm (**D**, **F**), 20 μm (**E**).

(SMNH 180725), not included by Hoffmann (1928: 73) in his list of material for *O. verruculatum*, is identified here as *P. setoensis* because of its intestinal loops of type V (Table 4). This specimen indicates that *P. setoensis* is distributed on the eastern Pacific coast of Japan north of the type locality.

Keferstein (1865b) described as *P. verruculata* three slugs from Nagasaki, Kyushu, Japan (ca. 32°44'N). His written description (Keferstein 1865b) was also based on an individual from Java but his figure captions clearly indicate that his drawings illustrated an individual from Nagasaki (Keferstein 1865b: pl. VI, figs 14–16): Keferstein's (1865b: pl. VI, fig. 16) drawing of the internal anatomy unmistakably illustrates intestinal loops of type V. Therefore, it is very likely that *P. setoensis*, the only one species of *Peronia* slugs with intestinal loops of type V in Japan, is also distributed in Kyushu. It is unclear whether Keferstein's (1865a: pl. CII, figs 20\*, 20\*\*, pl. CV, figs 1, 2) drawings illustrate the same Nagasaki individual as the one with intestinal loops of type V (Keferstein 1865b: pl. VI, fig. 16). It cannot be excluded that Keferstein examined several species found in Japan (Fig. 6). The Java individual cannot be identified.



**Figure 38.** Accessory penial gland spine, *Peronia setoensis*, Japan, Honshu **A**, **C** [3753] (NSMT-Mo 78987) **B**, **D** [3754] (NSMT-Mo 78987). Scale bars: 200 μm (**A**, **B**), 6 μm (**C**, **D**).

The molecular data presented here indicate that there are four *Peronia* species in Japanese waters, but their geographic ranges need to be explored in better detail (Fig. 6). *Peronia setoensis* is definitely (our DNA sequences) present in southern Honshu (Wakayama Prefecture) and very likely in Kyushu based on Keferstein's (1865b: pl. VI, fig. 16) drawing of intestinal loops of type V. *Peronia verruculata* (unit #1) is definitely (our DNA sequences) present in Wakayama Prefecture (ca. 33°N), southern Honshu, and is thus expected to be present in all Japanese waters south of Wakayama Prefecture. Also, *Peronia verruculata* is present in Sakurajima, Kyushu (ca. 31°N) and Okinawa (ca. 26°N) based on sequences that Takagi et al. (2019) recently published (see remarks on *P. verruculata*). *Peronia peronii* is also present in Okinawa based on COI sequences that Takagi et al. (2019) recently published (see remarks on *P. peronii*). And, finally, our new species *P. okinawensis* is only known from Okinawa so far.

Besides Keferstein (1865a, b), several authors mentioned onchidiids from Japan but, in most cases, species cannot be identified based on the limited information provided. Stimpson (1855: 380) described *Onchis fruticosa* based on slugs with dorsal gills from Kikaijima (28°30'N), between Kyushu and Okinawa, which could potentially belong to any of the four species present in Japanese waters. As a result, *Onchis fruticosa* is regarded as a *nomen dubium* (see general discussion).

Baba (1958) illustrated onchidiid slugs from three different places: Tokara Islands, just south of Kyushu (ca. 30°N); Amakusa, near Nagasaki, Kyushu (ca. 32°30'N); and Misaki, Osaka, Honshu (ca. 34°N). Baba (1958: 144) indicates that some specimens of *Onchidium verruculatum* from Tokara Islands were very large (up to 120 mm long), suggesting that *P. peronii* is found there, which would be its northernmost record (see remarks on *P. peronii*). The smaller specimens that Baba (1958: 144) mentions from Tokara Islands could be a combination of *P. verruculata* (unit #1) and possibly *P. setoensis*. The two species which Baba (1958: 21) seems to distinguish (as *Onchidium* and *Onchidium verruculatum*) in Misaki, near Osaka, could be *P. verruculata* (unit #1) and *P. setoensis*, which, based on

our DNA sequences, are sympatric near the Seto Marine Laboratory, which is close to Osaka. And, finally, the slugs crawling on mud in Amakusa, near Nagasaki, are not *Peronia* slugs (Baba 1958: 51) but most likely belong to *Paromoionchis tumidus*, a species which is present nearby, in Kumamoto Uki, as the COI sequences from the slugs of "Group I" in Takagi et al. (2019) cluster with our sequences of *P. tumidus* (Dayrat et al. 2019a).

Katagiri and Katagiri (2007) distinguished two *Peronia* species (both as *Onchidium verruculatum*) in the waters of the Boso Peninsula (near Sagami Bay, Honshu, ca. 35°N) based on external appearance and development. One species, called Isowamochi, is characterized by planktotrophic development, and the other, called Minneawamochi, by direct development. Most likely, these slugs belong to *P. verruculata* (unit #1) and *P. setoensis*, which are the only two *Peronia* species found north of 30N. However, this assumption would have to be confirmed with fresh collections and DNA sequences. Ueshima (2007) commented that the external distinction between the two species recognized by Katagiri and Katagiri (2007) is far more subtle and problematic, and he rightly suggested that molecular data could determine the relationships between those two species and *P. verruculata* (erroneously said to be from the Mediterranean). Note that Ueshima's (2007) material, which covered a broad latitudinal range from the Kanagawa Prefecture (near Sagami Bay, ca. 35°N) all the way to Ishigaki Island (Okinawa, ca. 24°N), potentially included slugs from all four *Peronia* species found in Japan.

## Peronia griffithsi Dayrat & Goulding, sp. nov.

http://zoobank.org/61BB1B61-C9FC-43A8-AB92-5C4AEB7411E0 Figs 39–48

**Type material.** *Holotype.* MAURITIUS • holotype, hereby designated, 15/10 mm [3157 H]; Mahebourg, waterfront; 20°24.317'S, 57°42.605'E; 13 Jun 2014; TC Goulding leg.; st 178, rocky intertidal, with algae, just before sunrise; MNHN-IM-2000-35265.

**Additional material examined.** MAURITIUS • 7 specimens 8/5 mm [3606], 20/15 mm [3153], 22/17 mm [3154], 17/15 mm [3155], 20/14 mm [3156], 7/4 mm [3607], and 6/4 mm [3608]; same collection data as for the holotype; MNHN-IM-2019-1608.

INDONESIA • 1 specimen 17/12 mm [2936]; Kei Islands, Fiditan; 05°35.957'S, 132°45.112'E; 28 Feb 2014; M Khalil and field party leg.; st 144, rocks behind muddy *Rhizophora* mangrove; UMIZ 00176. • 2 specimens 18/10 mm [2934] and 25/16 mm [3566]; same collection data as for the preceding; UMIZ 00177.

PAPUA NEW GUINEA • 1 specimen 6/3 mm [6095]; New Ireland, east coast, Povalval; 02°41'S, 150°57'E; 11 & 13 Jun 2014; MNHN Expedition Kavieng 2014 leg.; st KM05, mixed hard platform and seagrass bed at outlet of rivulet; MNHN-IM-2013-53535.

Additional material examined (historical museum collections). INDONESIA • 161 specimens from 2/2 to 23/14 mm; Kei Islands, Toeal; 18 Mar 1922; T Mortensen leg.; NHMD 635303.

**Distribution** (Fig. 6). Indo-West Pacific: Mauritius (type locality), Indonesia (Kei Islands), and Papua New Guinea (New Ireland).



**Figure 39.** Habitats, *Peronia griffithsi* **A** Indonesia, Kei Islands, rocks behind muddy *Rhizophora* mangrove (st 144) **B** Papua New Guinea, New Ireland, mixed hard platform and seagrass bed at outlet of rivulet (st KM 05).

**Etymology.** *Peronia griffithsi* is named after Owen Griffiths, who kindly and generously hosted and guided one of us (Tricia Goulding) in Mauritius.

Habitat (Fig. 39). *Peronia griffithsi* is found in the rocky intertidal, like most other *Peronia* slugs. Our specimens from Mauritius were collected just before sunrise, suggesting that *P. griffithsi* is, at least partly, a nocturnal species.

**Color and morphology of live animals** (Figs 40, 41). No picture of live animals was available for specimens from Kavieng. The description of the color of live animals is based on Mauritius and Kei individuals. The dorsal notum is greenish brown, light to dark, mottled with darker and lighter areas. The color of the dorsal papillae varies as that of the background itself, but dorsal papillae can also be yellowish-greenish. The ventral surface (foot and hyponotum) varies from whitish to yellowish and can change rapidly in any given individual. The ocular tentacles are brown-grey, like the head. The



**Figure 40.** Live animals, *Peronia griffithsi*, Mauritius **A** dorsal view, 20 mm long [3153] (MNHN-IM-2019-1608) **B** dorsal view, 17 mm long [3155] (MNHN-IM-2019-1608) **C** dorsal view, 8 mm long [3606] (MNHN-IM-2019-1608) **D** holotype, ventral view, 15 mm long [3157 H] (MNHN-IM-2000-35265) **E** ventral view, 22 mm long [3154] (MNHN-IM-2019-1608).



**Figure 41.** Live animals, *Peronia griffithsi*, Indonesia, Kei Islands **A** dorsal view, 18 mm long [2934] (UMIZ 00177) **B** dorsal view, 17 mm long [2936] (UMIZ 00176) **C** dorsal view, 25 mm long [3566] (UMIZ 00177) **D** ventral view, same as **A**.



**Figure 42.** Digestive system, dorsal view, *Peronia griffithsi*, with intestinal loops of type V **A** holotype, Mauritius [3157 H] (MNHN-IM-2000-35265) **B** Mauritius [3153] (MNHN-IM-2019-1608) **C** Indonesia, Kei Islands [2936] (UMIZ 00176). Scale bars: 2 mm (**A–C**). Abbreviations: ddg dorsal digestive gland, i intestine, pdg posterior digestive gland, st stomach.



**Figure 43.** Radula, *Peronia griffithsi*, Indonesia, Kei Islands, [3566] (UMIZ 00177) **A** rachidian and innermost lateral teeth **B** rachidian and lateral teeth **C** lateral teeth **D** outermost lateral teeth. Scale bars:  $20 \ \mu m$  (**A**),  $30 \ \mu m$  (**B**),  $40 \ \mu m$  (**C**),  $10 \ \mu m$  (**D**).



**Figure 44.** Radula, *Peronia griffithsi*, Mauritius **A** holotype [3157 H] (MNHN-IM-2000-35265) **B–D** [3153] (MNHN-IM-2019-1608) **A** right half rows of teeth **B** rachidian and lateral teeth **C** lateral teeth **D** outermost lateral teeth. Scale bars: 100  $\mu$ m (**A**), 10  $\mu$ m (**B**, **D**), 60  $\mu$ m (**D**).



**Figure 45.** Posterior, hermaphroditic (female) reproductive system, *Peronia griffithsi* **A** holotype, Mauritius [3157 H] (MNHN-IM-2000-35265) **B** Indonesia, Kei Islands [2936] (UMIZ 00176). Scale bars: 1 mm (**A**), 2 mm (**B**). Abbreviations: dd deferent duct, fgm female gland mass, hg hermaphroditic gland, ov oviduct, rs receptaculum seminis, sp spermatheca.



**Figure 46.** Anterior, male, copulatory apparatus, *Peronia griffithsi* **A** holotype, Mauritius [3157 H] (MNHN-IM-2000-35265) **B** Indonesia, Kei Islands [2936] (UMIZ 00176). Scale bars: 1 mm (**A**, **B**). Abbreviations: ag accessory penial gland, dd deferent duct, ms muscular sac, ps penial sheath, rm retractor muscle, v vestibule.

dorsal notum of live animals is covered by dozens of papillae of various sizes. Some papillae bear black dorsal eyes at their tip. The number of papillae with dorsal eyes is variable (from 6 to 10). The largest specimens are 25 mm long.

**Digestive system** (Figs 42–44). Examples of radular formulae are presented in Table 5. The median cusp of the rachidian teeth is approximately 35  $\mu$ m long. The hook of the lateral teeth is approximately 70  $\mu$ m long. The intestinal loops are of type V.

**Reproductive system** (Figs 45–48). In the anterior (male) parts, the muscular sac of the accessory penial gland is less than 5 mm long. The hollow spine of the accessory penial gland is narrow, elongated, and straight or slightly curved, and its shape (including at its tip) varies between individuals. Its length is 0.62 mm ([2934] UMIZ 00177) in unit Kei and ranges from 0.5 mm ([3157 H] MNHN-IM-2000-35265) to 0.61 mm ([3153] MNHN-IM-2019-1608) in Mauritius. Its diameter at the conical base ranges from 60 to 65  $\mu$ m. Its diameter at the tip ranges from 15 to 20  $\mu$ m. The



**Figure 47.** Penis and penial hooks, *Peronia griffithsi* **A–D** Indonesia, Kei Islands [2936] (UMIZ 00176) **E, G** holotype, Mauritius [3157 H] (MNHN-IM-2000-35265) **F** Mauritius [3156] (MNHN-IM-2019-1608) **H** [3153] (MNHN-IM-2019-1608). Scale bars: 3 μm (**A**), 2 μm (**B**, **H**), 20 μm (**C**, **F**), 10 μm (**D**), 40 μm (**E**), 4 μm (**G**).

retractor muscle is shorter or longer than the penial sheath and inserts near the heart. Inside the penial sheath, the penis is a narrow, elongated, soft, hollow tube. Its distal end bears conical hooks which are less than  $25 \,\mu$ m long.

**Diagnostic features** (Table 4). *Peronia griffithsi* is characterized by a unique combination of anatomical traits: intestinal loops of type V, muscular sac of the accessory penial gland less than 5 mm long, spine of the accessory penial gland less than 0.62 mm long. In *P. platei* and *P. setoensis*, which are anatomically similar to *P. griffithsi*, the spine of the accessory penial gland is longer than 0.7 mm (*P. platei*) and 0.9 mm (*P. setoensis*).



**Figure 48.** Accessory penial gland spine, *Peronia griffithsi* **A** holotype, Mauritius [3157 H] (MNHN-IM-2000-35265) **B** Mauritius [3153] (MNHN-IM-2019-1608) **C** Indonesia, Kei [2934] (UMIZ 00177) **D** same as **A**; **E** Mauritius [3156] (MNHN-IM-2019-1608) **F** same as **C**. Scale bars: 100 μm (**A–C**), 5 μm (**D–F**).

**Remarks.** A new species name is needed because no existing name applies to the species described here. A large population (161 specimens) from Kei Islands and identified by Hoffmann as *Onchidium verruculatum* was found in the collections of the Copenhagen Museum (NHMD 635303). Those specimens most likely belong to *P. griffithsi* because their intestinal loops are of type V (only a few individuals were dissected). Also, the retractor muscle of the few individuals dissected inserts near the end of the visceral cavity, as in specimens from Mauritius, suggesting that an insertion near the heart is not as common. Interestingly, Hoffmann (1928: 44) did not include those specimens in his list of material for *O. verruculatum*, possibly because he realized that they were different from *O. verruculatum*, with intestinal loops of type I.

*Peronia sydneyensis* Dayrat & Goulding, sp. nov. http://zoobank.org/7B0A9ED7-421A-4FF0-A7CE-20473AF249C1 Figs 49–58

**Type material.** *Holotype.* AUSTRALIA • holotype, hereby designated, 30/20 mm [1516 H]; New South Wales, Sydney, Pittwater, Church Point; 33°39.107'S, 151°17.363'E;



**Figure 49.** Habitats, *Peronia sydneyensis* **A** Australia, New South Wales, sand, next to a small patch of mangrove, and rocks on sandy beach (st 39, type locality) **B** Australia, Queensland, *Rhizophora*, across Doughty's creek, coarse sandy area (st 118) **C** Australia, Queensland, *Sonneratia*, rocks on beach near a *Rhizophora* and *Avicennia* mangrove (st 119) **D** Australia, Queensland, by boat ramp, mangrove margin with large rocks by creek (st 121) **E** New Caledonia, intertidal sandy coral rubble flat in front of a mangrove (st KM 524) **F** New Caledonia, landlocked coastal mangrove, small pocket of *Rhizophora* and *Avicennia* with a large brackish pool set behind a stony beach (st KM 539) **G** New Caledonia, muddy intertidal rocky flat in front of mangroves (st KM 538).



Figure 50. Live animals, *Peronia sydneyensis* A holotype, dorsal view, 30 mm long [1516 H], Australia, New South Wales (AM C.468916.001) B dorsal view, 15 mm long [2664], Australia, Queensland (MTQ) C dorsal view, 9 mm long [2646], Australia, Queensland (MTQ) D dorsal view, 50 mm long [2661], Australia, Queensland (MTQ) E ventral view, 15 mm long [2662], Australia, Queensland (MTQ) F Ventral view, 6 mm long [2667], Australia, Queensland (MTQ) G Ventral view, same as B.

24 Nov 2011; B Dayrat, R Golding & WF Ponder leg.; st 39, sand, next to a small patch of mangrove, and rocks on sandy beach; AM C.468916.001.

Additional material examined. AUSTRALIA – New South Wales • 1 specimen 23/15 mm [1517]; same collection data as for the holotype; AM C.468915.001. • 1 specimen 16/12 mm [1513]; same collection data as for the holotype; AM C.468912.004. – Queensland • 1 specimen 20/17 mm [1539]; Shoalwater Bay, off Canoe Passage between Townshend & Marquis Islands; 22°18.235'S, 150°27.543'E; 9 & 10 Sep 2002; I Loch, DL Beechey & AC Miller leg.; st M2002/52, rocky shoal with coarse muddy sand; AM C.459510. • 2 specimens 30/20 [1540] mm and 20/20 mm [734]; Port Clinton, beach SW of Mt Flinders; 22°32.76'S, 150°45.54'E; 1 Sep 2002; I Loch, DL Beechey & AC Miller leg.; under and on rocks, sheltered muddy sand shore; AM C.459511. • 1 specimen 50/30 mm [2680]; Mackay, Campwin Beach; 21°22.455'S,


Figure 51. Live animals, *Peronia sydneyensis*, New Caledonia A dorsal view, 12 mm long [6189] (MNHN-IM-2019-1594) B dorsal view, 41 mm long [6195] (MNHN-IM-2019-1595) C dorsal view, 26 mm long [6222] (MNHN-IM-2019-1599) D dorsal view, 33 mm long [6209] (MNHN-IM-2019-1596) E ventral view, same as A; F ventral view, same as B; G ventral view, same as D.

149°18.753'E; 5 Jul 2013; TC Goulding and field party leg.; st 121, by boat ramp, mangrove margin with large rocks by creek, *Rhizophora* and soft mud; MTQ. • 1 specimen 10/6 mm [2653]; Bowen, Doughty Creek; 20°01.376'S, 148°14.351'E; 2 Jul 2013; TC Goulding and field party leg.; st 118, across Doughty's creek, coarse sandy area; MTQ. • 1 specimen 12/9 mm [2656]; same collection data as for the preceding; MTQ. • 1 specimen 50/30 mm [2661]; Bowen; 20°01.478'S, 148°14.224'E; 3 Jul 2013; TC Goulding and field party leg.; st 119, rocks on beach near a *Rhizophora* and *Avicennia* mangrove; MTQ. • 1 specimen 15/10 mm [2662]; same collection data as for the preceding; MTQ. • 1 specimen 15/10 mm [2664]; same collection data as for the preceding; MTQ. • 1 specimen 6/4 mm [2667]; same collection data as for the preceding; MTQ. • 1 specimen 6/4 mm [2667]; same collection data as for the preceding; MTQ. • 1 specimen 9/6 mm [2646]; Bowen, Doughty Creek; 20°01.264'S, 148°14.345'E; 2 Jul 2013; TC Goulding and field party leg.; st 117, narrow *Avicennia* and *Rhizophora* mangrove, by creek, some muddy areas and some very sandy; MTQ.



**Figure 52.** Digestive system, dorsal view, *Peronia sydneyensis*. The arrow indicates the orientation of the transitional loop **A** holotype, Australia, New South Wales, [1516 H] (AM C.468916.001) **B** Australia, New South Wales, [1517] (AM C.468915.001) **C** Australia, Queensland, [2680] (MTQ) **D** New Caledonia, [6195] (MNHN-IM-2019-1595) **E** New Caledonia, [6209] (MNHN-IM-2019-1596). Scale bars: 4 mm (**A**, **C**), 3 mm (**B**, **D**, **E**). Abbreviations: ddg dorsal digestive gland, i intestine, pdg posterior digestive gland, st stomach.

NEW CALEDONIA • 1 specimen 12/7 mm [6189]; Baie de Taaré; 22°15.286'S, 167°00.808'E; 19 Sep 2018; Our Planet Reviewed Koumac 2018 expedition leg.; st KM524, intertidal sandy coral rubble flat in front of mangroves; MNHN-



**Figure 53.** Radula, *Peronia sydneyensis*, Australia, New South Wales **A–D** holotype [1516 H] (AM C.468916.001) **E**, **F** [1517] (AM C.468915.001) **A** rachidian and innermost lateral teeth **B** lateral teeth **C** lateral teeth **D** lateral and outermost lateral teeth **E** rachidian and innermost lateral teeth **F** rachidian and lateral teeth. Scale bars: 20 μm (**A**, **C**, **E**), 50 μm (**D**), 100 μm (**B**, **F**).

IM-2019-1594. • 1 specimen 41/25 mm [6195]; same collection data as for the preceding; MNHN-IM-2019-1595. • 1 specimen 33/19 mm [6209]; Nouméa, Pointe des Dorades; 22°11.507'S, 166°25.951'E; 22 Sep 2018; Our Planet Reviewed Koumac 2018 expedition leg.; st KM530, firm mud amongst muddy rocks and gravel in front of a seaward fringing Rhizophora forest; MNHN-IM-2019-1596. • 1 specimen 21/12 mm [6213]; Pointe Sauveur, Presqu'île de Ouano; 21°52.006'S, 165°49.195'E; 26 Sep 2018; Our Planet Reviewed Koumac 2018 expedition leg.; st KM538, muddy intertidal rocky flat in front of mangroves; MNHN-IM-2019-1597. • 1 specimen 25/11 mm [6220]; Pointe Vidoire, Bourail; 21°37.572'S, 165°27.595'E; 27 Sep 2018; Our Planet Reviewed Koumac 2018 expedition leg.; st KM539, landlocked coastal



**Figure 54.** Radula, *Peronia sydneyensis* **A**, **B** Australia, Queensland **C–F** New Caledonia **A** lateral teeth, [2680] (MTQ) **B** rachidian and innermost lateral teeth, [2680] (MTQ) **C** rachidian and innermost lateral teeth, [6189] (MNHN-IM-2019-1594) **D** lateral and outermost lateral teeth, [6189] (MNHN-IM-2019-1594) **E** lateral teeth, [6195] (MNHN-IM-2019-1595) **F** lateral teeth, [6220] (MNHN-IM-2019-1598). Scale bars: 100 μm (**A**), 20 μm (**B–D**), 40 μm (**E**), 10 μm (**F**).

mangrove, small pocket of *Rhizophora stylosa* and *Avicennia marina* with a large brackish pool set behind a stony beach; MNHN-IM-2019-1598. • 1 specimen 26/16 mm [6222]; same collection data as for the preceding; MNHN-IM-2019-1599.

**Distribution** (Fig. 6). Southern West Pacific: New South Wales (type locality) and Queensland (up to 20°S), Australia, and New Caledonia.

**Etymology.** *Peronia sydneyensis* is named after its type locality in Sydney, New South Wales, Australia: *sydneyensis* is a latinized adjective that agrees in gender (feminine) with the generic name (ICZN 1999: Article 31.2).



**Figure 55.** Posterior, hermaphroditic (female) reproductive system, *Peronia sydneyensis* **A** holotype, Australia, New South Wales, [1516 H] (AM C.468916.001) **B** New Caledonia, [6195] (MNHN-IM-2019-1595). Scale bars: 2 mm (**A**, **B**). Abbreviations: dd deferent duct, fgm female gland mass, hg hermaphroditic gland, ov oviduct, rs receptaculum seminis, sp spermatheca

**Habitat** (Fig. 49). Unlike most other *Peronia* species, which are found in the rocky intertidal, *P. sydneyensis* is primarily found on muddy or coarse sand.

**Color and morphology of live animals** (Figs 50, 51). The dorsal notum is greenish brown, light to dark, mottled with darker and lighter areas. The color of the dorsal papillae varies as that of the background itself. The ventral surface (foot and hyponotum) varies from whitish to dark grey, including yellowish, bluish, and greenish, and can change rapidly in any given individual. The ocular tentacles are brown-grey, like the head. The dorsal notum of live animals is covered by dozens of papillae of various sizes. Some papillae bear black dorsal eyes at their tip. The number of papillae with dorsal eyes is variable (from 8 to 16). The largest specimens are 30 mm long (New South Wales), 50 mm long (Queensland), and 41 mm long (New Caledonia).

**Digestive system** (Figs 52–54). Examples of radular formulae are presented in Table 5. The median cusp of the rachidian teeth is approximately 40  $\mu$ m long. The hook of the lateral teeth is approximately 80  $\mu$ m long. The intestinal loops are of type I, with a transitional loop oriented between 3 and 6 o'clock; exceptionally, the transitional loop is oriented at 2 o'clock.

**Reproductive system** (Figs 55–58). In the anterior (male) parts, the muscular sac of the accessory penial gland is less than 10 mm long. The hollow spine of the accessory penial gland is narrow, elongated, and straight or slightly curved, and its shape (includ-



**Figure 56.** Anterior, male, copulatory apparatus, *Peronia sydneyensis* **A** holotype, Australia, New South Wales, [1516 H] (AM C.468916.001) **B** New Caledonia, [6195] (MNHN-IM-2019-1595). Scale bars: 3 mm (**A**, **B**). Abbreviations: ag accessory penial gland, dd deferent duct, ms muscular sac, ps penial sheath, rm retractor muscle, v vestibule.

ing at its tip) varies between individuals. Its length ranges from 0.6 mm ([2680] MTQ) to 1 mm ([2661] MTQ). Its diameter at the conical base ranges from 90 to 100  $\mu$ m. Its diameter at the tip measures 20–50  $\mu$ m. The retractor muscle is shorter or longer than the penial sheath and inserts near the heart. Inside the penial sheath, the penis is a narrow, elongated, soft, hollow tube. Its distal end bears conical hooks which are less than 30  $\mu$ m long.

**Diagnostic features** (Table 4). *Peronia sydneyensis* is characterized by unique and distinctive protuberances on the spine of the accessory penial gland (Fig. 58). These strong protuberances were observed in all individuals. Protuberances can also be observed (as exceptional cases) in other species but they are always much smaller in size (Figs 37D, 104B, 105F). In addition, *Peronia sydneyensis* is characterized by a



**Figure 57.** Penis and penial hooks, *Peronia sydneyensi* **A** holotype, [1516 H], Australia, New South Wales (AM C.468916.001) **B** same as **A**; **C** [2680], Australia, Queensland (MTQ) **D** same as **C**; **E** [6220], New Caledonia (MNHN-IM-2019-1598) **F** [6195], New Caledonia (MNHN-IM-2019-1595) **G** same as **F**. Scale bars: 100  $\mu$ m (**A**), 10  $\mu$ m (**B**, **G**), 20  $\mu$ m (**C**), 5  $\mu$ m (**D**), 80  $\mu$ m (**E**), 4  $\mu$ m (**F**).

unique combination of anatomical traits: intestinal loops of type I (with a transitional loop oriented between 3 and 6 o'clock), retractor muscle inserting at the posterior end of the visceral cavity, spine of the accessory penial gland less than 1 mm long.



**Figure 58.** Accessory penial gland spine, *Peronia sydneyensis* **A–C**, **G–I** New Caledonia **D, J** Australia, New South Wales **E, F, K, L** Australia, Queensland **A** [6209] (MNHN-IM-2019-1596) **B** [6213] (MNHN-IM-2019-1597) **C** [6222] (MNHN-IM-2019-1599) **D** holotype, [1516 H] (AM C.468916.001) **E** [2661] (MTQ) **F** [2664] (MTQ) **G** same as **A**; **H** same as **B**; **I** same as **C**; **J** same as **D**; **K** same as **E**; **L** same as **F**. Scale bars: 100 μm (**A–F**), 10 μm (**G–I, K**), 6 μm (**J, L**).

*Peronia sydneyensis* is distinct anatomically from *P. willani*, with which it is most closely related (Figs 2–4), and from *P. verruculata*, with which it overlaps geographically in Queensland and New Caledonia (Fig. 6).

**Remarks.** A new species name is needed because no existing name applies to the species described here. The records of Onchidium verruculatum from New South Wales (Bretnall 1919: 310; Dakin 1947: 144; Smith and Kershaw 1979: 92; Hutchings and Recher 1982: 119; Hyman 1999) are most likely records of Peronia sydneyensis, the only Peronia species known in New South Wales based on current data (Fig. 6). Some of these records (or even all of them) could be a combination of both *P. sydneyensis* and *P. verruculata*: the southernmost locality of *P. verruculata* (unit #1) is in MacKay, Queensland (21°22'S), but given that *P. verruculata* tolerates colder waters in Japan (up to at least 33°40'N), it is possible that it is also present in New South Wales. Peronia sydneyensis was collected only in Sydney (33°39'S), but it is not excluded that both species are sympatric as far south as Sydney. Additional fresh material between southern Queensland and New South Wales is needed to determine more precisely the geographic range of each species. Note that the intestinal loops of type II by Hyman (1999: fig. 7B) illustrate the digestive system of a misidentified individual (most likely Paromoionchis daemelii, easily confused in the field with Peronia sydneyensis). Finally, note that the specimen [734] (AM C.459511) was tentatively referred to as *Peronia* sp. 3 by Dayrat et al. (2011).

## Peronia willani Dayrat & Goulding, sp. nov.

http://zoobank.org/FE5553D0-C9E2-4C5A-80D7-08A8C0AFC46A Figs 59–64

**Type material.** *Holotype.* AUSTRALIA • holotype, hereby designated, 50/35 mm [1628 H]; Northern Territory, Darwin, Talc Head; 12°28.765'S, 130°46.297'E; 15 Aug 2012; B Dayrat and field party leg.; station 62, large and open forest of *Sonneratia alba* with soft mud; NTM P.57625.

Additional material examined. AUSTRALIA • 4 specimens 65/45 mm [1620], 18/14 mm [1653], 60/50 mm [1654], and 35/25 mm [1655]; Northern Territory, Darwin, on the right side of the road just before bridge to Channel Island; 12°33.228'S, 130°52.580'E; 14 Aug 2012; B Dayrat and field party leg.; station 61, *Avicennia* mangrove with sandy mud; NTM P.57626. • 9 specimens 35/25 mm [1667], 60/50 mm [1623], 40/25 mm [1668], 22/18 mm [1669], 8/5 mm [1624], 10/7 mm [1625], 15/10 mm [1670], 60/40 mm [1626], and 15/12 mm [1629]; same collection data as for the holotype; NTM P.57627.

Additional material examined (historical museum collections). AUSTRALIA • 1 specimen 38/30 mm; Northern Territory, Port Darwin; Mac Leay leg.; 12°30'S, 130°50'E; 1 Jan 1881; SMNH 180715.

Distribution (Fig. 6). Endemic to Darwin, Northern Territory, Australia.

**Etymology.** *Peronia willani* is named after Richard Willan, senior curator of mollusks at the Museum and Art Gallery of the Northern Territory, Darwin, Australia, who kindly and generously helped us during our field expedition around Darwin.

**Habitat** (Fig. 59). Unlike most other *Peronia* species, which are usually found in the rocky intertidal, *P. willani* is primarily found on sandy mud or even directly on mud.



**Figure 59.** Habitats, *Peronia willani*, Australia, Northern Territory **A** large and open forest of *Sonneratia alba* with soft mud (st 62, type locality) **B** *Avicennia* mangrove with sandy mud (st 61) **C** view from the bridge to Channel Island, same as **B**.

**Color and morphology of live animals** (Fig. 60). The color of the dorsal notum is highly variable, from nearly whitish to dark brown and greenish, most often mottled with darker and lighter areas. The color of the dorsal papillae varies as that of the back-ground itself, but dorsal papillae can also be lighter (yellowish-greenish) than the back-ground. The ventral surface (foot and hyponotum) varies from whitish (almost transparent) to yellowish and can change rapidly in any given individual. Occasionally, a black ring is present on the hyponotum around the pedal sole. The ocular tentacles are brown-grey, like the head. The dorsal notum of live animals is covered by dozens of papillae of various sizes. Some papillae bear black dorsal eyes at their tip. The number of papillae with dorsal eyes is variable (from 10 to 25). The largest specimens are 65 mm long.



**Figure 60.** Live animals, *Peronia willani*, Australia, Northern Territory **A** holotype, dorsal view, 50 mm long [1628 H] (NTM P57625) **B** dorsal view, 35 mm long [1655] (NTM P57626) **C** dorsal view, 65 mm long [1620] (NTM P57626) **D** dorsal view, 40 mm long [1668] (NTM P57627) **E** dorsal view, 15 mm long [1670] (NTM P57627) **F** dorsal view, 15 mm long [1629] (NTM P57627) **G** ventral view, same as **A**; **H** ventral view, 60 mm long [1626] (NTM P57627) **I** ventral view, 10 mm long [1625] (NTM P57627) **J** ventral view, 18 mm long [1653] (NTM P57626).



**Figure 61.** *Peronia willani*, Australia, Northern Territory, holotype [1628 H] (NTM P.57625) **A** digestive system, dorsal view, the arrow indicates the orientation of the transitional loop **B** posterior, hermaphroditic (female) reproductive system **C** anterior, male, copulatory apparatus. Scale bars: 5 mm (**A**, **C**), 4 mm (**B**). Abbreviations: ag accessory penial gland, dd deferent duct, ddg dorsal digestive gland, fgm female gland mass, hg hermaphroditic gland, i intestine, ms muscular sac, ov oviduct, pdg posterior digestive gland, ps penial sheath, rm retractor muscle, rs receptaculum seminis, sp spermatheca, st stomach, v vestibule.



**Figure 62.** Radula, *Peronia willani*, Australia, Northern Territory **A** holotype [1628 H] (NTM P.57625) **B–E** [1668] (NTM P.57627) **F** [1620] (NTM P.57626) **G** [1626] (NTM P.57627) **A** left half rows of teeth **B** rachidian and innermost lateral teeth **C** rachidian and innermost lateral teeth **D** outermost lateral teeth **E** lateral teeth **F** outermost lateral teeth **G** outermost lateral teeth. Scale bars: 200  $\mu$ m (**A**), 20  $\mu$ m (**B**, **D**, **G**), 60  $\mu$ m (**C**, **F**), 100  $\mu$ m (**E**).



**Figure 63.** Penial hooks, *Peronia willani*, Australia, Northern Territory **A** holotype, [1628 H] (NTM P.57625) **B** same as **A**; **C** [1620] (NTM P.57626) **D** [1626] (NTM P.57627) **E** same as **C**; **F** same as **D**. Scale bars: 40 μm (**A**), 4 μm (**B**, **E**, **F**), 60 μm (**C**, **D**).



**Figure 64.** Accessory penial gland spine, *Peronia willani*, Australia, Northern Territory **A**, **C** holotype, [1628 H] (NTM P.57625) **B**, **D** [1620] (NTM P.57626). Scale bars: 300 µm (**A**, **B**), 20 µm (**C**, **D**).

**Digestive system** (Figs 61A, 62). Examples of radular formulae are presented in Table 5. The median cusp of the rachidian teeth is approximately 30  $\mu$ m long. The hook of the lateral teeth is approximately 100  $\mu$ m long. The intestinal loops are of type I, with the transitional loop oriented between 3 to 6 o'clock.

**Reproductive system** (Figs 61B, C, 63, 64). In the anterior (male) parts, the muscular sac of the accessory penial gland is less than 25 mm long. The hollow spine of the accessory penial gland is narrow, elongated, and straight or slightly curved, and its shape (including at its tip) varies between individuals. Its length ranges from 1.5 mm ([1620] NTM P.57626) to 1.9 mm ([1628 H] NTM P.57625). Its diameter at the conical base ranges from 240 to 250  $\mu$ m. Its diameter at the tip ranges from 80 to 100  $\mu$ m. The retractor muscle is shorter or longer than the penial sheath and inserts near the heart. Inside the penial sheath, the penis is a narrow, elongated, soft, hollow tube. Its distal end bears conical hooks which are less than 37  $\mu$ m long.

**Diagnostic features** (Table 4). *Peronia willani* is characterized by a unique combination of anatomical traits: intestinal loops of type I (with a transitional loop oriented between 3 and 6 o'clock), retractor muscle inserting at the posterior end of the visceral cavity, muscular sac up to 25 mm, spine of the accessory penial gland between 1.5 and 1.9 mm long. *Peronia willani* is anatomically distinct from *P. sydneyensis*, with which it is most closely related (Figs 2–4), and from *P. verruculata*, from which it is close geographically (Fig. 6).

**Remarks.** A new species name is needed because no existing name applies to the species described here. A specimen from Darwin, Northern Territory, preserved in Stockholm (SMNH 180715) identified as *O. verruculatum* by Hoffmann (1928: 73) is identified here as *P. willani* because of its massive (18 mm long) muscular sac (Table 4). Also, to our knowledge, *P. verruculata* is not present in Northern Territory (Fig. 6).

## Peronia verruculata (Cuvier, 1830)

Figs 65-109

- Onchidium verruculatum Cuvier, 1830: 281; Semper 1880: 255–257, pl. 22, figs 3, 4; 1882: pl. 21, fig. 1 [only in part]; Bergh 1884a: 148–151, pl. VII, figs 7–12, pl. VIII, fig. 14; Farran 1905: 358–359, pl. VI, figs 13–22; Odhner 1919: 23; Hoffmann 1928: 44, 72–75 [only in part].
- *Peronia verruculata* (Cuvier, 1830): Keferstein 1865a: pl. CIV, figs 9–12; Britton 1984: 183–184, fig. 2 [only in part]; Sun et al. 2014: 63; Liu et al. 2015: 753–754; Chang et al. 2018: 149–165, figs 1–8; Xu et al. 2018: 3.
- Onchidium ferrugineum Lesson, 1831a: 128–130; Lesson 1831b: 300–302; Lesson 1832: 36–37, fig. 32.
- *Peronia ferruginea* (Lesson, 1831a): Lesson 1833: 3 pp. with no pagination, pl. 19, figs 1, 2; Oken 1834b: 269–270; Gray 1850: 117; Adams and Adams 1855: 235; Tapparone Canefri 1883: 214.

Peronia savignii Récluz, 1869: 61. Syn. nov.

*Peronia mauritiana*: Mörch 1872a: 28; 1872b: 325 [non *Peronia mauritiana* Blainville, 1824].

- *Onchidium branchiferum* Plate, 1893: 141, 183–185, pl. 11, figs 63, 64; Hoffmann 1928: 68, 75. Syn. nov.
- Peronia branchifera (Plate, 1893): Labbé 1934a: 194.

Onchidium elberti Simroth, 1920: 297-298, pl. XX, figs 51-54.

Onchidium astridae Labbé, 1934b: 77-78, figs 18, 38, pl. I, fig. 5. Syn. nov.

Scaphis astridae (Labbé, 1934b): Labbé 1934a: 213, fig. 46.

Peronia gaimardi Labbé, 1934a: 194-195, fig. 8. Syn. nov.

Peronia anomala Labbé, 1934a: 195-196. Syn. nov.

- Paraperonia gondwanae Labbé, 1934a: 199–200, figs 19–22 [only in part]. Syn. nov.
- Scaphis viridis Labbé, 1934a: 207-208, figs 31-34. Syn. nov.

Scaphis carbonaria Labbé, 1934a: 208–209, figs 35, 36. Syn. nov.

Scaphis gravieri Labbé, 1934a: 209–211, figs 37–40. Syn. nov.

- Scaphis tonkinensis Labbé, 1934a: 211–212, figs 41–43. Syn. nov.
- Scaphis lata Labbé, 1934a: 212, figs 44-45. Syn. nov.

Onchidium durum Labbé, 1934a: 220-221, figs 55-57. Syn. nov.

Peronia sp. ("group V"): Tagaki et al. 2019: 34.

Peronia persiae Maniei et al. 2020a: 507-514, figs 2-10. Syn. nov.

Type material. *Lectotype* (O. verruculatum). RED SEA • lectotype, hereby designated, 30/26 mm; [locality not specified in the original description but most likely from the Red Sea]; MNHN-IM-2000-22941. One paralectotype was not found at the MNHN. Cuvier (1830: 46) did not accompany the name Onchidium verruculatum with a description but referred to a series of eight drawings by Savigny (1817: pl. 2, figs 3.1–3.8) in the famous Description de l'Egypte ("Descr. de l'Eg., moll. gaster., pl. II, f. 3"). For a collation of the Description de l'Egypte, including the text by Audouin (1826), see Baring (1838) and Sherborn (1897). Cuvier's reference to Savigny's illustrations is an indication (ICZN 1999: Article 12.2). Onchidium verruculatum is available and the type series consists of the specimens illustrated by Savigny (ICZN 1999: Article 72.4). Savigny illustrated two individuals which could belong to two distinct species given that there are (at least) two Peronia species in the Red Sea. One specimen (figs 3.1, 3.2) is much smaller than the other (fig. 3.3). One of the two individuals illustrated by Savigny is preserved at the MNHN in a jar with a label reading: "Savigny Description Egypte, Mer Rouge [Red Sea], syntype, pl. 2, fig. 3" (MNHN-IM-2000-22941). The specimen preserved at the MNHN looks like the individual illustrated on Savigny's figures 3.1, 3.2. The ventral surface (fig. 3.2) looks exactly like the MNHN specimen (without the male parts outside, which were subsequently removed). The figure 3.3 illustrates a much larger individual which could not be located. No information was provided on sizes, except that the illustrations were of "natural length" (figures 3.1, 3.2) and "likely of natural length" (figure 3.3) according to Audouin (1826: 19). Given that it is unclear whether Savigny (unknowingly) illustrated one or two species, it is appropriate to designate the specimen preserved at the MNHN as the lectotype (MNHN-IM-2000-22941). The animals illustrated by Savigny (1817) were not accompanied by any species name, but they were named and described ten years later by Audouin (1826: 18-20) who referred to the figures 3.1-3.8 on Savigny's plate 2



**Figure 65.** Habitats, *Peronia verruculata* (unit #1) **A** Singapore **B–H** Indonesia **A** Mangrove forest with rich litter, lobster mounds, dead logs, with sand area near the creek (st 5) **B** Sumatra, coral rubble on beach exposed to estuary (st 78) **C** Sulawesi, old *Sonneratia* and *Avicennia* mangrove (st 84) **D** Ambon, narrow band of old *Avicennia* trees on sandy mud, old logs on ground (st 132) **E** Seram, mud next to a mangrove (st 135) **F** Lombok, old *Avicennia* forest with coral rubble (st 149) **G** Halmahera, rocky shore near a beach (st 217) **H** Timor, sandy part of mangrove with *Sonneratia* and *Avicennia* trees (st 250).

as Onchidium peronii. Interestingly, Audouin (1826: 19, our translation) wrote that this identification was suggested to him by Cuvier himself: "Mr. Cuvier, to whom we communicated Mr. Savigny's drawing, believed he recognized Péron's onchidie."



Figure 66. Habitats, *Peronia verruculata* (unit #1) A Australia, Queensland, rocky shore nearby a small and dense *Rhizophora* mangrove patch (st 113) B New Caledonia, coastal rocky mangrove (st KM 537)
C Papua New Guinea, New Ireland, mixed hard platform and seagrass bed at outlet of rivulet (st KM 05)
D Papua New Guinea, Madang, limestone rocky intertidal (st PM 12) E Vietnam, mangrove patch with many big flat rocks outside (st 236) F Vietnam, coral rubble near small *Rhizophora* sandy and muddy mangrove (st 238) G Philippines, Bohol, coral rubble with sand and algae, near *Sonneratia* (st 202) H sandy, open *Avicennia* forest, right by the shore (st 181).

Cuvier likely changed his mind and later decided that, for some reason, the specimens illustrated by Savigny were a distinct species he called *Onchidium verruculatum*. The lectotype is still well preserved, considering how old it is. The radula and the posterior



**Figure 67.** Habitats, *Peronia vertuculata* (unit #2) **A** India, South Andaman, rocky shore with a patch of *Rhizophora*, sand and coral rubble but no mud (st 53) **B** India, South Andaman, rocky shore only, no mangrove (st 54) **C** India, South Andaman, sandy beach with coral rubble (st 53) **D** Indonesia, Sumatra, coral rubble on beach exposed to estuary (st 78) **E** Indonesia, Sumatra, beach with a few rocks (st 82).

(female) reproductive parts are still inside but only the deferens duct remains for the male copulatory parts. Its intestinal loops are of type I (Fig. 86A). The number of papillae with eyes can hardly be counted on the dorsal notum of the lectotype because it has faded (only four papillae with eyes were counted).

*Lectotype* and *paralectotypes* (*Onchidium ferrugineum*). INDONESIA • lectotype, 35/25 mm; havre de Doréry [spelling mistake for Dorey], à la Nouvelle-Guinée [now Manokwari harbor, West Papua]; MNHN-IM-2000-22951. • 2 paralectotypes, 33/20



**Figure 68.** Habitats, *Peronia verruculata* (unit #3) **A** Singapore, rocky shore covered by oyster flats (st 2) **B** slugs on the rocks, same as A (st 2) **C** Singapore, rocks of artificial breakwaters (st 3) **D** Peninsular Malaysia, Langkawi, large boulders on sand beach (st 25).

and 26/18 mm; same collection data as for the lectotype; MNHN-IM-2000-22951. The lectotype was designated by Goulding et al. (2018: 75) to clarify the application of *Onchidium ferrugineum*. The two paralectotypes belong to *Wallaconchis ater* (Lesson, 1831a) because they lack dorsal gills, lack an accessory penial gland, and are characterized by a highly coiled penis. Labbé re-examined four specimens from the original type series but there are only three specimens left in the jar, so one specimen was lost by or after Labbé. The lectotype is well preserved. Its dorsal notum bears obvious gills. Its male opening is located below and to the left of the right ocular tentacle. Pieces of the deferent duct and of the flagellum of the accessory penial gland remain, but the muscular sac and the spine of the accessory gland are missing. The posterior (female) part of the reproductive system is still in place inside the lectotype. Its radula is missing. Its intestinal loops of type I (with a transitional loop at 4 o'clock) are illustrated here (Fig. 80A).

*Lectotype* (*Peronia savignii*). RED SEA • lectotype, hereby designated, 30/26 mm; MNHN-IM-2000-22941. Récluz (1869: 61) created the species name *Peronia savignii* with a reference to Savigny's (1817) illustrations as indication ("Descr. de l'Egypte, pl. II, f. 1–5"). There are only three figures on Savigny's (1817) plate 2. Obviously, Récluz did not mean to refer to *Tritonia* (figs 1.1–1.12) or *Bursatella* (figs 2.1–2.13) but only to *Peronia* (figs 3.1–3.8). There is no easy explanation for the exclusion of



**Figure 69.** Habitats, *Peronia verruculata* **A** unit #4 **B**, **C** unit #5 **A** India, Mumbai, solid rock area, some crevices (st 44) **B** Madagascar, sandy mangrove of *Bruguiera*, on sandy mud in between rocks (st 162) **C** Madagascar, rocky platform near *Avicennia* and *Rhizophora* mangrove (st 158).

figures 3.6–3.8 except that Audouin's (1826) captions for Savigny's (1817) figures 3.1–3.5 are on page 19 and those for figures 3.6–3.8 are on page 20. At any rate, *Peronia savignii* is available and the type series consists of the individuals illustrated by Savigny. The lectotype of *Onchidium verruculatum* (MNHN-IM-2000-22941) is logically part of the type series of *P. savignii* (in fact, a label already indicates that it is a



**Figure 70.** Live animals, dorsal view, *Peronia verruculata* (unit #1), Indonesia **A** 40 mm long [1747], Sumatra (UMIZ 00172) **B** 40 mm long [2987], Lombok (UMIZ 00168) **C** 20 mm long [3080], Bali (UMIZ 00164) **D** 20 mm long [3115], Bali (UMIZ 00165) **E** 45 mm long [2856], Ambon (UMIZ 00163) **F** 40 mm long [2729], Ambon (UMIZ 00162) **G** 50 mm long [2868], Seram (UMIZ 00169) **H** 55 mm long [3441], Seram (UMIZ 00169).

syntype of *P. savignii*). In order to clarify the application of *P. savignii*, the lectotype of *O. verruculatum* is also designated as the lectotype of *P. savignii*, and *P. savignii* remains what it has always been, a junior objective synonym of *O. verruculatum*.



Figure 71. Live animals, dorsal view, *Peronia verruculata* (unit #1) A–E Indonesia F–H Vietnam A 35 mm long [5130], Halmahera (UMIZ 00167) B 40 mm long [5120], Halmahera (UMIZ 00167)
C 50 mm long [5124], Halmahera (UMIZ 00167) D 35 mm long [5927], Timor (UMIZ 00175)
E 45 mm long [5904], Timor (UMIZ 00174) F 60 mm long [5620] (ITBZC IM 00021) G 40 mm long [5621] (ITBZC IM 00021) H 17 mm long [5639] (ITBZC IM 00023).

*Syntypes* (*Onchidium branchiferum*). PHILIPPINES • 2 syntypes, 27/18 and 24/15 mm; Cavite, Manila [Luzon]; ZMB/Moll 11614. Both syntypes were completely dissected prior to the present study, likely by Plate himself, and all internal



**Figure 72.** Live animals, dorsal view, *Peronia veruculata* (unit #1) **A-C** New Caledonia **D-G** Philippines **A** 50 mm long [6202] (MNHN-IM-2019-1591) **B** 73 mm long [6212] (MNHN-IM-2019-1592) **C** 43 mm long [6214] (MNHN-IM-2019-1593) **D** 35 mm long [3437], Bohol (PNM 041276) **E** 50 mm long [3160], Luzon (PNM 041277) **F** 30 mm long [3433], Bohol (PNM 041276) **G** 40 mm long [3161], Luzon (PNM 041277).



Figure 73. Live animals, ventral view, *Peronia verruculata* (unit #1) A−F Indonesia G−I Philippines, Bohol J Vietnam K, L New Caledonia A 45 mm long [2127], Sulawesi (UMIZ 00170) B 60 mm long [2162], Sulawesi (UMIZ 00171) C 50 mm long [5124], Halmahera (UMIZ 00167) D 40 mm long [5120], Halmahera (UMIZ 00167) E 50 mm long [2868], Seram (UMIZ 00169) F 45 mm long [5904], Timor (UMIZ 00174) G 40 mm long [3379] (PNM 041274) H 35 mm long [3380] (PNM 041274) I 30 mm long [3433] (PNM 041276) J 60 mm long [5620] (ITBZC IM 00021) K 50 mm long [6202] (MNHN-IM-2019-1591) L 73 mm long [6212] (MNHN-IM-2019-1592).



Figure 74. Live animals, *Peronia vertuculata* (unit #2) A dorsal view, 50 mm long [1746], Indonesia, Sumatra (UMIZ 00178) B dorsal notum, detail, same as A; C dorsal view, 25 mm long [1741], Indonesia, Sumatra (UMIZ 00179) D dorsal view, 45 mm long [1795], Indonesia, Sumatra (UMIZ 00180) E dorsal view, 30 mm long [1080], India, South Andaman (BNHS 121) F dorsal view, 15 mm long [1079], India, South Andaman (BNHS 121) G Ventral view, same as A; H ventral view, same as D; I ventral view, same as C.

organs are either missing or destroyed. The type of intestinal loops could not be verified. Dorsal gills are present on the notum. The type series also includes six histological slides.



**Figure 75.** Live animals, *Peronia verruculata* (unit #3) **A** dorsal view, 35 mm long [974] at the bottom, 27 mm long [975] at the top, 35 mm long [976] on the left, 27 mm long [977] on the right, Peninsular Malaysia, Langkawi (USMMC 00051 & 00064) **B** dorsal notum, detail [974], Peninsular Malaysia, Langkawi (USMMC 00064) **C** ventral view, 35 mm long [976], Peninsular Malaysia, Langkawi (USMMC 00064) **C** ventral view, 35 mm long [976], Peninsular Malaysia, Langkawi (USMMC 00064) **C** ventral view, 35 mm long [976], Peninsular Malaysia, Langkawi (USMMC 00051) **D** dorsal view, 25 mm long [990], Singapore (ZRC.MOL.10496) **E** ventral view, same as **D**.

*Holotype* (*Onchidium elberti*). INDONESIA • holotype, by monotypy, 24/20 mm; Südost-Celebes, Moena, Raha [now Raha, Muna Island, Sulawesi]; SMF 45248. The holotype was never dissected prior to the present study. The animal is more or less hemispherical. It was carefully opened dorsally to check and illustrate its intestinal loops of type I (Fig. 80B). Dorsal gills are present on the notum.



**Figure 76.** Live animals, *Peronia verruculata* (unit #4), India, Mumbai **A** dorsal view, 55 mm long [1141] (BNHS 22) **B** dorsal view, 60 mm long [1143] (BNHS 24) **C** dorsal view, 60 mm long [1144] (BNHS 23) **D** ventral view, same as **C**.

*Holotype* (*Onchidium astridae*). INDONESIA • holotype, by monotypy, 20/18 mm; Sorong door, Nouvelle-Guinée [Sorong, West Papua]; RBINS I.G.9223/MT.3822. The holotype, clearly labeled as "*Oncidium Astridae* Labbé," was dissected by Labbé for the original description but is relatively well preserved. The radula, the posterior (female) reproductive parts, and the intestinal loops of type I (Fig. 80C) are still in place inside the specimen. Male parts are missing. Dorsal gills are present on the notum (partly cut by Labbé). Note that the locality on the label of the holotype is indicated as Sorong, but with a question mark.

*Lectotype* and *paralectotypes* (*Peronia gaimardi*). SOLOMON ISLANDS • lectotype, hereby designated, 44/27 mm; Vanikoro; 1829; JRC Quoy & JP Gaimard leg.; MNHN-IM-2000-33705. • 1 paralectotype, 35/30 mm; same collection data as for the lectotype; MNHN-IM-2000-33705. The type material also includes a paralectotype from Djibouti which could not be located with certainty (see below). Originally, no jar clearly labeled as the type material of *Peronia gaimardi* was found at the MNHN. The original description of *P. gaimardi* is based on three individuals, two individuals identified as *Onchidium*, from "Vanikoro (Quoy and Gaimard 1829)," and one individual identified as "*Oncidium Peronii*," from "Obock, Récif de Clochettins (Gravier 1904)."



**Figure 77.** Live animals, *Peronia verruculata* (unit #5), Madagascar **A** dorsal view, 30 mm long [3142] (MNHN-IM-2019-1610) **B** dorsal view, 50 mm long [3143] (MNHN-IM-2019-1611) **C** dorsal view, 30 mm long [3146] (MNHN-IM-2019-1611) **D** dorsal view, 30 mm long [3149] (MNHN-IM-2019-1611) **E** dorsal view, 13 mm long [3598] (MNHN-IM-2019-1610) **F** dorsal view, 30 mm long [3600] (MNHN-IM-2019-1611) **G** ventral view, same as **A**; **H** ventral view, same as **C**; **I** ventral view, same as **D**.

The two specimens from Vanikoro were found at the MNHN in a jar with three labels. One old label says "Onchidium [subsequently replaced by Peronia] de Vanikoro, mm Quoy et Gaimard 1829." Another label only says "44" for unknown reasons. And



**Figure 78.** External morphology and nervous system, *Peronia verruculata* (unit #1), Indonesia, Sulawesi [2127] (UMIZ 00170) **A** anterior, ventral view **B** posterior, ventral view, the dotted line shows where the foot normally expands (it was partly cut to illustrate the anus, the peripodial groove, and the female pore) **C** dorsal gills and papillae **D** nervous system, dorsal view. Scale bars: 5 mm (**A**, **B**), 2 mm (**C**), 1 mm (**D**). Abbreviations: a anus, f foot, fo female opening, h hyponotum, lcg left cerebral ganglion, lpg left pedal glanglion, lpg left pleural ganglion, mo male opening, ol oral lobe, ot ocular tentacle, pn pneumostome, ppg peripodial groove, rcg right cerebral ganglion, rpg right pedal glanglion, rplg right pleural ganglion, vg visceral ganglion.

a more recent label says "Peronia Vanikoro, M. Quoy et Gaimard 1829." There is no indication that those two specimens are part of the type series of *P. gaimardi*. However, there is only one jar of specimens collected by "Quoy et Gaimard 1829" from Vanikoro at the MNHN and, given that the size of the largest specimen (42/22 mm) provided by Labbé matches the size of the lectotype designated here, there is little doubt that those



**Figure 79.** Digestive system, *Peronia verruculata* (unit #1), Indonesia, Sulawesi [2127] (UMIZ 00170) **A** dorsal view, the arrow indicates the orientation of the transitional loop **B** ventral view **C** stomach, dorsal view **D** stomach, ventral view. Scale bars: 5 mm (**A**, **B**), 4 mm (**C**, **D**). Abbreviations: ddg dorsal digestive gland, i intestine, ldg lateral digestive gland, oddg opening of the dorsal lobe of the digestive gland, oldg opening of the lateral lobe of the digestive gland, opdg opening of the posterior lobe of the digestive gland, pdg posterior digestive gland, st stomach, st1 first stomach chamber, st2 second stomach chamber, st3 third stomach chamber, st4 fourth stomach chamber.

two individuals from Vanikoro were originally used by Labbé to describe *P. gaimardi*. The lectotype was dissected by Labbé. Its radula and male apparatus are missing. The female parts are still inside the animal. Its intestinal loops of type I are illustrated here (Fig. 80E). Dorsal gills are present on the notum. The paralectotype from Vanikoro was not dissected by Labbé.

As for the paralectotype from Obock, Djibouti, it could not be traced with certainty, which does not matter given that it has no name-bearing function. Based on the original description (Labbé 1934a: 194), the paralectotype from Djibouti was collected



Figure 80. Digestive system, dorsal view, *Peronia verruculata* (unit #1), type specimens. The arrow indicates the orientation of the transitional loop A lectotype, *Onchidium ferrugineum* (MNHN-IM-2000-22951)
B holotype, *Onchidium elberti* (SMF 45248) C holotype, *Scaphis astridae* (RBINS I.G.9223/MT.3822)
D holotype, *Scaphis carbonaria* (MNHN-IM-2000-33708) E lectotype, *Peronia gaimardi* (MNHN-IM-2000-33705) F lectotype, *Scaphis viridis* (MNHN-IM-2000-22964). Scale bars: 4 mm (A–C), 5 mm (D–F). Abbreviations: ddg dorsal digestive gland, i intestine, pdg posterior digestive gland, st stomach.

by Gravier in 1904 at the "Récif de Clochettins, Obock," that it measured 80/57 mm, and that its body was "very flattened." There is a jar at the MNHN with a label saying "Oncidium Peronii, Cuv. Obock M. Gravier 1904 – A Labbé, dét [for "déterminé," i.e., identified] 1933." Another label says "F" for unknown reasons. All the informa-



**Figure 81.** Digestive system, dorsal view, *Peronia verruculata* (unit #1). The arrow indicates the orientation of the transitional loop **A** Palau [698] (UF 253871) **B** Singapore [991] (ZRC.MOL.10497) **C** Australia, Queensland [2622] (MTQ) **D** Philippines, Bohol [3380] (PNM 041274) **E** Philippines, Bohol [3433] (PNM 041276) **F** Japan, Honshu [3751] (NSMT-Mo 78988). Scale bars: 5 mm (**A**, **D–F**), 3 mm (**B**, **C**). Abbreviations: ddg dorsal digestive gland, i intestine, pdg posterior digestive gland, st stomach.

tion on the label matches the information provided by Labbé in the original description of *P. gaimardi*, and the size (80/60 mm) of the specimen perfectly matches the size of the paralectotype of *P. gaimardi*. That specimen is just an empty notum with dorsal gills (all internal organs are missing). However, for two reasons, it is extremely unclear



**Figure 82.** *Peronia verruculata* (unit #2), Indonesia, Sumatra, [1746] (UMIZ 00178) **A** digestive system, dorsal view, the arrow indicates the orientation of the transitional loop **B** posterior, hermaphroditic (female) reproductive system **C** anterior, male, copulatory apparatus. Scale bars: 5 mm (**A**, **C**), 4 mm (**B**). Abbreviations: ag accessory penial gland, dd deferent duct, ddg dorsal digestive gland, fgm female gland mass, hg hermaphroditic gland, i intestine, ms muscular sac, ov oviduct, pdg posterior digestive gland, ps penial sheath, rm retractor muscle, rs receptaculum seminis, sp spermatheca, st stomach, v vestibule.

whether that specimen is the paralectotype of *P. gaimardi* from Obock. First, there is yet a third label (which was covered by the "Obock, Gravier, 1904" label) saying that the specimen was, instead, collected by Jousseaume from the Red Sea ("Mer Rouge").



**Figure 83.** *Peronia verruculata* (unit #3), Peninsular Malaysia, Langkawi, [976] (USMMC 00051) **A** digestive system, dorsal view, the arrow indicates the orientation of the transitional loop **B** posterior, hermaphroditic (female) reproductive system **C** anterior, male, copulatory apparatus. Scale bars: 5 mm (**A**), 3 mm (**B**), 4 mm (**C**). Abbreviations: ag accessory penial gland, dd deferent duct, ddg dorsal digestive gland, fgm female gland mass, hg hermaphroditic gland, i intestine, ms muscular sac, ov oviduct, pdg posterior digestive gland, ps penial sheath, rm retractor muscle, rs receptaculum seminis, sp spermatheca, st stomach, v vestibule.

And, second, Labbé (1934a: 192) listed a specimen from the same locality ("Récif de Clochettein [for Clochettins] (Obock)"), also collected by "Gravier 1904" and also identified as "*Onchidium peronii*" in his re-description of *Peronia tongana*. Therefore, given that there is only one jar at the MNHN with a specimen collected by Gravier



**Figure 84.** *Peronia verruculata* (unit #4) **A** lectotype, *Paraperonia gondwanae*, India, Mumbai (MNHN-IM-2000-33681) **B–D** Pakistan, [6164] (MNHN-IM-2019-**1384**) **A** digestive system, dorsal view, the arrow indicates the orientation of the transitional loop **B** digestive system, dorsal view **C** posterior, hermaphroditic (female) reproductive system **D** anterior, male, copulatory apparatus. Scale bars: 4 mm (**A**, **C**), 5 mm (**B**, **D**). Abbreviations: ag accessory penial gland, dd deferent duct, ddg dorsal digestive gland, fgm female gland mass, hg hermaphroditic gland, i intestine, ms muscular sac, ov oviduct, pdg posterior digestive gland, ps penial sheath, rm retractor muscle, rs receptaculum seminis, sp spermatheca, st stomach, v vestibule.

in 1904 from Obock (there are other specimens from Obock at the MNHN, but not collected in 1904 by Gravier), and that the specimen may not even have been collected by Gravier, it is not possible to know whether that specimen is the paralectotype of


**Figure 85.** Digestive system, dorsal view, *Peronia verruculata* (unit #5). The arrow indicates the orientation of the transitional loop **A** lectotype, *Scaphis gravieri*, Mayotte (MNHN-IM-2000-33695) **B** Madagascar [3144] (MNHN-IM-2019-1611) **C** Madagascar [3231] (MNHN-IM-2019-1610). Scale bars: 2 mm (**A**), 4 mm (**B**), 5 mm (**C**). Abbreviations: ddg dorsal digestive gland, i intestine, pdg posterior digestive gland, st stomach.

*P. gaimardi*, a non-type material used by Labbé for a re-description of *Peronia tongana*, or even something completely different.

Lectotype and paralectotype (Peronia anomala). RED SEA • lectotype, hereby designated, 10/8 mm; 1893; Jousseaume leg.; MNHN-IM-2000-33678. • 1 paralectotype, 6/3 mm; same collection data as for the lectotype; MNHN-IM-2000-33678. Originally, no jar clearly labeled as the type material of Peronia anomala was found at the MNHN, but it could be traced back. The original description of *P. anomala* is based on two individuals (10/9 and 5/5 mm) from the Red Sea ("Mer Rouge") collected by Jousseaume in 1893. Several old jars were found at the MNHN with material collected from the Red Sea by Jousseaume. Most jars are labeled as "1892" for collecting date, one jar is labeled as "1893" (MNHN-IM-2000-33678), and another as "1823" (MNHN-IM-2000-33698). The jar with the (erroneous) collecting date of 1823 is the type series of Onchidium durum (see below). The jar with a collecting date of 1893 matches perfectly the information provided in Labbé's original description of *P. anomala* and even the animal sizes match (MNHN-IM-2000-33678): these two specimens are considered to be the type series of *P. anomala*, and the largest specimen is designated as the lectotype. Both the lectotype and the paralectotype were dissected by Labbé. The radula and female and male reproductive parts of the lectotype are missing (the lack of penis and accessory penial gland, mentioned by Labbé, but likely due to the



Figure 86. Digestive system, dorsal view, *Peronia verruculata* (Red Sea). The arrow indicates the orientation of the transitional loop A lectotype, *Onchidium verruculatum*, Red Sea (MNHN-IM-2000-22941)
B lectotype, *Peronia anomala*, Red Sea (MNHN-IM-2000-33678) C lectotype, *Onchidium durum*, Red Sea (MNHN-IM-2000-33698) D paralectotype, *Paraperonia gondwanae*, Red Sea (MNHN-IM-2000-33684) E paralectotype, *Paraperonia gondwanae*, locality unknown (MNHN-IM-2000-33688)
F Red Sea, spm #1 (ZMH 27472/4). Scale bars: 5 mm (A, D), 4 mm (B, E), 3 mm (C, F). Abbreviations: ddg dorsal digestive gland, i intestine, pdg posterior digestive gland, st stomach.

lectotype being not fully mature, cannot be checked). Dorsal gills are present on the notum. Its intestinal loops are not of type II (Labbé 1934a: 195), but of type I instead (Fig. 86B). The paralectotype is largely destroyed but bears dorsal gills on the notum.



**Figure 87.** Radula, Peronia verruculata (unit #1), Vanuatu [5481] (MNHN-IM-2013-62393) **A** rachidian and innermost lateral teeth **B** lateral teeth **C** outermost lateral teeth **D** lateral teeth, frontal view. Scale bars: 20  $\mu$ m (**A**), 100  $\mu$ m (**B**), 10  $\mu$ m (**C**, **D**). Abbreviations: 11lt first left lateral tooth, 1rlt first right lateral tooth, 2llt second left lateral tooth, 2rlt second right lateral tooth, bls basal lateral spine, hlt hook of a lateral tooth, mc median cusp, rt rachidian tooth.

*Lectotype* and *paralectotypes* (*Paraperonia gondwanae*). INDIA • lectotype, hereby designated, 29/25 mm; Bombay [Mumbai]; MNHN-IM-2000-33681. • 1 paralectotype, 26/25 mm; same collection data as for the lectotype; MNHN-IM-2000-33681. • 1 paralectotype, 50/35 mm; same collection data as for the lectotype; MNHN-IM-2000-33682. RED SEA • 4 paralectotypes, 40/30 mm; 1892; Jousseaume leg.; MNHN-IM-2000-33683. • 13 paralectotypes, 32/25 to 25/20 mm; Red Sea; 1892; Jousseaume leg.; MNHN-IM-2000-33688. • 15 paralectotypes, 40/30 to 22/20 mm; Suez [Egypt, Red Sea]; 1878; Letourneux leg.; MNHN-IM-2000-33684. The type material mentioned in the original description also includes a paralectotype from Mauritius which could not be located with certainty at the MNHN, a paralectotype from the Red Sea which could not be located at the MNHN, and another individual missing from one of the jars from the Red Sea (see below). Most importantly, the type specimens belong to more than one species, so a lectotype is designated to clarify the application of the name *P. gondwanae*.

Originally, no jar clearly labeled as the type material of *P. gondwanae* was found at the MNHN, but most of the type material could be traced back. The original description of *P. gondwanae* is based on 38 individuals which Labbé, as often, listed in his article using italicized letters: *a*) three individuals from Bombay and one individual from



**Figure 88.** Radula, *Peronia verruculata* (unit #1), Indonesia **A**, **B** Seram [2870] (UMIZ 00169) **C–F** Lombok [2987] (UMIZ 00168) **A** left half rows of teeth **B** rachidian and innermost lateral teeth **C** rachidian and innermost lateral teeth **D** rachidian and lateral teeth **E** outermost lateral teeth **F** lateral teeth. Scale bars: 200 μm (**A**), 30 μm (**B**, **C**), 60 μm (**D**), 40 μm (**E**), 100 μm (**F**).

the Red Sea ("mer Rouge"), for which Labbé gives the sizes 29/23 and 50/30 mm; *b*) one individual (60/50 mm) from Mauritius ("île de France") collected by Mathieu; *c*) five individuals (40/27 mm) from the Red Sea ("mer Rouge") collected by Jousseaume in 1892; *d*) 15 individuals from Suez (Red Sea) collected by Letourneur in 1878; and *e*) 13 individuals from the Red Sea ("mer Rouge") collected by Jousseaume in 1892, for which Labbé gives the size 32/25 mm (for both *d* and *e*).

The specific name "gondwanae" was written in pencil only on two old jars at the MNHN. One jar contains four of the five "c" individuals collected from the Red Sea by Jousseaume in 1892 (MNHN-IM-2000-33683); the name "gondwanae" is written on the small label with the number "59;" the size of the four specimens (40/30 mm) matches the size provided by Labbé. Another jar contains the 13 "e" individuals collected from the Red Sea by Jousseaume in 1892 (MNHN-IM-2000-33688); this jar



**Figure 89.** Radula, *Peronia verruculata* (unit #2), Indonesia, Sumatra **A–D** [1795] (UMIZ 00180) **E** [1746] (UMIZ 00178) **A** rachidian and innermost lateral teeth **B** rachidian and innermost lateral teeth **C** lateral teeth **D** outermost lateral teeth **E** lateral teeth, frontal view. Scale bars: 40 μm (**A**, **D**), 80 μm (**B**), 100 μm (**C**), 60 μm (**E**).

was found only labeled as "57 gondwanae," i.e., with no locality, collector name, or collecting year, but the number of individuals and their size (32/25 to 25/20 mm) matches the size provided by Labbé (35/25 mm).

No other jar labeled as *P. gondwanae* was found at the MNHN, but most of the remaining type material could be traced back thanks to the matching of collector's name, collecting date, specimen sizes, and the number of old jars from any given locality at the MNHN. There are only three old jars with specimens from Bombay at the MNHN. One jar contains seven *Platevindex* individuals collected by Roux in 1826. The two other jars contain the three "*a*" individuals from Bombay: one jar contains two individuals (29/25 and 26/25 mm) (MNHN-IM-2000-33681) and the other jar contains one individual (50/35 mm) (MNHN-IM-2000-33682), which sufficiently matches the sizes in Labbé's original description (50/30 and 29/23 mm). There is only one old jar at the MNHN with 15 specimens (from 40/30 to 22/20 mm) from Suez collected by Letourneux ("Letourneur" in the original description) in 1878 (there is



**Figure 90.** Radula, *Peronia verruculata* (unit #3), Peninsular Malaysia **A–C** [976] (USMMC 00051) **D** [975] (USMMC 00064) **A** rachidian and innermost lateral teeth **B** rachidian and lateral teeth **C** outermost lateral teeth **D** lateral teeth, frontal view. Scale bars: 20 μm (**A**, **C**), 100 μm (**B**), 10 μm (**D**).

another old jar of *Peronia* from Suez but collected by Jousseaume in 1889). That jar contains the "*d*" individuals of *P. gondwanae* from Suez (MNHN-IM-2000-33684). The "*b*" individual from Mauritius could not be traced with certainty at the MNHN. Indeed, there are two jars, each with a single specimen from Mauritius collected by Mathieu and identified as *Oncidium Peronii* by Labbé in 1933: one 65/40 specimen (MNHN-IM-2000-33687), and one 60/40 specimen (MNHN-IM-2000-33687), Both specimens match the size provided by Labbé for the "*b*" individual (60/50 mm). Labbé (1934a) listed only once a specimen from Mauritius by Mathieu in his entire work, and that specimen could be the one in either jar (i.e., MNHN-IM-2000-33687). Finally, the "*a*" individual identified from the Red Sea could not be located.

The 29 mm long "*a*" individual from Bombay, dissected by Labbé, is designated here as the lectotype of *Paraperonia gondwanae* (MNHN-IM-2000-33681). Its radula and male parts are missing. Its intestinal loops are clearly of type I (Fig. 84A) even though Labbé described loops of type V. The 50 mm long "*a*" individual from Bombay was also dissected by Labbé (MNHN-IM-2000-33682). Its radula and male parts are missing but its intestinal loops are of type V (Fig. 21B), as in the original description, so it does not belong to *P. verruculata* but *P. madagascariensis* instead. Labbé dissected only two of the 15 specimens from Suez (MNHN-IM-2000-33684): the radula and



**Figure 91.** Radula, *Peronia verruculata* (unit #4), Pakistan **A–C** [6164] (MNHN-IM-2019-1384) **D** [6165] (MNHN-IM-2019-1385) **A** rachidian and innermost lateral teeth **B** lateral teeth **C** outermost lateral teeth **D** outermost lateral teeth. Scale bars: 20 μm (**A**, **B**), 10 μm (**C**), 40 μm (**D**).

the male parts are missing from both specimens (38/32 and 35/28 mm) but their intestinal loops are both of type I (Fig. 86D), suggesting that they belong to *P. verruculata*, even though Labbé described loops of type V. Labbé dissected only one (40/30 mm) of the four specimens from Suez (MNHN-IM-2000-33683), acknowledging that maybe one specimen was lost: the radula and the male parts are missing, but its intestinal loops are of type V (Fig. 21C), as in the original description, suggesting that it belongs to *P. madagascariensis*. Labbé dissected seven of the 13 specimens (assumed to be) from the Red Sea (MNHN-IM-2000-33688). Those specimens are all completely destroyed and extremely poorly preserved. An undissected individual (35/25 mm) from the same lot was dissected for the present study and its intestinal loops are of type I, suggesting that it belongs to *P. verruculata* (Fig. 86E). Finally, according to Labbé, the intestinal loops of the specimen from Mauritius (collected by Mathieu) are of type V. One specimen collected by Mathieu from Mauritius is completely empty inside (MNHN-IM-2000-33687). The loops of the other specimen are of type I (Fig. 9D), suggesting that it belongs to *P. peronii* (MNHN-IM-2000-33686).

*Lectotype* and *paralectotypes* (*Scaphis viridis*). AUSTRALIA • lectotype, hereby designated, 50/20 mm; Thursday (Océanie) [Thursday Island, Torres Strait]; 1892; Lix leg.; MNHN-IM-2000-22964. • 2 paralectotypes, 45/30 mm and 45/25 mm; same collection data as for the lectotype; MNHN-IM-2000-22964. Originally, no jar clearly



**Figure 92.** Radula, *Peronia verruculata* (unit #5), Madagascar **A–C** [3231] (MNHN-IM-2019-1610) **D** Mozambique [5510] (MNHN-IM-2013-62398) **A** rachidian and innermost lateral teeth **B** lateral teeth **C** outermost lateral teeth **D** lateral teeth, frontal view. Scale bars: 20 μm (**A**, **C**), 100 μm (**B**), 30 μm (**D**).

labeled as the type material of *Scaphis viridis* was found at the MNHN. However, only one old jar was found at the MNHN with specimens collected from Thursday Island, and the collecting information on the label (specimens collected by M. Lix in 1892) matches the information provided in Labbé's original description of *S. viridis* (even though, according to Labbé, the specimens were collected in 1890). The sizes provided by Labbé (48/20, 47/30, and 42/25 mm) match the sizes of the three specimens here and their notum clearly bears dorsal gills, as in the original description of *S. viridis*. Labbé mentioned four specimens but, given that he provided measurements for only three specimens, it is possible that he only examined three specimens. Or he examined four specimens and one is now missing. The three type specimens are largely destroyed inside (due to Labbé's dissections). The male parts and radula are missing in both paralectotypes but are still inside the lectotype. The intestinal loops of the lectotype are of type I, with a transitional loop at 5 o'clock (Fig. 80F). The three types are green (hence the specific name chosen by Labbé) but that color is clearly due to preservation.

**Holotype** (*Scaphis carbonaria*). NEW CALEDONIA • holotype, by monotypy, 40/26 mm; 1880; Réveillère leg.; MNHN-IM-2000-33708. Originally, no jar clearly labeled as the type material of *Scaphis carbonaria* was found at the MNHN. However, of the several old jars found at the MNHN with specimens collected from New Caledonia, only one matches perfectly the information provided in Labbé's original



**Figure 93.** Radula, *Peronia verruculata*, Red Sea, spm #3 (ZMH 27472/4) **A** rachidian tooth **B** rachidian and innermost lateral teeth **C** lateral teeth **D** lateral teeth **E** outermost lateral teeth **F** lateral teeth. Scale bars: 10  $\mu$ m (**A**), 30  $\mu$ m (**B**), 20  $\mu$ m (**C**, **E**), 100  $\mu$ m (**D**), 60  $\mu$ m (**F**).

description of *S. carbonaria*: an individual collected in 1880 by M. Réveillère (the French navy officer Paul Réveillère [1829–1905]) with an identification as *Peronia*. Other jars with specimens from New Caledonia were collected by Fisher in 1878 or by François in 1894. Therefore, it is extremely likely that the specimen collected by Réveillère in 1880 and identified as "*Peronia*" is the holotype, by monotypy, of *Scaphis carbonaria*. The size of the holotype (40/26 mm) matches the size provided by Labbé in the original description of *S. carbonaria* (36/25 mm). Its notum is not well preserved. Dorsal papillae are quite flattened (as pointed out by Labbé) and dorsal eyes cannot be seen, likely because their black color faded. However, dorsal gills are clearly present on the notum. Its intestinal loops are of type I (Fig. 80D) but its radula is missing.



Figure 94. Reproductive system, *Peronia verruculata* (unit #1) **A** immature, posterior, hermaphroditic (female) reproductive system, Australia, Queensland [2622] (MTQ) **B** posterior, hermaphroditic (female) reproductive system, Vietnam [5621] (ITBZC IM 00021) **C** posterior, hermaphroditic (female) reproductive system, Indonesia, Sulawesi [2127] (UMIZ 00170) **D** anterior, male, copulatory apparatus, same as C. Scale bars: 1 mm (**A**), 4 mm (**B**), 3 mm (**C**), 5 mm (**D**). Abbreviations: ag accessory penial gland, dd deferent duct, ddg dorsal digestive gland, fgm female gland mass, hg hermaphroditic gland, i intestine, ms muscular sac, ov oviduct, pdg posterior digestive gland, ps penial sheath, rm retractor muscle, rs receptaculum seminis, sp spermatheca, st stomach, v vestibule.



Figure 95. Reproductive system, *Peronia verruculata* (unit #5), Madagascar A posterior, hermaphroditic (female) reproductive system, only the spermatheca, the deferent duct, and the oviduct, [3143] (MNHN-IM-2019-1611) **B** posterior, hermaphroditic (female) reproductive system, [3231] (MNHN-IM-2019-1610) **C** anterior, male, copulatory apparatus, same as B. Scale bars: 5 mm (A), 3 mm (B), 4 mm (C). Abbreviations: ag accessory penial gland, dd deferent duct, fgm female gland mass, hg hermaphroditic gland, ms muscular sac, ov oviduct, ps penial sheath, rm retractor muscle, rs receptaculum seminis, sp spermatheca, v vestibule.

The posterior (female) reproductive parts are still present but poorly preserved. The copulatory parts are missing, except for the muscular sac of the accessory penial gland (approximately 10 mm long) and so the length of the spine of the accessory penial gland cannot be checked (it was not mentioned by Labbé in the original description).

*Lectotype* and *paralectotypes* (*Scaphis gravieri*). MAYOTTE • lectotype, hereby designated, 27/18 mm; 1883; A Vimont leg.; MNHN-IM-2000-33695. ZANZIBAR • 4 paralectotypes, 30/28, 32/25, 27/23, and 14/10 mm; 1865; Grandidier leg.; MNHN-IM-2000-33693. The type material mentioned in the original description also includes two paralectotypes from Djibouti which could not be located with certainty at the MNHN (see below). Originally, no jar clearly labeled as the type material of *S. gravieri* was found at the MNHN, but most type material could be traced back.

The original description of *S. gravieri* is based on seven individuals: two individuals (10/7.5 and 8/6.5 mm) from Djibouti collected by Gravier in 1904; four individuals (32/29 and 30/25 mm) from Zanzibar collected by Grandidier (the French naturalist and explorer Alfred Gandidier [1836–1921]) in 1865; and one individual (28/19 mm) from Mayotte collected by Ach. Vimont in 1883.

One old jar was found at the MNHN with a specimen from Mayotte (MNHN-IM-2000-33695). The information on the label (specimen collected from Mayotte by Vimont in 1883) matches the information provided in Labbé's original description of *S. gravieri*, and the specimen size also matches. Therefore, that specimen from Mayotte is here considered to form part of the type series of *S. gravieri* and designated as the lectotype (MNHN-IM-2000-33695). This lectotype was dissected by Labbé: the radula and the posterior (hermaphroditic) reproductive parts are still in place but the male parts are missing. The intestinal loops are of type I with a transitional loop at 6 o'clock (Fig. 85A).

Another old jar was found at the MNHN with specimens from Zanzibar (MNHN-IM-2000-33693). The information on the label (specimens collected from Zanzibar by Grandidier in 1865) matches the information provided in Labbé's original description of *S. gravieri*, and the specimen size also matches (Labbé likely provided the size of the largest two specimens). Therefore, those four specimens from Zanzibar are considered to form part of the type series of *S. gravieri* and are now paralectotypes (MNHN-IM-2000-33693). Only one paralectotype (30/28 mm) from Zanzibar was dissected by Labbé: the radula and the posterior (female) reproductive parts are still in place but the male parts are missing. The intestinal loops are of type I.

The two paralectotypes from Djibouti could not be traced with certainty. There are two old jars of specimens collected by Gravier in 1904 at the MNHN. One jar is labeled with Obock as locality (not Djibouti, even though Obock is in Djibouti) and contains one *Peronia* specimen of which the size (80/60 mm) does not match Labbé's original description of *S. gravieri*. Also, that specimen from Obock is more likely to be a paralectotype of *P. gaimardi* or a non-type specimen used by Labbé for the re-description of *Peronia tongana*. The three specimens (70/60, 70/65, and 65/65 mm) of the second jar collected by Gravier in 1904 are from Djibouti (MNHN-IM-2000-33696), which matches perfectly the original description of *S. gravieri* by Labbé. The problem is that the specimen sizes do not match because Labbé described two individuals of only 10/7.5 and 8/6.5 mm. It is likely that Labbé meant centimeters instead of millimeters (even though he wrote "mm") because he described a muscular sac of 8 mm in the specimens from Djibouti, which is impossible in individuals that are only 8 and 10 mm



**Figure 96.** Reproductive system, *Peronia verruculata*, Red Sea, spm #1 (ZMH 27472/4) **A** posterior, hermaphroditic (female) reproductive system **B** anterior, male, copulatory apparatus. Scale bars: 2 mm (**A**), 4 mm (**B**). Abbreviations: Abbreviations: ag accessory penial gland, dd deferent duct, fgm female gland mass, hg hermaphroditic gland, ms muscular sac, ov oviduct, p penis, ps penial sheath, rm retractor muscle, rs receptaculum seminis, sp spermatheca.

long. One of three specimens, possibly dissected by Labbé, possibly is part of the type series of *S. gravieri*, but it remains questionable. In addition, a specific name was added in pencil on an old label with the number "69" but that name, which is impossible to read, seems to start with a J, and not a G. In summary, it remains unclear whether those three specimens from Djibouti can be regarded as part of the type series of *S. gravieri*; however, it ultimately does not matter because a lectotype is designated here.

*Syntypes* (*Scaphis tonkinensis*). The type material of *Scaphis tonkinensis* (ten syntypes up to 20/18 mm, according to the original description) could not be located with certainty at the MNHN. Only one old jar was found at the MNHN (MNHN-IM-2000-33700) with specimens collected from Vietnam (as "Tonkin"), and the information on the label (material collected by M. Julien in 1874) matches the informa-



**Figure 97.** Penial hooks, *Peronia verruculata* (unit #1) **A** Australia, Queensland [2622] (MTQ) **B** Indonesia, Halmahera [5068] (UMIZ 00166) **C** Papua New Guinea, Madang [5469] (MNHN-IM-2013-12010) **D** same as **B**; **E** Indonesia, Seram [2870] (UMIZ 00169) **F** same as **C**. Scale bars: 4  $\mu$ m (**A**, **B**), 20  $\mu$ m (**C**), 30  $\mu$ m (**D**), 3  $\mu$ m (**E**, **F**).

tion provided in Labbé's original description of *S. tonkinensis*. Therefore, it is possible that the jar mentioned here contains the type material of *S. tonkinensis*. Unfortunately, the jar only contains three pieces of unidentifiable and poorly preserved tissue (each piece measuring approximately 20/10 mm). Two pieces are likely not even part of an onchidiid slug, and it is unclear whether the third piece is part of an onchidiid dorsal notum or not. So, regardless of whether this material is regarded as part of the type material of *S. tonkinensis*, it is basically useless.

**Syntypes** (*Scaphis lata*). The type material of *Scaphis lata* (four syntypes up to 28/28 mm, from Vietnam) could not be located at the MNHN. Only one old jar was found at the MNHN (MNHN-IM-2000-33700) with specimens collected from Vietnam (as "Tonkin"), but the information on the label (specimens collected by M. Julien, in 1874) does not match exactly the information provided in Labbé's original description of *S. lata* (specimens collected by M. Julien in 1878), and, instead, matches the information provided in Labbé's original description of *S. lata* (specimens collected by M. Julien in 1878), and, instead, matches the information provided in Labbé's original description of *S. tonkinensis* (see above).



**Figure 98.** Penis and penial hooks, *Peronia verruculata* (unit #2), Indonesia, Sumatra **A**, **B** [1746] (UMIZ 00178) **C**, **E** [1795] (UMIZ 00180) **D**, **F** [1797] (UMIZ 00180). Scale bars: 60 μm (**A**), 6 μm (**B**, **E**, **F**), 20 μm (**C**, **D**).

*Lectotype* and *paralectotypes* (*Onchidium durum*). RED SEA • lectotype, hereby designated, 20/15 mm; 1893; Jousseaume leg.; MNHN-IM-2000-33698. • 25 paralectotypes, from 23/15 to 14/14 mm; same collection data as for the lectotype; MNHN-IM-2000-33698. Originally, no jar clearly labeled as the type material of *Onchidium durum* was found at the MNHN, but it could be traced back. The original description of *O. durum* is based on "approximately" 20 individuals (from 24/23 to 14/13 mm) from the Red Sea ("Mer Rouge") collected by Jousseaume in 1893.

Several old jars were found at the MNHN with material collected from the Red Sea by Jousseaume. Most jars are labeled with 1892 as collecting date, one jar is labeled with 1893, and another with 1823. The jar with a collecting date of 1893 (MNHN-IM-2000-33678) contains the type series of *P. anomala* (see above). On the jar with the collecting date of 1823, there is another tiny label with the number "61" (for an unknown numbering system) on which *O. durum* is clearly written in pencil. It is one of the very few cases in which a species name is indicated for some MNHN mate-



**Figure 99.** Penial hooks, *Peronia verruculata* (unit #3), Peninsular Malaysia **A**, **B** [2547] (USMMC 00065) **C**, **D** [975] (USMMC 00064). Scale bars: 40 μm (**A**, **C**), 20 μm (**B**), 6 μm (**D**).

rial studied by Labbé and there is little doubt that the specimens are the type series of *O. durum*, especially because the number of individuals and their sizes perfectly match with Labbé's original description. Clearly, 1823 is a mistake for 1893. Most importantly, contrary to what was described by Labbé, gills are present on the dorsal notum of those individuals. All specimens are poorly preserved. They likely dried at some point and their body is hard. Three specimens were opened by Labbé and are now largely destroyed with only the digestive system inside. A lectotype is designated here in order to clarify the application of *O. durum* (specimens in the type series could belong to more than one species). Its intestinal loops are not of type II (Labbé 1934a: 221): they clearly are of type I (Fig. 86C).

*Holotype* and *paratypes* (*Peronia persiae*). IRAN – Persian Gulf • holotype [not examined], by original designation, 35 mm; Lavan Island; 26°48.3498'N, 53°16.08'E; Feb 2016; ZSM Mol 20180017. • 2 paratypes [not examined], 22 and 37 mm; same collection data as for the holotype; ZSM Mol 20180018. • 1 paratype [not examined], 32 mm; Bandar Lengeh; 26°33.4833'N, 54°52.8333'E; Mar 2015; ZSM Mol 20180018.

The original description of *P. persiae* is based on a total of 14 individuals (from 13 to 37 mm): the four types (see above) and ten other specimens from the same two localities as the types. DNA sequences (COI and 16S) are provided for 11 of those 14 individuals, including all four type specimens. However, it is unclear which



**Figure 100.** Penial hooks, *Peronia verruculata* (unit #4), Pakistan **A–C** [6164] (MNHN-IM-2019-1384) **D** [6165] (MNHN-IM-2019-**1385**). Scale bars: 20 μm (**A**), 10 μm (**B–D**).

GenBank sequences correspond exactly to the holotype because this information is missing in GenBank as well as in Maniei et al. (2020a: table 2). It is assumed that the holotype, called "specimen LA7" in Maniei et al. (2020a: table 1), corresponds to the individual called "voucher LaFM7S" in GenBank. Ultimately, it does not matter at all because all mitochondrial sequences of *P. persiae* cluster together within the unit #4 of *P. verruculata*: only the COI (MK993404) and the 16S (MK993392) sequences of the "voucher LaFM7S" are included in our phylogenetic analyses to represent *P. persiae* (Fig. 2). Finally, note that the COI and 16S GenBank accession numbers are switched for *P. persiae* in Maniei et al. (2020a: table 2). Comments on the original description of *P. persiae* are provided in the species remarks (see below).

Additional material examined (unit #1). AUSTRALIA – Queensland • 1 specimen 35/25 mm [2682]; Mackay, Campwin Beach; 21°22.455'S, 149°18.753'E; 5 Jul 2013; TC Goulding and field party leg.; st 121, by boat ramp, mangrove margin with large rocks by creek, *Rhizophora* and soft mud; MTQ. • 1 specimen 40/25 mm [2620]; Bowen, Dingo Beach; 20°04.864'S, 148°29.576'E; 30 Jun 2013; TC Goulding and field party leg.; st 113, rocky shore nearby a small and dense *Rhizophora* mangrove patch; MTQ. • 1 specimen 25/15 mm [2622]; same collection data as for the preceding; MTQ. 1 specimen 22/18 mm [1538]; Magnetic Island, near Cockle Bay, off Townsville; 19°10.500'S, 146°49.552'E; 20 Sep 2005; I. Loch leg.; on top of dead coral on fringing reef and muddy sand flats with seagrasses; AM C.448363. • 1 speci-



**Figure 101.** Penial hooks, *Peronia verruculata* (unit #5) **A–C** Madagascar [3144] (MNHN-IM-2019-1611) **D, E** Madagascar [3231] (MNHN-IM-2019-1610) **F** Mozambique [5510] (MNHN-IM-2013-62398). Scale bars: 6 μm (**A**), 10 μm (**B**, **E**), 20 μm (**C**), 100 μm (**D**), 4 μm (**F**).

men 25/20 mm [2571]; Cairns, Keewara Beach; 16°34.711'S, 145°30.751'E; 18 Jun 2013; TC Goulding and field party leg.; st 102, rocky platform; MTQ.

INDONESIA – **Ambon** • 2 specimens 35/25 mm [2724] and 40/30 mm [2729]; Pulau Haruku; 03°36.31'S, 128°25.04'E; 11 Feb 2014; st 127; M Khalil and field party leg.; rocky *Sonneratia* mangrove with coral rubble; UMIZ 00162. • 1 specimen 45/30 mm [2856]; Wai; 03°34.65'S, 128°19.53'E; 15 Feb 2014; M Khalil and field party leg.; st 132, narrow band of old *Avicennia* trees on sandy mud, old logs on ground; UMIZ 00163. – **Bali** • 1 specimen 20/15 mm [3080]; Gilimanuk; 08°10.26'S, 114°26.61'E; 3 Apr 2014; M Khalil and field party leg.; st 155, large rocks near a patch of *Rhizophora*; UMIZ 00164. • 1 specimen 20/12 mm [3115]; Gilimanuk; 08°10.16'S, 114°26.65'E; 4 Apr 2014; M Khalil and field party leg.; st 156, sandy mudflat outside *Rhizophora* and *Avicennia* mangrove; UMIZ 00165. – **Halmahera** • 1 specimen 45/35 mm [5068]; Sofifi; 00°45.47'N, 127°35.90'E; 8 Mar 2015; st 205, *Sonneratia* mangrove; UMIZ 00166. • 3 specimens 40/25 mm [5120], 50/35 mm [5124], and 35/25 mm [5130]; Folly; 01°14.66'N, 128°10.61'E; 19 Mar 2015; M Khalil and field



**Figure 102.** Penis and penial hooks, *Peronia verruculata*, Red Sea **A–C** spm #1 (ZMH 27472/4) **D** spm #2 (ZMH 27472/4) **E**, **F** spm #4 (ZMH 27472/4). Scale bars: 300 μm (**A**), 10 μm (**B**), 30 μm (**C**), 20 μm (**D**, **E**), 4 μm (**F**).

party leg.; st 217, rocky shore near a beach; UMIZ 00167. – Lombok • 1 specimen 40/25 mm [2987]; Don Don; 08°54.54'S, 116°21.50'E; 26 Mar 2014; M Khalil and field party leg.; st 149, old *Avicennia* forest with coral rubble; UMIZ 00168. – Seram • 3 specimens 50/40 mm [2868], 50/35 mm [2870], and 55/40 mm [3441]; 02°58.24'S, 128°07.07'E; 18 Feb 2014; M Khalil and field party leg.; st 135, mud next to a mangrove; UMIZ 00169. – Sulawesi • 1 specimen 45/25 mm [2127]; North Sulawesi, Wori; 01°36.06'N, 124°51.73'E; 9 Mar 2013; M Khalil and field party leg.; st 84, old *Sonneratia* and *Avicennia* mangrove; UMIZ 00170. • 2 specimens 25/20 mm [2150] and 60/45 mm [2162]; North Sulawesi, Bahoi; 01°43.36'N, 125°01.23'E; 10 Mar 2013; M Khalil and field party leg.; st 85, sand and small rocks outside a mangrove; UMIZ 00171. • 1 specimen 23/18 mm [731]; South East Sulawesi, Walowa,



**Figure 103.** Accessory penial gland spine, *Peronia verruculata* (unit #1) **A-G** Indonesia **H** Singapore **A** Halmahera [5068] (UMIZ 00166) **B** Ambon [2729] (UMIZ 00162) **C** Lombok [2987] (UMIZ 00168) **D** Sulawesi [2127] (UMIZ 00170) **E** same as **A**; **F** same as **B**; **G** same as **C**; **H** [991] (ZRC. MOL.10497). Scale bars: 300 μm (**A-D**), 20 μm (**E**), 10 μm (**F**), 15 μm (**G**), 150 μm (**H**).

Pasarwajo Bay, Buton Island; 28 Oct 2005; MAE Malaquias leg.; upper tidal, on rock pools; NHMUK 20050628. – **Sumatra** • 1 specimen 40/30 mm [1747]; Lampung, Penegahan; 05°40.40'S, 105°33.76'E; 18 Oct 2012; M Khalil and field party leg.; st 78, coral rubble on beach exposed to estuary; UMIZ 00172. • 1 specimen 20/15 mm [1759]; Lampung, near Kalianda, Sungai Boluk; 05°40.793'S, 105°33.625'E; 23 Oct 2012; M Khalil and field party leg.; st 82, beach with a few rocks; UMIZ 00173. – **Ti-mor** • 1 specimen 45/25 mm [5904]; Oesapa; 10°08.73'S, 123°38.10'E; 11 Jul 2016; M Khalil and field party leg.; st 250, sandy part of mangrove, with *Sonneratia* and *Avicennia* trees; UMIZ 00174. • 2 specimens 12/7 mm [5925] and 35/20 mm [5927]; Kelapa Lima; 10°08.715'S, 123°36.914'E; 13 Jul 2016; M Khalil and field party leg.; st 252, rocky area at sandy beach with algae; UMIZ 00175.

JAPAN • 2 specimens 40/30 mm [3752] and 32/25 mm [3751]; Honshu, Wakayama, Nishimuro, near the Seto Marine Biological Laboratory; 33°41.533'N, 135°20.265'E; 2014; T. Nakano leg.; NSMT-Mo 78988.



**Figure 104.** Accessory penial gland spine, *Peronia verruculata* (unit #1) **A** Vietnam [5621] (ITBZC IM 00021) **B** Papua New Guinea [5469] (MNHN-IM-2013-12010) **C** Vanuatu [5481] (MNHN-IM-2013-62393) **D** New Caledonia [6214] (MNHN-IM-2019-1593) **E** same as **A**; **F** same as **B**; **G** same as **C**; **H** same as **D**. Scale bars: 300 μm (**A**, **B**, **D**), 200 μm (**C**), 10 μm (**E**–**G**), 20 μm (**H**).

NEW CALEDONIA • 1 specimen 50/45 mm [6202]; Baie de Taaré; 22°15.286'S, 167°00.808'E; 19 Sep 2018; Our Planet Reviewed Koumac 2018 expedition leg.; st KM524, intertidal sandy coral rubble flat in front of mangroves; MNHN-IM-2019-1591. • 1 specimen 73/52 mm [6212]; Tontouta, South side of Page Island (Ubeakure); 22°03.443'S, 166°05.080'E; 25 Sep 2018; Our Planet Reviewed Koumac 2018 expedition leg.; st KM537, coastal rocky mangrove; MNHN-IM-2019-1592. • 1 specimen 43/30 mm [6214]; Pointe Sauveur, Presqu'île de Quano; 21°52.006'S, 165°49.195'E; 26 Sep 2018; Our Planet Reviewed Koumac 2018 expedition leg.; st KM538, muddy intertidal rocky flat in front of mangroves; MNHN-IM-2019-1593.

PALAU • 1 specimen 35/30 mm [698]; Ngerchaol Island, East end, South shore, North of quarry on Malakal Island; 07°20.433'N, 134°27.150'E; 15 Feb 1995; K Auffenberg leg.; UF 253871.

PAPUA NEW GUINEA – **Madang** • 1 specimen 35/30 mm [5467]; Rempi Area, south Dumduman Island; 05°00.2'S, 145°47.6'E; 9 Nov 2012; MNHN Expedition



**Figure 105.** Accessory penial gland spine, *Peronia verruculata* (unit #2), Indonesia, Sumatra **A, E** [1797] (UMIZ 00180) **B, F** [1795] (UMIZ 00180) **C, G** [1796] (UMIZ 00180) **D** [1746] (UMIZ 00178). Scale bars: 300 μm (**A–C**), 10 μm (**D–G**).

Papua Niugini leg.; st PM 12, limestone rocky intertidal; MNHN-IM-2013-12008. • 1 specimen 38/30 mm [5468]; same collection data as for the preceding; MNHN-IM-2013-12009. • 1 specimen 35/30 mm [5469]; same collection data as for the preceding; MNHN-IM-2013-12010. – **New Ireland** • 1 specimen 40/30 mm [6085]; Kavieng, west side of Nago Island; 02°36.3'S, 150°46'E; 6, 9, 10, 14 & 22 Jun 2014; MNHN Expedition Kavieng 2014 leg.; st KM 01; MNHN-IM-2013-50974. • 1 specimen 25/25 mm [6087]; Kavieng, Povalval, East coast of New Ireland; 02°41'S, 150°57'E; 11 & 13 Jun 2014; MNHN Expedition Kavieng 2014 leg.; st KM 05, mixed hard platform and seagrass bed at outlet of rivulet; MNHN-IM-2013-53523. • 1 specimen 30/30 mm [6088]; same collection data as for the preceding; MNHN-IM-2013-53525.



Figure 106. Accessory penial gland spine, *Peronia verruculata* (unit #3) A–C, E–I, K, L Peninsular Malaysia D, J Singapore A [975] (USMMC 00064) B [976] (USMMC 00051) C [977] (USMMC 00064)
D [989] (ZRC.MOL.16070) E [2546] (USMMC 00065) F [2547] (USMMC 00065) G same as A;
H same as B; I same as C; J same as D; K same as E; L same as F. Scale bars: 300 μm (A–F), 20 μm (G–L).

PHILIPPINES – **Bohol** • 2 specimens 40/25 mm [3379] and 35/30 mm [3380]; Maribojoc; 09°44.02'N, 123°47.45'E; 19 Jul 2014; B Dayrat and field party leg.; st 200, coral rubble with sand, at night; PNM 041274. • 2 specimens 30/20mm [3433] and 35/25 mm [3437]; Maribojoc; 09°44.28'N, 123°49.39'E; 20 Jul 2014; B Dayrat and field party leg.; st 202, coral rubble with sand and algae, near *Sonneratia*; PNM 041276. – **Cebu** • 1 specimen 22/15 mm [712]; Badian near Barila, across road from entrance to Children Spring and Kawasan Falls, behind huts; 27 Apr 2005; KNRL-012 leg.; fringing reef flat, 0–2 feet reef walk; UF 368518. – **Luzon** • 2 specimens 50/35 mm [3160] and 40/25 mm [3161]; Batangas, Lian; 13°59.76'N, 120°37.43'E; 5 Jul 2014; B Dayrat and field party leg.; st 181, sandy, open *Avicennia* forest, right by the shore; PNM 041277. – **Negros** • 1 specimen 15/8 mm [704]; San Jose, near Sibulan; 28 Apr 2005; KNRL-011 leg.; exposed rocky intertidal, under and between rocks; UF 368517.

SINGAPORE • 1 specimen 20/15 mm [991]; Pasir Ris Park; 01°22.840'N, 103° 57.224'E; 1 Apr 2010; B Dayrat and SK Tan leg.; st 5, mangrove forest with rich litter, lobster mounds, dead logs, with sand area near the creek; ZRC.MOL.10497.

VANUATU • 1 specimen 20/10 mm [5480]; Port Vila; ca. 2008; MNHN leg.; MNHN-IM-2013-62392. • 1 specimen 17/11 mm [5481]; same collection data as for the preceding; MNHN-IM-2013-62393.

VIETNAM • 2 specimens 60/40 mm [5620] and 40/30 mm [5621]; Hòn Tre Island; 12°11.983'N, 109°18.093'E; 28 Jul 2015; TC Goulding and field party leg.; st 238, coral rubble near small *Rhizophora* sandy and muddy mangrove; ITBZC IM 00021. • 1 specimen 25/20 mm [5670]; Côn Đảo Islands; 08°38.803'N, 106°34.719'E; 22 Jul 2015; TC Goulding and field party leg.; st 235, edge of dense *Rhizophora* mangrove, near sand; ITBZC IM 00022. • 1 specimen 17/14 mm [5639]; Côn Đảo Islands; 08°38.780'N, 106°33.210'E; 23 Jul 2015; TC Goulding and field party leg.; st 236, mangrove patch with many big flat rocks outside; ITBZC IM 00023.

Additional material examined (unit #2). INDIA • 1 specimen 25/15 mm [1072]; South Andaman, Burman Nala; 11°33.226'N, 92°43.997'E; 8 Jan 2011; B Dayrat and field party leg.; st 53, rocky shore with a patch of *Rhizophora*, sand and coral rubble but no mud; BNHS 1072. • 1 specimen 10/8 mm [1077]; South Andaman, Corbyn's Cove; 11°38.676'N, 92°45.005'E; 9 Jan 2011; B Dayrat and field party leg.; st 54, rocky shore only, no mangrove; BNHS 119. • 1 specimen 15/12 mm [1079]; same collection data as for the preceding; BNHS 120. • 1 specimen 30/20 mm [1080]; same collection data as for the preceding; BNHS 121. • 1 specimen 20/15 mm [1081]; same collection data as for the preceding; BNHS 122. • 1 specimen 20/10 mm [1084]; South Andaman, Wandoor; 11°37.140'N, 92°37.242'E; 9 Jan 2011; B Dayrat and field party leg.; st 55, sandy beach with coral rubble; BNHS 117.

INDONESIA • 1 specimen 50/35 mm [1746]; Sumatra, Lampung, Penegahan; 05°40.40'S, 105°33.76'E; 18 Oct 2012; M Khalil and field party leg.; st 78, coral rubble on beach exposed to estuary; UMIZ 00178. • 2 specimens 25/20 mm [1741] and 30/22 mm [1742]; same collection data as for the preceding; UMIZ 00179. • 3 specimens 55/35 mm [1796], 50/30 mm [1797], and 45/30 mm [1795]; Sumatra,

Lampung, near Kalianda, Sungai Boluk; 05°40.793'S, 105°33.625'E; 23 Oct 2012; M Khalil and field party leg.; st 82, beach with a few rocks; UMIZ 00180.

Additional material examined (unit #3). PENINSULAR MALAYSIA • 1 specimen 35/25 mm [976]; Langkawi; 06°25.361'N, 99°47.269'E; 14 Jul 2011; B Dayrat and field party leg.; st 25, large boulders on sand beach; USMMC 00051. • 3 specimens 35/30 mm [974], 27/20 mm [975], and 30/20 mm [977]; same collection data as for the preceding; USMMC 00064. • 2 specimens 25/20 mm [2546] and 40/25 mm [2547]; Penang, Pasir Panjang, Pulau Betong; 05°17.967'N, 100°11.080'E; 2013; SH Tan leg.; boulders and rocks on a beach; USMMC 00065.

SINGAPORE • 1 specimen 25/20 mm [990]; East Coast Park; 01°18.259'N, 103°55.644'E; 29 Mar 2010; B Dayrat leg.; st 3, rocks of artificial breakwaters; ZRC.MOL.10496. • 1 specimen 12/8 mm [989]; East Coast Park; 01°18.153'N, 103°55.289'E; 29 Mar 2010; B Dayrat leg.; st 2, rocky shore covered by oyster flats; ZRC.MOL.16070.

Additional material examined (unit #4). INDIA • 1 specimen 55/30 mm [1141]; Mumbai, Bandstand, Bandra; 19°02.863'N, 72°49.174'E; 18 Dec 2011; TC Goulding and field party leg.; st 44, solid rock area, some crevices, near wastewater discharge to ocean; BNHS 22. • 1 specimen 60/40 mm [1143]; same collection data as for the preceding; BNHS 24. • 1 specimen 60/40 mm [1144]; same collection data as for the preceding; BNHS 23.

PAKISTAN • 1 specimen 50/40 mm [6164]; Sindh Province, Balochistan coast, near Karachi city, Hab River Delta; 24°53.22'N, 66°42.30'E; Apr 2017; S Aslam leg.; on oyster beds; MNHN-IM-2019-1384. • 1 specimen 50/35 mm [6165]; same collection data as for the preceding; MNHN-IM-2019-1385. • 1 specimen 40/25 mm [6166]; same collection data as for the preceding; MNHN-IM-2019-1386.

Additional material examined (unit #5). MADAGASCAR • 5 specimens 30/25 mm [3140], 40/30 mm [3231], 15/12 mm [3597], 30/20 mm [3142], and 13/8 mm [3598]; Antisiranana (Diego Suarez), Baie Andovobazaha; 12°18.887'S, 49°19.735'E; 16 May 2014; TC Goulding and field party leg.; st 158, rocky platform near *Avicennia* and *Rhizophora* mangrove; MNHN-IM-2019-1610. • 5 specimens 50/35 mm [3143], 35/25 mm [3144], 30/20 mm [3146], 30/20 mm [3600], and 30/20 mm [3149]; Ampondrahazo; 12°25.297'S, 49°28.916'E; 20 May 2014; TC Goulding and field party leg.; st 162, sandy mangrove of *Bruguiera*, on sandy mud in between rocks; MNHN-IM-2019-1611.

MOZAMBIQUE • 1 specimen 22/18 mm [5507]; Baie de Maputo, Inhaca, Ponta Punduine; 26°02.5'S, 32°53.5'E; 24 Nov 2011; MNHN Expedition Inhaca 2011 leg.; st MM2, tide pools with sand and dead coral rubble; MNHN-IM-2013-62395. • 1 specimen 25/20 mm [5510]; same collection data as for the preceding; MNHN-IM-2013-62398. • 1 specimen 17/13 mm [730]; Cabo Delgado Province, Ibo Island; ca. 12°22'S, 40.35'E; 2 Jul 2006; DG Reid leg.; on mud in seaward *Sonneratia* zone of mangroves; NHMUK 20080190. • 1 specimen 15/14 mm [733]; Cabo Delgado Province, Ilha Lipulula; 1 km off Mocimboa da Praia; 11°20.65'S, 40°22.95'E; 8 Jul 2006; DG Reid leg.; on beach rock outcrops, upper eulittoral, moderately sheltered shore; NHMUK 20060257. Additional material examined (Red Sea). EGYPT • 4 specimens 35/25 mm [#1], 40/30 mm [#2], 35/30 mm [#3], and 35/25 mm [#4]; Gulf of Suez, Gimsah Bay, African coast; Mar 1913; Bannwarth leg.; ZMH 27472/4. • 4 specimens from 40/30 mm to 30/25 mm; Suez; Bannwarth leg.; ZMH 27474/4.

RED SEA • 4 specimens from 35/25 mm to 25/22 mm; no precise locality data; Savigny, from the collections of the museum in Marseille, France, leg.; NHMD 90791.

Additional material examined (historical museum collections). AUSTRALIA • 1 specimen 30/23 mm; Queensland, Cape York; 1867; Salmin leg.; SMNH 180712. • 1 specimen 30/18 mm; Queensland, Cape York; 1 Jan 1881; Mac Leay leg.; SMNH 180713. • 1 specimen 28/23 mm; Queensland, Palm Island; 1 Jan 1881; Mac Leay leg.; SMNH 180714.

CHINA • 1 specimen 40/28 mm [dissected prior to present study]; Hong Kong; 13 Oct 1878; Salmin leg.; SMNH 180707.

INDIA • 11 specimens 35/28 to 20/15 mm; Nicobar Islands, Sambelong, N. V. Bugt [Great Nicobar, Sambelong, north-west bay (possibly the Ganges Harbor)]; 1 Feb 1846; Reinhardt, Galathea Expedition leg.; NHMD 635300.

INDONESIA – **Java** • 1 specimen 33/25 mm; Batavia [Jakarta]; 06°07'S, 106°48'E; 1890; A Groth leg.; SMNH 180720. • 1 specimen 25/25 mm; Edam Island [Pulau Demar Besar, Jakarta Bay]; 1891; C Aurivillius leg.; SMNH 180719. • 1 specimen 30/28 mm; Insel Mendanao, westlich von Billiton [Mendanau Island, west of Belitung Island, Java Sea]; 20 Sept 1899; C Aurivillius leg.; SMNH 180722. – **Tanimbar** • 1 specimen 30/26 mm; Jamdena Straits, 2 miles north of Tg Nuan; 07°24'S, 131°19'E; 23 Jun 1970; Mariel King Memorial Expedition Moluccas MV "Pele" 1970 leg.; WAM S26630.

IRAN • 14 specimens 80/60 to 25/15 mm; Persian Gulf coast, Bandar Bushehr; 28 Feb 1937; G Thorson leg.; tidevandszonen klippekyst [intertidal rocky shore]; NHMD 635301.

MADAGASCAR • 1 specimen 35/32 mm; Catsepe [Katsepy]; 15°46'S, 46°14'E; 12 May 1912; W Kaudern leg.; SMNH 180724.

PAKISTAN • 1 specimen 23/20 mm; Karachi; 1884; O Dickson leg.; SMNH 180721. SINGAPORE • 1 specimen 30/25 mm [dissected prior to present study]; Singapore; 15 Jan 1853; Eugenie Expedition 1851–1853 leg.; st. 1502; SMNH 180716.

TANZANIA • 3 specimens 35/25 to 15/14 mm; Zanzibar, Mafia Island, South Juani Island; 29 Jun 1994; M Richmond (from N Yonow's personal collection) leg.; on filmcovered rock at cliff base on exposed cliff to open ocean; MNHN-IM-2014-7989. • 4 specimens 50/35 to 35/25 mm; Zanzibar, Kisakasaka; Jun 1995; M. Richmond (from N Yonow's personal collection) leg.; on rock outcrops in mangrove channel, very sheltered, in daytime; MNHN-IM-2014-7990.

**GenBank sequences.** One COI sequence was obtained from GenBank (MH002601) for an individual identified as *Peronia* sp. and collected from Singapore (Chang et al. 2018). This individual as well as others were referred to as a "Singapore clade" by Chang et al. (2018) and clearly belong to the mitochondrial unit #3 of *Peronia verruculata* (Fig. 2). Another COI sequence was obtained from GenBank



**Figure 107.** Accessory penial gland spine, *Peronia verruculata* (unit #4), Pakistan **A, C** [6164] (MNHN-IM-2019-**1384**) **B, D** [6166] (MNHN-IM-2019-**1386**). Scale bars: 300 µm (**A, B**), 20 µm (**C, D**).



**Figure 108.** Accessory penial gland spine, *Peronia verruculata* (unit #5) **A** Madagascar [3231] (MNHN-IM-2019-1610) **B** Madagascar [3144] (MNHN-IM-2019-1611) **C** Mozambique [5510] (MNHN-IM-2013-62398) **D** same as **A**; **E** same as **B**; **F** same as **C**. Scale bars: 300 μm (**A–C**), 10 μm (**D–F**).

(MH002570) for an individual identified as *Peronia* sp. and collected from Singapore (Chang et al. 2018). This individual as well as others referred to as "*Peronia* sp. 2" by Chang et al. (2018), following Dayrat et al. (2011), clearly belong to the mitochondrial unit #1 of *Peronia verruculata* (Fig. 2). A third COI sequence was obtained from



**Figure 109.** Accessory penial gland spine, *Peronia verruculata*, Red Sea **A**, **E** spm #1 (ZMH 27472/4) **B**, **F** spm #2 (ZMH 27472/4) **C**, **G** spm #3 (ZMH 27472/4) **D**, **H** spm #4 (ZMH 27472/4). Scale bars: 300 μm (**A**, **C**, **D**), 400 μm (**B**), 10 μm (**E**), 20 μm (**F**–**H**).

GenBank (LC390389) for an individual identified as *Peronia* sp. and collected from Sakurajima, Kagoshima, Japan (Tagaki et al. 2019), which is south to the northernmost known locality near the Seto Marine Biological Laboratory (see material examined). This individual as well as others from "Group V" were referred to as "*Peronia* sp." by Takagi et al. (2019) and clearly belong to the mitochondrial unit #1 of *Peronia verruculata* (Fig. 2). Four COI sequences were obtained from GenBank (JN543152, JN543153, JN543154, JN543165) for individuals from the coast of China, from Hainan (18°N) to Fujian (26°N) (Sun et al. 2014). These individuals were referred to as "*Peronia verruculata*" by Sun et al. (2014) and clearly belong to the mitochondrial unit #1 of *Peronia verruculata* (Fig. 2). Finally, the COI (MK993404) and 16S (MK993392) sequences of the "voucher LaFM7S" represent *P. persiae* (Fig. 2): all published mitochondrial sequences of *P. persiae* cluster together within the unit #4 of *P. verruculata* so only one individual is needed to represent *P. persiae*. **Distribution (Fig. 6).** *Peronia verruculata* is the most widespread of all onchidiid species. Its most western records are known from the Red Sea and southern Mozambique (26°S). Its most eastern records are in Japan, Wakayama (33°N), Vanuatu, and Queensland (21°S). It is unclear how far south it is distributed in southeastern Australia, although we did not find it in Sydney, New South Wales (see remarks below as well as remarks on *P. sydneyensis*). Undoubtedly, the delineation and distribution of the mitochondrial units of *P. verruculata* will change as new DNA sequences are added, especially from the Arabian Sea, the Red Sea, southern India, as well as southeastern Australia (see species remarks). Note that the range of *P. verruculata* is continuous. Even though our molecular analyses do not include specimens of *P. verruculata* from places like southern India, the Persian Gulf, or the northwestern corner of the Indian Ocean (coasts of Somalia, Yemen, and Oman), *P. verruculata* must be present there (red areas in Fig. 6). As of today, units #1 and #2 are sympatric in southeastern Sumatra (we found them both together at our stations 78 and 82), and units #1 and #3 are sympatric in Singapore.

*Peronia verruculata* also is very abundant and has been very often recorded in the past. However, *Peronia* species are externally cryptic and can be easily misidentified and confused. Here the records that are positively confirmed are distinguished from the records that cannot be confirmed. Erroneous applications of the name *P. verruculata* (or some of its synonyms) are also listed. All the details can be found in the species remarks (see below).

The presence of *P. verruculata* is confirmed here at the following locations (as O. verruculatum or P. verruculata, unless specified): Australia, Queensland (Hoffmann 1928; present study), Torres Strait (type locality of S. viridis; new record); China (Sun et al. 2014; Liu et al. 2015; Xu et al. 2018), Hong Kong (Hoffmann 1928; Britton 1984; present study); India, Andaman Islands (new record), Gulf of Mannar (Farran 1905), Nicobar (Mörch 1872a, b, as P. mauritiana; Semper 1880; Bergh 1884a; present study), western coast (type locality of P. gondwanae; new record); Indonesia, Ambon (new record), Bali (new record), Halmahera (new record), Java (Hoffmann 1928; present study), Lombok (new record), Seram (new record), Sulawesi (type locality of O. elberti; Dayrat et al. 2011, as Peronia sp. 6; new record), Sumatra (new record), Tanimbar (new record), Timor (new record), West Papua (type locality of O. ferrugineum and O. astridae; new record); Iran, Persian Gulf (Maniei et al. 2020a, type locality of P. persiae; present study); Japan, Kagoshima (Tagaki et al. 2019, as Peronia sp.; new record), Wakayama (new record); Madagascar (Odhner 1919; present study); Malaysia, Peninsular Malaysia (new record); Mayotte (type locality of *S. gravieri*; new record); Mozambique (Dayrat et al. 2011, as Peronia sp. 4 and 5; new record); New Caledonia (type locality of S. carbonaria; new record); Pakistan (Hoffmann 1928; present study); Palau (new record); Papua New Guinea, Madang (new record), New Ireland (new record); Philippines (Labbé 1934a, as P. branchifera; new record), Bohol (new record), Cebu (Dayrat et al. 2011, as Scaphis sp.; new record), Luzon (type locality of O. branchiferum; new record), Negros (new record); Red Sea (type locality of O. verruculatum, P. savignii, P. anomala, and O. durum; paralectotypes of P. gondwanae; present study); Singapore (Hoffmann 1928; Chang et al. 2018; present study); Solomon Islands (type locality of *P. gaimardi*; new record); Tanzania, Zanzibar (paralectotypes of *S. gravieri*; new record); Vanuatu (new record); Vietnam (type locality of *S. lata* and *S. tonkinensis*; new record).

The following records from the literature are not confirmed here, because authors did not provide enough information supporting the identification (as O. verruculatum or *P. verruculata* unless specified): Australia (Hutchings and Recher 1982), New South Wales (Bretnall 1919; Dakin 1947; Smith and Kershaw 1979); Queensland (Semper 1880; Hedley 1909; Bretnall 1919; Allan and Bell 1947; Allan 1950); Djibouti (Labbé 1934a, paralectotypes of S. gravieri); eastern Africa (Semper 1880); India, Andaman Islands (Santhosh Kumar et al. 2016), Gulf of Kutch (Menon et al. 1961), Gulf of Mannar (Gopinadha Pillai and Appukuttan 1980), Nicobar (Plate 1893), northwestern coast (Mandal and Harkantra 2013; Solanki et al. 2017), Sri Lanka (Nevill 1870, 1878; Plate 1893), southeastern coast (Hoffmann 1928), Uran City, near Mumbai (Patil and Kulkarni 2013); Indonesia, Ambon (Semper 1880; Plate 1893; Martens 1897), Timor (Martens 1897); Japan (Nakaoka et al. 2006; Wardiatno et al. 2015), Tokara Islands (Baba 1958), Misaki (Baba 1958), Boso Peninsula (Katagiri and Katagiri 2007); Madagascar (Marcus and Marcus 1970); Mauritius (Labbé 1934a), New Caledonia (Fischer and Crosse 1878; Hoffmann 1928; Labbé 1934a); New Guinea (Labbé 1934a); Philippines (Semper 1880; Labbé 1934a, as P. branchifera and P. verruculata); Red Sea (Semper 1880; Hoffmann 1928; Labbé 1934a); Samoa (Schmeltz 1874); South Africa (Connolly 1939); Vanuatu (Solem 1959); Vietnam (Zvonareva and Kantor 2016, as Peronia sp.).

The following records are erroneous, i.e., the names that were used (as *O. ver-ruculatum* or *P. verruculata* unless specified) refer to species that are not *P. verruculata* unless specified) and Sagami Bay (Hoffmann 1928) are records of *P. setoensis*; Djibouti (paralectotype of *P. gaimardi*), Red Sea (paralectotype of *P. gondwanae*), South Africa (Hoffmann 1928), and western India (paralectotype of *P. gondwanae*; Awati & Karandikar, 1948) are records of *P. madagascariensis*; Australia, Northern Territory, Darwin (Hoffmann 1928) is a record of *P. willani*; India, Nicobar Islands (Mörch 1872a, b), Japan, Tokara Islands (Baba 1958), and Mauritius (possible paralectotype of *P. gondwanae*) are records of *P. platei*. Finally, Britton (1984) recorded from Hong Kong some slugs with intestinal loops of type II as *P. verruculata*; those slugs do not belong to *Peronia* (they likely were *Paromoionchis tumidus*, a species with intestinal loops of type II).

**Etymology.** The etymology of specific names is treated alphabetically. *Peronia anomala* was named after the supposedly anomalous intestinal loops of type II, except Labbé made a mistake because the intestinal loops are of type I (Fig. 86B).

*Onchidium astridae* is named after Astrid of Sweden [1905–1935], spouse of Prince Leopold [1901–1983], King of the Belgians from 1934 to 1951; the type material of *O. astridae* was collected in 1929 during a scientific journey by Prince Leopold and his wife in the former Dutch East Indies (Indonesia).

Onchidium branchiferum was named after the dorsal gills on the dorsal notum.

*Scaphis carbonaria* was named after the (artificial) charcoal color (*carbonaria* in Latin) of the ventrum of the preserved holotype.

*Onchidium durum* was named after the hard (*durum* in Latin) notum of the preserved type specimens.

Onchidium elberti was named after Dr. J. Elbert, who collected the holotype in 1909.

Onchidium ferrugineum was named after the rusty (ferrugineum in Latin) color of the live individuals collected by Lesson which belong to two different species: the lectotype belongs to Peronia verruculata (unit #1) and the paralectotypes to Wallaconchis ater. The dorsal notum of some individuals of W. ater can be homogenously of rusty color (e.g., Goulding et al. 2018b: fig. 36F) but individuals of P. verruculata (unit #1) are not typically of rusty color, although their notum commonly displays red patches. Lesson's (1833: pl. 19, figs 1, 2) illustrations of Peronia ferruginea in his Illustrations de Zoologie represent a Peronia slug with a dorsal notum that is homogenously of rusty color: it almost looks like an individual of Wallaconchis ater to which dorsal gills were artificially added.

*Peronia gaimardi* was named after Joseph Paul Gaimard [1793–1858], who collected (with Jean René Constant Quoy) the type material in Vanikoro in 1829 during a voyage of the *Astrolabe*.

*Paraperonia gondwanae* was named after its supposedly Gondwanan distribution (Red Sea, Mauritius, western India, and Torres Strait).

*Scaphis gravieri* was named after Charles Joseph Gravier [1865–1937], professor of zoology (worms and crustaceans) at the MNHN, who collected two paralectotypes from Djibouti.

*Scaphis lata* was named after the broad (*lata* in Latin) and circular shape of preserved type specimens.

Peronia persiae was named after the Persian Gulf.

*Peronia savignii* was named after Marie Jules César Lelorgne de Savigny [1777–1851], a French zoologist who participated in Napoleon's expedition to Egypt and published a plate of illustrations for gastropods (including onchidiids) in the *Description de l'Egypte* (Savigny 1817: pl. 2).

Scaphis tonkinensis was named after its type locality in Tonkin, i.e., Vietnam.

*Onchidium verruculatum* was named after the dorsal notum covered with warts (*verruculatum* in Latin).

*Scaphis viridis* was named after the (artificial) green color of the preserved type specimens.

**Habitat** (Figs 65–69). Unit #1 is found in a large variety of habitats. It is predominantly found on rocks in the rocky intertidal (including man-made structures). It can also be found on huge and isolated boulders on a sandy beach or in coral rubble mixed or not with sand. The rocks on which the unit #1 is found can be associated or not with sparse mangrove trees. It is also found on sandy mud inside or nearby mangroves. Exceptionally, it can be found on old logs inside muddy mangroves. Unit #2 is found on coral rubble and rocks on sandy beaches. Unit #3 is found on rocks on a beach and in the rocky intertidal. Unit #4 is found in the rocky intertidal. Unit #5 is found in

the rocky intertidal as well as on mud, sandy or not. There was no habitat data on the labels of the material studied here for unit #6 but it is most likely found in the rocky intertidal, like the other units of *Peronia verruculata*.

*Peronia verruculata* is extremely common across its entire distribution. In localities where they overlap geographically, the different mitochondrial units are found more or less in equal abundance (units #1 and #3 in Singapore, and units #1 and #2 in south-eastern Sumatra). *Peronia verruculata* is commonly found during the day, even though a few individuals were also collected at night.

**Color and morphology of live animals** (Figs 70–77). In unit #1, live animals are not covered with mud, but they can often bear tiny pieces of various materials, such as sand and broken shells (Figs 70–73). The background color of the dorsal notum is highly variable, most often brown (light to dark), or greenish, and occasionally even black. The background is mottled with darker areas, occasionally with red areas. In most animals, the color of the dorsal papillae varies as that of the background itself. In some animals, however, the tip of the dorsal papillae (with and without dorsal eyes) can be bright yellow. The color of the foot is the same as that of the hyponotum, which varies greatly from pure white to dark blue-green. In most animals, the ventral surface is yellowish-greenish or yellowish-bluish. The ventral color (foot and hyponotum) of an individual can change rapidly, especially when disturbed. The ocular tentacles are brown-grey (variable from light to dark), like the head. The ocular tentacles are short (just a few millimeters long). Preserved specimens no longer display the colors of live animals. Colors tend to fade rapidly with preservation.

The dorsal notum of live animals is covered by dozens of papillae of various sizes. Those papillae do not retract within the notum, whether animals are disturbed or not, and so the dorsal notum is never smooth. Larger papillae are not arranged in two longitudinal and lateral ridges (on either side of the median line), even though larger papillae are mostly concentrated in the central area of the dorsal notum. Some papillae bear from one to five black dorsal eyes at their tip (most papillae bear three eyes). The number of papillae with dorsal eyes is variable (from 10 to 22) and papillae in the central area of the dorsum tend to bear more eyes than those on the side. Occasionally, papillae can bear more than five eyes: a central, large papilla can bear up to eight eyes but, like other papillae, is not fully retractable within the notum. The exact number of papillae with eyes can be difficult to count because papillae are often dark, and because the eyes, which are located at the tip of the papillae, can be seen only if papillae are relaxed. Dorsal gills are present on the posterior third of the dorsal notum. Dorsal gills are most easily observed when animals are relaxed under water. When slugs are not under water, dorsal gills are retracted and hard to see. If animals were not relaxed before preservation, gills can be retracted and hard to see in preserved specimens (the best relaxation method is to immerse live specimens in a solution of magnesium chloride).

The color variation in unit #2 (Fig. 74) and unit #3 (Fig. 75) is similar to the color variation in unit #1, and specimens cannot be separated where units overlap geographically (in Singapore for units #1 and #2, and in southeastern Sumatra for units #1 and #3). The number of papillae with dorsal eyes observed in unit #2 (from 14 to 22) and

in unit #3 (from 10 to 18) is within the range observed in unit #1. Slight differences may be due to a more limited sampling.

In unit #4, the color of the dorsal notum is brown, mottled with darker and lighter areas (Fig. 76). The ventral surface (foot and hyponotum) is brown-greyish. The number of papillae with dorsal eyes varies from 10 to 18.

In unit #5, the dorsal notum is brown, light to dark, mottled with darker areas (Fig. 77). The ventral surface (foot and hyponotum) is yellowish, greenish, or bluish, and can change rapidly in any given individual. The number of papillae with dorsal eyes varies from 10 to 20.

Pictures of live animals were not available for unit #6 (Red Sea). The dorsal color of preserved specimens is beige with faded darker areas. The ventrum is beige. The number of papillae with dorsal eyes varies from 10 to 18, but the black eye color possibly faded in some of them.

The largest specimens are 60 mm long in unit #1, 55 mm long in unit #2, 40 mm long in unit #3, 60 mm long in unit #4, 50 mm long in unit #5, and 40 mm long in unit #6. Exceptionally, one individual in New Caledonia was 73 mm long (unit #1).

External morphology (Fig. 78A-C). The body is not flattened. The notum is oval. The hyponotum is horizontal in live animals. The orientation of the hyponotum as well as the shape of the dorsal notum of preserved animals greatly vary depending on preservation. The width of the hyponotum relative to the total width of the ventral surface (pedal sole and hyponotum) varies among individuals but is approximately one third. In the anterior region, the left and right ocular tentacles are superior to the mouth. Eyes are located at the tip of the two ocular tentacles. Inferior to the ocular tentacles, superior to the mouth, the head bears a pair of oral lobes. The latter are smooth, with no transversal protuberance. The male opening (of the copulatory complex) is below and to the left of the right ocular tentacle (i.e., between the two ocular tentacles, but closer to the right than to the left tentacle). The anus is posterior, median, close to the edge of the pedal sole. On the right side (to the left in ventral view), a peripodial groove is present at the junction between the foot and the hyponotum, running longitudinally all the way from the head to the posterior end. The female pore, which marks the posterior end of the peripodial groove, is located a few millimeters from the anus and the pneumostome, which does not vary much among individuals. The pneumostome is median. Its position on the hyponotum relative to the notum margin and the edge of the pedal sole varies among individuals but averages in the middle.

Visceral cavity and pallial complex. The anterior pedal gland is small, more or less round, and flattened, lying on the floor of the visceral cavity below the buccal mass and below a thin layer of connective tissue (it can be hard to detect). The heart, enclosed in the pericardium, is on the right side of the visceral cavity, slightly posterior to the middle. An anterior vessel supports several anterior organs such as the buccal mass, the nervous system, and the copulatory complex. The kidney is nearly symmetrical, the right and left parts being equally developed. The kidney is intricately attached to the respiratory complex. The lung is posterior in two more or less symmetrical parts, left and right, which are joined in the middle. **Nervous system** (Fig. 78D). The circum-esophageal nerve ring is post-pharyngeal and pre-esophageal. The paired cerebral ganglia are separated by a short cerebral commissure of which the length varies among individuals. Paired pleural and pedal ganglia are also all distinct. The visceral commissure is short but distinctly present and the visceral ganglion tends to be slightly to the left. Cerebro-pleural and pleuro-pedal connectives are short and pleural and cerebral ganglia touch each other on either side. Nerves from the cerebral ganglia innervate the buccal area and the ocular tentacles and, on the right side, the penial complex. Nerves from the pedal ganglia innervate the foot. Nerves from the pleural ganglia innervate the lateral and dorsal regions of the mantle. Nerves from the visceral ganglia innervate the visceral organs. Ganglia are commonly surrounded by almost transparent connective tissue through which they can be observed.

**Digestive system** (Figs 79–81, 82A, 83A, 84A, B, 85–93). There are no jaws. The left and right salivary glands, heavily branched, join the buccal mass dorsally, on either side of the esophagus. The esophagus is narrow and straight, with thin internal folds. The esophagus enters the stomach anteriorly (Fig. 79). Only a portion of the posterior aspect of the stomach can be seen in dorsal view because it is partly covered by the lobes of the digestive gland. The dorsal lobe is mainly on the right. The left, lateral lobe is mainly ventral. The posterior lobe covers the posterior aspect of the stomach. The stomach is a U-shaped sac divided into four chambers (Fig. 79). The first chamber, which receives the esophagus, is delimited by thin tissue, and receives the ducts of the dorsal and lateral lobes of the digestive gland. It is internally smooth (with no ridges). The second, posterior chamber, delimited by thick muscular tissue (which takes most of the space inside), receives the duct of the posterior lobe of the digestive gland. The third, funnel-shaped chamber is delimited by thin tissue with high leaflet-like ridges internally. The fourth chamber is continuous and externally similar to the third, but it bears only low, thin ridges internally.

The intestine is long and narrow. Intestinal loops were checked in every specimen listed in the material examined: the intestinal loops are of type I with a transitional loop oriented between 3 and 6 o'clock (Figs 79–81, 82A, 83A, 84A, B, 85, 86). There is no rectal gland.

The radula is in between two large postero-lateral muscular masses (Figs 87–93). Each radular row contains a rachidian tooth and two half rows of lateral teeth of similar size and shape. Examples of radular formulae are presented in Table 5. The rachidian teeth are unicuspid (Fig. 87A): the median cusp is always present; there are no conspicuous cusps on the lateral sides of the base of the rachidian tooth. The median cusp of the rachidian teeth is approximately 40  $\mu$ m long. The lateral aspect of the base of the rachidian teeth is straight. The half rows of lateral teeth form an angle of 45° with the rachidian axis. Except for the few innermost and few outermost lateral teeth, the size and shape of the lateral teeth are unicuspid with a flattened and curved hook (approximately from 80 to 120  $\mu$ m long) with a rounded tip, but there is also a pointed spine on the outer lateral expansion of the base, or basal lateral spine (Fig. 87D). In

most cases, the basal lateral spine cannot be observed because it is hidden below the hook of the next, outer lateral tooth. It can only be observed when the teeth are not too close (such as in the innermost and outermost regions) or when teeth are placed in an unusual position. The inner and outer lateral aspects of the hook of the lateral teeth are straight (i.e., not wavy and not with any protuberance).

**Reproductive system** (Figs 82B, C, 83B, C, 84C, D, 94–109). Sexual maturity is correlated with animal length. Mature individuals have large female organs (with a large female gland mass) and fully developed male copulatory parts. The smallest, immature individuals may have inconspicuous (or no) female organs and rudimentary anterior male parts.

The female organs are located (with some male parts) at the posterior end of the visceral cavity (Figs 82B, 83B, 84C, 94A–C, 95A, B, 96A). The hermaphroditic gland is a single mass, joining the spermoviduct through the hermaphroditic duct (which conveys the eggs and the autosperm). There is a narrow, elongated receptaculum seminalis (caecum) along the hermaphroditic duct. The female gland mass contains various glands (mucus and albumen) which can hardly be separated by dissection and of which the exact connections remain uncertain. The hermaphroditic duct becomes the spermoviduct (which conveys eggs, exosperm, and autosperm). Proximally, the spermoviduct is not divided (at least externally) and is embedded within the female gland mass. Distally, the spermoviduct branches into the straight deferent duct (which conveys the autosperm up to the anterior region, running through the body wall) and the oviduct. The free oviduct conveys the eggs up to the female opening and the exosperm from the female opening up to the fertilization chamber. The large, spherical-ovate spermatheca connects to the oviduct through a short duct. The oviduct is narrow and straight. There is no vaginal gland.

The male anterior organs consist of the penial complex (penis, penial sheath, vestibule, deferent duct, retractor muscle) and the accessory penial gland (Figs 82C, 83C, 84D, 94D, 95C, 96B, 97–109). The penial complex and the accessory penial gland share the same vestibule and the same anterior male opening.

The penial sheath is narrow and elongated. The penial sheath protects the penis for its entire length. The beginning of the retractor muscle marks the separation between the penial sheath (and the penis inside) and the deferent duct, which is highly coiled. The retractor muscle, which can be shorter or longer than the penial sheath, inserts at the posterior end of the visceral cavity. Inside the penial sheath, the penis is a narrow, elongated, soft, hollow tube. Its distal end bears conical hooks which are less than 50  $\mu$ m long in units #1 and #2, less than 55  $\mu$ m long in units #5 and #6, and less than 60  $\mu$ m in units #3 and #4 (Figs 97–102). When the penis is retracted inside the penial sheath, the hooks are densely packed inside the tube-like penis; during copulation, the penis is evaginated like a glove and the hooks are outside, not as densely packed. In some individuals of unit #4, a few penial hooks are exceptionally double, or two-pronged (Fig. 100C).

The accessory penial gland is a long, tube-like flagellum with a proximal dead end. The length of the flagellum of the penial gland varies among individuals but it is always highly coiled. Near its distal end (just before the hollow spine), the flagellum is enlarged into a thick muscular sac, which is less than 15 mm long in units #1 and #6 and less than 10 mm long in the other units. Distally, the flagellum ends in a hard, hollow spine protected by a sheath which opens into the vestibule.

The hollow spine is narrow, elongated, conical at its base, and straight or slightly curved (Figs 103–109). Its shape varies between individuals, including at its tip which may or may not be pointed. Its length (Table 4) ranges from 1.4 mm ([5481] MNHN-IM-2013-62393) to 2 mm ([5068] UMIZ 00166, [5469] MNHN-IM-2013-12010) in unit #1, from 1.4 mm ([1796] UMIZ 00180) to 1.7 mm ([1797] UMIZ 00180) in unit #2, from 1.8 mm ([990] ZRC.MOL.10496) to 2.2 mm ([976] USMMC 00051) in unit #3, from 2.2 mm ([6165] MNHN-IM-2019-1385) to 2.8 mm ([6164] MNHN-IM-2019-1384) in unit #4, from 1.8 mm ([3144] MNHN-IM-2019-1611) to 2 mm ([3231] MNHN-IM-2019-1610) in unit #5, from 2 mm (ZMH 27472, spm #4) to 2.4 mm (ZMH 27472, spm #2).

Its diameter at the base (Table 4) ranges from 100  $\mu$ m ([5481] MNHN-IM-2013-62393) to 200  $\mu$ m ([5621] ITBZC IM 00021) and even, exceptionally, 270  $\mu$ m ([991] ZRC.MOL.10497) in unit #1, from 140  $\mu$ m [1796] UMIZ 00180) to 160  $\mu$ m [1797] UMIZ 00180) in unit #2, from 200  $\mu$ m ([989] ZRC. MOL.16070) to 270  $\mu$ m ([977] USMMC 00064) in unit #3, around 200  $\mu$ m ([6164] MNHN-IM-2019-1384, [6165] MNHN-IM-2019-1385, and [6166] MNHN-IM-2019-1386) in unit #4, from 150  $\mu$ m ([3144] MNHN-IM-2019-1611) to 180  $\mu$ m ([3231] MNHN-IM-2019-1610) in unit #5, and from 140  $\mu$ m (ZMH 27472, spm #4) to 200  $\mu$ m (ZMH 27472, spms #2 and #3) in unit #6.

Its diameter at the tip (Table 4) ranges from 35  $\mu$ m ([5481] MNHN-IM-2013-62393) to 50  $\mu$ m (e.g., [5068] UMIZ 00166) in unit #1, from 30  $\mu$ m [1795] UMIZ 00180) to 35  $\mu$ m [1796] UMIZ 00180) in unit #2, and from 40  $\mu$ m [989] ZRC.MOL.16070) to 80  $\mu$ m [977] USMMC 00064) in unit #3, around 50  $\mu$ m ([6164] MNHN-IM-2019-1384, [6165] MNHN-IM-2019-1385, and [6166] MNHN-IM-2019-1386) in unit #4, from 45  $\mu$ m ([3231] MNHN-IM-2019-1610) to 50  $\mu$ m ([3144] MNHN-IM-2019-1611) in unit #5, and from 55  $\mu$ m (ZMH 27472, spm #1) to 60  $\mu$ m (ZMH 27472, spms #2 to #4) in unit #6.

**Diagnostic features** (Table 4). Externally, *Peronia verruculata* cannot be distinguished from the other *Peronia* species. The animal length, which is helpful to identify *P. peronii*, does not help identify *P. verruculata*. In our material, most live animals are between 30 and 40 mm long, but some animals are exceptionally longer: e.g., 60 mm for [2162] (UMIZ 00171) in Sulawesi, 60 mm for [5620] (ITBZC IM 00021) in Vietnam, and 73 mm for [6212] (MNHN-IM-2019-1592) in New Caledonia. Internally, all units of *P. verruculata* are cryptic with each other (Table 4). The ranges of sizes for the accessory penial gland (length, diameter at base, diameter at tip) overlap when all units are considered, but ranges may differ when only a pair of units is considered (e.g., the accessory penial gland spine is shorter than 160 µm in unit #2 and longer than 200 µm in unit #3).

The units #1 and #3 are sympatric in Singapore but they cannot be always separated anatomically. Based on the length of its spine (270  $\mu$ m), the Singapore individual
[991] would be assigned to the mitochondrial unit #3 because the spine is longer than 200  $\mu$ m in unit #3 while it usually is less than 200  $\mu$ m in unit #1, but it belongs to the mitochondrial unit #1 (Fig. 2). The diameter of the tip of the spine only partly overlaps between unit #1 (from 35 to 50  $\mu$ m) and unit #3 (from 40 to 80  $\mu$ m), but that trait is hardly practical when it comes to identification (it requires SEM). The units #1 and #2 are sympatric in Sumatra (we found them both together at the stations 78 and 82) but they cannot be separated because they are completely cryptic anatomically (Table 4). All that is not to say that there are no anatomical differences between units of *P. verruculata*. On average, the diameter of the spine of the accessory penial gland tends to be larger both at the base and at the tip in unit #3. However, because ranges of variation overlap, anatomical traits cannot be used to reliably assign individuals to any particular unit.

*Peronia verruculata* is close anatomically to *P. sydneyensis* and *P. willani*. They all share intestinal loops of type I with a transitional loop oriented between 3 and 6 o'clock. There are, however, important differences. The muscular sac of the accessory penial gland is significantly longer in *P. willani* (up to 25 mm) than in *P. verruculata* (up to 15 mm); the spine of the accessory penial gland is significantly shorter in *P. sydneyensis* (less than 1 mm) than in *P. verruculata* (at least 1.3 mm); strong, hemispherical protuberances cover the spine in all individuals of *P. sydneyensis* and are absent in all other species. *Peronia sydneyensis* and *P. verruculata* cannot be confused even where they are sympatric (Queensland and New Caledonia) and *Peronia verruculata* and *P. willani* are not sympatric based on current data.

Remarks. Species delineation. Our decision of recognizing a single species with high population structure and several mitochondrial units is explained in the results (see species delineation). Fresh material from the Red Sea, Somalia, Yemen, Oman, and the Persian Gulf is needed to determine the relationships between the populations of *P. verruculata* from the Red Sea and the remainder of the species. Similarly, fresh material is needed from southwestern and southeastern India, including Sri Lanka, to determine the relationships between the western (Indian Ocean) and eastern (South-East Asia and West Pacific) populations. Most likely, additional populations will show that mitochondrial units are even more mixed than what is already shown here, and new units may be found. Nuclear markers will remain indispensable as the current data show that populations that seem divergent using mitochondrial markers are not reproductively isolated. It is not excluded that populations from the Red Sea belong to two distinct species (both with intestinal loops of type I): *P. verruculata* and another species endemic to the Red Sea. The Peronia diversity in the Red Sea would thus be similar to what is found in Japan, which is also at the periphery of the distribution of Peronia (Fig. 6).

**Synonymy.** The application of all the species names regarded as junior synonyms of *P. verruculata* is addressed here, following a chronological order starting with *P. verruculata* (Tables 1, 6).

Based on our data, there are two *Peronia* species in the Red Sea, one characterized by intestinal loops of type I (with a transitional loop oriented between 3 and 6 o'clock) and

Unit	Current distribution	Names available	Type locality
#1	Singapore to eastern Australia New Caledonia & Japan	Onchidium ferrugineum Lesson 1831a	West Papua Indonesia
<i>#</i> 1	Singapore to castern Austrana, New Calcuonia & Japan		L DI 1
		Onchiaium branchiferum Plate, 1895	Luzon, Philippines
		Onchidium elberti Simroth, 1920	Sulawesi, Indonesia
		Onchidium astridae Labbé, 1934b	West Papua, Indonesia
		Peronia gaimardi Labbé, 1934a	Vanikoro, Solomon Islands
		Scaphis viridis Labbé, 1934a	Torres Strait, Australia
		Scaphis carbonaria Labbé, 1934a	New Caledonia
		Scaphis tonkinensis Labbé, 1934a	Vietnam
		Scaphis lata Labbé, 1934a	Vietnam
#2	Sumatra & Andaman Islands	_	_
#3	Peninsular Malaysia & Singapore	_	_
#4	Persian Gulf, Pakistan & western India	Paraperonia gondwanae Labbé, 1934a	Mumbai, western India
		Peronia persiae Maniei et al., 2020a	Persian Gulf, Iran
#5	Mozambique & Madagascar	Scaphis gravieri Labbé, 1934a	Mayotte
	Red Sea	Onchidium verruculatum Cuvier, 1830	Red Sea
		Peronia savignii Récluz, 1869	Red Sea
		Peronia anomala Labbé, 1934a	Red Sea
		Onchidium durum Labbé, 1934a	Red Sea

**Table 6.** Available species names that apply to the five mitochondrial units of *Peronia verruculata* as well as populations in the Red Sea (not represented by DNA sequences in the present study).

the other characterized by intestinal loops of type V (see remarks on *P. madagascariensis*). Because the intestinal loops of the lectotype of *O. verruculatum* are of type I (Fig. 86A), *P. verruculata* applies to the species described here with intestinal loops of type I.

The original description of Onchidium ferrugineum was published four times in different venues by Lesson, twice in 1831 (first in the Bulletin des sciences naturelles and then in the zoology section of the Coquille voyage), once in February 1832 (in the Mémorial encyclopédique), and once again in 1833 (in his Illustrations de Zoologie). According to Cretella (2010), the date of publication for the description of O. ferrug-ineum in the Coquille voyage is November 15, 1831. Therefore, the oldest and original description of O. ferrugineum is the one published in the Bulletin des sciences naturelles in April 1831. Both descriptions from 1831 did not include any illustration. An illustration of an animal ventral view was published by Lesson (1832: 36–37, fig. 32) in the Mémorial encyclopédique. Two beautiful, colored pictures were published in Lesson's (1833: pl. 19) Illustrations de Zoologie.

The type locality (of the lectotype) of *Onchidium ferrugineum* is Manokwari, West Papua, Indonesia, where at least three *Peronia* species are known to be present (Fig. 6). Based on the length of the lectotype (35 mm) and its intestinal loops of type I with a transitional loop at 4 o'clock (Fig. 80A), *Onchidium ferrugineum* applies to the species described here (*P. verruculata*) and not to *P. griffithsi* or *P. peronii* (Table 4). Unfortunately, this identification cannot be confirmed by the muscular sac or the spine of the accessory penial gland, which are missing in the lectotype. Labbé (1934a: 213–216) claims that there is no accessory penial gland in *Onchidium ferrugineum* and thus does not comment on the spine and the muscular sac of the accessory penial gland of the lectotype. It is unclear whether Labbé dissected the lectotype or if he found it already dissected by Lesson (who commented on the penis of the paralectotypes and

thus might have dissected the lectotype as well). Eleven dorsal papillae with eyes were counted on the lectotype, but it is possible that others faded with time.

Lesson (1833: pl. 19) transferred Onchidium ferrugineum to Peronia. In the written description, Lesson (1833: unnumbered page) considered Peronia ferruginea the type of a genus which he decided to call Peronia, following Blainville, but the type species of Peronia is O. peronii, by monotypy, and the author of Peronia is Fleming (1822a, b). Oken (1834b: 269–270) reported Peronia ferruginea from Lesson's (1833: pl. 19) Il-lustrations de Zoologie. Van der Hoeven (1850: 786; 1856: 817) suggested, based on Lesson's (1833: pl. 19) own illustration, that Peronia ferruginea may be a nudibranch instead of an onchidiid, but there is no question that Peronia ferruginea applies to an onchidiid species. Gray (1850: 117), Adams and Adams (1855: 235), and Tapparone Canefri (1883: 214) classified O. ferrugineum in Peronia but other authors preferred the original combination with the generic name Onchidium.

Semper (1882: 268) kept O. ferrugineum in Onchidium and regarded it as a questionable name because he (erroneously) thought that its original locality was unknown. Plate (1893) did not comment on it. Bretnall (1919: 326-327) thought that O. ferrugineum referred to a species insufficiently known and merely repeated Lesson's original description. Bretnall (1919: 326) also suggested that O. ferrugineum seemed "closely related to that of M. de Blainville," i.e., Peronia mauritiana, a synonym of P. peronii. Solely based on information from the original description, Hoffmann (1928: 71, 74) regarded O. ferrugineum as a junior synonym of O. verruculatum and disagreed with Bretnall that it could refer to O. peronii. However, the application of O. ferrugineum cannot be deduced from the original description, especially because it is based on Peronia and Wallaconchis specimens (see above the remarks on the type material). Finally, Labbé (1934a: 213-216), who re-examined the type specimens of O. ferrugineum, created the generic name Lessonia (later replaced by Lessonina) for O. ferrugineum, for a genus characterized by a unique combination of traits (large and coiled penis, dorsal gills, etc.), without realizing that the types of O. ferrugineum were part of two species from two different genera.

*Peronia savignii* is an objective junior synonym of *Onchidium verruculatum* because they share the same lectotype (see above, the remarks on the type material of *Peronia savignii*). Hoffmann (1928: 69, 72), Labbé (1934a: 193), and Dayrat (2009: 16) all regarded *Onchidium savignyi* Semper, 1800 as an emendation of *Peronia savignii* Récluz, 1869, and *Onchidium savignyi* as a junior synonym of *O. verruculatum*. However, *Onchidium savignyi* Semper, 1880 is not an emendation of *Peronia savignii* Récluz, 1869. Semper (1880: 260–261, pl. 19, fig. 6, pl. 20, fig. 1, pl. 22, figs 5–9) created *Onchidium savignyi* as a new name for two individuals from Bohol, Philippines. Semper (1880: 260) merely suggested (with a question mark) that his *Onchidium savignyi* might refer to the same species as "O. Peronii Savigny, Description de l'Egypte," but did not even mention the existence of *Peronia savignii*. One syntype of *Onchidium savignyi* is well preserved and still undissected (ZMB/Moll 39018). Its notum bears gills, which agrees with Semper's original description and means that *Onchidium savignyi* refers to a *Peronia* species. Therefore, *Peronia savignyi* (Semper, 1880) is a secondary junior homonym of *Peronia savignii* Récluz, 1869 because ICZN Article 58 applies (*savignyi* and *savignii* are deemed to be identical spellings). As junior secondary homonym, *Peronia savignyi* is an available but subjectively invalid name (ICZN 1999: Article 57.3) (Tables 1, 6).

Some authors (Hoffmann 1928: 72–74; Labbé 1934a: 193; Connolly 1939: 454) regarded *Onchidium savignyi* as a junior synonym of *O. verruculatum*, while others regarded *Onchidium savignyi* as valid (e.g., Connolly 1912: 225; Collinge 1910: 172). Also, *Onchidium savignyi* Semper has naturally caused some confusion with respect to whether it refers to the same species as *Peronia savignii* Récluz (e.g., Fischer and Crosse 1878: 697; Smith 1903: 401). Strangely enough, the situation is simple: *Peronia savignii* Récluz is objectively invalid (as junior objective synonym of *O. verruculatum*) and *Peronia savignyi* (Semper) is subjectively invalid (as junior secondary homonym *O. savignii*). Semper's description of the two specimens of *O. savignyi* from Bohol seems to suggest that they belong to *P. verruculata* (e.g., retractor muscle attaching to the end of the body cavity, accessory penial gland spine 2.5 mm long), but the long muscular sac (22 mm long) matches better the anatomy of *P. peronii* (Table 4).

The two syntypes of Onchidium branchiferum are from Manila, Luzon, Philippines. Anatomical traits described by Plate (insertion of the retractor muscle of the penis at the end of the visceral cavity, spine of the accessory penial gland 1 mm long) indicate that O. branchiferum applies to P. verruculata, even though they cannot be confirmed on the syntypes in which all internal organs are either missing or destroyed (Table 4). Plate did not draw the intestinal loops but he describes them as being type I (the orientation of the transitional loop is unknown). The number of radular teeth per half row (88) also matches what is known in *P. verruculata* (Table 5). According to Plate (1893: 184), O. branchiferum is easily recognizable because its branchial plumes are only present on the posterior end of the dorsum (posterior sixth). However, this trait is not distinct from other species and varies depending on preservation (gills are often retracted in preserved specimens and can only be observed if specimens were carefully relaxed before preservation). Plate (1893) did not provide any other feature supporting O. branchiferum as a distinct species, and he did not compare it with any other existing species. Onchidium branchiferum is regarded here as a new junior synonym of *P. verruculata* (Tables 1, 6).

Hoffmann (1928: 75) listed Onchidium branchiferum as a valid name (solely based on information from the original description) but considered it to refer to a "local form" of O. verruculatum. Labbé (1934a: 194) transferred Onchidium branchiferum to Peronia and regarded P. branchifera as a valid name "out of deference to the eminent zoologist Ludwig Plate" even though he agreed with Hoffmann that P. branchifera most likely was just a local form of P. verruculata. Labbé's re-description of P. branchifera was based on a specimen (30/23 mm) collected by Ach. Cuming in 1844 from an unknown locality in the Philippines. There are two jars preserved at the MNHN with Peronia specimens collected by Ach. Cuming in 1844. Labbé (1934a: 192–194) also re-described a specimen collected from the Philippines by Ach. Cuming in 1844 as P. verruculata. It is not possible to determine which jar corresponds to what species in Labbé's (1934a) monograph because Labbé did not indicate species identifications for any of the MNHN specimens he examined. Labbé's description of a "short penial gland" indicate that he most likely examined *P. verruculata* (unit #1). Finally, Marcus and Marcus (1970: 213) wrote that *P. branchifera* was close to *P. verruculata* but with no explanation.

*Onchidium elberti* was described by Simroth (1920) from Muna Island, southeastern Sulawesi, Indonesia, where only *Peronia verruculata* is known to be present (Fig. 6). Internal features of the holotype (24 mm long) are fully compatible with the anatomy of *P. verruculata*: intestinal loops are of type I with a transitional loop oriented at 5 o'clock (Fig. 80B) and the muscular sac of the accessory penial gland is 8 mm long (Table 4). Eleven papillae with dorsal eyes were counted (which fits within the range of the species) but some may have faded with time. As a result, *Onchidium elberti* is regarded here as a junior synonym of *Peronia verruculata* (Tables 1, 6). Hoffmann (1928: 71, 75) thought *Onchidium elberti* was a junior synonym of *O. verruculatum*, based on information from Simroth's original description.

*Onchidium astridae*, the type species of Labbé's genus *Scaphis*, was originally described by Labbé (1934b) within the genus *Onchidium*. Only one specimen is known, the holotype (20/18 mm) by monotypy, from Sorong, West Papua, Indonesia. There is no doubt that *Onchidium astridae* applies to a *Peronia* species because the dorsum of the holotype bears gills. All copulatory parts are missing and Labbé did not describe the length of the muscular sac or the length of the spine of the accessory penial gland. Labbé (1934a: 213, fig. 46) described two muscular sacs instead of just one, but that could not be confirmed here. At least three *Peronia* species are present in West Papua (Fig. 6). However, given the size of the holotype (20 mm long) and, importantly, its intestinal loops of type I with a transitional loop at 4 o'clock (Fig. 80C), *Onchidium astridae* is regarded as a junior synonym of *P. verruculata* (Tables 1, 4, 6). Note that the number of papillae with dorsal eyes could not be counted on the preserved holotype. According to Labbé (1934b), *Onchidium astridae* is close to *Onchidium vaigiense* and *O. steenstrupi*, but both names refer to *Marmaronchis vaigiensis*, a species which belongs to a distinct genus (Dayrat et al. 2018).

The original description of *Peronia gaimardi* was based on two specimens from Vanikoro, Solomon Islands, which were found at the MNHN, and one specimen from Djibouti, which could not be located. The type locality is Vanikoro, locality of the lectotype designated in the present study. Our molecular data demonstrate that *Peronia verruculata* (unit #1) is present in Vanikoro, but *P. peronii* and *P. platei* could also be found there (Fig. 6). Given the intestinal loops of type I (with a transitional loop at 5 o'clock) observed in the lectotype (Fig. 80F), *P. gaimardi* is regarded as a synonym of *P. verruculata* (Tables 1, 4, 6). The male parts of the lectotype are missing and Labbé's description of the copulatory apparatus is confusing because it is based indiscriminately on individuals from both Vanikoro and Djibouti. His measurement of the spine of the accessory gland (8 mm long) is most likely a mistake. In the present study, the longest spine (5 mm long) was found in the lectotype of *P. fidjiensis* (a synonym of *P. peronii*) from Fiji. Also, the lectotype of *P. gaimardi* only is 44 mm long, which would make it a very small individual of *P. peronii*. Given the large size (80 mm long, according to Labbé) of the paralectotype from Djibouti, it most likely

belongs to *P. madagascariensis*, a species present there, and for which large specimens are known (Table 4). It would imply that Labbé confused its intestinal loops of type V for a type I, which is a mistake he often made. Marcus and Marcus (1970: 214) wrote that *P. gaimardi* might be a junior synonym of *P. verruculata* based on information from the original description.

*Peronia anomala*, originally described from the Red Sea, is regarded as a junior synonym of *P. verruculata* because, contrary to what Labbé indicated in the original description, *Peronia anomala* is characterized by intestinal loops of type I (Fig. 86B). It is assumed in this work that there is only one species of *Peronia* slugs with intestinal loops of type I in the Red Sea, although fresh material from the Red Sea may show that there is more than one species. Marcus and Marcus (1960: 881) suggested that *P. anomala* could be a synonym of *P. verruculata* and that intestinal loops of type I in *P. verruculata*, but intestinal loops are only of type I in *P. verruculata* and there are no intestinal loops of type II in *Peronia*. Maniei et al. (2020a: table S1) took Labbé's description for granted and considered that *P. anomala* was characterized by intestinal loops of type II.

The type specimens used by Labbé for the original description of *Paraperonia gondwanae* belong to several species, because our data show that slugs with intestinal loops of types I and V necessarily belong to distinct species. The application of the name *Paraperonia gondwanae* is determined by the lectotype from Bombay (MNHN-IM-2000-33681) with intestinal loops of type I (Fig. 84A). *Paraperonia gondwanae* applies to *P. verruculata*, and, more specifically, to the populations of the mitochondrial unit #4 from western India and Pakistan (Fig. 6, Tables 1, 6). The paralectotypes from the Red Sea with intestinal loops of type I also belong to *P. verruculata*: one "*e*" paralectotype from Suez (MNHN-IM-2000-33684). The paralectotypes with intestinal loops of type V belong to *P. madagascariensis*: one of the "*a*" paralectotypes from Suez (MNHN-IM-2000-33682) and one of the "*c*" paralectotypes from Suez (MNHN-IM-2000-33683). The large specimen with intestinal loops of type I from Mauritius (MNHN-IM-2000-33686), which may or may not be part of the type material of *P. gondwanae*, likely belongs to *P. peronii*.

*Scaphis viridis* was described by Labbé based on three syntypes (four according to the original description) from Thursday Island, in the Torres Strait, Australia. The presence of *P. verruculata* in the Torres Strait is not demonstrated positively with fresh material. However, *P. verruculata* is the only species we found in northeastern Queensland (up to Cairns, 16°S). None of the *Peronia* slugs we collected north of Bowen (20°S) were individuals of *P. sydneyensis* which is thought to be only distributed from southern Queensland down to New South Wales (Sydney) and eastwards to New Caledonia. More importantly, both the original description (Labbé 1934a: 207–208, figs 31–34) and the traits examined in the lectotype here confirm that *S. viridis* applies to *P. verruculata* (Table 4): intestinal loops of type I with a transitional loop at 5 o'clock (Fig. 80F; Labbé 1934a: fig. 32), muscular sac of the accessory penial gland 14 mm long (Labbé) and 15 mm long (lectotype), spine of the accessory penial gland 1 mm long (Labbé)

and 1.7 mm long (lectotype), retractor muscle attaching at the posterior end of the visceral cavity. Because those traits are only compatible with the anatomy of *P. verruculata*, *S. viridis* is regarded here as a junior synonym of *P. verruculata* and which applies to the unit #1 (Tables 1, 6). Finally, a total of 13 dorsal papillae with eyes was observed in the lectotype; more may have faded with time. Labbé only compared *S. viridis* with *Peronia acinosa*, a *nomen dubium* which may or may not refer to an onchidiid species (see general discussion).

There are three Peronia species in New Caledonia, the type locality of Scaphis carbonaria (Fig. 6). DNA sequences of individuals from New Caledonia belong to two species in our molecular data set (P. verruculata and P. sydneyensis). Although our molecular data do not include any specimen of P. peronii from New Caledonia, it is present there based on the rest of its distribution (it is found all the way to Fiji and Tonga; Fig. 6) and on an old specimen from a historical museum collection (ANSP 203028). Two characters in Labbé's original description are problematic. The penis, described as "wide and short, without hooks" (Labbé 1934a: 209, our translation), is absolutely incompatible with *Peronia*, in which the penis is thin, elongated, and always with hooks in the distal region. The absence of dorsal eyes on the notum is also quite perplexing. The notum of the holotype is in poor condition and its dorsal eyes cannot be seen, likely because their black color faded. However, dorsal gills are clearly present on the notum and there is no doubt that S. carbonaria applies to a Peronia species. Based on the length of the muscular sac of the penial accessory gland (10 mm), S. carbonaria is not a junior synonym of *P. peronii*. However, its muscular sac and its intestinal loops of type I with a transitional loop oriented at 4 o'clock are compatible with both P. verruculata and P. sydneyensis (Table 4). The length of the spine helps distinguish both species but Labbé did not mention it and it is missing in the holotype. Therefore, strictly speaking, S. carbonaria should be regarded as a nomen dubium. However, because there are many older names available for the unit #1 of P. verruculata (Table 6), S. carbonaria can be regarded as another junior synonym of P. verruculata. It would make no sense to apply it to *P. sydneyensis* because several important organs (the penis, the spine of the penial accessory gland, the radula) are missing in the holotype and because Labbé's original description is problematic and incomplete.

*Scaphis gravieri* was described originally based on types from Mayotte, Zanzibar, and Djibouti. The application of *Scaphis gravieri* is now based on the lectotype from Mayotte (MNHN-IM-2000-33695), with intestinal loops of type I (Fig. 85A). Our data do not include fresh material from Mayotte, but Mayotte is located between Madagascar and Mozambique where *P. verruculata* (unit #5) is present. Therefore, *S. gravieri* is regarded as a junior synonym of *P. verruculata* (Tables 1, 4, 6). Note that *P. madagascariensis*, a distinct species with intestinal loops of type V, also is expected to be present in Mayotte, even though it has not been recorded there so far (Fig. 6). The presence of *P. verruculata* in Zanzibar (locality of some paralectotypes of *S. gravieri*) is possible but needs to be confirmed with fresh material. Additional, non-type specimens from Zanzibar were examined (MNHN-IM-2014-7989, MNHN-IM-2014-7990): their intestinal loops are of type I with a transitional loop at 5 o'clock. Therefore, those

specimens cannot belong to *P. madagascariensis* (intestinal loops of type V) or *P. peronii* (intestinal loops of type I with a transitional loop oriented between 12 and 3 o'clock), and thus likely belong to *P. verruculata. Peronia verruculata* is expected to be present in Djibouti (locality of some paralectotypes of *S. gravieri*), but that still needs to be demonstrated with fresh material from the northwestern Indian Ocean (Somalia, Yemen, Oman) as well as from the Red Sea and the Persian Gulf.

Pieces of possibly up to three syntypes of *Scaphis tonkinensis* were located at the MNHN (MNHN-IM-2000-33700) but they are useless, poorly preserved, unidentifiable pieces of tissues. Determining the status of *S. tonkinensis* thus relies entirely on Labbé's original description. Given that *P. verruculata* (unit #1) is the only species known in Vietnam, and that several characters provided by Labbé (1934a: 213) match its anatomy (muscular sac 12 mm long, intestinal loops of type I), *S. tonkinensis* is regarded as a junior synonym of *P. verruculata* (Tables 1, 4, 6).

No type material could be located for *Scaphis lata*. Determining the status of *S. lata* thus relies entirely on Labbé's original description. Labbé's original description to determine its status. Given that *P. verruculata* (unit #1) is the only species known in Vietnam, and that several characters provided by Labbé (1934a: 213) match its anatomy (muscular sac 8 mm long, intestinal loops of type I), *S. lata* is regarded as a junior synonym of *P. verruculata*. Labbé mentioned the presence of dorsal gills and so at least some of the syntypes of *S. lata* were *Peronia* slugs. The fact that he also described intestinal loops of type II (which is absent in *Peronia*) means that he either made a mistake (all loops were of type I) or that some syntypes were not *Peronia* slugs.

Onchidium durum, originally described from the Red Sea, is regarded as a junior synonym of *Peronia verruculata* because, contrary to what was indicated in the original description, *Onchidium durum* is characterized by dorsal gills and intestinal loops of type I. It is presumed here that there is only one species of *Peronia* with intestinal loops of type I in the Red Sea. Labbé frequently confused types of intestinal loops; there are no well-documented cases of *Peronia* slugs with intestinal loops of type II.

*Peronia persiae*, originally described from the Persian Gulf, is regarded as a new junior subjective synonym of *P. verruculata* because its mitochondrial DNA sequences, represented by the GenBank "voucher LaFM7S" in our analyses, all cluster together within the unit #4 of *P. verruculata* (Fig. 2). An older name, *P. gondwanae* (Labbé, 1934a), already refers to the unit #4 of *P. verruculata* (Tables 1, 6). So, even in the hypothetical event that unit #4 would later need to be named as a distinct taxon (of subspecific or specific rank), *P. persiae* would still remain invalid because *P. gondwanae* would always take priority over it.

The description of *P. persiae* by Maniei et al. (2020a) is an example of the common but regrettable practice that consists in creating new species names without a comprehensive revision, which almost inevitably leads to increasing the number of unnecessary synonyms (Dayrat 2005). Here are a few of the major methodological issues in the study by Maniei et al. (2020a). First, Maniei et al. (2020a) ignored the existence of many available *Peronia* species names, which is especially problematic in the case of names with type localities near the Persian Gulf (Table 1), such as *Onchidium durum*  and Paraperonia jousseaumei with a type locality in the Red Sea, and Scaphis gravieri with a type locality in Mayotte. Second, Maniei et al. (2020a) decided to create a new name before the nomenclatural status of the other Peronia names was addressed. For instance, Maniei et al. (2020a: table S1) compared P. persiae with P. branchifera, P. ferruginea, P. gaimardi, and P. lata as if they were all valid names, but these names all refer to the unit #1 of P. verruculata (Tables 1, 6). Third, Maniei et al. (2020a) only examined specimens of *P. persiae* from the Persian Gulf, which means that, for comparison, they relied exclusively on the literature which, as the present work shows, is plagued with taxonomic and anatomical errors. For instance, Maniei et al. (2020a: table S1) assumed that the intestinal loops of *P. verruculata* were of types I and II, but it is positively demonstrated here that the intestinal loops of *P. verruculata* are all of type I and that there are no loops of type II in Peronia. Fourth, apart from P. persiae, only P. verruculata and P. peronii are represented in the phylogenetic trees by Maniei et al. (2020a: figs 11, 12), exclusively based on sequences obtained from GenBank (many of which were misidentified). Most specimens in their phylogenetic trees are not even identified at the species level. Using DNA sequences to create a new species name while most species are not being included in phylogenetic analyses is highly problematic.

Maniei et al. (2020b) used the same mitochondrial COI sequences as in Maniei et al. (2020a) to compare metabolites between the *Peronia* slugs they called *P. persiae* and one *Peronia* individual from Bangka Island, near Sumatra, Indonesia. That specimen from Bangka Island, identified as *Peronia* sp. 7 by Maniei et al. (2020a) and as *P. verruculata* by Maniei et al. (2020b), belongs to the unit #1 of *P. verruculata*: its COI (MK993397) and 16S (MK993396) sequences cluster within unit #1. Note that the GenBank accession numbers for COI and 16S are switched in Maniei et al.'s (2020a) Table 2.

Maniei et al. (2020b) summarized their rationale for creating the name *P. per-siae* as follows: "The ABGD test revealed that specimens of *P. persiae* form a separate clade (clade 2). Thus, the specimens from two localities of the Persian Gulf (Iran), i.e. Bandar Lengeh and Lavan Island, were considered as a distinct new species." Mito-chondrial loci alone are not sufficient evidence to delineate species: molecular delimitation analyses can over-split species based on population structure, particularly when these are based on a single locus (Sukumaran and Knowles 2017). More importantly, very high intra-specific mitochondrial divergence has been repeatedly documented in several onchidiid genera (e.g. Goulding et al. 2018c; Dayrat et al. 2019a).

Maniei et al. (2020b) argue that research on metabolites requires sound taxonomic knowledge. That certainly is a commendable goal: indeed, any comparative work in any biological field should be based on correct taxonomy. Unfortunately, *P. persiae* is a junior synonym of both *P. gondwanae* and *P. verruculata* (Tables 1, 6). So, the metabolites compared between "*P. persiae*" and "*P. verruculata*" merely are intra-specific differences (within *P. verruculata*) due to the long geographic distance (between the Persian Gulf and Bangka Island) as well as, most likely, different diets: in fact, Maniei et al. (2020b) acknowledged in their introduction that numerous biotic and abiotic factors influence the chemical composition. To conclude anything about specific differences in metabolites among *Peronia* based on specimens from only two regions, one of which

being represented by a single individual is, to say the least, premature. In order to demonstrate that distinct metabolites are found in distinct species, one needs to study actually distinct species, i.e., species that were reliably identified, and one also needs specimens of the same species from different habitats and from different locations. It is our hope that the present, comprehensive, taxonomic revision will help physiologists, biochemists, ecologists, etc., to identify *Peronia* slugs correctly.

Some comments are also needed regarding the original anatomical description of *P. persiae* by Maniei et al. (2020a). According to Maniei et al. (2020a: 510, fig. 6, table S1), the intestinal loops of *P. persiae* are of type II, but they are without doubt of type I: the transitional loop is oriented at ~ 5 o'clock, as in intestinal loops of type I (Fig. 1). The radular formulae provided by Maniei et al. (2020a: 509) fit well with what was observed here for the unit #4 of *P. verruculata* (Table 5), acknowledging individual variation: from  $49 \times 47.1.47$  (in a live specimen 22 mm long) up to  $71 \times 87.1.87$  (in a live specimen 65 mm long). The length of the spine of the accessory penial gland ("around 1.3 mm") reported by Maniei et al. (2020a: 513) is shorter than what was observed here (from 2.2 to 2.8 mm) but this trait is known to vary between individuals (Table 4). Maniei et al. (2020a: table S1) compared the shape of the tip of the spine of the accessory penial gland between species, but that trait varies greatly intra-specifically and is useless to distinguish species. Finally, Maniei et al. (2020a: 513, fig. 8B) reported some "fork-shaped" penial hooks, which were also observed here in the unit #4 of *P. verruculata* (Fig. 100C).

Additional material (historical museum collections). A specimen from Tanimbar, Indonesia (WAM S26630) is identified as P. verruculata because of its accessory gland spine (1.5 mm long), its intestinal loops of type I (with a transitional loop at 3 o'clock), and its muscular sac (10 mm). Seven specimens from Zanzibar (MNHN-IM-2014-7989 and MNHN-IM-2014-7990) are also identified as P. verruculata because their internal anatomy is only compatible with that species (Table 4). Finally, specimens from the Persian Gulf (NHMD 635301) with intestinal loops of type I (with a transitional loop at 6 o'clock) demonstrate that there is more than one *Peronia* species in the Persian Gulf (Fig. 6). Indeed, based on our DNA sequences, P. madagascariensis (with intestinal loops of type V) is present in the Persian Gulf, and individuals with intestinal loops of type I must belong to a different species. Given that P. verruculata is known from Pakistan and western India (unit #4), eastern Africa (unit #5), and the Red Sea, it most likely lives in the Persian Gulf too. The fresh material recently described as P. persiae by Maniei et al. (2020a) confirms with molecular data the presence of the unit #4 of P. verruculata in the Persian Gulf (Fig. 2). In addition, several historical specimens preserved at various institutions were examined for the present study. They are discussed below in the secondary literature section because they were studied by previous authors.

*Secondary literature.* JE Gray (1850: 117) and Adams and Adams (1855: 235) did not mention *Onchidium verruculatum* in their list of *Peronia* species names. That might seem surprising because they transferred to *Peronia* all slugs with "radiating processes" (Gray 1850: 117) or "arbusculiform tufts" (Adams and Adams 1855: 234) on the dor-

sal notum. And, clearly, Onchidium vertuculatum refers to a species of slugs with such appendages. However, there is an explanation. *Onchidium vertuculatum* was created by Cuvier (1830: 281) in reference to Savigny's (1817: pl. 2, figs 3.1–3.8) illustrations (of slugs from the Red Sea) for which the figure captions by Audouin (1826: 18-20) used Cuvier's (1804) older name Onchidium peronii, originally described from Mauritius. JE Gray (1850: 117) mentioned Savigny's Onchidium peronii in his list of Peronia species names and ME Gray reproduced some of Savigny's drawings: ME Gray's (1850: pl. 183, figs 4, 4a, 5) illustrations are exact copies of Savigny's (1817: pl. II, figs 3.1–3.3) illustrations. Note that Savigny (1817: pl. II, figs 3.1-3.3) illustrated two individuals which may or may not belong to the same species (see above, remarks on the type material of O. verruculatum). Also, note that one of Savigny's (1817: pl. 2, fig. 3.5) drawings beautifully illustrates dorsal gills, which JE Gray was certainly aware of. So, long story short, JE Gray (1850) knew the existence of Savigny's (1817: pl. 2, figs 3.1-3.8) illustrations of slugs with dorsal gills from the Red Sea but decided to refer to them using Cuvier's (1804) older name Onchidium peronii (from Mauritius) and ignore Cuvier's (1830) newer name O. verruculatum (specifically created for those slugs from the Red Sea). Similarly, Adams and Adams (1855: 235) mentioned P. peronii with a reference to Savigny's (1817) plate, not to Cuvier's (1804) original description of *P. peronii*, which means that, exactly like JE Gray (1850), Adams and Adams (1855: 235) decided to ignore Cuvier's newer name Onchidium verruculatum created for the slugs on Savigny's plate.

Keferstein (1865b) described as *Peronia verruculata* three slugs from Nagasaki, Japan. Keferstein's (1865b: pl. VI, fig. 16) drawing of the internal anatomy unmistakably illustrates intestinal loops of type V, which means that he examined *P. setoensis* instead of *P. verruculata* (see remarks on *P. setoensis*). It is unclear whether Keferstein's (1865a: pl. CII, figs 20\*, 20\*\*, pl. CV, figs 1, 2) drawings illustrate the same Nagasaki individual as the one with intestinal loops of type V (Keferstein 1865b: pl. VI, fig. 16). It cannot be excluded that Keferstein examined several of the species found in Japan (Fig. 6). Keferstein (1865a: pl. CIV, figs 9–12) also reproduced four of Savigny's (1817: pl. 2, figs 3.2, 3.3, 3.5, 3.7) original drawings used as a reference by Cuvier for the name *Onchidium verruculatum*. And note, again, that the two individuals illustrated by Savigny may or may not both belong to *O. verruculatum*: one specimen belongs to *P. verruculata* but the other may belong to *P. madagascariensis* (see above, remarks on the type material of *O. verruculatum*). At any rate, to our knowledge, it is in Keferstein's (1865a, b) work that *Onchidium verruculatum* was first transferred to *Peronia*.

Both H. Nevill (1870: 304–305) and G. Nevill (1878: 1) mentioned the presence of *Onchidium verruculatum* in Ceylon. It most likely refers to *P. verruculata*, although there possibly is more than one mitochondrial unit in southern India.

Mörch (1872a: 28; 1872b: 325) mentioned *Peronia verruculata* (as spelling mistake *vermiculata* in 1872b) from Pulo Milu [Pulo Milo, Little Nicobar] and Nancouri [Nancowry, Nicobar Islands], where he says it is common. Those specimens, re-examined for the present study (NHMD 613753), are a record of *P. peronii* (see remarks on *P. peronii*).

Specimens collected during the Galathea Expedition from a bay in Sambelong, Great Nicobar, were examined and the largest individual (35/28 mm) was dissected

(NHMD 635300). Those specimens are important historically because they were mentioned by several authors (see below). Given their size (35/28 to 20/15 mm), their digestive system (type I with a transitional loop oriented at 6 o'clock, in the largest individual), and the size of their accessory gland spine (1 mm in the largest individual), those specimens belong to *P. verruculata*, but could potentially belong to more than one mitochondrial unit (Table 4). Mörch (1872a: 28; 1872b: 325) first mentioned them as *Peronia mauritiana*. Semper (1880: 255) identified them as *O. verruculatum*. Bergh (1884a) described one of them in detail (see below). Hoffmann (1928: 44, 73) also listed them in his material examined for *O. verruculatum*.

Schmeltz (1874: 96) listed *Peronia verruculata* from Samoa in a catalog of the Museum Godeffroy. This possibly is a record of *P. peronii*, although *P. platei* could also live there (Fig. 6).

Ihering (1877: 230–237, pl. IV, fig. 3) described the nervous system of *Peronia verruculata* but did not provide any information on the specimens he examined. It is impossible to determine what *Peronia* species he actually studied.

Fischer and Crosse (1878: 689–690, pl. XXXI, figs 13–15) briefly described the radula of specimens they identified as *Onchidium (Peronia) verruculatum* from New Caledonia. There are three *Peronia* species in New Caledonia, and it is not possible to determine what species they examined.

Semper (1880: 255–257, pl. 22, figs 3, 4; 1882: pl. 21, fig. 1) re-described *O. verruculatum* based on specimens from a variety of localities (Red Sea, East Coast of Africa, Nicobar, Ambon, eastern Australia, Philippines). His written description mostly focuses on traits that are not informative for species identification (e.g., number of dorsal papillae, number of dorsal eyes, radular teeth). Some of Semper's records of *P. verruculata* most likely are correct, given the geographic origin of the material (Fig. 6): Ambon, Philippines, and Cape York (Queensland, Australia). Some other material could be a mix of more than one species: *P. madagascariensis* and *P. verruculata* in the Red Sea and eastern Africa; *P. verruculata* and *P. sydneyensis* in MacKay, Queensland. Semper's material from Brisbane (27°S) most likely was part of *P. sydneyensis* (Fig. 6). Finally, Semper's specimen from Nicobar was part of some material collected during the Galathea Expedition and first reported by Mörch (1872a: 28; 1872b: 325) as *Peronia mauritiana* (NHMD 635300). Those specimens, re-examined for the present study, belong to *P. verruculata* (see above).

Bergh (1884a: 148–151, pl. VII, figs 7–12, pl. VIII, fig. 14) described in detail the anatomy of an individual of *O. verruculatum* from Nicobar. The animal size (33/23 mm) and the size of the accessory penial gland spine (1.76 mm) match well the anatomy of *P. verruculata* (unit #1). This specimen was part of a group of specimens collected during the Galathea Expedition in Sambelong, Great Nicobar, which were examined for the present study (NHMD 635300). Their size (35/28 to 20/15 mm), their digestive system (type I with a transitional loop oriented at 6 o'clock, in the largest individual), and the length of their accessory gland spine (1 mm in the largest individual) are also compatible with *P. verruculata*. However, those specimens could potentially belong to more than one mitochondrial unit (Fig. 6). Plate's (1893: 168–170, pl. 7, figs 11, 12, 15, pl. 8, figs 26, 33, pl. 9, figs 36–40, pl. 10, figs 50a, 55, pl. 11, fig. 56, pl. 12, figs 83, 88, 90, 98) re-description of *Onchidium verruculatum* was based on specimens from Ambon, Ceylon, and Nicobar. Given the size (at most 50 mm long), it seems likely that Plate examined *P. verruculata*. However, without precise measurements of the spine of the accessory penial gland, it is not possible to ascertain that Plate examined *P. verruculata* (e.g., *P. peronii* is also present in Nicobar). According to Plate, the only anatomical difference between *O. verruculatum* and *O. savignyi* Semper, 1880, is that dorsal gills are "much longer and tubular" in *O. savignyi*, which is a weak character, to say the least. At any rate, *Peronia savignyi* (Semper, 1880) is deemed to be identical to *Peronia savignii* Récluz, 1869 (ICZN 1999: Article 58) and, as junior secondary homonym, is subjectively invalid (ICZN 1999: Article 57.3) (see remarks on synonymies above). Plate (1893) did not compare *O. verruculatum* to any other species.

Von Martens (1897: 126) mentioned *Onchidium verruculatum* from both Ambon and Timor with no description. Our molecular data indicate that *Peronia verruculata* does live in Ambon and Timor. However, *Peronia peronii* also lives in Timor and likely lives in Ambon too.

Farran (1905: 358–359, pl. VI, figs 13–22) described a *Peronia* slug he identified as *Onchidium verruculatum* from the Gulf of Mannar based on one preserved specimen. Given the specimen size (31/34 mm) and the length of the spine of the penial accessory gland (2.8 mm), it is likely a record of *P. verruculata*, but it is unclear whether it is the unit #2 (known from the Andaman Islands) or unit #4 (known from Mumbai, western India). It could also be a record of a small, immature individual of *P. peronii* (which has not been recorded from southern India but could possibly be found there). Our present study does not include any specimen from Sri Lanka or the Gulf of Mannar.

*Onchidium verruculatum* is one of the eight onchidiid species mentioned by Hedley (1909: 369) from Queensland, Australia, without any reference to any material. It is impossible to know what species Hedley refers to. Our data show that there are two *Peronia* species in Queensland which overlap geographically (Fig. 6).

The references listed by Bretnall (1919: 310) for *Onchidium verruculatum* are all commented on above already. Let us say a few words about the specimens he examined himself. Bretnall's (1919: 310) records of *O. verruculatum* from Broken Bay, New South Wales (33°30'S) are likely records of *Peronia sydneyensis*, the only *Peronia* species known in New South Wales (Fig. 6). Bretnall's (1919: 310) records of *O. verruculatum* from Port Curtis, Queensland (ca. 23°30'S) could be records of *P. sydneyensis* but they could also include *P. verruculata* because the known southernmost locality of the mitochondrial unit #1 of *P. verruculata* is at ca. 21S (see remarks on *P. sydneyensis*).

The record of *Onchidium verruculatum* from Katsepy (Catsèpe), northwestern Madagascar, by Odhner (1919: 23) is within the geographical range of both *P. ver-ruculata* (unit #5) and *P. madagascariensis* (Fig. 6). The voucher specimen, re-examined here (SMNH 180724), clearly belongs to *P. verruculata* because of its intestinal loops of type I (with a transitional loop at 6 o'clock).

Hoffmann (1928: 72) listed many references for *O. verruculatum*, all of which (but one) are commented upon elsewhere already: comments on the references for

*Onchidium peronii*, *O. punctatum*, and *Peronia mauritiana* can be found in our remarks on *P. peronii*; comments on the references for *Onchidium ferrugineum* and *O. elberti* can be found above, in our remarks on synonymies; *Peronia alderi* is regarded as a *nomen dubium* and is commented on in the general discussion. Mörch's (1872a: 28; 1872b: 326) record of *Peronia* (*Onchidiella*) *marmorata* from Nicobar Islands, which Hoffmann (1928: 72) included in his list of correct references for *O. verruculatum*, is commented on here: it is not possible to know to what species Mörch refers; Godwin-Austen (1895: 443) listed Mörch's record as *Onchidium* (*Onchidiella*) *marmorata* in a faunistic inventory of Nicobar and Andaman, without clarifying to what species that name was referring. At any rate, Lesson's (1831b) *Onchidium marmoratum* belongs to *Marmaronchis* (Dayrat et al. 2018).

More importantly, Hoffmann (1928: 44) examined specimens from the collections in Stockholm and Copenhagen which he identified as *O. verruculatum*. Most of those specimens could be re-examined for the present study and are commented on here. Several specimens are confirmed here to belong to *P. verruculata* based on diagnostic anatomical traits (Table 4): the material from Karachi (SMNH 180721) belongs to the unit #4 of *P. verruculata*; the material from Hong Kong (SMNH 180707) and Queensland (SMNH 180712, 180713, 180714) belongs to the widespread unit #1; the material from Singapore (SMNH 180716) and the Java Sea (SMNH 180719, 180720, 180722) could belong to any of the three units (#1, #2, #3) present in the region. However, several specimens listed by Hoffmann (1928: 44, 72) clearly do not belong to *P. verruculata* (see remarks on each corresponding species): the specimen from Port Natal, South Africa (SMNH 180711) belongs to *P. madagascariensis*; the specimen from Sagami Bay, Japan (SMNH 180725) belongs to *P. veillani*.

The Red Sea specimens from the Copenhagen collections listed as "Savigny leg., Mus. Marsil" belong to *P. verruculata* because of their intestinal loops of type I (NHMD 90791). The label in the jar says that they were obtained by the Copenhagen Museum in 1860 (journal entry) from Savigny and the museum of Marseille (erroneously spelled "Marsielle"). Given that the type material of *O. verruculatum* was originally illustrated by Savigny (1817), it is worth making it clear here that those specimens are not the type material of *O. verruculatum* (Hoffmann did not say they were). The type material of *O. verruculatum* is in Paris (MNHN-IM-2000-22941).

The other specimens mentioned by Hoffmann (1928: 44, 73) could not be reexamined for the present study: the specimens from the Red Sea could potentially belong to *P. verruculata* or *P. madagascariensis*; the specimens from Tharangambadi (Tranquebar), southeastern India, most likely belong to *P. verruculata*; the specimens from New Caledonia could potentially belong to any of the three species present there; the specimens from Hawaii clearly belong to *P. platei*.

All the references mentioned by Labbé (1934a: 192–193) for *Peronia verruculata* are already commented on above. Labbé (1934a: 193) blindly accepted the distribution provided by Hoffmann (1928: 44, 73), which was not accurate because, for instance, *P. verruculata* is not present in Hawaii (see above). Labbé (1934a: 193) mentioned intestinal loops of type II in one individual from the Red Sea, even though he

did not list any material examined from the Red Sea. At any rate, those intestinal loops were most likely of type I as aforementioned Labbé often made that kind of mistake. For instance, Labbé (1934a: 196) described as *P. anomala* a species with supposedly anomalous intestinal loops of type II, but the type material, re-examined here, clearly is characterized by loops of type I (Fig. 86B). The specimens examined by Labbé from the Philippines likely belong to *P. verruculata*, but the individuals from New Caledonia or New Guinea could belong to several *Peronia* species. Finally, so far, only *P. peronii* and *P. griffithsi* are positively known from Mauritius and his record of *P. verruculata* there (as Ile de France) must not be taken for granted.

The record of *Onchidium (Peronia) verruculatum* from Natal, South Africa (Connolly 1939: 454) likely is a record of *P. madagascariensis*, the only *Peronia* species so far known from South Africa. However, *P. verruculata* (unit #5) could also be found in northeastern South Africa because its southernmost known locality is in Maputo (ca. 26°S), very close to South Africa.

Allan and Bell (1947: 152) and Allan (1950: 368) reported onchidiid slugs living in dead coral which they identified as *Onchidium verruculatum* from Moreton Bay, Brisbane, Queensland, Australia. Given its latitude (ca. 27°S), Brisbane is clearly in the range of *P. sydneyensis* and possibly of *P. verruculata* (unit #1) as well. Indeed, it is still unclear how far south *P. verruculata* is distributed in southeastern Australia, although we did not find it in Sydney, ca. 33S (see remarks on *P. sydneyensis*).

For the record of *O. verruculatum* from New South Wales by Dakin (1947: 144), see remarks on *P. sydneyensis*.

Awati and Karandikar (1948) published a detailed anatomical study of a species they identified as *Onchidium verruculatum* based on material from the western coast of India. They mention four localities: Vengurla (ca. 15°50'S), Malvan (ca. 16°06'S), Mumbai (ca. 19°S), and Kathiawar (ca. 21°S). The illustration of the intestinal loops provided by Awati and Karandikar (1948: fig. 6) leaves no doubt about the fact that they examined individuals of *P. madagascariensis*, a species with intestinal loops of type V distributed from South Africa all the way to (at least) Mumbai. Whether a type V was observed by the authors in all the specimens, including those from the southernmost localities (Vengurla and Malvan), is unclear. The presence of intestinal loops of type V in all the specimens examined by Awati and Karandikar (1948) would mean that *P. madagascariensis* is found much farther south than Mumbai. If the authors did not notice that some intestinal loops were of type I, then they described two species under the name *Onchidium verruculatum: P. madagascariensis* and *P. verruculata* (Fig. 6).

Baba (1958: 144) reported that some individuals of *Onchidium verruculatum* from Tokara Islands (ca. 30°N), just south of Kyushu, were very large (up to 120 mm long), suggesting that they were *P. peronii* instead (see remarks on *P. peronii*). The smaller specimens, however, could be *P. verruculata* (unit #1) and possibly *P. setoensis* (see remarks on *P. setoensis*). The two species which Baba (1958: 21) seems to distinguish (as *Onchidium* and *Onchidium verruculatum*) from Misaki (ca. 34°N), near Osaka, could be *P. verruculata* (unit #1) and *P. setoensis*, which, based on our DNA sequences, are sympatric near the Seto Marine Laboratory, which is close to Osaka (Fig. 6).

Solem (1959: 39) recorded *O. verruculatum* from Vanuatu (Esperitu Santo) which hosts at least two species: *P. verruculata* (unit #1) and *P. peronii* (Fig. 6). The references that he mentioned (Bretnall 1919; Hoffmann 1928; Awati and Karandikar 1948) are already commented on above. His proposed distribution ("Esperitu Santo, Africa to Japan, New Guinea, Australia and New Caledonia. Also common in Hawaii, but not known from Polynesia") is inaccurate (Fig. 6). For instance, the only *Peronia* species in Hawaii is *P. platei* (for comments on Solem's comparison between *O. peronii* and *O. verruculatum*, see remarks on *P. peronii*).

Menon et al. (1961: 493, pl. 10, fig. 84) mentioned *Onchidium veruculatum* in the Gulf of Kutch, northwestern India, which is within the distribution range of both *P. madagascariensis* and *P. veruculata* (Fig. 6). Our data suggest that *P. veruculata* (mitochondrial unit #4) is found from Pakistan (north of the Gulf of Kutch) to Mumbai (south of the Gulf of Khambhat). Also, a paralectotype of *P. gondwanae* from Mumbai (MNHN-IM-2000-33682) with intestinal loops of type V suggests that *P. madagascariensis* lives south of the Gulf of Kutch and Gulf of Khambhat.

Marcus and Marcus (1970: 213) recorded *P. verruculata* from Madagascar based on one specimen (45/20 mm) for which they reported intestinal loops of type II. Most likely, they confused types of intestinal loops (there are no documented intestinal loops of type II in *Peronia* slugs). The specimen they examined likely belongs to *P. verruculata* (unit #5), characterized by intestinal loops of type I, but it could also belong to *P. madagascariensis*, which is characterized by intestinal loops of type V. Both species were recorded in Madagascar and both are characterized by a retractor muscle inserting at the end of the visceral cavity, a trait reported by Marcus and Marcus (1970: 213).

For the record of *O. verruculatum* from the central coast of New South Wales by Smith and Kershaw (1979: 92), see remarks on *P. sydneyensis*.

Gopinadha Pillai and Appukuttan (1980: 34) listed *Onchidium verruculatum* in the Gulf of Mannar, with no description or material. It likely refers to *P. verruculata*.

Hutchings and Recher (1982: 119) listed *Onchidium verruculatum* from Northern Territory, Queensland, and New South Wales, Australia. Based on our data, *O. verruculatum* (unit #1) is only present in Queensland, but it cannot be excluded that it also is present in northern New South Wales (see remarks on *P. sydneyensis*). Northern Territory and New South Wales host other species than *P. verruculata* (Fig. 6).

Britton (1984: 183–184, fig. 2) described *Peronia verruculata* from Hong Kong. Some of the specimens he examined clearly are *Peronia* slugs because he mentioned dorsal gills, and they most likely belong to *Peronia verruculata* (unit #1), the only species known from the coast of China (Fig. 6). However, his specimen with intestinal loops of type II (NHMUK 1982284) was misidentified because there are no intestinal loops of type II in *Peronia*.

Katagiri and Katagiri (2007) distinguished two species (both as *Onchidium verruculatum*) in the waters of the Boso Peninsula (ca. 35N, near Sagami Bay, Honshu) based on external appearance and development. Most likely, those two species correspond to *P. verruculata* (unit #1) and *P. setoensis*, which are the only two *Peronia* species found north of 30N (Fig. 6; see remarks on *P. setoensis*). The name *Peronia verruculata* mentioned in ecological studies in Japan (Nakaoka et al. 2006; Wardiatno et al. 2015) can potentially refer to any of the four *Peronia* species found in Japan (Fig. 6). The name *P. verruculata* mentioned from Mumbai and the Gulf of Khambhat, northwestern India (Mandal and Harkantra 2013; Solanki et al. 2017), could refer to both *P. verruculata* (unit #4) and *P. madagascariensis* (Fig. 6). The name *P. verruculata* mentioned from the coast of mainland China (Sun et al. 2014, 2016; Liu et al. 2015; Xu et al. 2018) refers to the mitochondrial unit #1 of *P. verruculata* (Fig. 6). The name *P. verruculata* mentioned from the Andaman Islands (Santhosh Kumar et al. 2016) could refer to more than one mitochondrial unit of *P. verruculata* (Fig. 6). The name *Peronia* sp. mentioned from Vietnam (Zvonareva and Kantor 2016; 432, fig. 9D) most likely refers to the mitochondrial unit #1 of *P. verruculata* (Fig. 6).

Chang et al. (2018) reported two *Peronia* least-inclusive units in Singapore based on COI sequences, which correspond to our mitochondrial units #1 (their "*Peronia* sp. 2 clade") and #3 (their "Singapore clade"): two of their COI sequences were included in our mitochondrial analyses (Table 2 and Fig. 2). Chang et al. (2018) also reported some anatomical differences between those two units, mostly because they only examined individuals from Singapore. The variation in the number of dorsal eyes per dorsal papilla is not different between both units: for instance, up to eight dorsal eyes per papilla are present in our individual [2987] from Lombok. The diameter measurements of the conical base of the spine of the accessory penial gland overlap: they reported 113–181 µm in unit #1 and 187–267 µm in unit #3, but ranges of 100–270 µm in unit #1 and 200–270 µm in unit #3 were observed here (Table 4). Finally, the ranges in diameter at the tip of the spine also overlap between both units: 35–50 µm in unit #1 and 40–80 µm in unit #3 (Table 4).

Two specimens from Mozambique ([730] NHMUK 20080190, and [733] NHMUK 20060257), tentatively identified as *Peronia* sp. 4 and sp. 5 respectively by Dayrat et al. (2011: 428), belong to the unit #5 of *P. verruculata* (Fig. 2). The specimens [731] (NHMUK 20050628) from Sulawesi, Indonesia, and [712] (UF 368518) from Cebu, Philippines, referred to as *Peronia* sp. 6 and *Scaphis* sp. respectively by Dayrat et al. (2011), belong to the unit #1 of *P. verruculata* (Fig. 2).

A few COI sequences available in GenBank are not included in our analyses because they do not add any information regarding the species distribution. Ran et al. (2020) published four COI *Peronia* sequences from Hainan, China (MN389204 to MN389207), which all cluster within *P. verruculata* unit #1. Two unpublished sequences (MN690327 and MN690328) from Singapore (uploaded in November 2019 by Ip and colleagues) cluster within *P. verruculata* units #1 and #3. A COI sequence (MK993397) from Bangka, Indonesia, identified as *Peronia* sp. 7 by Maniei et al. (2020a) and as *P. verruculata* by Maniei et al. (2020b), cluster within *P. verruculata* unit #1. Note that the GenBank accession numbers for COI and 16S of that Bangka Island individual are switched in Maniei et al.'s (2020a) Table 2. Finally, a sequence (EF489391) from Queensland, Australia, identified as *Onchidium verrucosum* (a spelling mistake for *O. verruculatum*) by Klussmann-Kolb et al. (2008), cluster within *P. verruculata* unit #1.

## Identification key

1	Intestinal loops of type V
_	Intestinal loops of type I
2	Spine of the accessory penial gland more than 2 mm long
_	Spine of the accessory penial gland less than 1 mm long
3	Spine of the accessory penial gland less than 0.7 mm long
_	Spine of the accessory penial gland more than 0.7 mm long
4	Distributed from PNG to Hawaii and French Polynesia
_	Endemic to Japan (Honshu, Wakayama)
5	Transitional loop oriented between 12 and 3 o'clock
_	Transitional loop oriented between 3 and 6 o'clock7
6	Spine of the accessory penial gland more than 3 mm long
_	Spine of the accessory penial gland less than 2.3 mm long
7	Spine of the accessory penial gland with strong hemispherical protuberances
	on its surface
	<i>P. sydneyensis</i> (New South Wales, Queensland, New Caledonia)
_	Spine of the accessory penial gland without strong hemispherical protuber-
	ances on its surface
8	Penial hooks less than 40 µm long
_	Penial hooks more than 40 µm long <i>P. verruculata</i> (Indo-West Pacific)

# Discussion

## Specific names not to combine with Peronia

Eight Onchidella species names were originally created or subsequently transferred to *Peronia* (Table 1). When Onchidium celticum was still a nomen nudum (Cuvier 1816: 411), Blainville (1826: 523) had mentioned that it should be classified in *Peronia* because it clearly referred to marine onchidiid slugs. Onchidium celticum was transferred to *Peronia* by Adams & Adams (1855: 235) and to Onchidella by Fischer & Crosse (1878: 687). All authors subsequently agreed with Fisher and Crosse, although Semper (1882: 283–284) still used the combination Onchidium celticum. Three names by Quoy and Gaimard (1832) were transferred to *Peronia* by Oken (1834a) but subsequently to Onchidella (e.g., Gray 1850): Onchidium incisum, O. nigricans, and O. patelloide. Peronia irrorata was first transferred to Onchidella by Adams & Adams (1855: 234). Peronia indolens, Peronia marginata, and Peronia parthenopeia Delle Chiaje, 1841

were transferred to *Onchidella* by Fischer & Crosse (1878: 696). Note that the name *Peronia parthenopeia* appears only in the text (Delle Chiaje 1841: 13); the combination *Onchidium parthenopeium* is used on the plate (Delle Chiaje 1841: pl. 46, figs 6–9).

Blainville (1826: 523) attributed by mistake the authorship for *Peronia laevis* to "Quoy et Gaimard, Atlas de zoologie du voyage de l'Uranie," but the specific name *laevis* does not appear in Quoy and Gaimard's (1825) work. Thus, the author of *Peronia laevis* is Blainville (ICZN 1999: Article 50.1.1). Blainville's *Peronia laevis* corresponds to Quoy and Gaimard's (1825) *Onchidium vaigiense* (Dayrat 2009: 12). *Peronia laevis* is thus a junior objective synonym of *O. vaigiense*, of which it shares the same namebearing type, and is objectively invalid (Table 1). Note that *O. vaigiense* is regarded as a valid name in the genus *Marmaronchis* (Dayrat et al. 2018). In addition to the "Peronie lisse" or *Peronia laevis*, Blainville (1825: 465) also described an "Onchidie lisse" or *Onchidium laeve*, which clearly applies to a veronicellid, as illustrated by Blainville (1827, pl. 41, fig. 7) himself in the *Atlas* of his *Manuel*. Dayrat (2009: 12) erroneously attributed Blainville's (1827: pl. 41, fig. 7) figure to *Peronia laevis*.

Onchidium ater Lesson, 1831a was transferred recently to the genus Wallaconchis by Goulding et al. (2018: 63) and Wallaconchis ater is a valid species name. Bretnall (1919: 327) and Hoffmann (1928: 68, 83–84) classified it in the genus Onchidium and Tapparone Canefri (1883: 212) transferred it to Onchidella, exclusively based on information from the original description. Labbé (1934a: 206) transferred O. ater to his genus Scaphis because he saw "feathery gills" on the dorsum of the two syntypes (MNHN-IM-2000-22950). However, there clearly are no gills on the dorsal notum of the types of Onchidium ater (Goulding et al. 2018: 67). Note that the oldest original description of O. ater was published by Lesson (1831a: 128) in April 1831 in the Bulletin des sciences naturelles, i.e., before the description in the zoology section of the Coquille voyage published on 15 November 1831 according to Cretella (2010).

### Names of doubtful application

Fifteen names of doubtful application are discussed here, following a chronological order (Table 1). Blainville (1816: 97) described the new species *Onchidium oniscoides* based on specimens that he saw "en Angleterre," i.e., in a collection now part of the NHMUK in London (Dayrat 2009: 15). The two syntypes (12/12 and 12/10 mm) of *Onchidium oniscoides* labeled as "*Onchidium oniscoides*, Mus. Sloane" (NHMUK 20190559) clearly are onchidiid slugs but are not *Peronia* slugs. They could possibly belong to *Platevindex luteus*. Regardless, the type locality is unknown because Blainville's expression "On ignore sa patrie" means that he did not know from where those slugs were. As a result, *Onchidium oniscoides* is regarded as a *nomen dubium*. *Onchidium oniscoides* was transferred to *Peronia* by Blainville (1826: 523) and largely overlooked. Hoffmann (1928) does not mention it in his checklist of onchidiid species names. Labbé (1934a: 243) mentions the name "*Oncidiella onisciforme* de Blainville, 1825" with *Peronia oniscoides* de Blainville as synonym (*onisciforme* being most likely a spelling mistake of *oniscoides*).

According to Quoy and Gaimard (1825: 428, our translation), Onchidium planatum is "related to Onchidium peronii, with which it differs by its smaller size, its color [dirty greenish], and the shape and arrangement of the dorsal warts." Also, the "extremely small eyes placed at the superior part of the tentacles" likely refer to the eyes at the tip of the ocular tentacles. The most striking trait of *Peronia peronii*, its dorsal gills, is not mentioned in the original description of O. planatum, and it is clearly indicated that the dorsal "warts" of O. planatum differ from those of P. peronii. So, based on the original description, one could say that O. planatum may or may not refer to an onchidiid species. Given that Quoy and Gaimard (1825: 429-430, pl. 66, fig. 9) were able to describe and illustrate as *Onchidium secatum* a slug that obviously is not an onchidiid, the name Onchidium planatum is regarded as a nomen dubium (which may or may not refer to an onchidiid). There is, at the MNHN, a specimen which is part of the type series of O. planatum (MNHN-IM-2000-33706). That specimen is accompanied by three labels: the oldest label says "Onchidium planum, Q. G. Freyc. p. 428., de Guam, MM Quoy et Gaimard, Expn Freycinet." The name "Peronia" was subsequently added on that oldest label in pencil. Because the oldest label clearly refers to Onchidium planatum described from Guam by Quoy and Gaimard (1825: 428), a recent label indicates that the specimen is a syntype of *O. planatum*, from Guam. The third label says "Oncidium Peronii, Guam, Quoy et Gaimard, A. Labbé, dét. 1933," suggesting that Labbé re-identified that specimen at some point as Peronia peronii even though he listed it as part of the material he examined for his re-description of Onchidium planatum. The specimen is now completely destroyed and poorly preserved: there are only two pieces of notum of which the length of 55 mm matches the original description; the oral area is totally destroyed; all internal organs are missing; no dorsal gills can be seen, but possibly because the notum is so poorly preserved; and it is unclear if a peripodial groove is present or not. Labbé (1934a: 225), who did not seem to realize that he was looking at one of the syntypes of O. planatum, mentioned several internal characters suggesting that O. planatum refers to an onchidiid species (intestinal loops of type I, accessory penial gland present with a muscular sac) although whether Labbé did see those structures or not remains an open question (Labbé often described and even drew structures that he could not have seen). The lack of dorsal eyes and gills could be due to the poor preservation, in which case a good guess would be that the (destroyed) syntype of O. planatum (MNHN-IM-2000-33706) belongs to a Peronia species. However, the fact that no dorsal gills and no dorsal eyes can be seen at all and that it is extremely unclear whether there is a peripodial groove or not seems to suggest that O. planatum may not even refer to an onchidiid species. It is very possible that the type series included more than one species.

Semper (1882: 289) listed *O. planatum* as a problematic species name. Hoffmann (1928: 69, 84–85) thought that it was a valid *Onchidium* species name with *Onchidella tabularis* Tapparone Canefri, 1883 and *Onchidium (Oncis) applanatum* Simroth, 1920 as synonyms. *Onchidella tabularis* is a *nomen dubium* although it is clear that it does not refer to an *Onchidella* species (Dayrat et al. 2016: 37). *Onchidium applanatum* is a valid *Platevindex* species name. *Platevindex applanatum* was described

as *Onchidium (Oncis) applanatum* by Simroth, and *Oncis* was replaced by *Platevindex*. Nothing indicates that *O. planatum* refers to *Platevindex* slugs. Labbé (1934a: 225–226, figs 62–64) adopted Hoffmann's nomenclature and synonymies. Bretnall (1919: 311) listed Quoy and Gaimard (1825: 428) as a reference for *Onchidium peronii*, but Quoy and Gaimard (1825: 428) merely mentioned the name *O. peronii* in a comparison with *O. planatum*. Regardless, *Onchidium planatum* is regarded as a *nomen dubium* which cannot be applied to any taxon and which may not even refer to onchidiid slugs.

Blainville (1826: 523) attributed by mistake the authorship for *Peronia semituberculata* to "Quoy et Gaimard, Atlas de zoologie du voyage de l'Uranie," but the specific name *semituberculata* does not appear in Quoy and Gaimard's (1825) work. Thus, the author of *Peronia semituberculata* is Blainville (ICZN 1999: Article 50.1.1). Blainville's *Peronia semituberculata* corresponds to Quoy and Gaimard's (1825) *Onchidium planatum* (Dayrat 2009: 17). *Peronia semituberculata* is thus a junior objective synonym of *O. planatum*, with which it shares the same name-bearing type, and is objectively invalid (Table 1). Note that *O. planatum* is regarded here as a *nomen dubium* which may refer to an onchidiid or not (see above).

Lesson (1831b: 299-300, pl. 14, fig. 2) described Onchidium granulosum in the zoology section of the Coquille voyage. The publication date (1826) for Onchidium granulosum in Dayrat (2009) is erroneous. Based on the collation of the voyage of the Coquille by Cretella (2010), the date of the original publication for both the text (pp. 299-300) and the plate (pl. 14, fig. 2) with the name Onchidium granulosum is 15 November 1831. Onchidium granulosum was recorded by Lesson from "Nouvelle-Irlande," i.e., New Ireland, Papua New Guinea. The type material could not be located. Gray (1850: 117), Adams and Adams (1858: 234), and Tapparone Canefri (1883: 212) transferred Onchidium granulosum to Onchidella for no obvious reason. Hoffmann (1928: 86) thought that it was a valid *Platevindex* species name (as Oncis granu*losa*) despite the fact that Lesson's figure hardly illustrates a *Platevindex* slug. Hoffmann (1928: 86) also thought that Oncis lata Plate, 1893 was a junior synonym of Oncis granulosa but Platevindex latus (Plate, 1893) is a valid species name (a monograph of the genus *Platevindex* is in preparation). Labbé (1934a: 234) adopted Hoffmann's decision. Semper (1882: 290) regarded it as a problematic name and Bretnall (1919: 327) regarded it as valid but considered that its application remains difficult without access to the type material. Onchidium granulosum is a nomen dubium which refers to an onchidiid species, possibly a *Wallaconchis* or a *Peronia* species (Table 1).

In 2018, just based on the brief and incomplete original description, *Onchidium cinereum* Quoy & Gaimard, 1833 was regarded as a *nomen dubium* within the onchidiids (Goulding et al. 2018b: 96), which meant that it could potentially refer to *Peronia* slugs. Two syntypes (9/6 and 7/4 mm) of *Onchidium cinereum* were located recently in the MNHN collections (MNHN-IM-2000-33703): based on these syntypes, it is very likely that *Onchidium cinereum* refers to *Wallaconchis* slugs. *Onchidium cinereum* was described by Quoy and Gaimard (1833: 661, pl. 15, fig. 29) based on specimens from the island of "Tonga-Tabou" (Tonga). Note that the correct date of publication is 1833, not 1832, based on the collation by Sherborn and Woodward (1901b). There is only one jar at the MNHN with the following information (the label is not the original label): "*Oncidiella*, Tongatabou, Mrs. Quoy et Gaimard, 1829." The sizes provided by Quoy and Gaimard (13 to 15 mm long), likely for live animals, approximately match the preserved specimens considering preservation. The large syntype was dissected prior to the present study and was found empty with no internal organs. The small syntype, still intact, was opened for the present study. It is an immature individual with no reproductive parts. However, its intestinal loop of type I, the lack of rectal gland, and the lack of dorsal gills all indicate that it belongs to a *Wallaconchis* species. However, because the penial apparatus could not be checked, *Onchidium cinereum* is regarded as a *nomen dubium*, even though there is only one *Wallaconchis* species known so far in southwestern Pacific Ocean. Past authors transferred *O. cinereum* to *Peronia* (Oken 1834a: 287) or *Onchidella* (e.g., Gray 1850: 117; Adams and Adams 1855: 234), or just kept the original combination (Semper 1882: 286–287; Plate 1893: 142; Bretnall 1919: 319; Hoffmann 1928: 68, 81).

*Peronia alderi* JE Gray, 1850 was created by JE Gray (1850: 117) for a slug illustrated by his wife ME Gray (1850: pl. 226, fig. 3) and which Alder had apparently identified as *P. punctata* in a manuscript: the only information associated with that illustration says "P. Alderi. P. punctata, Alder, MSS, t. 226. f. 3." That slug clearly belongs to *Peronia*, based on the presence of dorsal gills. Alder and Hancock (1855: 34) briefly mentioned "*Onchidium punctatum* (*Peronia Alderi*, Gray)" in the context of a comparison between the dorsal gills in onchidiids and those in nudibranchs. However, given that no type locality is indicated and that no type specimen could be located (of which the label could have potentially indicated the type locality), *Peronia alderi* must be regarded as a *nomen dubium* (Table 1). Semper (1882: 268) transferred *P. alderi* to *Onchidium* but could not make any decision regarding its status because of insufficient data. Even though he does not seem to have examined any material, and for unclear reasons, Hoffmann (1928: 68, 72) mentioned New Guinea and the Torres Strait as records for *Peronia alderi* which he regarded as a synonym of *Onchidium verruculatum*.

*Peronia acinosa* was described by Gould (1852: 291–292; 1856: pl. 21, fig. 384a), based on an unspecified number of type specimens from Fiji Islands. *Peronia acinosa* may or may not refer to an onchidiid species, mostly because its long ocular tentacles lack eyes at their tip (some onchidiids illustrated by Gould distinctly have ocular tentacles with eyes at their tip), its color would be very unusual for an onchidiid (deep beryl-green dorsum and slatey violet foot), and it is "everywhere closely covered with large rounded papillae" (which are not characteristic of onchidiids). Also, the type material could not be located. Johnson (1964: 36) could not find it either. Therefore, *Peronia acinosa* is regarded here as a *nomen dubium* (Table 1). Adams and Adams (1855: 234) transferred *P. acinosa* to *Onchidella*. Bretnall (1919: 326) thought that *P. acinosa* was a valid name, although he admitted that data were insufficient. Hoffmann (1928: 68, 102) rejected that *P. acinosa* could be an *Onchidella* and questioned that it could be a *Peronia*, and proposed (with a question mark) that it could be a synonym of *Onchidina australis*. Given that, for instance, Gould described large rounded papillae, *P. acinosa* clearly does not refer to *Onchidina* slugs.

The type material of Peronia corpulenta Gould, 1852, described from Direction Island [Namena Island], Fiji, could not be located. Johnson (1964: 60) could not find it either. The type material seems to consist of a holotype, by monotypy, because only one animal size (63/25 mm) is provided in the original description. Gould's (1852: 293) brief written description of the external appearance does not mention dorsal gills or dorsal eyes. Gould's (1856: pl. 22, fig. 385a) illustration of the dorsal notum is colorful and quite pretty, but it also lacks dorsal gills and eyes. That being said, gills can only be seen when individuals are relaxed in water, and dorsal eyes often are difficult to see when dorsal papillae are retracted. Its animal length (63 mm) is compatible with both P. peronii and P. verruculata. That Peronia corpulenta refers to a Peronia species is possible but not certain; it is not even sure that it refers to an onchidiid species and thus is regarded as a nomen dubium (Table 1). Based on Gould's information, past authors transferred *P. corpulenta* to Onchidella (Adams and Adams 1855: 234), regarded it as a possible synonym of Onchidium peronii (Plate 1893: 172; Bretnall 1919: 311; Labbé 1934a: 190), as a synonym of Onchidium peronii (Hoffmann 1928: 71), or as a questionable valid species name (Bretnall 1919: 326).

Stimpson (1855: 380) described Onchis fruticosa from Kikaisima, i.e., Kikaijima (ca. 28°30'N), between Kyushu and Okinawa, Japan. The brief description, restricted to the external morphology, clearly indicates that this name refers to a *Peronia* species, because some dorsal papillae bear one to three "oculiform black dots at their summits" and papillae on the posterior half of the body are "styliform branches" The length is given as 25 mm. *Peronia verruculata* is definitely present there and, possibly, *P. okinawensis* too. It cannot be excluded that *P. setoensis* could be found there as well; therefore, *O. fruticosa* is regarded as a *nomen dubium* (Table 1). To our knowledge, all past authors have overlooked Stimpson's (1855) binomial.

Tapparone Canefri (1874: 101–102, pl. II, fig. 1) described Onchidella griseofusca based on specimens from Singapore. Note that the original spelling "griseo-fusca" needs to be corrected by removing the hyphen (ICZN 1999: Article 32.5.2.3). The type material could not be located. Tapparone Canefri's (1874: pl. II, fig. 1) original illustration is useless, and Onchidella griseofusca could not be identified and compared to any of the onchidiid species we collected in Singapore. Martens (1897: 128) briefly mentioned the existence of Onchidella griseofusca without any new material. Hoffmann (1928: 85–86) arbitrarily transferred Onchidella griseofusca to Onchidium but could not determine whether it was an Onchidium or a Platevindex (as Oncis) species. Onchidella griseofusca clearly is a nomen dubium (Dayrat et al. 2016: 37, 2017: 1893). It could possibly refer to a Peronia species or Marmaronchis vaigiensis, but it does not refer to an Onchidella species (Table 1).

Semper (1880: 257–258; 1882: pl. XXI, figs 2–4) described *Onchidium nebulosum* from Aibukit, Palaos (Palau) based on a holotype (40/30 mm), by monotypy (ZMB/ Moll 39040). *Onchidium nebulosum* clearly applies to a *Peronia* species because the notum of the holotype bears dorsal gills. The holotype was fully dissected by Semper. Its dorsum bears 16 papillae with eyes. The radula is missing. Male parts are missing, except for pieces of the flagellum of the penial accessory gland and possibly of the defer-

ent duct which remain in a small vial. The female (hermaphroditic) posterior parts are still in place inside. The digestive system was destroyed and the type of the intestinal loops could not be determined. Semper did not indicate the length of the spine of the accessory penial gland nor the length of the muscular sac, which is missing. Without any of those critical characters, it is impossible to determine the application of *Onchidium nebulosum*, especially given that both *P. verruculata* and *P. peronii* are known to be present in Palau and that both *P. okinawensis* and *P. platei* could potentially be there as well. As a result, *O. nebulosum* is regarded as a *nomen dubium* even though it is clear that it applies to a *Peronia* species (Table 1).

Plate (1893: 171-172) described a "medium-sized" specimen which he identified as Onchidium nebulosum, from Pohnpei, Micronesia, which is 2600 km east of Palau. Plate's description is problematic for at least two reasons. First, the presence of dorsal gills is not mentioned, which means that it is not certain that Plate did examine a Peronia individual. Second, Plate indicated a series of traits and measurements (intestinal loops of type I, muscular sac of the accessory penial gland 11 mm long, spine of the accessory penial gland 2.5 mm long, retractor muscle of the penis inserting near the heart) but those cannot be compared to the original description of Onchidium nebulosum because Semper did not mention them. Thus, there is no reason to admit that Plate did examine what Semper had originally described as Onchidium nebulosum. If Plate examined a specimen with dorsal gills, then it possibly was an individual of *P. ok*inawensis, from Okinawa, which is 3800 km west of Pohnpei. Some of the characters seem to match (Table 4). It is unlikely, however, that Plate examined a specimen of P. platei, because most characters do not match (Table 4). Finally, it is not excluded that Plate examined a Paromoionchis or a Laspionchis individual instead (with no dorsal gills). Bretnall (1919: 310-311), Hoffmann (1928: 71), and Labbé (1934a: 224) assumed that Plate's identification was correct and accepted Palau and Pohnpei as two records of O. nebulosum, but did not add any new material.

Onchidium multiradiatum Semper, 1882 refers to an onchidiid species which belongs to *Peronia* or not, but is regarded as a *nomen dubium* because the type locality is unknown (Table 1). Semper (1882: 269) mentioned two individuals in the original description. One syntype, 30/22 mm, was located (ZMB/Moll 39026): the male and female parts are missing and the region of the male opening is partly destroyed; the radula is still present but the type of the intestinal loops cannot be determined; dorsal gills are not obvious but are present. Plate (1893: 141) merely mentioned *Onchidium multiradiatum* as an available species name. Both Hoffmann (1928: 79–80) and Labbé (1934a: 225) listed *Onchidium multiradiatum* as a valid species name, exclusively based on Semper's information. Hoffmann also briefly compared it to *Onchidium griseum*, which seems to refer to a species of *Paromoionchis* but also is a *nomen dubium* because its type locality is unknown (Dayrat et al. 2019: 70).

*Quoya indica* Labbé, 1934a, the type species, by monotypy, of the genus *Quoya* Labbé, 1934a, was originally described based on three specimens for which, according to Labbé, there was no information other than the locality, "Mer des Indes," i.e., Indian Ocean. Because the type locality is too vague, *Quoya indica* is regarded as a

nomen dubium. Three specimens (16/8, 10/8, and 7/5 mm) were found (MNHN-IM-2000-33679), which seem to match the material used by Labbé to describe *Quoya* indica. The only information on the labels tells us that they are from the "Mer des Indes." No collector or collecting date are indicated. As often with Labbé, no species identification is indicated either. Those three specimens possibly are the syntypes of Quoya indica. They dried and are very hard and poorly preserved. However, dorsal gills are present on the largest specimen and possibly on the smallest specimen too. Labbé (1934a: 216, fig. 51) described a double male opening (with the openings of the penis and of the accessory penial gland being separated). This could not be confirmed and is by no means a trait of generic value. Indeed, the opening of the penis and the opening of the accessory penial gland occasionally appear to be separated due to preservation (when the vestibule is everted). Internal characters could not be checked. In particular, the presence of intestinal loops of type V (not illustrated by Labbé) and of an accessory penial gland (Labbé 1934a: fig. 53) could not be confirmed. There is at the MNHN another jar (numbered "31" on an old label) with a single specimen from the "Mer des Indes." However, that specimen is identified as "Oncidium," suggesting that it is not part of the type series of Quoya indica. Instead, it possibly is the non-type specimen that Labbé (1934a: 204) identified as Scaphis punctata. It is confirmed here that Quoya indica refers to a Peronia species (dorsal gills are present on the largest possible syntype), and that, therefore, Quoya is a junior synonym of Peronia. However, because the type locality is too vague and because no internal characters could be confirmed, Peronia indica is regarded as a nomen dubium (Table 1).

The species-group name hombroni, created before 1961 as a variety name, is now of subspecific rank (ICZN 1999: Article 45.6.4). Labbé (1934a: 202, fig. 23) described Paraperonia gondwanae hombroni based on one specimen from the Torres Strait, Australia. Originally, no jar clearly labeled as the type material of P. gondwanae hombroni was found at the MNHN. However, only one old jar was found at the MNHN with material collected from the Torres Strait by M. Hombron aboard the Astrolabe, as in Labbé's original description of *P. gondwanae hombroni* (MNHN-IM-2000-33694). Therefore, it most likely contains the holotype, by monotypy, of P. gondwanae hombroni. Unfortunately, there is little doubt that whatever is in that jar is not an onchidiid (it seems to be an empty notum of a nudibranch). Three explanations are possible. First, this material (MNHN-IM-2000-33694) is not the holotype of P. gondwanae hombroni, even though all the collecting information matches. Second, it was originally the holotype of *P. gond*wanae hombroni, but that holotype was switched by mistake with something completely different. Third, the material inside the jar is the material examined by Labbé, which means that he would have completely made up the description. Given the description of dorsal gills and of an accessory penial gland by Labbé (1934a: 202), it is likely that *P. gondwanae hombroni* applies to a *Peronia* species. However, the original description is problematic because Labbé (1934a: 202) writes that the intestinal loops are of type V and sometimes of type I, which is just impossible given that he examined only one individual. Because the type of the intestinal loops is uncertain, *P. gondwanae hombroni* cannot be applied reliably to any *Peronia* species and is regarded as a nomen dubium (Table 1).

As discussed in detail in our revision of *Paromoionchis*, *Onchidium straelenii* Labbé, 1934b is a *nomen dubium* (Dayrat et al. 2019: 70–72). The examination of the two syntypes used by Labbé (RBINS I.G.9223/MT.3823) revealed that Labbé's original description is erroneous regarding several important characters. In particular, Labbé (1934a: 213) subsequently transferred *Onchidium straelenii* to his genus *Scaphis* based on dorsal gills being supposedly numerous and highly ramified. However, there are no gills at all on the dorsal notum so it is clear that *Onchidium straelenii* cannot be classified in *Peronia*. *Onchidium straelenii* was arbitrarily placed in the genus *Onchidium* but it clearly should not be classified in *Onchidium* because several traits, such as the lack of a rectal gland, are incompatible with *Onchidium* (Dayrat et al. 2016). The generic placement of *Onchidium straelenii* remains unclear, hence its status as a *nomen dubium* (Table 1).

#### Species delineation

Peronia species cannot be distinguished externally, except for the longest individuals of *P. peronii* (more than 100 mm). However, they all differ internally, apart from *P. platei* and *P. setoensis* which cannot be distinguished (Table 4). This situation is similar to what has been observed in several other onchidiid genera: in Wallaconchis, Laspionchis, Paromoionchis, and Peronina, species cannot be distinguished externally but they all differ with respect to their copulatory apparatus (Dayrat et al. 2019a, b; Goulding et al. 2018b, c). The special difficulty in *Peronia* is that species differ in minute details. In other genera, species differences tend to be obvious. For instance, an accessory penial gland is present in *Peronina tenera* and absent in *P. zulfigari* (Goulding et al. 2018c). In comparison, Peronia species may only differ with respect to the length of the spine of the accessory penial gland (Table 4). This has made it very difficult for past authors to interpret anatomical differences. Peronia species diversity has been interpreted in two opposite directions, both of which were unfortunately erroneous. At one end of the spectrum, Labbé (1934a) considered that every single difference justified the creation of a new taxon name. As a result, while Hoffmann (1928) accepted only six species of slugs with dorsal gills, all being still classified in Onchidium along with 34 species without dorsal gills, Labbé (1934a: 187) thought that there were five genera and 21 species of slugs with dorsal gills. However, the present monographic revision shows that only one of all Labbé's new names is valid (Table 1): Peronia madagascariensis (Labbé, 1934a). At the other end of the spectrum, more recent authors accepted only two species, *P. peronii* and *P. verruculata*, which they could not even really distinguish (e.g., Solem 1959: 38-39; Marcus and Marcus 1970: 213-214; Britton 1984: 183).

*Peronia* is a taxon for which the use of DNA sequences as an independent test for species delineation has been indispensable. Without DNA sequences, it would have been impossible to determine which anatomical traits differ or not among species, which is perfectly illustrated by the species diversity of *Peronia* in Japan. Past authors have somehow sensed that there were more than one species in Japan but could not tell them apart (e.g., Baba 1958; Katagiri and Katagiri 2007; Ueshima 2007). Our data show that there are four species in Japan, two being endemic (Fig. 6). After species are

delineated using DNA sequences, their anatomical differences become clear: for instance, *P. setoensis* is the only species in Japan with intestinal loops of type V (Table 4).

The present study also demonstrates that even though mitochondrial COI sequences are necessary, they must not be used blindly. Indeed, if one were to take into account only mitochondrial DNA sequences (Figs 2, 5), one might think that there are up to 16 Peronia species: P. verruculata could be split into five distinct species, and P. peronii, P. platei, and P. griffithsi could be split into two species each. However, our two other data sets (nuclear DNA sequences and comparative anatomy) strongly suggest that those merely are cases of species with high genetic structure: all individuals of P. platei, for instance, are completely indistinguishable anatomically, and nuclear ITS2 sequences do not support the existence of two distinct taxa in *P. platei*. The long geographic distances between sampling sites (e.g., Hawaii and Papua New Guinea for P. platei) may partly explain the high intra-specific genetic structure. In cases where mitochondrial units are sympatric (*P. verruculata* units #1 and #2 overlap in southeastern Sumatra, and *P. verruculata* units #1 and #3 overlap in Singapore), genetic distances could be explained by the fact that those mitochondrial lineages were isolated for some time before coming into contact again. The importance of investigating nuclear DNA sequences as well as comparative anatomy has been demonstrated in other onchidiid genera, especially in Paromoionchis, Wallaconchis, and Peronina (Dayrat et al. 2019a; Goulding et al. 2018b, c).

Species are not externally cryptic in all onchidiid genera: the six *Melayonchis* species and the four *Onchidium* species can all be distinguished in the field on external traits (Dayrat et al. 2016, 2017, 2019c, d). When species can be distinguished externally, they are also unequivocally supported by both mitochondrial and nuclear sequences, i.e., DNA sequences do not support any cryptic diversity within those *Melayonchis* and *Onchidium* species. True cryptic diversity remains exceptional in onchidiids: *Marmaronchis vaigiensis* (Quoy & Gaimard, 1825) and *M. marmoratus* (Lesson, 1831) cannot be distinguished externally or internally (Dayrat et al. 2018).

### Types of intestinal loops

It is not an exaggeration to say that identifying the types of intestinal loops, originally defined by Plate (1893) and Labbé (1934a), has remained challenging for authors. A thorough re-examination of the specimens examined by Plate and Labbé in the context of the complete revision of the Onchidiidae has shown that even they were confused about intestinal types. For instance, Dayrat et al. (2019c: fig. 2) demonstrated that Plate's original definition of the type III was based on an erroneous number of dorsal loops in a specimen of *Onchidium stuxbergi* (Westerlund, 1883). Labbé (1934a) also repeatedly made mistakes (see all the species remarks above), the most notorious being his original description of *P. anomala*: the specific name *anomala* was created to emphasize that the intestinal loops of that species were anomalous (i.e., of type II instead of type I as in most *Peronia*), but the intestinal loops of the type material of *P. anomala* are of type I (Figs 1, 86B). In that context, it is thus not too surprising that Maniei et

al. (2020a) described the intestinal loops of *P. persiae* as of type II although they clearly are of type I, with a transitional loop at 5 o'clock (see above remarks on *P. verruculata*).

Hopefully, the method that Dayrat et al. (2019b: fig. 1; 2019c: fig. 2; 2019d: fig. 13) recently introduced to identify types of intestinal loops will help put an end to that confusion. This method is based on the coloration of different sections of the intestinal loops and, most importantly, takes individual variation into account (Fig. 1). It is very important to note that this method does not redefine the types of intestinal loops, it merely clarifies them, and the difference between the types I and II originally defined by Plate and Labbé is maintained. According to Plate and Labbé, type I is characterized by a transitional loop oriented to the right in dorsal view, at 3 o'clock (Dayrat et al. 2019b: Fig. 1A), and type II is characterized by a transitional loop oriented to the left in dorsal view, at 9 o'clock (Dayrat et al. 2019b: fig. 1C). The reality is that the orientation of the transitional loop remains true (Fig. 1): in type I, the transitional loop is oriented between 12 and 6 o'clock (always to the right in dorsal view, as stipulated by Plate and Labbé); in type II, the transitional loop is oriented between 6 and 12 o'clock (always to the left in dorsal view, as stipulated by Plate and Labbé).

Only the types I and V are found in *Peronia* (Table 4, Fig. 1): the transitional loop of type I is always oriented to the right (from 12 to 3 o'clock, or from 3 to 6 o'clock); there is no transitional loop in type V. To this day, there is no positive record (proven with an illustration) of intestinal loops of type II in *Peronia*. In the future, a few individuals may be shown to exceptionally possess a transitional loop oriented at 7 o'clock (which strictly speaking would correspond to a type II), but this has never been observed among the hundreds of *Peronia* specimens dissected for the present study.

#### Geographic distribution

The genus Peronia includes the two most widespread onchidiid species, P. verruculata and *P. peronii*, as well as species that are endemic to comparatively small areas, at least according to the current data (Fig. 6): P. setoensis and P. okinawensis are endemic to Japan, and *P. willani* is endemic to Northern Territory. One reason may be the development mode. In Japan, on the eastern coast of Honshu, near Sagami Bay (ca. 35°N), Katagiri and Katagiri (2007) documented two Peronia species, one characterized by a planktotrophic development (called "Isowamochi") and the other characterized by a direct development (called "Minneawamochi"). Most likely, those species correspond to P. verruculata (unit #1) and P. setoensis, which are the only two Peronia species found north of 30N in Japan (Fig. 6). Another reason may be that all species cannot compete ecologically with P. verruculata, one of the most abundant onchidiid species in the Indo-Malayan region (*P. tumidus* is also extremely abundant but it lives in mangroves, not in the rocky intertidal, although both *P. verruculata* and *P. tumidus* often are found together on muddy sand). A third reason may be related to diversification history. The fact that several species (P. okinawensis, P. platei, P. setoensis, P. sydneyensis, P. willani) are characterized by narrow distribution ranges at the periphery of broadly-distributed

species (*P. griffithsi*, *P. peronii*, *P. verruculata*) raises the question of whether peripatric speciation events may have occurred. Phylogenetic relationships of sister species suggest that *P. okinawensis* could have emerged peripatrically from *P. peronii*. As for the other species, it remains uncertain because relationships among clades E, F, and G are still unclear (Figs 2–4). Finally, given that they are sister species, it is most likely that *P. willani* and *P. sydneyensis* are the result of a recent allopatric speciation (the Torres Strait serving as a biogeographic barrier).

In the future, it will be necessary to investigate the phylogenetic relationships of populations of *P. verruculata* from the regions from where no fresh material could be obtained, especially the northeastern Indian Ocean (the coasts of Somalia, Yemen, and Oman), the Persian Gulf, the Red Sea, and southern India. It will also be necessary to include fresh material from new localities for P. peronii (its distribution provided here is based on many specimens identified only based on anatomy). Dozens of new specimens of *P. peronii* may reveal some higher genetic structure within *P. peronii*, as observed in P. verruculata, given that both species are widely distributed. At the moment, the low level of genetic structure within *P. peronii* (compared to *P. verruculata*) may simply be due to the fact that our mitochondrial analyses include thirteen specimens of *P. peronii* while they include 102 specimens of *P. verruculata*. Populations of *Peronia* slugs also need to be investigated in southeastern Australia (southern Queensland and northern New South Wales) to determine more precisely the geographic range of *P. verruculata*. Also, it is possible that species that are endemic based on current data (*P. okinawensis*, *P. setoensis*, *P. willani*) will be found elsewhere and will thus be characterized by a wider range. Finally, it is not excluded that additional new species will be found.

### Acknowledgements

We would like to express our sincere gratitude to the many people who assisted us, by helping with logistics in the field, accompanying us in the field, hosting us at their institutions, sending us material on loan, or collecting material that we found in museums. We started collecting *Peronia* slugs in 2010 and this revision would not have been completed without the help of many people.

First, we wish to thank associate editor Nathalie Yonow for spending many hours on our long manuscript. Three reviewers (Adrienne Jochum, Eike Neubert, António M. de Frias Martins) also provided helpful and constructive comments.

Our field expeditions would not have been possible without help from many people: Vivian Ang, Don Dumale, and Marivene Manuel in the Philippines, Owen Griffiths in Mauritius, Richard Willan in the Northern Territory, Niel Bruce in Queensland, Rosemary Golding and Winston Ponder in Sydney, and Vishal Bhave, Reshma Pitale, Sudhir Sapre, and C.R. Sreeraj in India. Collecting in New South Wales, Queensland, and Northern Territory was done with permits from local institutions. Specimens were collected following local regulations, as overseen by Shau Hwai Tan (Malaysia), Deepak Apte (India), Marivene Manuel (Philippines), Munawar Khalil (Indonesia), and Quảng Ngô Xuân (Vietnam). A research permit was awarded to Benoît Dayrat in Singapore (#NP/RP10-020). We thank the Ministry of Research, Technology and Higher Education, Republic of Indonesia (Ristek-Dikti) that awarded a research permit to Benoît Dayrat (Ristek #134/SIP/FRP/E5/Dit.KI/VI/2017). We thank the Universitas Malikussaleh for being our home base institution in Indonesia.

We are grateful to Rahul C. Salunkhe and Yogesh Shouche (Bombay Natural History Society, Mumbai, and National Center for Cell Science, Pune) for their help with the DNA sequencing of the specimens from India, to Kenneth Hayes (Pacific Center for Molecular Biodiversity, Bishop Museum, Hawaii) for lab space and equipment to work on specimens from New Caledonia, and to Barbara Buge and Nicolas Puillandre for preparing the specimens collected during MNHN expeditions which we used in our molecular studies. We thank two undergraduate students, Rani Chapla and David Piperato, for their assistance with DNA extractions.

We thank Philippe Bouchet for letting us study the onchidiids collected during MNHN expeditions in Madagascar, Mozambique, New Caledonia, Papua New Guinea (Madang and New Ireland), and Vanuatu. We thank people who collected specimens for us: Clay Carlson (Guam), Owen Griffiths (Mauritius), and Tomoyuki Nakano (Japan). We also thank people who collected specimens that we found in museum collections and which we could use in our molecular analyses or for comparative anatomy. We are most especially grateful to Nathalie Yonow for sending us some specimens from her personal collection (and now deposited at the MNHN).

We thank institutions for accepting to host our material in their collections: Australian Museum, Sydney (AM); Bernice Pauahi Bishop Museum, Honolulu, Hawaii, USA (BPBM), Bombay Natural History Society, Mumbai, India (BNHS); California Academy of Sciences, San Francisco, California, USA (CASIZ); Institute of Tropical Biology, Zoology Collection, Vietnam Academy of Science and Technology, Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam (ITBZC); Muséum national d'Histoire naturelle, Paris, France (MNHN); Museum of Tropical Queensland, Townsville, Queensland, Australia (MTQ); Museum and Art Gallery of the Northern Territory, Darwin, Northern Territory, Australia (NTM); National Museum of the Philippines, Manila, Philippines (PNM); National Museum of Nature and Science, Tokyo, Japan (NSMT); Universitas Malikussaleh, North Aceh, Sumatra, Indonesia (UMIZ); Universiti Sains Malaysia, Mollusk Collection, Penang, Malaysia (USMMC); Lee Kong Chian Natural History Museum, National University of Singapore (ZRC).

We thank the curators and collection managers of various institutions for sending us specimens on loan (whether types or specimens from the general collection): Janet Waterhouse, Ian Loch, Alison Miller, Mandy Reid (Australian Museum, Sydney); Gary Rosenberg and Paul Callomon (Academy of Natural Sciences, Drexel University, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, USA); Thomas von Rintelen and Christine Zorn, and formerly Matthias Glaubrecht (Museum für Naturkunde, Berlin, Germany); Barbara Buge, Virginie Héros, and Philippe Bouchet (Muséum national d'Histoire naturelle, Paris, France); Jon Ablett and David Reid (Natural History Museum, London, United Kingdom); Yves Samyn and Thierry Backeljau (Royal Belgian Institute of Natural Sciences, Brussels, Belgium); John Slapcinsky and Gustav Paulay (University of Florida, Gainesville); Danny Eibye-Jacobsen, Tom Schiøtte, Ole Tendal, and Antonia Vedelsby (Zoological Museum, Natural History Museum of Denmark, University of Copenhagen, Denmark); Bernhard Hausdorf (Zoologisches Museum, Hamburg, Germany); Linda Davis and Dai Herbert (KwaZulu-Natal Museum, Pietermaritzburg, KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa); Gavin Dally and Richard Willan (Museum and Art Gallery Northern Territory, Darwin, Northern Territory, Australia); Corey Whisson and Lisa Kirkendale (Western Australian Museum, Perth, Western Australia, Australia); Ronald Janssen, Sigrid Hof, and Sandra Müller (Senckenberg Forschungsinstitut und Naturmuseum, Frankfurt am Main, Germany); Emily Dock Åkerman, Karin Kronestedt, Anna Persson, Elin Sigvaldadottir, and Anders Warén (Swedish Museum of Natural History, Stockholm, Sweden).

Special thanks to Virginie Héros (MNHN) for her invaluable help with the old onchidiid collection as well as the type collection at the MNHN, and for always promptly sending us additional specimens in the last minute. We also thank Anna Persson (SMNH) for quickly sending us on loan a large number of specimens studied by Hans Hoffmann, and Jon Ablett (NHMUK) for taking pictures of specimens and swiftly sending us a few "desperately" needed specimens. And, finally, we wish to thank Dr. Taehwan Lee, collection manager at the Zoology Museum, University of Michigan, for kindly trying to locate some type material.

We greatly benefited from conversations with Philippe Bouchet about some very complicated nomenclatural cases. All remaining errors are ours.

The Our Planet Reviewed - New Caledonia expedition (2016-2019) is a project of the MNHN in partnership with Conservatoire d'Espaces Naturels (CEN) de Nouvelle-Calédonie. The Koumac part of the expedition is/was funded mainly by the Gouvernement de la Nouvelle-Calédonie, Province Nord, Agence Française de la Biodiversité (AFB), the Lounsbery Foundation, Office des Postes et Télécommunications (OPT), Maison de la Nouvelle-Calédonie, and in-kind support from Mairie de Koumac, Société Nationale de Sauvetage en Mer (SNSM), Régiment du Service Militaire Adapté (SMA) de Koumac, Base Navale de Nouméa, AirCalin, Avis Nouvelle-Calédonie, and Socalait. The expedition operated under a permit issued by Direction du Développement Economique et de l'Environnement (DDEE) of Province Nord. Our Planet Reviewed | La Planète Revisitée is a global initiative founded in 2007 by Muséum national d'Histoire naturelle (MNHN) and Pro-Natura International (PNI). The material from Vanuatu (Santo) and Papua New Guinea (Madang, Kavieng) was collected during the MNHN-PNI-IRD Our Planet Reviewed expeditions (PI: Philippe Bouchet), funded by the Stavros Niarchos Foundation, Total Foundation, Prince Albert II of Monaco Foundation, Fondation EDF, Entrepose Contracting, and Fonds Pacifique. The expeditions operated under permits delivered by, respectively, the Environment Unit of the Government of Vanuatu, and the Papua New Guinea Department of Environment and Conservation.

This work was supported by the Eberly College of Science at the Pennsylvania State University and by a REVSYS (Revisionary Syntheses in Systematics) award from the US National Science Foundation (DEB 1419394).

## References

- Adams H, Adams A (1853–1858) The Genera of Recent Mollusca arranged according to their organization. J. van Voorst, London. [two volumes of text and one volume of plates; for a collation see p. 661 of the text vol. 2; pp. 232–235 (vol. 2) on onchidiids published in September 1855; pl. 81 with onchidiids published in April 1855] https://doi.org/10.5962/bhl.title.4772
- Agassiz L (1846) Nomenclatoris Zoologici Index Universalis. Jent et Gassman, Soloduri, viii + 393 pp. [this version of the Index Universalis with two columns of names per page was first published with a printed date of 1846 on the title page although it may have been published only in 1847] https://biodiversitylibrary.org/page/33664307
- Agassiz L (1848) Nomenclatoris Zoologici Index Universalis, Jent et Gassman, Soloduri, x + 1135 pp. [this version of the Index Universalis with one column of names per page was published with a printed date of 1848] https://biodiversitylibrary.org/page/1382903
- Agassiz L (1862) Contributions to the natural history of the United States of America. Second Monograph. (Vol. 4). Little, Brown and Company, Boston, viii + 380 + 12 pp. [pls xx– xxxv] https://biodiversitylibrary.org/page/16068829
- Alder J, Hancock A (1845–1855) A monograph of the British nudibranchiate Mollusca: with figures of all the species. Ray Society, London, 54 + xl pp. [83 pls; for a collation see the table of contents] https://doi.org/10.5962/bhl.title.65015
- Allan J (1950) Australian Shells. Georgian House, Melbourne, xix + 470 pp. [44 pls]
- Allan J, Bell PJ (1947) Onchidium associated with dead coral. Australian Naturalist 11: 149–157.
- Arimoto H, Cheng JF, Nishiyama S, Yamamura S (1993) Synthetic studies on fully substituted γ-pyrone-containing natural products: The absolute configurations of Ilikonapyrone and peroniatriols I and II. Tetrahedron Letters 34(36): 5781–5784. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0040-4039(00)73859-7
- Audouin V (1826) Explication sommaire des planches de mollusques de l'Égypte et de la Syrie, publiées par Jules-César Savigny. In: Audouin V (Ed.) Description de l'Égypte, ou recueil des observations et des recherches qui ont été faites en Égypte pendant l'expédition de l'armée française. Histoire naturelle. Volume 1, partie 4. Imprimerie Impériale, Paris, 7–56. [for a collation see Baring (1938) and Sherborn (1897); for a ruling on publication dates see ICZN (1987)] https://digi.ub.uni-heidelberg.de/diglit/jomard1809bd5\_1\_1/0548
- Audouin V, Milne-Edwards H (1832) Recherches pour servir à l'histoire naturelle du littoral de la France. Introduction. (Vol. 1). Crochard, Paris, 406 pp. https://doi.org/10.5962/bhl. title.43796
- Awati PR, Karandikar KR (1948) Onchidium verraculatum (Anatomy, Embryology and Bionomics). Zoological Memoirs, University of Bombay 1: 1–53.
- Baba K (1958) Seashore life of Japan [in Japanese]. Hokuryukan, Tokyo, 148 pp. [5 pls] https://doi.org/10.2307/2520262
- Baker HB (1938) Nomenclature of Onchidiidae. The Nautilus 51: 85–88. https://doi. org/10.5962/bhl.part.10914
- Baring T (1838) A Bibliographical Account and Collation of La description de l'Égypte: presented to the library of the London Institution. London Institution, London, 76 pp. https://archive.org/details/b2227411x/page/n2

- Berge F (1855) Conchylienbuch, oder, Allgemeine und besondere Naturgeschichte der Muscheln und Schnecken: nebst der Anweisung sie zu sammeln, zuzubereiten und aufzubewahren. Krais & Hoffmann, Stuttgart, 243 pp. [pls 1–46] https://doi.org/10.5962/ bhl.title.16004
- Bergh R (1884a) Report on Nudibranchiata. Report of the Scientific Results of the Voyage of the H.M.S. Challenger during the years 1873–76. Zoology, Band 10, Theil 26. C.W. Kreidel, Wiesbaden, 154 pp. [pls 1–14] https://biodiversitylibrary.org/page/49395587
- Bergh R (1884b) On the affinities of the Onchidia. Annals and Magazine of Natural History 14(5<sup>th</sup> series): 259–266. [This is a translation of Bergh (1885)] https://doi.org/10.1080/00222938409459805
- Bergh R (1885) Über die Verwandtschaftsbeziehungen der Onchidien. Morphologisches Jahrbuch 10: 172–181. https://biodiversitylibrary.org/page/13028090
- Biskupiak JE, Ireland CM (1985) Cytotoxic metabolites from the mollusc *Peronia peronii*. Tetrahedon Letters 26: 4307–4310. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-4039(00)98720-3
- Bitaab MA, Ranaei Siadat SO, Pazooki J, Sefidbakht Y (2015) Antibacterial and molecular dynamics study of the Dolabellanin B2 isolated from sea slug, *Peronia peronii*. Biosciences Biotechnology Research Asia 12(3): 2023–2035. https://doi.org/10.13005/bbra/1870
- Blainville HMD de (1816) Quatrième mémoire sur les mollusques, de l'ordre des Cyclobranches. Bulletin des Sciences par la Société Philomathique de Paris [1816]: 93–97.
- Blainville HMD de (1817) Mémoire sur quelques mollusques pulmobranches. Journal de Physique, de Chimie, d'Histoire Naturelle et des Arts 85: 437–444. [pl. 2]
- Blainville HMD de (1824) Mollusques. In: Cuvier F (Ed) Dictionnaire des Sciences Naturelles (Vol. 32). F. G. Levrault, Strasbourg, 392 pp. https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/ page/25299228
- Blainville HMD de (1826) Péronie. In: Cuvier F (Ed.) Dictionnaire des sciences naturelles (Vol. 38). F. G. Levrault, Strasbourg, 519–524. [the date on the title page is 1825 but the volume was published in April 1826 according to Sherborn (1922)] https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/page/25302418
- Blainville HMD de (1825–1827) Manuel de malacologie et de conchyliologie. Levrault, Paris. [1–647 (1825), 649–664 pp. + 109 pls (1827)] https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/ page/12010259
- Bretnall W (1919) Onchidiidae from Australia and the South-Western Pacific Islands. Records of the Australian Museum 12: 303–328. https://doi.org/10.3853/j.0067-1975.12.1919.888
- Britton KM (1984) The Onchidiacea (Gastropoda, Pulmonata) of Hong Kong with a worldwide review of the genera. Journal of Molluscan Studies 50: 179–191. https://doi.org/10.1093/ oxfordjournals.mollus.a065863
- Buchannan F (1800) An account of the Onchidium, a new genus of the class of vermes, found in Bengal. Transactions of the Linnean Society of London 5: 132–134. [pl. 5] https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1096-3642.1800.tb00584.x
- Carbone M, Gavagnin M, Mattia CA, Lotti C, Castelluccio F, Pagano B, Mollo E, Guo YW, Cimino G (2009) Structure of onchidione, a bis-γ-pyrone polypropionate from a marine pulmonate mollusk. Tetrahedron 65: 4404–4409. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tet.2009.03.052

- Casto de Elera RPF (1896) Catálogo sistemático de toda la Fauna de Filipinas conocida hasta el presente, y a la vez el de la colección zoológica del museo de PP. Dominicos del Colegio-Universidad de Sto. Tomás de Manila (Vol. 3). Colegio de Santo Tomás, Manila, 942 pp. https://doi.org/10.5962/bhl.title.12547
- Chang JJM, Tay YC, Ang HP, Tun KPP, Chou LM, Meier R, Huang D (2018) Molecular and anatomical analyses reveal that *Peronia verruculata* (Gastropoda: Onchidiidae) is a cryptic species complex. Contributions to Zoology 87: 149–165. https://doi.org/10.1163/18759866-08703002
- Chenu JC (1859) Manuel de Conchyliologie et de Paléontologie Conchyliologique (Vol. 1). Masson, Paris, vii + 508 pp. https://doi.org/10.5962/bhl.title.119392
- Coan EV (1965) Generic Units in the Heteropoda. The Veliger 8: 36–41. https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/page/42499881
- Coan EV, Kabat AR (2019) 2,400 years of malacology (16<sup>th</sup> ed.). American Malacological Society, 1712 + 111 pp. [Annex 1 – Book Collations] + 65 pp. [Annex 2 – Küster Collation] + 62 pp. [Annex 3 – Journal Collations] https://ams.wildapricot.org/2400-Years-of-Malacology [accessed 3 January 2020]
- Collinge WE (1900) A collection of slugs from South Africa, with descriptions of some new species. Annals of the South African Museum 2: 1–8. https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/page/30026709
- Collinge WE (1910) The slugs of Natal. Annals of the Natal Museum 2: 159–174. https:// www.biodiversitylibrary.org/page/6322951
- Connolly M (1912) A revised reference list of South African non-marine Mollusca; with descriptions of new species in the South African Museum. Annals of the South African Museum 11: 59–306. [pl. II] https://doi.org/10.5962/bhl.title.11477
- Connolly M (1939) A monographic survey of South African non-marine Mollusca. Annals of the South African Museum 33: i–iii, 1–660. [pls I–XIX] https://www.biodiversitylibrary. org/page/40865351
- Cowan CF (1976) On the Disciples' Edition of Cuvier's Règne Animal. Journal of the Society for the Bibliography of Natural History 8: 32–64. https://doi.org/10.3366/jsbnh.1976.8.1.32
- Cowie RH, Thiengo SC (2003) The apple snails of the Americas (Mollusca: Gastropoda: Ampullariidae: Asolene, Felipponea, Marisa, Pomacea, Pomella): a nomenclatural and type catalogue. Malacologia 45: 41–100. https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/page/25129402
- Cox LR (1942) Publication dates of *Traité élémentaire de conchyliologie*, by G. P. Deshayes. Proceedings of the Malacological Society of London 25: 94–95. https://doi.org/10.1093/ oxfordjournals.mollus.a064432
- Cretella M (2010) The complete collation and dating of the section *Zoologie* of the *Coquille* voyage. Bollettino Malacologico 46: 83–103. https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/page/51117488
- Cuvier G (1804) Mémoire sur l'Oncidie, genre de mollusques nuds, voisin des limaces, et sur une espèce nouvelle, *Onchidium peronii*. Annales du Muséum national d'Histoire naturelle 5: 37–51. [pl. 6] https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/page/48531138
- Cuvier G (1816) Le règne animal distribué d'après son organisation, pour servir de base à l'histoire naturelle des animaux et d'introduction à l'anatomie comparée (Vol. 2). Deterville, Paris, xviii + 532 pp.[according to Roux (1976), all four volumes were published

by the end of December 1816, even although the year 1817 is printed on the title page] https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/page/1844622

- Cuvier G (1830) Le règne animal distribué d'après son organisation (Vol. 3). Deterville, Paris, xvi + 504 pp. [pls I–XX] https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/page/33372853
- Dakin WJ (1947) The true sea-slug -Onchidium. Australian Museum Magazine [April 30]: 141-147.
- Davies-Coleman MT, Garson MJ (1998) Marine polypropionates. Natural Product Reports 5: 477–493. https://doi.org/10.1039/a815477y
- Dayrat B (2005) Towards integrative taxonomy. Biological Journal of the Linnean Society 85: 407–415. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8312.2005.00503.x
- Dayrat B (2009) Review of the current knowledge of the systematics of Onchidiidae (Mollusca: Gastropoda: Pulmonata) with a checklist of nominal species. Zootaxa 2068: 1–26. https:// doi.org/10.11646/zootaxa.2068.1.1
- Dayrat B, Conrad M, Balayan S, White TR, Albrecht C, Golding R, Gomes S, Harasewych MG, Frias Martins AM de (2011) Phylogenetic relationships and evolution of pulmonate gastropods (Mollusca): new insights from increased taxon sampling. Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution 59: 425–437. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ympev.2011.02.014
- Dayrat B, Goulding TC (2017) Systematics of the onchidiid slug Onchidina australis (Mollusca: Gastropoda: Pulmonata). Archiv für Molluskenkunde 146: 121–133. https://doi. org/10.1127/arch.moll/146/121-133
- Dayrat B, Goulding TC, Apte D, Bhave V, Comendador J, Ngô XQ, Tan SK, Tan SH (2016) Integrative taxonomy of the genus *Onchidium* Buchannan, 1800 (Mollusca, Gastropoda, Pulmonata, Onchidiidae). ZooKeys 636: 1–40. https://doi.org/10.3897/zookeys.636.8879
- Dayrat B, Goulding TC, Apte D, Bhave V, Ngô XQ (2017) A new genus and four new species of onchidiid slugs from South-East Asia (Mollusca: Gastropoda: Pulmonata: Onchidiidae). Journal of Natural History 51: 1851–1897. https://doi.org/10.1080/00222933.2017.1347297
- Dayrat B, Goulding TC, Khalil M, Lozouet P, Tan SH (2018) Systematic revision one clade at a time: A new genus of onchidiid slugs from the Indo-West Pacific (Gastropoda: Euthyneura: Onchidiidae). Raffles Bulletin of Zoology 66: 814–837. https://lkcnhm.nus.edu.sg/app/ uploads/2018/01/66rbz814-837.pdf
- Dayrat B, Goulding TC, Khalil M, Apte D, Bourke AJ, Comendador J, Tan SH (2019a) A new genus and three new species of mangrove slugs from the Indo-West Pacific (Gastropoda: Euthyneura: Onchidiidae). European Journal of Taxonomy 500: 1–77. https:// doi.org/10.5852/ejt.2019.500
- Dayrat B, Goulding TC, Khalil M, Comendador J, Ngô XQ, Tan SK, Tan SH (2019b) A new genus of air-breathing marine slugs from South-East Asia (Gastropoda: Pulmonata: Onchidiidae). ZooKeys 877: 31–80. https://doi.org/10.3897/zookeys.877.36698
- Dayrat B, Goulding TC, Bourke AJ, Khalil M, Tan SH (2019c) New species and new records of *Melayonchis* slugs (Gastropoda: Euthyneura: Pulmonata: Onchidiidae). Raffles Bulletin of Zoology 67: 557–585. https://lkcnhm.nus.edu.sg/app/uploads/2019/01/RBZ-2019-0043.pdf
- Dayrat B, Goulding TC, Khalil M, Apte D, Tan SH (2019d) A new species and new records of Onchidium slugs (Gastropoda, Euthyneura, Pulmonata, Onchidiidae) in South-East Asia. ZooKeys 892: 27–58. https://doi.org/10.3897/zookeys.892.39524

- De Candolle AP (1813) Théorie élémentaire de la Botanique. Déterville, Paris, 528 pp. https:// www.biodiversitylibrary.org/page/27673488
- Delle Chiaje S (1841–1844) Descrizione e notomia degli animali invertebrati della Sicilia citeriore osservati vivi negli anni 1822–1830. C. Batteli, Napoli. [parts 1–7 (1841), part 8 (1844); the text on onchidiids is in part 1 and the plate in part 6] https://doi.org/10.5962/ bhl.title.10031
- Deshayes GP (1836–1845) Les Mollusques. In: Cuvier G (Ed.) Le règne animal distribué d'après son organisation, pour servir de base à l'histoire naturelle des animaux, et d'introduction à l'anatomie comparée, par Georges Cuvier. Édition accompagnée de planches gravées, représentant les types de tous les genres, les caractères distinctifs des divers groupes et les modifications de structure sur lesquelles repose cette classification; par une réunion de disciples de Cuvier, MM. Audouin, Blanchard, Deshayes, Alcide d'Orbigny, Doyère, Dugès, Duvernoy, Laurillard, Milne Edwards, Roulin et Valenciennes. Fortin, Masson et Cie, Paris, xxxxv + 266 pp. [152 pls; plates are numbered 1–139 for an actual total of 152 plates; for a collation see Cowan (1976); often called "Le règne animal illustré" or the "Disciples' edition"] https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/page/41057481
- Deshayes GP (1839–1858) Traité élémentaire de conchyliologie. Masson, Paris. [vol. 1: xii + 368 + 824 pp., 6 fold-out tables; vol. 2: 384 pp.; Atlas: 80 + xi pp., 132 pls; for a collation see Cox (1942)] https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/page/52703937
- Deshayes GP, Milne-Edwards H (1836) Histoire Naturelle des Animaux sans Vertèbres, présentant les caractères généraux et particuliers de ces animaux, leur distribution, leurs classes, leurs familles, leurs genres, et la citation des principales espèces qui s'y rapportent, par J.B.P.A. de Lamarck. Deuxième édition, Tome septième. Histoire des Mollusques. J.-B. Baillière, Paris, 736 pp. https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/page/41706785
- Deshayes GP, Milne-Edwards H (1845) Histoire Naturelle des Animaux sans Vertèbres, présentant les caractères généraux et particuliers de ces animaux, leur distribution, leurs classes, leurs familles, leurs genres, et la citation des principales espèces qui s'y rapportent, par J.B.P.A. de Lamarck. Deuxième édition, Tome neuvième. Histoire des Mollusques. J.-B. Baillière, Paris, 728 pp. https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/page/41660756
- Farran GP (1905) Report on the opisthobranchiate Mollusca collected by Professor Herdman, at Ceylon, in 1902. Report to the government of Ceylon on the pearl oyster fisheries of the Gulf of Mannar. Part 3, Suppl. Report XXI: 329–364. [pls I–VI]
- Faulkner DJ (1987) Marine Natural Products. Natural Product Reports 4: 539–576. https:// doi.org/10.1039/np9870400539v
- Férussac AEJPJF d'Audebard de (1819–1832) Histoire naturelle générale et particulière des mollusques terrestres et fluviatiles tant des espèces que l'on trouve aujourd'hui vivantes, que des dépouilles fossiles de celles qui n'existent plus; classés d'après les caractères essentiels que présentent ces animaux et leurs coquilles, Tome deuxième, première partie. J.-B. Baillière, Paris, 3 + xvi + 128 pp. [for a collation see Coan & Kabat (2019)] https://doi. org/10.5962/bhl.title.132272
- Férussac AEJPJF d'Audebard de (1821–1822) Tableaux systématiques des animaux mollusques classés en familles naturelles, dans lesquels on a établi la concordance de tous les systèmes; suivis d'un Prodrome général pour tous les mollusques terrestres ou fluviatiles, vivants ou
fossiles. Arthus Bertrand & Sowerby, Paris & London, 114 + xlviii + 111 + 27 pp. [for a collation see Coan & Kabat (2019)] https://doi.org/10.5962/bhl.title.10558

- Feuer RC, Smith HM (1972) The contributions of the 1822 works of Jarocki and Fleming to herpetological nomenclature. Great Basin Naturalist 32: 55–60. https://doi.org/10.5962/ bhl.part.25768
- Fischer P, Crosse H (1870–1902) Recherches zoologiques pour servir à l'histoire de la faune de l'Amérique Centrale et du Mexique, publiées sous la direction de M. Milne Edwards, membre de l'Institut. Septième partie. Études sur les mollusques terrestres et fluviatiles du Méxique et du Guatemala. Imprimerie Nationale, Paris. [vol. 1: 702 pp., pls 1–31; vol. 2: 731 pp., pls 32–72; for a collation see Cowie & Thiengo (2003)] https://doi.org/10.5962/ bhl.title.46371
- Fleming J (1820) Mollusca. In: Brewster D (Ed.) The Edinburgh Encyclopædia (Vol. 14). William Blackwood, Edinburgh, 598–635. [the exact date of publication is 1820 even though 1830 is marked on the title page because the whole encyclopædia was completed in 1830] https://archive.org/details/edinburghencyclo14edinuoft/page/n6/mode/2up
- Fleming J (1822a) Mollusca. In: Napier M (Ed.) Supplement to the fourth, fifth and sixth editions of the Encyclopædia Britannica (Vol. 5). Archibald Constable, Edinburgh, 567–584. [the exact date of publication (May 1822) is indicated at the end of the sixth volume of the Supplement] https://babel.hathitrust.org/cgi/pt?id=gri.ark:/13960/ t8jd7m43f&view=1up&seq=7
- Fleming J (1822b) The Philosophy of Zoology: or a General view of the Structure, Functions and Classification of Animals (Vol. 2). Archibald Constable, Edinburgh, 618 pp. https:// www.biodiversitylibrary.org/page/28230157
- Folmer O, Black M, Hoeh W, Lutz R, Vrijenhoek R (1994) DNA primers for amplification of mitochondrial cytochrome c oxidase subunit I from diverse metazoan invertebrates. Molecular Marine Biology and Biotechnology 3: 294–299.
- Funk DJ, Omland KE (2003) Species-level paraphyly and polyphyly: frequency, causes, and consequences, with insights from animal mitochondrial DNA. Annual Reviews of Ecology, Evolution and Systematics 34: 397–423. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.34.011802.132421
- Gaitán-Espitia JD, Nespolo RF, Opazo JC (2013) The Complete Mitochondrial Genome of the Land Snail *Cornu aspersum* (Helicidae: Mollusca): Intra-Specific Divergence of Protein-Coding Genes and Phylogenetic Considerations within Euthyneura. PLoS ONE 8: e67299. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0067299
- Gistel J (1848) Naturgeschichte des Thierreichs. Für höhere Schulen. Hoffmannische Verlags-Buchhandlung, Stuttgart, xvi + 216 pp. [32 pls]
- Godwin-Austen HH (1895) List and Distribution of the Land-Mollusca of the Andaman and Nicobar Islands, with Descriptions of some supposed new Species. Proceedings of the Zoological Society of London [1895]: 438–456. https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/ page/30983429
- Gopinadha Pillai CS, Appukutan KK (1980) Distribution of molluscs in and around the coral reefs of the southeastern coast in India. Journal of the Bombay Natural History Society 77: 26–48. [3 pls] https://biodiversitylibrary.org/page/44707927

- Gould AA (1852–1856) United States Exploring Expedition during the years 1838, 1839, 1840, 1841, 1842, under the command of Charles Wilkes, U. S. N. Mollusca & Shells, Volume XII. Gould & Lincoln, Boston. [xv + 510 pp. (1852), 16 pp. + 52 pls (1856)] https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/page/10991152
- Goulding TC, Khalil M, Tan SH, Dayrat B (2018a) A new genus and a new species of onchidiid slugs from eastern Indonesia (Gastropoda: Euthyneura: Onchidiidae). Raffles Bulletin of Zoology 66: 337–349. https://lkcnhm.nus.edu.sg/app/uploads/2018/01/66rbz337-349.pdf
- Goulding TC, Khalil M, Tan SH, Dayrat B (2018b) Integrative taxonomy of a new and highlydiverse genus of onchidiid slugs from the Coral Triangle (Gastropoda: Pulmonata: Onchidiidae). ZooKeys 763: 1–111. https://doi.org/10.3897/zookeys.763.21252
- Goulding TC, Tan SH, Tan SK, Apte D, Bhave V, Narayana S, Salunkhe R, Dayrat B (2018c) A revision of *Peronina* Plate, 1893 (Gastropoda: Euthyneura: Onchidiidae) based on mitochondrial and nuclear DNA sequences, morphology, and natural history. Invertebrate Systematics 32: 803–826. https://doi.org/10.1071/IS17094
- Gray JE (1839) Molluscous animals and their shells. In: [no named editor] The zoology of Capt. Beechey's voyage, compiled from the collections on notes made by Captain Beechey, the officers and naturalist of the expedition during a voyage to the Pacific and Behring's straits in his Majesty's ship Blossom, under the command of Captain F. W. Beechey in the years 1825, 26, 27 and 28. Henry G. Bohn, London, 103–142. [pls 33–38] https://www. biodiversitylibrary.org/page/27208082
- Gray JE (1847) A list of the genera of recent Mollusca, their synonyms and types. Proceedings of the Zoological Society of London 15: 129–219. https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/page/12862913
- Gray JE (1850) Explanation of plates and list of genera. In: Gray ME (Ed.) Figures of molluscous animals, selected from various authors. Etched for the use of students (Vol. 4). Longman, Brown, Green, and Longmans, London, iv + 124 pp.
- Gray ME (1850) Figures of molluscous animals, selected from various authors. Etched for the use of students (Vol. 2). Longman, Brown, Green & Longmans, London. [137 plates numbered 79–199 and a few additional plates marked with an asterisk; onchidiids are on pls 181–183]
- Guindon S, Gascuel O (2003) A simple, fast, and accurate algorithm to estimate large phylogenies by maximum likelihood. Systematic Biology 52: 696–704. https://doi.org/10.1080/10635150390235520
- Harasewych MG, Windsor AM, Lopez-Vera E, Thompson FG (2015) On the phylogenetic relationships of the genus *Mexistrophia* and of the family Cerionidae (Gastropoda: Eupulmonata). The Nautilus 129: 156–162. https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/page/59108238
- Hassouna N, Mithot B, Bachellerie JP (1984) The complete nucleotide sequence of mouse 28S rRNA gene. Implications for the process of size increase of the large subunit rRNA in higher eukaryotes. Nucleic Acids Research 12: 3563–3583. https://doi.org/10.1093/ nar/12.8.3563
- Hedley C (1909) The marine fauna of Queensland. Report of the Australian Association for the advancement of Science 12: 329–371.
- Hoffmann H (1928) Zur Kenntnis der Oncidiiden. Zoologische Jahrbücher 55: 29–118. [pls 2–4]

- Hutchings PA, Recher HF (1982) The fauna of Australian mangroves. Proceedings of the Linnean Society of New South Wales 106: 83–121. https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/page/34947634
- Hyman IT (1999) A comparison of two onchidiid species (Mollusca, Pulmonata). Molluscan Research 20: 61–72. https://doi.org/10.1080/13235818.1999.10673723
- Ihering H von (1877) Vergleichende Anatomie des Nervensystemes und Phylogenie der Mollusken. W. Engelmann, Leipzig, x + 290 pp. [8 pls] https://doi.org/10.5962/bhl.title.13168
- ICZN (1987) Opinion 1461. A ruling on the authorship and dates of the text volumes of the *Histoire naturelle* section of Savigny's *Description de l'Egypte*. Bulletin of Zoological Nomenclature 44(3): 219–220. https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/page/12229586
- ICZN (1999) International code of zoological nomenclature. Fourth Edition. London: The International Trust for Zoological Nomenclature, 306 pp.
- Johnson RI (1964) The recent Mollusca of Augustus Addison Gould. Bulletin, United States National Museum 239: 1–182. https://doi.org/10.5962/bhl.title.13168
- Johnson RI (1969) Semper's Reisen im Archipel der Philippinen, wissenshaftliche Resultate, 1867–1916. A complete collation. Journal of the Society for the Bibliography of Natural History 5: 144–147. https://doi.org/10.3366/jsbnh.1969.5.2.144
- Joyeux-Laffuie J (1885) Sur les affinités des Onchidies, par R. Bergh de Copenhague. Archives de Zoologie Expérimentale et Générale 3: viii–x. [translation and summary of Bergh's (1884b)] https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/page/44109240
- Katagiri N, Katagiri Y (2007) Is *Onchidium verruculatum* (Gastropoda: Onchidiidae) a complex of two species? Chiribotan 38: 37–42.
- Keferstein WM (1865a) Lungenschnecken: Pulmonata. In: Bronn HG (Ed.) Klassen und Ordnungen der Weichthiere (Malacozoa), wissenschaftlich dargestellt in Wort & Bild. Bd. 3(2). Winter, Leipzig & Heidelberg, 1160–1306. [95–109 pls; for a collation see Coan (1965)] https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/page/35742549
- Keferstein WM (1865b) Einige Bemerkungen über die Geschlechtsorgane von Peronia verruculata Cuv, (Onchidium Peronii Auct.). Zeitschrift Wissenschaftliche Zoologie 15: 86–93. [pl. 6] https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/page/45003821
- Kertesz GA (1986) Notes on Isis von Oken, 1817–1848. Isis 77: 497–503. https://doi. org/10.1086/354208
- Klussmann-Kolb A, Dinapoli A, Kuhn K, Streit B, Albrecht C (2008) From sea to land and beyond--new insights into the evolution of euthyneuran Gastropoda (Mollusca). BMC Evolutionary Biology 8: 1–57. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2148-8-57
- Krauss F (1848) Die Südafrikanischen Mollusken. Ein Beitrag zur Kenntniss der Mollusken des Kap- und Natallandes und zur Geographischen Verbreitung derselben, mit Beschreibung und Abbildung der neuen Arten. Ebner & Seubert, Stuttgart, 140 pp. [6 pls] https://doi. org/10.5962/bhl.title.13936
- Kumar S, Stecher G, Tamura K (2016) MEGA7: Molecular evolutionary genetics analysis version 7.0 for bigger datasets. Molecular Biology and Evolution 33: 1870–1874. https://doi. org/10.1093/molbev/msw054
- Labbé A (1934a) Les Silicodermés Labbé du Muséum d'Histoire Naturelle de Paris. Première partie: classification, formes nouvelles ou peu connues. Annales de l'Institut Océanographique 14: 173–246.

- Labbé A (1934b) Opisthobranches et Silicodermés (Onchidiadés). Résultats scientifiques du voyage aux Indes Orientales Néerlandaises de LL. AA. RR. le Prince et la Princesse Léopold de Belgique. Mémoires du Musée Royal d'Histoire Naturelle de Belgique, Hors Série 2(14): 1–83. [1 pl.]
- Labbé A (1935a) Sur une forme nouvelle de Silicoderme, *Elophilus ajuthiae* nov. Gen. nov. sp. Bulletin de la Société Zoologique de France 60: 312–317.
- Labbé A (1935b) Les branchies des Silicodermés. Bulletin de la Société Zoologique de France 60: 318–320.
- Lamarck JB Monet de (1822) Histoire naturelle des animaux sans vertèbres. Tome sixième, 2<sup>ème</sup> partie. Suite des Gastéropodes. Published by the Author, Paris, 232 pp. https://www. biodiversitylibrary.org/page/13181853
- Lesson RP (1831a) Note sur deux Onchidies nouvelles. Bulletin des Sciences Naturelles et de Géologie 25: 128–130. https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/page/4441590
- Lesson RP (1830–1831b) Voyage autour du monde, Exécuté par Ordre du Roi, Sur la Corvette de Sa Majesté, *la Coquille*, pendant les années 1822, 1823, 1824 et 1825, sous le ministère et conformément aux instructions de S. E. M. le Marquis de Clermont-Tonnerre, ministre de la Marine; Et publié sous les auspices de Son Excellence M<sup>gr</sup> le C<sup>te</sup> de Chabrol, ministre de la Marine et des Colonies, par M. L. I. Duperrey, capitaine de Frégate, chevalier de Saint-Louis et membre de la Légion d'Honneur, commandant de l'Expédition. Zoologie, par M. Lesson. Tome Second. 1<sup>re</sup> Partie. Arthus Bertrand, Libraire-Editeur, Paris, 471 pp. [pls 1–16; pp. 241–471 published on November 15, 1831; plates on mollusks published between January 9, 1830 and December 22, 1831; plate 14 published on November 15, 1831; for a collation see Cretella (2010)] https://doi.org/10.5962/bhl.title.57936
- Lesson RP (1832) Mollusques: Nouvelle espèce d'Onchidie, *Onchidium ferrugineum*. Mémorial encyclopédique et progressif des connaissances humaines 2: 36–37.
- Lesson RP (1832–1835) Illustration de Zoologie ou Recueil de figures d'animaux peintes d'après nature. Arthus Bertrand, Paris. [60 pls; pl. 19 was published in 1833; for a collation see Sherborn (1922: lxxx)] https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/page/28723624
- Liu C, Wei L, Shen HD, Zhu HC, Zhou N (2015) Complete mitochondrial genome of *Peronia verruculata* (Gastropoda: Pulmonata: Systellommatophora: Onchidiidae). Mitochondrial DNA 26: 753–754. https://doi.org/10.3109/19401736.2013.850679
- Macnae W, Kalk M [Eds] (1958) A Natural History of Inhaca Island, Moçambique. Wiwatersrand University Press, Johannesburg, vi + 163 pp.
- Mandal S, Harkantra SN (2013) Changes in the soft-bottom macrobenthic diversity and community structure from the ports of Mumbai, India. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment 185: 653–672. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-012-2582-4
- Maniei F, Espeland M, Movahedi M, Wägele H (2020a) Description of a new *Peronia* species (Gastropoda: Eupulmonata: Onchidiidae) from Iran, Persian Gulf. Zootaxa 4758(3): 501–531. https://doi.org/10.11646/zootaxa.4758.3.5
- Maniei F, Moghaddam JA, Crüsemann M, Beemelmanns C, König GM, Wägele H (2020b) From Persian Gulf to Indonesia: interrelated phylogeographic distance and chemistry within the genus *Peronia* (Onchidiidae, Gastropoda, Mollusca). Scientific Reports 10: 13048. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-69996-8

- Marcus Er, Marcus Ev (1960) Opisthobranchia aus dem Roten Meer und von den Malediven. Akademie der Wissenschaften und der Literature, Abhandlungen der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Klasse 12: 873–934.
- Marcus Ev, Marcus Er (1970) Some gastropods from Madagascar and west Mexico. Malacologia 10: 181–223. https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/page/13147904
- Martens E von (1879) Übersicht der von W. Peters von 1843 bis 1847 in Mossambique gesammelten Mollusca. Monatsberichte der königlich Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin [1879]: 727–749. https://biodiversitylibrary.org/page/36341972
- Martens E von (1897) Süss- und brackwasser-mollusken des Indischen Archipels. Zoologische Ergebnisse einer Reise in Niederländisch Ost-Indien 4: 1–332. [pls I–XII] https://doi. org/10.5962/bhl.title.46994
- Menon PKB, Datta Gupta AK, Das Gupta D (1961) On the Marine Fauna of the Gulf of Kutch. Part II-Gastropods. Journal of the Bombay Natural History Society 58: 475–494. [pls 1–10] https://biodiversitylibrary.org/page/47540588
- Meigen JW (1803) Versuch einer neuen Gattungs Eintheilung der europäischen zweiflügligen Insekten. Magazin für Insektenkunde 2: 259–281. https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/ bibliography/69243#/summary
- Milne I, Wright F, Rowe G, Marshal DF, Husmeier D, McGuire G (2004) TOPALi: Software for automatic identification of recombinant sequences within DNA multiple alignments. Bioinformatics 20: 1806–1807. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/bth155
- Mörch OAL (1863) Contributions la faune malacologique des Antilles danoises. Journal de Conchyliologie 11: 21–43. http://biodiversitylibrary.org/page/15338052
- Mörch OAL (1872a) Synopsis Molluscorum a cl. J. Reinhardt lectorum in circumnavigatione orbis terrarum Danicæ navis Galatheæ dictæ. Oversigt over de af Prof. J. Reinhardt paa Corvetten Galatheas Reise omkring Jorden indsamlede Blöddyr. Videnskabelige Meddelelser fra den naturhistoriske Forening i Kjöbenhavn [1872]: 9–35. https://biodiversitylibrary.org/page/35774183
- Mörch OAL (1872b) Catalogue de Mollusques terrestres et fluviatiles des anciennes colonies danoises du golfe du Bengale. Journal de Conchyliologie 20: 303–327. https://biodiversi-tylibrary.org/page/15684513
- Morrisey D, Swales A, Ditttmann S, Morrison MA, Lovelock CE, Beard CM (2010) The ecology and management of temperate mangroves. In: Gibson RN, Atkinson RJA, Gordon JDM (Eds) Oceanography and Marine Biology: an Annual Review. (Vol. 48). CRC Press, Boca Raton, 43–160. https://doi.org/10.1201/EBK1439821169-2
- Nakaoka M, Ito N, Yamamoto T, Okuda T, Noda T (2006) Similarity of rocky intertidal assemblages along the Pacific coast of Japan: effects of spatial scales and geographic distance. Ecological Research 21: 425–435. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11284-005-0138-6
- Nevill H (1870) Note on Onchidium vertuculatum, Cuv., from Ceylon. Proceedings of the Asiatic Society of Bengal [1870]: 304–305. https://biodiversitylibrary.org/page/41777804
- Nevill G (1878) Hand List of Mollusca in the Indian Museum, Calcutta. Part I. Gastropoda. Pulmonata and Prosobranchia-Neurobranchia. Office of the Superintendent of Government Printing, Calcutta, xv + 338 pp. https://doi.org/10.5962/bhl.title.11957

- Odhner NJ (1919) Contribution à la faune malacologique de Madagascar. Arkiv för Zoologi 12: 1–52. [pls 1–4] https://doi.org/10.5962/bhl.part.789
- O'Donoghue CH (1929) Report on the Opisthobranchiata. Zoological Results of the Cambridge Expedition to the Suez Canal. Transactions of the Zoological Society of London 22: 713–841. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1096-3642.1929.tb00212.x
- Oken L (1815) Lehrbuch der Naturgeschichte. Dritter Theil. Zoologie (Vol. 3). Jena, Bersasser, 850 + xviii pp. https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/page/59378221
- Oken L (1834a) Voyage de la Corvette *l'Astrolabe* sous le Commandement de Dumont Durville. Isis von Oken [1834]: 283–310. https://biodiversitylibrary.org/page/27509779
- Oken L (1834b) Illustrations de Zoologie ou choix de Figures peintes d'après nature des espèces inedites et rares etc. par *Lesson*. Isis von Oken [1834]: 268–273. [title in French, article in German] https://biodiversitylibrary.org/page/27509779
- Pagenstecher HA (1877) Mollusca. In: Kossmann R (Ed.) Zoologische Ergebnisse einer im Aufträge der Königlichen Academie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin ausgeführten Reise in die Küstengebiete des Rothen Meeres, Erste Hälfte. W. Engelmann, Leipzig, 66 pp. [pl. 1] https://biodiversitylibrary.org/page/12426731
- Palumbi S (1996) Nucleic acid II: The polymerase chain reaction. In: Hillis D, Moritz C, Mable B (Eds) Molecular Systematics, second edition. Sinauer, Sunderland, 205–247.
- Patil P, Kulkarni BG (2013) The Onchidium (Gastropoda: Pulmonata: Onchidiidae: Genus: Onchidium) of the Uran, West Coast of India. International Journal of Zoology and Research 3(4): 23–30. http://www.tjprc.org/view\_paper.php?id=2556
- Pietra F (1990) A Secret World. Natural Products of Marine Life. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, Boston, Berlin, viii + 280 pp.
- Pietra F (2002) Biodiversity and Natural Product Diversity. Pergamon Elsevier Science, Amsterdam, 351 pp. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1460-1567(02)80014-9
- Plate L (1893) Studien über opisthopneumone Lungenschnecken, II, Die Oncidiiden. Zoologische Jahrbücher, Anatomie und Ontogenie der Thiere 7: 93–234. [pls 7–12] https:// biodiversitylibrary.org/page/11175213
- Quoy JRC, Gaimard JP (1824–1826) Zoologie. Voyage autour du Monde, Entrepris par Ordre du Roi, sous le ministère et conformément aux instructions de S. Exc. M. le vicomte du Bouchage, secrétaire d'État au Département de la Marine, Exécuté sur les corvettes de S. M. *l'Uranie* et *la Physicienne*, pendant les années 1817, 1818, 1819 et 1820; Publié par M. Louis de Freycinet. Pillet Aîné, Paris, vii + 712 pp. [96 pls (Atlas); pp. 425–496 published in 1825; for a collation see Sherborn & Woodward (1901a)] https://doi.org/10.5962/bhl.title.15862
- Quoy JRC, Gaimard JP (1832–1833) Zoologie. Tome Second. Voyage de découvertes de l'Astrolabe Exécuté par ordre du Roi, pendant les années 1826–1827–1828–1829, sous le commandement de M. J. Dumont d'Urville. J. Tastu, Paris, 686 pp. [93 pls (Atlas); pp. 1–320 published in 1832 and pp. 321–686 published in 1833; Atlas published in 1833; for a collation see Sherborn & Woodward (1901b)] https://doi.org/10.5962/bhl.title.2132
- Rafinesque CS (1815) Analyse de la Nature ou Tableau de L'univers et des Corps Organisés. Published by the author, Palermo, 223 pp. https://doi.org/10.5962/bhl.title.106607
- Ran K, Li Q, Qi L, Li W, Kong L (2020) DNA barcoding for identification of marine gastropod species from Hainan island, China. Fisheries Research 225: 105504. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.fishres.2020.105504

- Récluz C (1869) Observations sur l'*Onchidium celticum* de Cuvier. Actes de la Société linnéenne de Bordeaux 27: 59–62. https://biodiversitylibrary.org/page/35747520
- Risbec J (1935) Biologie et ponte de Mollusques Gastéropodes Néo-Calédoniens. Bulletin de la Société Zoologique de France 60: 387–417.
- Ronquist F, Huelsenbeck JP (2003) MrBayes 3: Bayesian phylogenetic inference under mixed models. Bioinformatics 19: 1572–1574. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btg180
- Roux C (1976) On the dating of the first edition of Cuvier's *Règne Animal*. Journal of the Society for the Bibliography of Natural History 8: 1–31. https://doi.org/10.3366/jsbnh.1976.8.1.31
- Ruthensteiner B (1997) Homology of the pallial and pulmonary cavity of gastropods. Journal of Molluscan Studies 63: 353–367. https://doi.org/10.1093/mollus/63.3.353
- Santhosh Kumar C, Mishra JK, Pravin Kumar N (2016) Diversity and distribution of tide pool ornamental fishes along the Andaman coast (Andaman Sea), India. Marine Biodiversity 46: 433–441. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12526-015-0385-x
- Savigny JC (1817) Description de l'Égypte ou Recueil des observations et des recherches qui ont été faites en Égypte pendant l'expédition de l'Armée française, publié par ordre du Gouvernement. *Histoire Naturelle*, Planches, Tome Deuxième. Imprimerie Royale, Paris. [105 pls; gastropods on pls 1–3] http://gallica.bnf.fr/ark:/12148/btv1b2300300m
- Schmeltz JDE (1874) Museum Godeffroy Catalog V. Nebst einer Beilage enthaltend topographische und zoologische Notizen. L. Friederichsen, Hamburg, xxxvi + 213 pp. https:// biodiversitylibrary.org/page/55285096
- Semper C (1880–1885) Dritte Familie, Onchididae [for Onchidiidae]. In: Semper C (Ed.) Reisen im Archipel der Philippinen, Zweiter Theil. Wissenschaftliche Resultate. Dritter Band. Landmollusken. CW Kreidel's Verlag, Wiesbaden, 251–264 [1880], 265–290 [1882] [pls 19–20, 22–23 (1880), pl. 21 (1882), pls 24–27 (1885); for a collation see Johnson (1969)] https://biodiversitylibrary.org/ page/32630046
- Sherborn CD (1897) On the dates of the Natural History portion of Savigny's 'Description de l'Égypte'. Proceedings of the Zoological Society of London [1897]: 285–288. https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/page/30987440
- Sherborn CD (1922) Index Animalium sive Index Nominum quae ab A.D. MDCCLVIII Generibus et Speciebus Animalium Imposit sunt. Sectio Prima. Introduction, Bibliography, and Index. British Museum, London, cxxxi + 128 pp. https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/page/36191976
- Sherborn CD, Woodward BB (1901a) Notes on the dates of publication of the natural history portions of some French voyages. Part I. 'Amérique méridionale'; 'Indes orientales'; 'Pôle Sud' ('Astrolabe' and 'Zélée'); 'La Bonite'; 'La Coquille'; and 'L'Uranie et Physicienne'. Annals and Magazine of Natural History 7(40): 388–392. https://doi.org/10.1080/00222930108678490
- Sherborn CD, Woodward BB (1901b) Dates of publication of the zoological and botanical portions of some French voyages. – Part II. Ferret and Galinier's 'Voyage en Abyssinie'; Lefebvre's 'Voyage in Abyssinie'; 'Exporation scientifique de l'Algérie'; Castelnau's 'Amerique du Sud'; Dumont d'Urville's 'Voyage de l'Astrolabe'; Laplace's 'Voyage sur la Favorite'; Jacquemont's 'Voyage dans l'Indie'; Tréhouart's 'Commission scientifique d'Islande'; Cailliaud, 'Voyage à Méroé'; 'Expédition scientifique de Morée'; Fabvre, 'Commission scientifique du

Nord'; Du Petit-Thouars, 'Voyage de la Vénus'; and the dates of the 'Faune Française'. Annals and Magazine of Natural History 8(44): 161–164; 8(46): 333–336; 8(47): 491–494. https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/page/29980205

- Simroth H (1920) Über einige Nacktschnecken vom Malayischen Archipel von Lombok an ostwärts bis zu den Gesellschafts-Inseln. Abhandlungen der Senckenbergischen Naturforschenden Gesellschaft 35: 261–302. https://biodiversitylibrary.org/page/48256899
- Smith EA (1884) Mollusca. In: [no named editor] Report on the zoological collections made in the Indo-Pacific Ocean during the voyage of H. M. S. Alert 1881–2. Part I. The collections from Melanesia; Part II. Collections from the western Indian Ocean. The Trustees of the British Museum, London, 34–116, 487–508. http://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/item/63054
- Smith EA (1903) A list of species of Mollusca from South Africa, forming an Appendix to G.
  B. Sowerby's "Marine Shells of South Africa". Proceedings of the Malacological Society of London 5(6): 354–402. [pl. 15] https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/page/15168721
- Smith BJ, Kershaw RC (1979) Field Guide to the non-Marine Molluscs of Southeastern Australia. Australian National University Press, Canberra, 285 pp.
- Solanki D, Kanejiya J, Gohil B (2017) Studies on ecological status, nutritive values and exploitation of *Peronia verruculata*, Cuvier, 1830 (Gastropoda: Onchidiidae) from Gulf of Khambhat, India. The Journal of Zoology Studies 4: 24–28. https://www.journalofzoology.com/archives/volume4/issue3/PartA/6.1.pdf
- Solem A (1959) Systematics and zoogeography of the land and fresh-water Mollusca of the New Hebrides. Fieldiana Zoology 4: 1–359. https://doi.org/10.5962/bhl.title.2888
- Starobogatov YI (1970) Fauna Molliuskov i Zoogeograficheskoe Raionirovanie Kontinental'nykh Vodoemov Zemnogo Shara [The Molluscan Fauna and Zoogeographical Zoning of the Continental Water Bodies of the World]. Nauka, Leningrad, 372 pp. [in Russian]
- Starobogatov YI (1976) Composition and taxonomic position of marine pulmonate mollusks. Soviet Journal of Marine Biology 4: 206–212.
- Stimpson W (1855) Descriptions of some of the new Marine Invertebrata from the Chinese and Japanese Seas. Proceedings of the Academy of Natural Sciences, Philadelphia 7: 375– 384. https://doi.org/10.5962/bhl.title.51444
- Stoliczka F (1869) The malacology of Lower Bengal. Journal of the Asiatic Society of Bengal 38: 86–111. [pls 14–15] https://biodiversitylibrary.org/page/41279271
- Sturany R (1898) Catalog der bisher bekannt gewordenen Südafrikanischen Land- und Süsswasser-Mollusken mit besonderer Berücksichtigung des von Dr Penther gesammelten Materiales. Kaiserlich-Königlichen Hof- und Staatsdruckerei, Wien, 106 pp. https://doi. org/10.5962/bhl.title.12875
- Sturany R (1904) Expeditionen S.M. Schiff "Pola" in das Rote Meer. Nördliche und südliche Hälfte. 1895/96–1897/98. Zoologische Ergebnisse. XXIII. Gastropoden des Rothen Meeres. Denkschriften der Kaiserlichen Akademie der Wissenschaften, Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftliche Classe 74: 209–283. [pls I–VII] https://biodiversitylibrary.org/ page/6903441
- Sukumaran J, Knowles LL (2017) Multispecies coalescent delimits structure, not species. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 114: 1607–1612. https://doi.org/10.5962/bhl.title.12875

- Sun B, Chen C, Shen H, Zhang K, Zhou N, Qian J (2014) Species diversity of Onchidiidae (Eupulmonata: Heterobranchia) on the mainland of China based on molecular data. Molluscan Research 34: 62–70. https://doi.org/10.1080/13235818.2013.868860
- Sun BN, Wei LL, Shen HD, Wu HX, Wang DF (2016) Phylogenetic analysis of euthyneuran gastropods from sea to land mainly based on comparative mitogenomic of four species of Onchidiidae (Mollusca: Gastropoda: Pulmonata). Mitochondrial DNA 27(5): 3075– 3077. https://doi.org/10.3109/19401736.2014.1003916
- Swainson W (1832) Appendix. In: Swainson W, Richardson J (Eds) Fauna Boreali-Americana, or, The zoology of the Northern Parts of British America. Part Second, The Birds. John Murray, London, 481–501. https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/page/41549935
- Swofford DL (2002) PAUP: Phylogenetic Analysis Using Parsimony, Version 4.0b10. Sinauer, Sunderland.
- Takagi M, Takao Y, Mizuno K, Ieyama H (2019) Genetic diversity of Onchidiidae in Japan Fauna Ryukyuana 49: 23–37. http://w3.u-ryukyu.ac.jp/naruse/lab/2019E\_files/49-3\_Takagi\_etal.pdf
- Tapparone Canefri C (1874) Zoologia del viaggio intorno al globo della regia fregata Magenta durante gli anni 1865–68. Malacologia (Gasteropodi, Acefali e Brachiopodi). GB Paravia, Torino, 161 pp. [4 pls] https://doi.org/10.5962/bhl.title.11193
- Tapparone Canefri C (1883) Fauna malacologica della Nuova Guinea e delle isole adiacenti. Parte I. Molluschi estramarini. Annali del Museo Civico di Storia Naturale di Genova 19: 5–313. [pls 1–9] https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/page/10812598
- Ueshima R (2007) Morphology and taxonomy of the Japanese common sea slug, *Peronia* sp. cf. *verruculata* and related species (Gastropoda: Onchidiidae). Chiribotan 38: 43–47.
- Van der Hoeven J (1850) Handbuch der Zoologie: Nach der Zweiten Holländischen Ausgabe. Erster Band (Wirbellosen Thiere). L. Voss, Leipzig, 821 pp. [15 pls] https://doi. org/10.5962/bhl.title.3983
- Van der Hoeven J (1856) Handbook of Zoology. Volume the first (Invertebrate Animals). Translated from the Second Dutch Edition by the Rev. William Clark. University Press, Cambridge, 853 pp. [15 pls] https://biodiversitylibrary.org/page/19836813
- Vayssière A (1912) Recherches zoologiques et anatomiques sur les Opisthobranches de la Mer Rouge et du Golfe d'Aden. Deuxième Partie. Annales de la Faculté des Sciences de l'Université de Marseille, Supplément 20: 5–157. https://odyssee.univ-amu.fr/files/original/2/18/Annales-faculte-sc-Mrs\_1912\_T-20\_Suppl.pdf
- Voigt FS (1834) Das Thierreich, Geordnet nach Seiner Organisation, Als Grundlage der Naturgeschichte der Thiere und Einleitung in die vergleichende Anatomie. Vom Baron von Cuvier. Dritter Band, die Mollusken. Brodhaus, Leipzig, 621 pp. [German translation of the third volume of the second edition of Cuvier's (1830) *Règne Animal*] https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/page/19175572
- Vonnemann V, Schrödl M, Klussmann-Kolb A, Wägele H (2005) Reconstruction of the phylogeny of the Opisthobranchia (Mollusca: Gastropoda) by means of 18S and 28S rRNA gene sequences. Journal of Molluscan Studies 71: 113–125. https://doi.org/10.1093/mollus/eyi014
- Wade CM, Mordan PB (2000) Evolution within the gastropod molluscs; using the ribosomal RNA gene-cluster as an indicator of phylogenetic relationships. Journal of Molluscan Studies 66: 565–570. https://doi.org/10.1093/mollus/66.4.565

- Wardiatno Y, Mardiansyah, Prartono T, Tsuchiya M (2015) Possible Food Sources of Macrozoobenthos in the Manko Mangrove Ecosystem, Okinawa (Japan): A Stable Isotope Analysis Approach. Tropical Life Sciences Research 26: 53–65.
- Watson H (1925) The South African species of the molluscan genus Onchidella. Annals of the South African Museum 20: 237–308. [pls XXVII–XXXII] https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/page/40651328
- Webb M, Moodley LG, Thandar AS (1969) The copulatory mechanism in Onchidium peronii. South African Journal of Science 65: 107–118.
- Westerlund CA (1883) Noch einige von der Vega-Expedition gesammelte Mollusken. Nachrichtsblatt der deutschen malakozoologischen Gesellschaft 15: 164–166. https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/page/31121809
- White KM (1951) On a collection of Molluscs, mainly Nudibranchs from the Red Sea. Proceedings of the Malacological Society of London 28(6): 241–253. https://doi.org/10.1093/ oxfordjournals.mollus.a064590
- White TR, Conrad M, Tseng R, Golding R, Gomes S, de Frias Martins AM, Dayrat B (2011) Ten new complete mitochondrial genomes of pulmonate gastropods (Mollusca): Systematic and macro-evolutionary implications. BMC Evolutionary Biology 11: 1–295. https:// doi.org/10.1186/1471-2148-11-295
- Xu G, Yang T, Wang D, Li J, Liu X, Wu X, Shen H (2018) A comprehensive comparison of four species of Onchidiidae provides insights on the morphological and molecular adaptations of invertebrates from shallow seas to wetlands. PLoS ONE 13(4): e0196252. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0196252
- Zvonareva S, Kantor Y (2016) Checklist of gastropod molluscs in mangroves of Khanh Hoa province, Vietnam. Zootaxa 4162: 401–437. https://doi.org/10.11646/zootaxa.4162.3.1